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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Good morning.  We
 2  welcome you to the hearing on the Salt River before the
 3  Navigable Stream Adjudication Commission.  We are in
 4  our fourth day this week, and we'll begin by having a
 5  roll call.
 6                 Mr. Mehnert.
 7                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen?
 8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
 9                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Henness?
10                 COMMISSIONER HENNESS:  Present.
11                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton?
12                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
13                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.
15                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  We have a quorum, all
16  four Commissioners are here.  And our attorney, Fred
17  Breedlove, is at the donut table.
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Those of you who may
19  not be aware, you're invited to get donuts.  It might
20  be a little bit difficult, John, for you to eat the
21  donut and ask the questions, but I'm sure you can
22  manage.
23                 MR. HELM:  I'm just getting coffee to
24  stay awake.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We do note that Dunkin
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 1  Donuts, unlike Starbucks, is celebrating Christmas this
 2  year, and we do appreciate that.  We have to have a
 3  verbal pause here until Mr. Helm gets back and begins
 4  his -- I mean begins his questioning.
 5                 Could we have your name, the attorney
 6  who arrived?
 7                 REBECCA HALL:  Rebecca Hall, H-A-L-L.
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rebecca Hall.  Thank
 9  you very much.
10                 Mr. Gookin, are you ready?
11                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, Mr. Helm?
13                 MR. HELM:  I'm getting there real quick.
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Whenever you're
15  ready, just go ahead and start.
16                 MR. HELM:  Very good.  Thank you.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So while Mr. Helm does
18  one more thing, if you'll look over near the donut
19  table, you'll see an amazing new invention.  Can you
20  figure out what it is?
21                 It's a self-standing trash bag.
22                 MR. SLADE:  Concealing the evidence,
23  huh?
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, there's some
25  in the room that hope you hurry.
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 1                 MR. HELM:  I'm kind of enjoying the
 2  running monologue, personally.  I mean, you know, I'm
 3  thinking maybe late-night TV.
 4                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Now we'll see how
 5  many questions you actually cut out.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  How will you know,
 7  George, how will you know?
 8                 MR. HELM:  I was going to say, has he
 9  been tapping into my computer.
10                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And we remind everyone
11  again it is our intent today to finish before 4:30 p.m.
12  So whatever your transportation plans or get-away plans
13  might be or parking lot plans may be, we hope to be out
14  of here before 4:30.
15                 (A brief recess was taken.)
16
17              CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
18  BY MR. HELM:
19      Q.    Okay.  I'm starting on page 12 of your report
20  again, okay, where we finished off, but I'm down a
21  little.  And I particularly want to talk about your
22  ANSAC 2009 citation that's Footnote 2.
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    That's a citation to the Commission's report
25  that was the subject of the Winkleman appeal, correct?
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 1      A.    Correct.
 2      Q.    Do you understand the impact of the Court's
 3  reversal in Winkleman on that report?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    Tell me what you think it is.
 6      A.    I think the Court directed the Commission to
 7  consider the question of navigability with the river
 8  system in its near-virgin condition with ordinary
 9  flows.  But, to me, that doesn't say you have to ignore
10  the facts that were in the decision.
11      Q.    Okay.  Well, do you know how lower court
12  opinions, for example, are treated when they are
13  reversed by a higher court, in terms of the findings of
14  fact that are made in the lower court opinion?
15      A.    It is my understanding, right or wrong, that
16  the findings of fact remain.  They may no longer be
17  relevant, because of the change of law; but the
18  statements of fact are still valid.
19      Q.    Okay.  And so that's how you treated the
20  Commission's report; that it's still a valid report
21  with respect to every fact that it found in its report?
22      A.    Correct.
23      Q.    And so when you talk about a citation to the
24  Commission's report, you believe that to be a citation
25  to a valid finding of fact that it's appropriate for
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 1  you to make?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    And do you make this conclusion based on any
 4  other legal advice, or this is just your own idea?
 5      A.    This was my own idea.
 6      Q.    Okay, going on to page 14, basically, we have
 7  one paragraph on that page.  And my question to you, is
 8  your citation to footnote 6 the only authority you have
 9  for the statements that are made in that paragraph?
10      A.    Well, actually, that citation is just for the
11  sentence "...that by 1699 the Pimas were established in
12  the region."  The rest of it is from me.
13      Q.    That's Gookin on Pimas?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    Page 16, above the European Occupancy, you
16  talk about the Spaniards and things.  Is this also just
17  Gookin on the Spaniards, or do you have some authority
18  for your statements in that paragraph?
19      A.    The footnote is to Stantech 1998, which would
20  be Mr. Fuller's report of 1998.
21      Q.    So you're relying on Mr. Fuller's report for
22  the statements in that paragraph?
23      A.    That are footnoted, yes.
24      Q.    If they're not footnoted -- my problem is, if
25  you look at the paragraph immediately above the bolded
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 1  European Occupancy, I don't see any footnotes.
 2      A.    Oh, you're talking about that paragraph.
 3            That's Gookin on Gookin or on Pima or
 4  whoever.
 5      Q.    The Spaniards?
 6      A.    I mean I've read all the accounts, so . . .
 7      Q.    When you say you've read all the accounts,
 8  you mean accounts of what?
 9      A.    Of the Spaniards visiting the Pimas.
10      Q.    Okay, so --
11                 MR. SPARKS:  Pardon me, Counsel, but can
12  you get the mike a little closer to you?
13                 MR. HELM:  If I get it any closer, Joe,
14  I'll be eating it.
15                 MR. SPARKS:  Okay.  Well, go ahead and
16  eat that then.
17                 MR. HELM:  Sorry, ain't gonna happen.
18                 MR. SPARKS:  Might as well.
19  BY MR. HELM:
20      Q.    With respect to the accounts, can you
21  identify them for me?
22      A.    Oh, I've read the Kino accounts.  There were
23  several Jesuits.  I've read Carl Hayden's summary of
24  those accounts.  I've read Ezell.  I've read Russell.
25  I've read -- I don't know how many things I've read
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 1  about when the Spaniards visited the Pimas, that
 2  portion of their trips.
 3      Q.    Okay.  So your knowledge on the Spaniards is
 4  limited to accounts of their visit to the Pimas?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    And how long did the visit last?
 7      A.    Oh, it was usually a week or two, I would
 8  say, a moderate.  I mean they did stay over a little,
 9  but it wasn't permanent.
10      Q.    And do you know how many times they visited
11  them?
12      A.    I think about half dozen, but I can't list
13  them.
14      Q.    Okay.  Now going on to page 18, again, just
15  above your Number 1 bolded statement, you state, "I
16  believe that for a trip to be considered proof of
17  navigability, it must meet additional standards
18  established by the Courts."
19            Do you see that?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    Would you tell me what additional standards
22  you're referring to?
23      A.    Well, as I indicated, I made a list of
24  criteria that I believed applied, and we've gotten as
25  far as Number 1 and --
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 1      Q.    And diverged?
 2      A.    And diverged, yes.
 3      Q.    So this would be a good time to get them all
 4  in one place.
 5      A.    We can try.
 6      Q.    I'll try and keep my mouth shut until you
 7  tell me you're through the list, okay?
 8      A.    I'm dying to see this.
 9      Q.    So am I, but we've got to try it.
10      A.    Okay.
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That lasted all of
12  three seconds.
13                 MR. HELM:  He hasn't read anything from
14  the list yet.
15                 THE WITNESS:  First, I thought that the
16  trip must not involve portages or portages, as you
17  pronounce it.  Second, the trip must not involve
18  pushing, hauling or dragging the boat.  Third, I
19  thought the navigable reach must not be so brief as to
20  be -- as to not be a commercial reality.  Can't -- it
21  has to -- I forget the exact phrase, but it can't be
22  real short.  Four, I thought the trip had to be on the
23  river and not the canals, and by that I mean it's okay
24  if it was on both.  The river portion counts, but the
25  canal portions don't.
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 1                 Fifth, I thought that the evidence of
 2  the trip should be when the river was in its
 3  substantively undisturbed condition, near virgin.
 4  Sixth, I thought the account should be plausible.
 5  Seventh, I thought the boat either has to be a boat
 6  that could be economically disposed of or the trip
 7  needs to be a two-way trip.
 8                 I'm just waiting for you to catch up on
 9  writing.
10  BY MR. HELM:
11      Q.    I appreciate it.
12      A.    Eighth, the trip must not be a ferry.
13      Q.    And by that you mean ferry boat?
14      A.    A ferry boat that just goes across the river.
15            Ninth, the trip must not be during flood
16  conditions.  And on that, I know drought conditions
17  also applies, but I never got to that point, so I left
18  it off.  Tenth, it must have happened.  It can't just
19  be an announcement I'm going to go out tomorrow.  And
20  eleventh, I believe that all goods and/or passengers
21  should arrive safely.
22            And that's it.
23      Q.    I only broke my rule twice.
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We didn't count those.
25  Those were minor.
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 1  BY MR. HELM:
 2      Q.    Okay.  I think we've talked about portages.
 3  Would you agree?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    And I think we've established that the
 6  pushing and hauling parameter basically meant you can't
 7  get out of the boat to move it?
 8      A.    Correct.
 9      Q.    And I think you've established that the reach
10  had to be 10 miles?
11      A.    Approximately, yeah.  That was my --
12      Q.    Give or take?
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    9 to 11, somewhere in that ballpark?
15      A.    Or more, I mean.
16      Q.    Could be longer?
17      A.    It could be longer, yes.
18      Q.    That would be the minimum.
19            And on that question, do you have any
20  authority for the 10 mile or its equivalent, that you
21  know of?
22      A.    In the Montana case they talk about the
23  19-mile stretch, but I didn't think that it came out
24  and fully said that's their criteria; but it did
25  influence my thinking.  But then I wanted to err on the
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 1  side of caution, and that's why I ended up about half
 2  of it.
 3      Q.    So the 10 standard is Gookin on distance?
 4      A.    Yeah.
 5      Q.    I'm a little confused by your one that
 6  required the river to be virgin or near virgin.
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    Can you explain that a little more to me?  In
 9  other words, any trip would not qualify as a trip that
10  you could use to determine navigability unless the
11  river was in a virgin state?
12      A.    Or near virgin.
13      Q.    Okay.  I mean what's near virgin?
14      A.    Well, the Winkleman court talked about using
15  the 1800, 1860, 1830 period, acknowledging that humans
16  had been there, but they had left, and they thought it
17  had gotten back to near virgin conditions.
18            So with that intent, I thought the evidence
19  should relate to before the evidence at -- or it should
20  be before the development by the Euro-Americans.
21      Q.    And you would agree that the river or the
22  Salt River, as we're talking about in this case, was
23  substantially changed by the date of statehood?
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    So all of the trips that were before -- or at
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 1  least that you found that were before statehood, but
 2  after 1860 or thereabouts, would not qualify because
 3  the river was getting less and less virgin?
 4      A.    Yes, and as to exactly whether it was 1860, I
 5  think it had to be 1867, '8, '9, '70.  I'm --
 6      Q.    I won't argue with you on that --
 7      A.    Right in that area.
 8      Q.    -- on that time frame.
 9            I'm just saying that from whenever that was
10  to the date of statehood, every trip that was down
11  there, made by anybody, you have ruled out as evidence
12  of navigability --
13      A.    I don't think it --
14      Q.    -- because it wasn't a virgin river?
15      A.    It wasn't in the natural condition, yes.
16      Q.    And the next item I believe was account
17  plausible?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    Tell me what that means.  I mean, to me,
20  plausibility is what I call a weasel word.
21      A.    Thank you.
22      Q.    It's in the eyes of the beholder.
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    And is that what that means?
25      A.    That's basically what it does mean.  When I
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 1  read the article, the facts should be consistent
 2  internally.  For example, one of the accounts they
 3  talked about the river was going 15 miles per hour or
 4  22 feet a second.  And yet the flow on the date they
 5  say the trip occurred was the 9th and the flow was
 6  2,000 cfs, which is about 3 feet per second.
 7            And that makes me question the validity of
 8  the report.  And my guess would be that the 9th is an
 9  incorrect statement and, therefore, it was a big flood.
10  In other words, you have to try to look at these things
11  to get as good a picture as you can.
12      Q.    So if I understand what you're saying, is
13  that you looked at a claimed trip and tried to make it
14  work one way or another, if you could; i.e., they've
15  said it's an fcs [sic] that is too big for that date,
16  so it must have occurred on another date in a flood
17  condition, or, conversely, they've got the cfs wrong
18  and the right date, that kind of analysis?
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    And did you have any facts that you were
21  relying on when you, for example, concluded that the
22  cfs is wrong for that date and so, therefore, it must
23  have been a flood, and the closest flood was, and pick
24  a date?
25      A.    Yes, and I would -- when I put that in my
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 1  report, I footnoted there were reports that had flow
 2  numbers from the USGS for a scattering of dates.  In
 3  other words, they would gage it for a couple years and
 4  then they would stop, and then they would gage here for
 5  a couple years.  And I tried to use those flow data as
 6  I could find them.
 7      Q.    You couldn't always find them, is what you're
 8  saying --
 9      A.    Sometimes there was nothing.
10      Q.    -- because they didn't have --
11            You have this get rid of the boat or bring it
12  back upstream.
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    And when you say bring it back upstream, I
15  assume that you're requiring that it be rode upstream
16  or motorized and driven upstream or what have you?
17      A.    Yes, because from all I've read of other
18  navigability that was one way, that's how it was done.
19  It never became an issue because nobody ever tried.
20      Q.    Okay.  But for a long time you've told us, I
21  think, that there was a wagon road or some kind of road
22  that approximated the Salt River as it came north?
23      A.    That is true.
24      Q.    Okay.  If I could put my canoe on a wagon,
25  would that count?
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 1      A.    Yes, but then you need to factor the cost of
 2  the wagon trip.  And it kind of becomes silly, because
 3  it would be cheaper to take the wagon down with the
 4  goods, and then you could take goods back rather than
 5  the canoe.
 6      Q.    What if I wanted a nice smooth river ride,
 7  you know, to make my passengers happy?
 8      A.    If that happened, that would be probably
 9  okay.
10      Q.    We don't know, do we, one way or another?
11      A.    Well, it never came up in any of the reports.
12      Q.    You say the trip couldn't be a ferry, and I
13  don't mean the wing kind.
14            Does that mean that you did not use the
15  information that was available about ferries for any
16  purpose?
17      A.    That's correct.  And when I say "ferries," I
18  made a mistake.  You said a ferry boat.  I would count
19  a ferry boat.  One of them they tried to float a ferry
20  boat down.  It had originally been a ferry and then
21  they used it for transport down the river.  To me,
22  that's no longer a ferry, even though it was originally
23  a ferry boat.  I'm talking about crossing the rivers
24  perpendicular.
25      Q.    Sure, I got that.
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 1      A.    Roughly perpendicular.
 2      Q.    I'm not even asking you about the one that
 3  broke loose and how far did it go.
 4      A.    Right.
 5      Q.    Because that would be evidence that a boat
 6  could go downriver.
 7      A.    Yeah.
 8      Q.    Alls I want to know is, in terms of -- I take
 9  it that would have qualified for a determination on it
10  wasn't a ferry any longer; it was a boat going
11  downriver?
12      A.    With regard to that one aspect, yes.  The
13  fact there was no crew, no goods, it was too short
14  would probably knock it out.
15      Q.    With respect to the ferries, though, you did
16  not use any of the information that they made available
17  by their existence in determining whether the river was
18  navigable?
19      A.    That's correct.
20      Q.    For example, those ferries, at least in the
21  area where they were used, established some kind of
22  depth for the river, right?
23      A.    But we have no idea at what flow.  If we did
24  know the flow and the ferry was operating that day,
25  then you could have gotten a depth; but I did not go to
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 1  that level of research.
 2      Q.    Okay.  That information in terms of flows was
 3  available, wasn't it, at least for certain periods of
 4  time when ferries were active?
 5      A.    I think so, yes.
 6      Q.    Just when you're talking about flood
 7  conditions and that being one of your criteria, are you
 8  referring to the 10 percent?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    So you didn't count anything above the
11  10 percent?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    Is the all goods must arrive an absolute?
14  For example, if I was canoeing down the river and
15  forgot to put my stove in the boat and I stayed
16  overnight on the shore, would that qualify or
17  disqualify my trip?
18      A.    That might -- well, probably if you -- if the
19  leaving the stove was just because you were --
20      Q.    Senility.
21      A.    -- yeah, you were still asleep, that probably
22  would not disqualify the trip.
23      Q.    Okay.  So there is some level of not
24  everything arrives just in the normal course of
25  human --
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 1      A.    Events.
 2      Q.    -- events, and you would not use those kind
 3  of, oh, geez, I lost a box over the side or something
 4  like that to disqualify navigation?
 5      A.    Right.  I'm talking about when the boat
 6  flipped and they lost their gear and so forth.
 7      Q.    I take it that if a boat flipped, if a canoe
 8  turned over, that would disqualify that trip?
 9      A.    I think it does.
10      Q.    I'm moving on to page 19 now.
11      A.    Okay.
12      Q.    And right above the bolded Burch citation --
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    -- you end with the word "normal."  That's a
15  scary word to me.
16      A.    It means the 80 percent range.
17      Q.    Okay.  So when you use "normal" in your
18  report, you're referring to what would be the ordinary
19  condition of the river as you see it?
20      A.    Right, and in particular, I have been using
21  the 80 percent range.
22      Q.    Referring you to page 26, there you talk
23  about the short trip with the grain?
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    And, first of all, I assume that that boat
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 1  wasn't abandoned at that dock where they dumped the
 2  grain.  Did you assume that?
 3      A.    I didn't worry about that, because it was so
 4  short I figured they could push it upstream.
 5      Q.    They took it home with them afterwards, so
 6  the up and back component would have been --
 7      A.    Well, I don't know they took it back, because
 8  it didn't say.  It's just --
 9      Q.    But you assume they did?
10      A.    I didn't worry about it.
11      Q.    Okay.  If 2 to 3.5 miles, depending on how
12  you measure it, I believe you've testified that's the
13  distance that they traveled --
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    -- qualifies as a sufficient distance to
16  determine an area of the river to be navigable, would
17  this trip then demonstrate that portion of the river
18  was navigable?
19      A.    We would still have a question as to what
20  were the flows, was it in the 80 percent range; and we
21  just don't know from the account.
22      Q.    If it turns out that it was, it would
23  qualify?
24      A.    I think so.
25      Q.    Going on to page 27 and another mystery word,


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1709


 1  "swollen."  What do you mean when you say the river is
 2  swollen?
 3      A.    Actually, I was quoting to Mr. Littlefield's
 4  report, which he found an article that said the river
 5  was swollen.  The way I interpret it was that it was in
 6  flood stage of some sort.
 7      Q.    So it would have been in the upper
 8  10 percent?
 9      A.    That would be my guess, yes.  It's not
10  certain, but that would be a probability.
11      Q.    If it wasn't in flood stage, would this trip
12  be a valid trip?
13      A.    No, because it had no goods and it didn't
14  convey any person and it was a solo kind of a
15  half-recreational, half-experimental trip.
16      Q.    Referring you now to page 29 and the famous
17  Yuma or Bust trip.
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    And if I understand what you're saying there,
20  is that they were pushing the boat; and my recollection
21  of where they were seen pushing the boat, they were on
22  the Gila River.  Is that your understanding?
23      A.    No, my recollection is it was on the Salt.
24      Q.    Okay.  So if it was on the Gila, you wouldn't
25  hold this against them in terms of navigating the Salt?
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 1      A.    No.
 2      Q.    That's, no, you wouldn't hold it against
 3  them?
 4      A.    I wouldn't hold the pushing against them for
 5  the Salt.
 6      Q.    Page 31.
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    It carries over from page 30.  You're talking
 9  about three choices that people had at the end of that
10  page and the start of the next page?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    And you say Choice 3 seems to have been the
13  favorite?
14      A.    That was my impression from the articles as a
15  whole.
16      Q.    Okay.  You don't have any specific statements
17  that you can point us to where people of the time said
18  we used the canals all the time or something like that?
19      A.    No, but there was the one statement on, I
20  think, the Burch trip that they went down the Tempe
21  Canal, although a different report said they went to
22  the Joint Head and went down the Swilling Ditch or one
23  of the ditches that fed out of Joint Head and so forth.
24      Q.    Moving on to page 32, do you know if the
25  beaver that you talk about in this portion of your
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 1  report were bank-dwelling or river-dwelling,
 2  river-dwelling being beaver that lived in dams?
 3      A.    In this section I was just comparing the
 4  impact of a brush dam, which I said was similar to a
 5  beaver dam, on whether or not a boat from that era had
 6  to portage.  I didn't specify a beaver dam.  They
 7  didn't talk about a beaver dam.
 8      Q.    Page 33, you used the terminology "in excess
 9  of normal flow."  I take it, based on what you've said
10  here earlier today, that would mean a flood flow, when
11  you use that kind of terminology?
12      A.    Yes, the upper 10 percent.
13      Q.    On page 34 you're talking about the Day trip,
14  I believe?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    And you said they had a large quantity of
17  beaver and otter in a small boat?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    How big was the boat?  Do you know?
20      A.    Small.
21      Q.    You don't know how big?
22      A.    All it said was small.
23      Q.    Sufficiently big enough to carry a large load
24  of beaver and otter?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    Plus whatever supplies they ended up carrying
 2  when they arrived in Yuma?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    Do you have any reason to believe that they
 5  did not carry the kinds of supplies that a normal
 6  couple of trappers setting out to go trapping and
 7  ultimately end up somewhere to sell their hides would
 8  have carried?
 9      A.    I thought they probably did carry the typical
10  supplies.
11      Q.    Do you have any estimate about how long of a
12  canoe one would have to use to carry the typical
13  supplies, assuming it was a successful economic trip in
14  terms of beaver and otter, carry whatever that amount
15  of beaver and otter would have been and get to Yuma?
16      A.    No.  And I don't think it was a canoe,
17  because they said boat, and technically a canoe is a
18  boat, but people usually distinguish.  So we don't
19  know.
20      Q.    You don't know whether they had some kind of
21  flat-bottom boat that would have been sufficient to, at
22  least in their view, navigate the Verde, the Salt and
23  the Gila or it was a canoe sufficient to do that?
24      A.    It could have been either.  Well, and as I
25  indicate, they may have navigated canals.
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 1      Q.    Well, there aren't a lot of canals on -- when
 2  you take a look at that trip at its total, that would
 3  keep motivating them down the river the way they wanted
 4  to go, are there?
 5      A.    Well, there aren't many on the Verde.  There
 6  are on the Salt, Lower Salt.  And there aren't many on
 7  the Lower Gila.
 8      Q.    So they spent, under any set of
 9  circumstances, a large amount of time going on the
10  Verde River, the Salt River, and the Gila River?
11      A.    I would agree for the Verde and the Gila.  I
12  don't know, particularly on the last trip, that they
13  would have gone down the Salt River, because the river
14  was pretty well dried up.
15      Q.    So how do you think they got their boat from
16  the confluence with the Verde to the confluence with
17  the Gila without using the Salt River?  You think they
18  put it on my hypothetical wagon?
19      A.    That is a possibility, but I would think,
20  based on the condition of the river, I would think they
21  had -- and the dams there, I think they would have
22  taken off at the Arizona Dam and floated down the
23  Arizona Canal until they found a farmer with a wagon or
24  something and then carted it away until they got back
25  to the river.
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 1      Q.    When you say "got back to the river," got
 2  back to the Salt River?
 3      A.    It depends on where they decided to reenter.
 4  I would have thought they'd probably reenter after the
 5  confluence with the Gila, because that's where you
 6  would find more water.
 7      Q.    Do you have any evidence of any kind that
 8  supports your hypothetical methodology that they
 9  adopted to avoid the Salt River?
10      A.    The only evidence I have are the flows and
11  the diversion capacities of the dams and the amount of
12  water that would probably be diverted, as estimated by
13  the USGS.
14      Q.    Assuming that they did do it the five times
15  that they said they did it --
16      A.    Yeah, I'm only talking about the last trip
17  right here.
18      Q.    So if it's truthful that they did it five
19  times, you would give them at least four of those as
20  having used the Salt River?
21      A.    I'd give three of them that they probably
22  did, because the Salt River was flowing so very high
23  and was clearly in -- above 90 percent -- or above
24  10 percent stage.  And the one other time, I have no
25  clue when they did it.
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 1      Q.    Can you trap for beaver in a flood?
 2      A.    I would think so, depending on how scary it
 3  was to get near the river.
 4      Q.    When you have a bank-dwelling beaver, for
 5  example, do they build their home on the distant
 6  extremes of the floodplain, or do they build it at
 7  where they think there's going to be that mythical
 8  3 foot of water?
 9      A.    Excluding mythical, the 3 feet.
10      Q.    So you wouldn't find very many beaver if you
11  were trapping beaver out on the extreme edges of the
12  floodplain?
13      A.    They may have washed down; but more what I
14  was thinking, they may have -- the trappers could have
15  set a trap around where the lodge or the dam or the
16  whatever it was, the flood hit, they walked away and
17  waited and came back and found there was a beaver
18  there.
19      Q.    On that same page, you concluded that at some
20  point, that the Days dragged and waded the river?
21      A.    Yes, that's what we were discussing.
22      Q.    Do you have any evidence that they dragged or
23  waded the river specifically, that you can refer me to?
24      A.    It would be the hydrologic information I've
25  discussed.
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 1      Q.    That you just discussed, right?
 2            On the next page, at the very top you're
 3  talking about the maximum flow is 800 and 500 cfs is
 4  the minimum.  Do you see those?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    Do you think the 500 cfs would have been
 7  enough of a flow for the Days to have floated their
 8  boat?
 9      A.    I don't think -- you mean if there were no
10  diversions?
11      Q.    Sure.
12      A.    I have no clue.
13      Q.    You don't know how much cfs it takes in a
14  channel to float a flat-bottom boat?
15      A.    Oh, I see where you're going.  I was thinking
16  if you're look -- sorry.  I thought you were asking
17  about specific research to it.
18            I think the 3 foot is the requirement, and I
19  don't think 500 cfs would give you 3 feet through the
20  reach.
21      Q.    How wide would the channel have to be to get
22  3 feet of depth if you had 500 cfs flowing down the
23  channel?
24      A.    Somewhere between 1 inch and really, really
25  wide.  You'd have to know the velocity to come up with
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 1  an answer.  I don't think it was 1 inch, but --
 2      Q.    I don't think it would be either.
 3            Pick a reasonable velocity that would not be
 4  in a flood range.
 5      A.    Okay.  I would probably guess about 1 and a
 6  half feet per second.
 7            I'm calling up my calculator.
 8      Q.    I have no problem.
 9      A.    111 feet, assuming 1.5 foot velocity and a
10  mean depth of 3 feet.
11      Q.    So I take it you don't think there were any
12  channels of those dimensions in the lower part of the
13  Salt when the Days passed through?
14      A.    I don't think there was 500 cfs in the Lower
15  Salt when the Days passed through on the last trip.  I
16  think there was a lot more than that on the previous
17  three, if they occurred those years.
18      Q.    How much do you think was there when the Days
19  passed through the last time?
20      A.    Probably on the order of a hundred or so, but
21  that's a wild guess.  I just don't know.
22      Q.    You didn't do anything to check it out?
23      A.    No.
24      Q.    Did you do anything to check out -- strike
25  that.
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 1            You talk about the Days getting to the
 2  Arizona Dam and the Arizona Canal on that page?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    And you tell me that it's flowing at
 5  1,000 cfs?
 6      A.    I don't see 1,000 cfs on that page.  Page 36?
 7      Q.    I'm on a different page.
 8      A.    Oh, that may be the problem.
 9      Q.    Let me check.
10            Page 35.
11      A.    The 1,000 cfs is what the Arizona Canal could
12  divert.
13      Q.    Okay.  Did you check what they were drawing
14  at the time that the Days passed through?
15      A.    They would have been drawing all that they
16  could, and I went through the explanation of how a
17  diversion dam works.  You build the structure across,
18  and it pushes all the water up to the canal's capacity
19  into the canal.  2 miles later, if the Arizona Dam
20  people wanted to return some of it, or the Arizona
21  Canal people, they could have.  They had a return flow
22  place located, or they could have kept it going.
23      Q.    And so if I understand what you're saying to
24  me, is that all year long or at least all during the
25  time frame that the Day brothers were passing down the
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 1  Salt, the Arizona Canal was taking its full allotment
 2  of 1,000 cfs and running it through that canal and
 3  either putting it back 2 miles down or just using it
 4  up?
 5      A.    Or dumping it out at the far end.
 6            Now, one thing, when you say their allotment,
 7  the Kent decree had a very surprising paragraph to me
 8  that said the Kibbey decree was never enforced.  So I
 9  would think the Arizona Dam would have been taking all
10  it could whenever it could, and I said that's at least
11  1,000.  I know it increased over time, but I don't know
12  what it was in that year.
13      Q.    Did you check what the flows were when the
14  Day brothers passed through for the time frame of their
15  last trip?
16      A.    On --
17      Q.    At the Arizona Canal or thereabouts.
18      A.    Yes, and I presented a slide on that in my
19  PowerPoint, Slide No. 77.  All I had in the way of data
20  was the maximum, the mean and the minimum for each
21  month, and I presented those data.
22      Q.    And what was it?
23            I don't have Slide 77 with me.  I'm trying to
24  avoid going down a whole bunch of pages.
25      A.    Oh.  Well, the mean flow was --
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 1  unfortunately, it's a graph, so I have to kind of
 2  reconstruct. -- about 1,200.  The mean was about 1,200
 3  in September.  October was down to about 9.  November
 4  was about 9.  December was about 12.  January was about
 5  12.
 6      Q.    So, in essence, from that, do we conclude
 7  that when we got to the Arizona Canal, that canal
 8  operation dried up the river?
 9      A.    I would think on many of the days it would
10  have dried it up.  There probably were some days
11  where -- well, I don't know for a fact how much bigger
12  than 1,000 cfs it was at that time.  I know that the
13  rights that were later decreed would exceed the 1,200
14  as of that priority date, but that assumes the Kent
15  decree got everything right, so I don't know that for a
16  fact.
17            I think the Arizona Dam probably dried it up.
18  If it didn't, very little went over; and what went over
19  got snatched up by the next canal downstream.
20      Q.    You may have said this.  Do you know when the
21  Arizona Canal went into operation?
22      A.    1885.
23
24            EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  I have a question
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 1  about that.
 2                 You look at the picture on Plate 67.
 3  Apparently that was taken from below the dam,
 4  downriver?
 5                 THE WITNESS:  The top picture is.
 6                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  The bottom one, the
 7  bottom.
 8                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, the bottom picture is
 9  the gate into the Arizona Canal.  They could shut it
10  off if they wanted to, say during a dry-up.
11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But there's water
12  in the channel right below the dam.  I'm assuming that
13  we're downstream from the dam when we're looking at
14  this.
15                 THE WITNESS:  The description in the
16  USGS document that had the picture was that was the
17  gate that would release water into the canal, and I'm
18  not sure if that's from --
19                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Upstream.
20                 THE WITNESS:  -- upstream or downstream.
21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  If you look at the
22  upper picture, the river is flowing.  Is that above or
23  below the dam?
24                 THE WITNESS:  The water is spilling over
25  the dam.
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 1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And into the river?
 2                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
 3                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And what is the
 4  date that you're assuming that that occurred?
 5                 THE WITNESS:  To my recollection, they
 6  didn't have a date in the picture.
 7                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  So there's really
 8  no way of knowing, number one, when the Day brothers
 9  actually moved through this particular area or if the
10  dam was actually functioning at that particular point
11  in time.  I mean we can only assume that it took them
12  so long to get here.
13                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah, they -- I don't
14  know.  Yes, you're right.  Picking which day they went
15  through, I just don't know.
16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  If they went
17  through in January --
18                 THE WITNESS:  There is a possibility
19  they were down for dry-up, but that would be about --
20                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But not -- there's
21  very little agriculture going on in January; is that
22  not correct?
23                 THE WITNESS:  There was a lot more in
24  those days.  You had grains, you had leaching, you had
25  alfalfa.  It wasn't so cotton-oriented like it is
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 1  today.  And, also, one thing that farmers did back then
 2  that was significantly different is they would divert
 3  in the winter months and put it on the fields whether
 4  or not they needed it, to store it in the ground for
 5  the plants to use later.
 6                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But all of this
 7  that we're talking about is pretty much hypothetical,
 8  is it not?
 9                 THE WITNESS:  It's the best speculation
10  I could come up with.
11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Thank you.
12
13              CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
14  BY MR. HELM:
15      Q.    And something that's close and near and dear
16  to my heart.  As I understand it, since about -- 1887,
17  was that when you said it went into operation?
18      A.    '85.
19      Q.    '85.  At least at some parts of the year, you
20  would say that the Arizona Canal and Dam dried up the
21  Salt River?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    Can you tell me whether, after 1885, there
24  were any fish in the Salt River below the Arizona Dam?
25      A.    I don't know.  And when I say "dried up,"
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 1  there still would have been pools standing, depending
 2  on how long the flow wasn't going; but there would be
 3  dry spots.
 4      Q.    So you would say that the fish that were
 5  below the Arizona Dam would all get together and get in
 6  whatever pools that were still remaining?
 7      A.    I think they would retreat to the pools as it
 8  shrank, yes.
 9      Q.    Would those pools, over some period of time,
10  become stagnant?
11      A.    Yes.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, are you going
13  to ask a fish question?
14                 MR. HELM:  No, I was just trying to find
15  out whether all the fish died down there.  Apparently
16  they didn't.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, because we're
18  going to take a break.  I didn't want to interrupt your
19  line of thought.
20                 MR. HELM:  No, no, I'm not going to ask
21  him whether, you know, a spear bait would have been the
22  appropriate thing to use in the pools.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Hopefully he would have
24  understood that question.
25                 We're going to take a ten-minute break
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 1  now.
 2                 (A recess was taken from 10:06 a.m. to
 3  10:18 a.m.)
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
 5                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rebecca?  And, John,
 7  you're up.
 8                 MR. HELM:  Here we go.
 9  BY MR. HELM:
10      Q.    Referring you now to page 40, and here you're
11  talking about several rivers; the Salt, the Roosevelt,
12  the Verde at Fort McDowell, the Gila at Dome, right?
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    And you're giving us cfs flows for those
15  rivers at the time period that's relevant to it, right?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    Okay.  And what I get out of this is that
18  you're saying that every one of those rivers was at
19  flood stage at that point?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    Could you give me what the ordinary flow
22  range would have been for those rivers at the time
23  you're talking about, under the ordinary condition, in
24  other words, the 80 percent?
25      A.    Oh.  Well, if you're taking the Salt River at
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 1  Roosevelt and the Verde at Fort McDowell, those pretty
 2  much -- they were close to ordinary.  Or, excuse me,
 3  you said ordinary or natural?
 4      Q.    Well, ordinary and natural.  I shortened it.
 5  I tend to shorten it to ordinary, is my speech, but --
 6      A.    Okay.
 7      Q.    -- I want the 80 percent, is what I'm looking
 8  for.
 9      A.    Oh.  Then, well, Mr. Fuller computed the
10  90 -- or the top 10 percent level at just under 3,000.
11  I just used 3,000 cfs, for the Salt and Verde combined.
12      Q.    Okay.  And that's what you're doing here,
13  you're giving me those numbers to add them together?
14      A.    Yeah, I would add the Salt and the Verde
15  together to make an estimate of what it was at the
16  confluence.
17      Q.    Okay.  So just above the Verde, what would
18  the Salt's ordinary flow have been, the middle
19  80 percent?
20      A.    I don't know off the top of my head.
21      Q.    The same question for the Verde, and your
22  answer would be "I don't know"?
23      A.    Correct.  I would have to look it up.
24      Q.    Did you look it up at the time you were doing
25  this?
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 1      A.    No, I was looking at the -- thinking about
 2  the flow in Segment 6, below the confluence.
 3      Q.    And what would the ordinary and natural flow
 4  be at Gila at Dome?
 5      A.    The upper -- oh, at Dome?  I know we've put
 6  it in.  I don't know what it is off the top of my head,
 7  but I know it's less than 9,500.
 8      Q.    Do you have an estimate?  What would the top
 9  be?
10      A.    5-, 6,000, I think.
11      Q.    And the bottom, somewhere around 3- or 400?
12      A.    That sounds about right, but I -- I know I
13  have numbers.  I just don't have them in my brain.
14      Q.    You just don't have them with you?
15      A.    Yeah.
16      Q.    We could find those from your Gila report?
17      A.    Yes.
18            No.
19      Q.    Maybe?
20      A.    I didn't do virgin flow estimates at Dome, to
21  my recollection.
22      Q.    Page 43.
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    You confused me a little here, and I want you
25  to unconfuse me, if you would.  You start out there and
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 1  you say, "There are two components to the navigability
 2  doctrine."
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    And since I've been here, you've told me
 5  there's three.  Which is it?
 6      A.    Well, okay, there's 1, 2a and 2b.
 7      Q.    Okay.  So have you changed your viewpoint of
 8  it since you wrote this report; is that --
 9      A.    No.  The first phrase says, basically, in
10  fact or susceptible, so that's two points.  But then
11  when you get to susceptibility, Winkleman and
12  implicitly, I think, Utah put two steps in that.
13      Q.    So there's really four steps?
14      A.    No, there's 1, navigable in fact; 2,
15  susceptible to navigation.  Under susceptible to
16  navigation, you have 2a, did they need the navigation;
17  and 2b, would it have worked.  Sorry for the confusion.
18      Q.    And you get all of that out of the Utah
19  decision?
20      A.    Well, I get 1 from all the decisions.  2a, as
21  I say, Utah implicit, but primarily I thought the
22  Winkleman decision laid it out clearest; and the same
23  with 2b.
24      Q.    Going down to page 43, at the bottom you're
25  talking about Mr. Fuller's reasons?
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    And the four categories that you give us,
 3  those are your categories, right?
 4      A.    Yes.  I took --
 5      Q.    That's Gookin on Fuller?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    Going on over to A. on the next page, 44,
 8  Navigation Was Not Needed.
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    One question on that.  Why don't trains enter
11  into discussion, from your perspective?  I mean they
12  arrived before statehood, long before statehood, didn't
13  they?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And they were in Phoenix, Arizona or
16  thereabouts, Maricopa, long before statehood?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    Okay.  So why don't trains become part of the
19  mix of why people didn't use the Salt River for
20  navigation?
21      A.    As I understand the doctrine, the Courts have
22  said you cannot use trains to disqualify navigability;
23  that when the trains came, they were so much cheaper,
24  there was just no point to navigate the rivers.  Even
25  the Mississippi lost a lot of traffic because of the
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 1  trains and the relative costs.
 2            Now, if I'm interpreting your question
 3  correctly, you're saying why can't I boat down the Gila
 4  River or Salt and Gila and put it on a train and take
 5  it back up.
 6      Q.    Well, that would be one, but I hadn't really
 7  thought of it in that context; but that certainly
 8  enters the play, doesn't it?
 9      A.    Well, I'm not sure, and that is a legal
10  question.  To me, if you're going to use the cheapness
11  of the train travel to justify floating downstream,
12  then I would think you have to go the next step and
13  say, well, then I can use the cheapness of the travel
14  to say it's not feasible.
15            Picking and choosing your facts and saying,
16  well, I'm going to use this fact and say, yes, this is
17  legally permissible for purpose A, but not purpose B, I
18  don't think is appropriate; but that's a lawyer
19  fighting question.
20      Q.    Sure.  From your perspective, though, you did
21  not consider trains as part of the mix, even though
22  they were, because you understand that there is some
23  case out there that says you can't do that?
24      A.    I understand you can't use the trains for
25  nixing navigability.  I don't think there's any case
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 1  about whether you can use the trains to permit you to
 2  navigate part of the river that you couldn't normally
 3  do or pretrain do.
 4      Q.    Okay.  Well, here's where I'm going.
 5      A.    And -- sorry.
 6      Q.    Go ahead.  No, finish.  I'm sorry.  I didn't
 7  mean to interrupt.
 8      A.    I have thought about this issue quite a bit,
 9  and the other thing that came to me was that on the
10  estimate of canoe cost, for example, almost half the
11  cost was the shipping cost because the canoe was made
12  out of -- to get it to Phoenix from Chicago, because
13  the canoe's made out of cedar, which is very weak.
14            Up in the Grand Canyon, on one of the trips
15  somebody was trying to get boats down so they could use
16  them to do the exploration, and they couldn't get a
17  cedar canoe to survive the trip.  They lost several
18  before they finally got it.
19            The Sears catalog talks about you have to pay
20  four times shipping charges to get the canoe there,
21  which tells me they figured they've got to do a lot of
22  reinforcement and crating.
23            The point of all this rambling is that if you
24  took it from Yuma and ran it up on the railroad back to
25  Phoenix, it's still going to be very expensive, because


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1732


 1  the canoes of that era were so fragile that you would
 2  have to do a lot of packaging and reinforcing and so
 3  forth.  That was expensive.
 4      Q.    Part of the assumption, I take it, though,
 5  would be, or you would agree, that the canoe got --
 6  wasn't so fragile that it didn't get to Yuma?
 7      A.    Well, in this scenario I'm saying let's say
 8  it got to Yuma, but by hook, crook, miracle, divine
 9  intervention, whatever you want to pick.  I'll take
10  divine intervention.  But then you're faced with
11  getting it back up to Phoenix.
12      Q.    I was thinking more of your economic
13  approach, to be truthful to you.  And where I was going
14  was, say 1875, there's not an awful lot of people
15  living in the Salt River Valley.  I don't remember
16  what -- do you know what the 1880 census said there
17  was?  I think we've seen it, and it was chump change.
18      A.    Well, there are a lot more people living
19  there than they've said, because in the 1870s the
20  settlers in the Salt River area were enticing and
21  asking the Pimas to move up into the eastern reaches of
22  the Salt River Valley to provide a buffer against the
23  Apache raids.  That's basically what started the Salt
24  River -- the location of the Pimas that eventually
25  caused the Salt River Pima-Maricopa.  So they weren't
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 1  counted, so we don't know how many people there were.
 2      Q.    All right.  But I guess what I'm saying, from
 3  an economic measurement, would whatever that number of
 4  people living in the Salt River have been -- I'm
 5  excluding the Upper Gila.  I'm just talking about the
 6  Lower Gila. -- create a demand to build a railroad to
 7  the Phoenix area?
 8      A.    It did by 1887.  Actually, before, because
 9  they started it before then.
10      Q.    Well, either that or there was some nut
11  running the railroad, right?  If there was no demand --
12      A.    No.
13      Q.    If there was no demand, you wouldn't build
14  the railroad?
15      A.    Right.
16      Q.    So they perceived that by 1887 there was a
17  demand for a railroad to the Phoenix area?
18      A.    Yeah, that it was -- there was enough demand
19  to make a special trip.
20      Q.    And there's no question in your mind that the
21  railroads were a lot cheaper than the waterborne
22  transportation?
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    And so by nineteen eighty -- or 1887, the
25  motivation to do anything to get waterborne
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 1  transportation on the Salt River pretty much -- I hate
 2  to say this, but I've got to. -- dried up?
 3      A.    I was afraid you were going to do that.
 4            Yes, I would agree.
 5      Q.    So what we have is a very small window when
 6  commercial transportation might have been a viable
 7  option on the Salt River, from your perspective, being
 8  from --
 9      A.    Not true.  You've got from the Winkleman
10  Court all the way back to 1800.  We know there were
11  Indians on the Lower Salt near the Gila that nobody
12  brought goods up the river to trade with.  We know
13  there were Forts that needed supplies, and those went
14  by wagon.  We know there were trappers who were
15  trapping the river and no indication they used canoes.
16            So you've got a good period of about 80 or
17  90 years when they should have boated.
18      Q.    When you do your analysis on what it cost to
19  build the railroad, if I understand what you're saying,
20  is the trappers, there would have been enough of them
21  at the time trapping was going on to convince one of
22  the mega-millionaires on the East Coast to build a
23  railroad out here?
24      A.    Well, the railroad was nowhere near out here
25  in that time.  In fact, the railroad had not been
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 1  invented yet.  Well, I'm not sure exactly when it was
 2  invented, but it hadn't -- the process of railroading
 3  America had not started.
 4      Q.    What I'm trying to find out is, is what the
 5  economic demand was that convinces you that there was
 6  this demand in the Salt River Valley that would have
 7  generated river use, if it had been available to use?
 8      A.    Oh.  We know for a fact that the
 9  Quartermaster's Station at Yuma used a navigable river
10  to supply the Forts up the Colorado.  We know for a
11  fact that they didn't use the river to supply the Forts
12  up the Gila and Salt.  We know that they wrote that
13  they wish they could have, but they had to do it by
14  wagon, which was much more expensive and so forth.
15      Q.    I just guess we're going to talk at
16  cross-purposes, but thank you very much.
17      A.    I'm sorry.
18      Q.    At any rate, back at the trains.  You think
19  that there's a case that says you can't use it?
20      A.    I think there's a case that says you can't
21  use trains to exclude navigability.  In other words,
22  say, well, by 1912 we had a train.  They were boating
23  up and down in, say, 1850, but in 1887, when it came,
24  they gave it up.  That doesn't prevent navigability.
25            It said once navigability is established, it
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 1  remains a navigable river.
 2      Q.    Does that case limit itself to trains, or
 3  does it say you can't use transportation next to a
 4  river to exclude the river from being navigable?
 5      A.    The synopsis I read when I was just trying to
 6  study up on this talked about railroads.
 7      Q.    Do you know whether there's a case out there
 8  that says you can't use land transportation of any ilk
 9  to exclude a river from being susceptible to
10  navigability?
11      A.    Yes.  I know there's one out there that says
12  you can't use railroads to exclude navigability.
13      Q.    And I'm saying do you know if there's one out
14  there that says you can't use wagons?
15      A.    I don't know that there's any case concerning
16  that.
17      Q.    Okay.  Going to page 45, and you're talking
18  about in the 1800s, the only practical way -- you've
19  got a quote there, I believe.  Do you see that?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    And the question that I have for you, keeping
22  that time in context, when the river was, I think at
23  least for our purposes, in its ordinary and natural
24  condition, what items in the Salt River Valley were in
25  existence that would merit large-scale water
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 1  transportation?
 2      A.    There were crops for the people who were
 3  there, and there was a market to receive goods, in
 4  particular the Army.
 5      Q.    I didn't ask you what the market.  I wanted
 6  to know what up there would merit a downriver form of
 7  large-scale water transportation, the kind that you
 8  talk about?
 9      A.    It would have been crops in -- in, what, the
10  1860s?
11      Q.    No, no, I'm talking about the eighteen --
12  when we're back to the natural and ordinary condition
13  of the river.
14      A.    Oh.  Well, that would be before the canals
15  then.  All there would be would be demand for goods in
16  return for money.  There wouldn't -- I don't know of
17  anything that would be shipped downstream.
18      Q.    Nothing up there that motivated me to want to
19  make the river better to ship downstream?
20      A.    Not -- yeah, not until they started farming.
21  I don't think there were many people there before
22  Swilling.
23      Q.    Excluding the -- I mean we can get in an
24  argument over the Native American farming --
25      A.    Right.
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 1      Q.    -- and whether that counted or not under
 2  Winkleman; but excluding that for purposes of this
 3  discussion --
 4      A.    Okay.
 5      Q.    -- Swilling was the farmer, wasn't he, so to
 6  speak?
 7      A.    Excluding the Native Americans, yes, on the
 8  Salt.
 9      Q.    Right.  And when did he start farming?
10      A.    I believe it was '68 or '69.  He started
11  digging in '67.
12      Q.    Okay.  And why did he do that; what was his
13  motivation?  He just didn't start farming out in the
14  middle of nowhere because he was a natural born farmer.
15            Let me make it easy on you.  He started
16  farming down there to supply the Forts up on the Verde,
17  didn't he?
18      A.    I suspect that was where his primary market
19  was, yes.
20      Q.    And he did it down there in the first years
21  because there were grass and things that were naturally
22  existing down there that he could harvest and sell to
23  the Forts for forage for their horses and stuff,
24  correct?
25      A.    I believe that's correct, yes.
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 1      Q.    So he was farming to ship stuff upstream,
 2  right?
 3      A.    I think he would have been happy to ship it
 4  downstream, if he could have, because -- or upstream,
 5  because -- but he didn't do either.  He wagoned it.
 6      Q.    All right.  But his motivation was to supply
 7  a demand that was upstream from the Salt River?
 8      A.    Probably.  But if you could have gone
 9  downstream, that would have been a better demand, a
10  better marketplace.
11      Q.    How far would it have been downstream to
12  Yuma?
13      A.    From Phoenix -- and let's pretend Swilling
14  Canal is wherever Phoenix was then, because it didn't
15  exist; but it's 195 miles.
16      Q.    How far is it to the first Fort up the Verde?
17      A.    That I'm not sure of.  I'm going to guess 25.
18      Q.    I take it in your discussion on the Erie
19  Canal and the large loads that it was designed to
20  carry, the large loads that you would equate that to in
21  Arizona would be some form of agriculture product?
22      A.    Probably agricultural.  It might be mining
23  equipment going upstream and ores or refined ores going
24  downstream.
25      Q.    Let me tell you where I am.  I've moved
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 1  along.
 2            Page 52.  Do you agree that a river could be
 3  navigable for title purposes and yet not be suitable
 4  for carrying large amounts of freight?
 5      A.    The word "large" is vague.
 6      Q.    Okay.
 7      A.    It has to be enough to be -- make the
 8  operation economically viable, whatever that is.
 9      Q.    All right.  Do you have -- what would be the
10  amount of an agricultural good that would be large
11  enough to make it economically viable in the Salt River
12  Valley?
13      A.    I didn't compute that.  The only two
14  computations I did was for a 500-pound canoe and the
15  Edith.
16      Q.    I take it your answer to mean, in terms of
17  canoes and the smaller flat-bottom boats, would be that
18  a river that was suitable for those to use could not be
19  navigable in fact for purposes of title?
20      A.    It depends on how you're using them.  You
21  need to transport something.
22      Q.    Well, but you told me that you eliminated
23  canoes and small flat-bottom boats from your research
24  to determine navigability; that you just said they
25  weren't suitable.  I'm talking about the canoes that
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 1  you eliminated.
 2      A.    Okay.  You've kind of wandered in the
 3  question.
 4      Q.    I'm sorry if I did.
 5      A.    Canoes, I say, were not the customary modes
 6  of travel at the time of statehood or before it in
 7  Arizona.  There's no evidence that they used them for
 8  that purpose.
 9            Boats, yes.
10      Q.    Let me see if I understand you.
11            Because the indigenous population of Arizona
12  before the European culture arrived didn't use canoes,
13  it's your understanding that in the navigability
14  context, they cannot be used to determine whether the
15  Salt River is navigable?
16      A.    No.
17      Q.    Where am I wrong in my understanding?
18      A.    I also looked at the Utah case, which
19  indicated that the boats that were used for commercial
20  transport did not include -- he didn't list a canoe as
21  one of the many types of boats that he considered as
22  for commercial transport.
23            I looked at the historic evidence of the
24  incidence of canoe use on the Salt and the Gila, the
25  whole drainage area, and I couldn't find any evidence
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 1  of people using the canoes to transmit commercial goods
 2  up and down either river.
 3      Q.    Those kinds of canoes that you're talking
 4  about were, in fact, used in lots of places in the
 5  United States to transport beaver pelts, or what have
 6  you, on rivers that were held to be navigable because
 7  that was what they were used for; is that fair --
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    -- up in the Northeast?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    Okay.  So what I would like you to do for me
12  is to put together your rationalization how the State
13  of Arizona came into the union on an equal footing with
14  the other 47, I guess at that point, if they were held
15  to a different standard for the boats that determined
16  what rivers were navigable or not?
17      A.    They are not held to a different standard.
18  The phraseology is the customary means of trade and
19  travel as of statehood.  It's different as to what the
20  customary means of trade and travel were in different
21  states.
22      Q.    So it's your understanding that Equal Footing
23  Doctrine doesn't mean that we measure the use of a
24  river by the same boat, no matter whether that river
25  happens to be somewhere in New England or somewhere in
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 1  the Southwest?
 2      A.    Right.  I think it means the ones that were
 3  used for that purpose in that region.
 4      Q.    So it's not really equal, is it?
 5      A.    I think it is.  We don't get to use ice
 6  riggers.
 7      Q.    Does that mean that if Puerto Rico gets into
 8  the Union, we're going to have to look at hovercraft?
 9      A.    That's my understanding.
10            If you notice, in Alaska they're allowing
11  inflatable rubber rafts, from what I've been hearing.
12  And yet I wouldn't consider an inflatable modern raft
13  made out of synthetic rubber to be a boat customarily
14  used in Arizona as of 1912.
15      Q.    Okay.  So what your understanding of the
16  Equal Footing Doctrine is, is that distinction is an
17  acceptable distinction.  In other words, we get to
18  suffer discrimination, because if our rivers could have
19  handled canoes, we can't use that as evidence that it's
20  navigable; whereas the rivers in the Northeast did use
21  those boats to determine navigability?
22      A.    You're missing the point that I'm trying to
23  get at.  It's not that I'm saying you can't use the
24  canoe to prove the navigability.  I'm saying nobody did
25  use the canoe to prove the navigability.
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 1      Q.    I must have misread Mr. Fuller's report.  I
 2  thought he was indicating that, one, canoes were used
 3  in 1912 in Arizona; and, two, that they did navigate?
 4      A.    Well, I did go through that, and I found -- I
 5  went through the evidence that's been disclosed,
 6  including Mr. Fuller's report, and I may have missed
 7  something.  I found the Pattie canoe on the San Pedro,
 8  which was used on the San Pedro, but in extraordinary
 9  conditions.  So that didn't prove navigability.
10      Q.    How about the eight canoes, I think it was
11  eight, on the Colorado from Pattie also?
12      A.    Yes, and they did use --
13      Q.    Is the Colorado in Arizona?
14      A.    Yeah.  But they were used as ferries, if I
15  remember, and they were not considered by Utah as being
16  a commercial boat.  I think the problem with the canoe
17  is it's too small, normally.
18      Q.    But my point is, is that canoes were in use
19  in Arizona on the Colorado River?
20      A.    You are correct.
21      Q.    All right.  And so what you're telling me now
22  is that since canoes weren't used on the Salt River,
23  that doesn't qualify as the kind of boat that was in
24  general use in Arizona for measuring navigability?
25      A.    That is an interesting question, and I don't
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 1  have a good answer.
 2      Q.    And it would be really problematic in terms
 3  of the susceptibility issue, wouldn't it?
 4      A.    Yes, I think, but -- well, that is a legal
 5  question as to whether boats from the Colorado count on
 6  the Salt, Gila, Verde, et cetera.
 7      Q.    Going now to 53 and towards the bottom,
 8  you're talking about the Colorado River and the fact
 9  that a small population shows that navigation can
10  occur.
11      A.    Shows that there was a need for navigation,
12  yes.
13      Q.    Just define for me what you mean by "small."
14      A.    I would say the size of Yuma when it first
15  started.
16      Q.    And that would have been how many people,
17  roughly?
18      A.    I'm guessing a couple hundred.
19      Q.    And what we're talking about here is
20  problems, right, your three or four problems that you
21  identified?
22      A.    They're my responses, yeah.
23      Q.    Right.
24            And you identify Yuma as one of the problems?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    And I didn't quite understand that.
 2      A.    Oh.
 3      Q.    And while there are a lot of people who might
 4  think Yuma is a problem, I don't get it in the context
 5  of navigability.  So please explain it to me.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I resemble that remark.
 7                 MR. HELM:  Some things I just can't
 8  resist, even if they're not good for me, you know.
 9                 THE WITNESS:  First, can I take the
10  Fifth?
11  BY MR. HELM:
12      Q.    If you'll take me with it.
13      A.    Okay.
14            What I was meaning was Mr. Fuller had
15  indicated that there were too few people, and that
16  meant there weren't enough people that you would expect
17  to find people who knew how to boat or people who knew
18  how to make boats or people who wanted goods that could
19  be transported by boats, but primarily the first two.
20            And my point is you've got a river and
21  there's two ends to it, and you know that Yuma had
22  river pilots and they had river boats.  So Phoenix
23  didn't need to build them, and they didn't need to have
24  a native river pilot.  Yuma could have supplied them.
25      Q.    The next problem I have is, or your problem
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 1  that confused me, was right after the existence of
 2  Yuma, you indicate that lots of people in the Salt
 3  River Valley had boats.
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    But then the existence of those boats, in
 6  your mind, doesn't count toward determining whether the
 7  river is navigable or not because they only used them
 8  in floods?
 9      A.    No.
10      Q.    Explain to me what you mean there.
11      A.    There were several uses for boats, and as
12  Mr. Fuller documented, there were lakes that the people
13  would take these boats, like we do today, and they
14  would go up to the lakes -- they were different
15  lakes. -- and recreate on the lakes.
16            So the fact you had a boat that you were
17  planning to take up in the summer to Flagstaff doesn't
18  prove that you're going to boat the Salt River.
19      Q.    What lakes were in existence in 1875?
20      A.    I know I listed them in my PowerPoint.  But
21  with regard to 1875, I have to say I don't know which
22  ones existed at that particular year.
23      Q.    How about 1900?
24      A.    Well, 1900, we know that the dam on the
25  Hassayampa, the Walnut Grove, I think, had come and
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 1  gone, especially gone.
 2      Q.    So the gone portion wouldn't provide any
 3  motivation for me having a boat?
 4      A.    Not once that happened, correct.
 5            We know that there was Granite Dells near
 6  Prescott, and I don't know when it was built.  And
 7  there were two near Flag, and I don't know when they
 8  were built.
 9      Q.    So what you're telling me, if I get it, is
10  that all these people that owned boats in the Salt
11  River Valley were going to get their wagons out and go
12  to the Granite Dells to use them in 1875?
13      A.    I'm telling you that Mr. Fuller indicated
14  that that was a source of use for boats before
15  statehood.
16      Q.    Granite Dells?
17      A.    The Granite Dells, the Flagstaff; when
18  Roosevelt started, Roosevelt.
19      Q.    We're talking at cross-purposes.
20      A.    I have to be --
21      Q.    I'm talking about that I understood the
22  premise to be, that lots of people in the Salt River
23  Valley had boats before statehood.
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    Okay.  And so I'm starting kind of at the
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 1  beginning of the lots of people, 1875, and starting to
 2  work my way up.  And my understanding was you told me
 3  that, yeah, they had boats.  And I had said, and you're
 4  saying they only used them in floods.  And you say, no,
 5  they took them to the lakes to use.
 6            And then obviously my question was, I don't
 7  recall any lakes that are particularly close to the
 8  Phoenix Salt River area that were in existence prior to
 9  Saguaro, maybe, where I would have carted a boat to and
10  launched it and gone fishing, for example, as a
11  recreation?
12      A.    Okay, first, I didn't deny they used them in
13  floods, because they did.  But I'm saying there were
14  motivations other than boating on the Salt River that
15  existed as a motivation to buy a boat, and that was
16  based on Mr. Fuller's report.
17      Q.    Well, if they had these boats, wouldn't they
18  have used them on the Salt, too, in non-flood times?
19      A.    If they could have, yeah.
20      Q.    Would 1,000 cfs float your boat?
21      A.    For commercial purposes, I don't think so.
22      Q.    Okay.  We can agree that there was 1,000 cfs
23  going into the Arizona Canal, right?
24      A.    No, I said it could divert up to 1,000.  It
25  didn't get 1,000 all the time, by a long shot.
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 1      Q.    It did at some point?
 2      A.    It did at some point.
 3      Q.    Or the guy who built it goofed up on his
 4  sizing?
 5      A.    Right.  Well, and they did keep enlarging it
 6  so they could do more.
 7      Q.    My point is, there were significant periods
 8  of time in the course of any year when the Salt River
 9  had water in it, correct, and the water would have been
10  sufficient to float a boat, deeper than 3 feet?
11      A.    No, not deeper than 3 feet.
12      Q.    2 feet?
13      A.    I put a table that indicated for the various
14  flows; and, basically, 1 to 2 feet was the range for
15  most things.
16      Q.    Do you accept Mr. Fuller's depth disclosures,
17  or did you disagree with any of them?
18      A.    I disagreed with them.
19      Q.    In terms of that a canoe floats in 6 inches?
20      A.    That was one of many disagreements.
21      Q.    Okay.
22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, I believe
23  we'll take another break right now.
24                 MR. HELM:  Okay.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.  Let's try
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 1  10 minutes.
 2                 (A recess was taken from 10:59 a.m. to
 3  11:15 a.m.)
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
 5                 THE WITNESS:  Ready.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm?
 7                 MR. HELM:  Yes.  I think somebody just
 8  destroyed the --
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, at least they
10  pulled it onto the floor.
11                 MR. SPARKS:  He has a name, and it's
12  called clumsy.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Just before you start,
14  Mr. Helm, I misremembered what time we were going to
15  end today.  It will be 3:30, not 4:30.
16                 MR. HELM:  Works for me.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Proceed, Mr. Helm.
18                 MR. HELM:  I'll try and get done in that
19  period.
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, Mr. Helm, you've
21  destroyed Thanksgiving.
22                 MR. HELM:  I've got to go home and pack
23  to leave town, I mean, you know.
24  BY MR. HELM:
25      Q.    I think when we broke, Mr. Gookin, we were
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 1  talking about the disagreements that you had with
 2  Mr. Fuller over boats, canoes, what have you, and we
 3  had just started on the canoe and floating in 6 inches?
 4      A.    It got mentioned.  I don't know we were
 5  there.
 6      Q.    Yeah.  Well, my understanding --
 7      A.    Oh, okay.
 8      Q.    -- was that you were telling me that you
 9  disagreed with --
10      A.    Oh.
11      Q.    The original question I had, did you agree in
12  a general nature with Mr. Fuller's depth allocations
13  amongst the various kinds of boats.
14      A.    Right.
15      Q.    And you said no.
16      A.    And I said no.
17      Q.    And so now we were getting specific, and we
18  had started with canoe.
19            What's wrong with Mr. Fuller's canoe depth?
20      A.    Well, first, he was counting all of the
21  vehicles based on their draw, rather than a required
22  depth, and they are different.  You need a safety
23  margin.
24            He doesn't consider the 3 foot --
25      Q.    Let me just stop you right there so that I
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 1  don't remain --
 2                 MR. MURPHY:  Can we let him answer the
 3  question?
 4                 MR. HELM:  Yeah, if I could understand
 5  what he was answering.  So if you'd let me --
 6                 MR. MURPHY:  Well, I think he should get
 7  a chance to answer the question first, before you
 8  continually interrupt him.
 9                 MR. HELM:  Do we want to play court?
10  Because I'd be delighted to play court with you.  I
11  think I can handle it.
12                 MR. MURPHY:  I want to play civilized.
13  BY MR. HELM:
14      Q.    What I want to know is the distinction
15  between draw and depth, so that I understand your
16  testimony.
17      A.    As I understand it, when you measure from the
18  waterline down to the bottom of the keel, bottom,
19  whatever the lowest bottom is, that's the draw of the
20  boat, and it varies on how loaded it is.  The depth of
21  water has to be greater than the draw, because you're
22  not in a flat, nicely sculptured, clean canal.  You're
23  in a river.
24            So if you say that a river is 2 feet in one
25  point, that doesn't mean you have 2 feet for the whole
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 1  river.  And so you need to leave a safety margin.
 2      Q.    So when -- if I understand what you're
 3  saying, when Mr. Fuller made the determinations -- and
 4  I'm going to stick with a canoe at this point, because
 5  that's the thing we've been talking about, and he came
 6  up with 6 inches, what you're telling me is that
 7  6 inches does not take in to consider whatever safety
 8  margin would be appropriate for the canoe?
 9      A.    Okay.  The 6 inches was the minimum depth
10  requirement for canoes for recreational purposes,
11  modern boats.
12            Number one is, Mr. Fuller did not consider
13  the minimum depths.  He applied those minimum depth
14  criteria to depths that were greater than minimum.
15  That's improper.
16            Number two, he didn't consider the fact that
17  a boat or a canoe that's being used for trade and
18  travel will probably or should be carrying more than
19  just the one individual.  And so that will cause it to
20  be deeper.
21            Going back to the minimum depth, as I said,
22  it's the 6 inches.  If you're going to use the 6 inches
23  and you do go out there and find the minimum depth,
24  then that's probably okay.  But if you're not going to
25  do that, then -- that's okay for recreational travel
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 1  with modern boats.  If you're not going to do that,
 2  then you need to come up with a standard that tells you
 3  whether or not you're going to be able to make it
 4  through the river based on, say, the gage depths.  And
 5  that's where the Utah case comes in, because the
 6  Special Master listened to all that testimony, talked
 7  to the people who actually did the boating for
 8  commercial purposes, and determined a mean average
 9  depth of 3 feet was what it took.
10      Q.    I am totally confused.  Let's see if I can
11  unconfuse myself.
12            What you're saying is that Mr. Fuller got the
13  weight wrong, in that he did not include enough load in
14  the boat when determining the depth of flow it needed.
15  That's one problem, right?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    Okay.  Then the next problem is he did not
18  consider that a proper -- if he had a properly loaded
19  boat, whether there would be enough water to get that
20  boat down the river?
21      A.    He considered whether there would be enough
22  water, but he did it wrong.
23      Q.    Okay.  How did he do it wrong?
24      A.    He found the depths at cross sections that
25  were not the minimum depth cross section, and he took
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 1  the criteria for the minimum depth cross section and
 2  applied it to the depth.
 3            The second thing he did wrong was he didn't
 4  model the river correctly in the lower reaches, in some
 5  of the reaches, to find the depth that really would
 6  have been there.  Even though he had two channels that
 7  would both be carrying low flows, he assumed it all
 8  went into one channel and ignored the second one.
 9            I also have a problem with his Manning's n,
10  but I don't think that's going to decide this case.
11  And probably something I forgot, but I'll bring it up
12  if I need to.
13      Q.    The two-channel issue, can there be two
14  channels where one of them doesn't have water in it?
15      A.    If the second channel is higher, yes; but
16  we've got channels with the same bottoms.
17      Q.    Okay.  So your assumption for your complaint
18  against Mr. Fuller's work to that extent is that the
19  two channels had identical bottom elevations?
20      A.    Substantively.  I mean it could have been an
21  inch or two one way or another.  That's not my
22  assumption.  That's based on the cross sections he
23  produced.
24      Q.    I flat don't understand your discussion about
25  the minimum depth cross section.  Are you telling me
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 1  that what we have to do is find the minimum depth on a
 2  river and use that cross section to determine whether
 3  the entire river is navigable?
 4      A.    I'm telling you that if you use the two
 5  sources he used, Cortell and Hyra, who established
 6  criteria for modern recreational boating, and if that's
 7  acceptable, then you have to use the entire set of
 8  criteria.  You can't say, oh, well, they decided it
 9  required a minimum depth of 6 inches, so I'm going to
10  take that, and then I'm going to go find the deepest
11  cross section that I can use and compare the 6 inches
12  to that.  That's just engineering mistake.
13      Q.    So if I get what you're telling me now, is
14  you go to the Salt River, you find the minimum depth
15  cross section.
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    All right.  And you use that minimum depth
18  cross section to measure whether the stream, the river,
19  is navigable?
20      A.    No.  I'm saying if you're going to use Hyra
21  and Cortell as your source to develop the
22  methodology --
23      Q.    Then that's what you do?
24      A.    -- you've got to use the whole methodology.
25  You can't just pick one number and then apply it
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 1  differently.  That's wrong.
 2      Q.    But am I right in what my understanding is;
 3  that using the Hyra and Cortell, you pick the minimum
 4  cross section, and that's what controls the
 5  determination?
 6      A.    They had some other things, but, yes, that
 7  was the primary thing that he looked to, was the
 8  minimum depth.  So that's the standard he picked, and
 9  it should be used consistently.
10      Q.    Okay.  Now, with respect to that specific
11  standard, the assumption that makes is that cross
12  section that shows the minimum depth is going to
13  require you to get out of the boat; you can't go any
14  further?
15      A.    No.
16      Q.    Ground to a halt; there's not enough water?
17      A.    What they're saying is that for recreational
18  purposes, and I keep emphasizing, it's modern
19  recreation; not the customary, normal travel at the
20  time of statehood.
21            But assuming that's relevant, the modern
22  recreation, they're saying a person who -- if the
23  minimum depth is below 6 inches, people aren't going to
24  use it for recreation and, therefore, they're not going
25  to consider the boat -- or the river to be useable
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 1  for --
 2      Q.    Recreationally navigable.
 3      A.    Yeah.
 4      Q.    I've invented a new term.
 5      A.    I like it.
 6      Q.    And what I'm driving at, the reason they
 7  consider it not recreationally navigable is because
 8  there's not enough water to float my boat, right?
 9      A.    I think your word about --
10      Q.    I can't go down it.
11      A.    Well, you may be able to go down it, but
12  you're going to scrape things up or you're pushing it
13  with a paddle.  It's -- they don't think people will do
14  it because, you know, recreation has the criteria of
15  fun.  Work doesn't have to be fun.  I mean I know this
16  is, but it's not always this good, you understand.
17      Q.    Thank you.
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You done?
19                 MR. HELM:  That's a voice crying in the
20  night, if I've ever heard one.
21  BY MR. HELM:
22      Q.    So what other problems -- does that fully
23  discuss the minimum depth problem you have with
24  Mr. Fuller?  Have we got everything --
25      A.    I also had --
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 1      Q.    -- that you hate canoes about?
 2      A.    What?
 3      Q.    We've got everything you hate his analysis of
 4  a canoe out on the table?
 5      A.    The other was we had disagreements about his
 6  flows and how he developed them, particularly the
 7  median.  So that would influence the answer.
 8      Q.    That's your discussion about 990 and 12,
 9  whatever it was?
10      A.    Yes.
11            I mentioned Manning's n.  And, of course, the
12  other question is, is a standard for modern
13  recreational boating the appropriate standard to use
14  for a test of navigability for title purposes.
15      Q.    And your opinion is?
16      A.    No.
17      Q.    What do you think the appropriate test?  It's
18  just that 3 feet?
19      A.    Mean average depth of 3 foot at the gage.
20      Q.    Now we got it all on the table?
21      A.    Probably not, but --
22      Q.    Good enough for government work.
23      A.    I think it's close to date.
24      Q.    All right.  What about -- that's canoes.
25  What about flat-bottom boats; same basic gripes?
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 1      A.    Yeah, and the criteria is different.  It's
 2  not 6 inches.  I think it's 1 foot.  But --
 3      Q.    Whatever it is --
 4      A.    -- the same arguments would apply on how he's
 5  applied it to flat-bottom boats.
 6      Q.    Okay.  What other kind of boats did you --
 7  rafts, I guess?
 8      A.    Well, the Special Master, in coming up with
 9  his criteria, said that rafts were used for short
10  reaches only.  So he did consider them, kind of.
11      Q.    So did he mess up his calculations for rafts?
12      A.    No, he still came up with mean average depth.
13            Oh, who "he"?
14      Q.    "He" be Mr. Fuller.
15      A.    Okay.
16      Q.    That's who I'm talking about anyway.
17      A.    I was talking about the Special Master.
18      Q.    Oh, okay.
19      A.    He did just fine.
20      Q.    What I'm trying to find out is, is it just
21  that you completely disagree with Mr. Fuller because of
22  the methodology he chose?  He did not adopt the Special
23  Master's 3 foot determination for the Salt River, and
24  so his determination is no good?
25      A.    Plus, he didn't model the depths or get the
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 1  correct depths for given flows, and he didn't use the
 2  correct flows.
 3      Q.    And that applies across the spectrum of
 4  boats?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    58.  With respect to modern boating, is it
 7  your impression that the evidence of modern boating
 8  that's being presented by Mr. Fuller, for example, is
 9  being presented to prove that actual boating took
10  place, as opposed to the river could have been
11  susceptible for navigation?
12      A.    I think he's trying to use it for both.
13      Q.    Okay.  And I take it you would find it
14  objectionable for both categories?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    And for the same basic reasons that you have
17  enunciated here and just gotten through, that's why
18  it's objectionable?
19      A.    What I got through was the depth discussions.
20      Q.    Okay.
21      A.    We have all the durability discussions and
22  the fact that the boats can take a lot more abuse now
23  than they could at statehood.
24      Q.    Okay.  So you got -- other than durability,
25  anything else?
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 1      A.    In the case of inflatable rafts, the fact
 2  that they just weren't available at statehood, so they
 3  can't be meaningfully similar.
 4            And the argument for canoes -- I know we've
 5  talked about canoes. -- I don't think they were used
 6  before statehood.  One more instance where it was used
 7  that I had missed.  Mr. Burtell pointed it out.  The
 8  Hayden trip used a dugout canoe, but that tends to
 9  indicate they really don't work, because the whole trip
10  failed.
11      Q.    But maybe Mr. Hayden had seen other people
12  using dugout canoes on the Lower Salt River, or do you
13  think he just built himself a dugout canoe and went
14  off, so to speak?
15      A.    I think he went up there, and then when he
16  got up there, that was how you were going to build a
17  boat.  So they built a dugout canoe.  But we're
18  speculating all of that out of a very short article or
19  couple articles.
20      Q.    On that page you talk about Montana PPL?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    And I would like you to give me the specific
23  reference, if you can, in PPL where they say using
24  modern boating is wrong as a matter of law.
25      A.    Oh, wait a minute.  Sorry, I was in the wrong
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 1  decision.
 2            On page 21 of the Montana decision,
 3  immediately after the heading B, as in boy -- that's a
 4  capital B. -- they state, the Supreme Court states,
 5  "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a matter of
 6  law in its reliance upon the evidence of present-day,
 7  primarily recreational use of the Madison River,"
 8  period, closed quote.
 9      Q.    And that's what you're relying on, and that's
10  all you're relying on?
11      A.    I'm relying on that for saying a matter of
12  law.
13      Q.    Yeah.
14      A.    I'm relying on other things for the matter of
15  fact.
16      Q.    Okay.  Moving right along, page 61.
17      A.    I'm there.
18      Q.    At the bottom of the page you're talking
19  about beaver dams again, and you're telling me that
20  wood rafts would have a major problem with a beaver
21  dam.
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    And Mr. Fuller has testified that at least in
24  a number of instances, the way boaters handle beaver
25  dams is they simply slide over the top of them in their
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 1  boat?
 2      A.    First, I haven't heard him say that with
 3  regard to wood rafts, which are a different type of
 4  vehicle.
 5      Q.    Okay.  You don't dispute that concept,
 6  though?
 7      A.    I do, because the canoes and the boats they
 8  use today are -- well, the canoes that he's talking
 9  about are made out of Royalex, which is so much
10  stronger and so much more durable than wood.  You can
11  throw it off a rooftop five stories high and it's fine.
12  Wood won't do that.
13      Q.    Are you telling me that all the trappers and
14  people who traversed all of the Eastern states, in the
15  days when all they had was a good old birch bark canoe,
16  did not slide over the top of beaver dams in that
17  canoe?
18      A.    I see no evidence that they did.  I would
19  doubt -- if the water was deep enough going over the
20  dam, you probably could do it.  It's going to depend a
21  lot on how big the dam is and how deep the water is.
22      Q.    Okay.  So you just basically don't know?
23      A.    I don't think so, but I don't have any
24  documentation.
25      Q.    So that's Gookin on beaver dams?
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 1      A.    Gookin on canoeing.
 2      Q.    Beaver dams and canoeing?
 3      A.    Yeah.
 4      Q.    So now tell me why, if I had my trusty wood
 5  raft, I couldn't do the same thing?
 6      A.    A wood raft is going to be a lot wider and
 7  heavier, because it's made out of solid wood; whereas
 8  the canoes have ribbing and so forth, rather than what
 9  I'm thinking of is like some wood logs or planks stuck
10  together.
11            The wood raft is structurally much more
12  inferior, and it would be harder to carry, because a
13  canoe you can turn upside down, and if you're stronger
14  than me and it's a small enough canoe, you can just
15  carry it over; but with a raft, you're going to need at
16  least two people, because it's just a flat piece.
17      Q.    I think we went astray, because I'm not
18  talking --
19      A.    Okay.
20      Q.    I'm asking you why I couldn't paddle up to
21  the beaver dam in my wood raft and slide over the top
22  of it --
23      A.    Oh.
24      Q.    -- assuming water's flowing over it,
25  obviously, or even though it's going to be shallower
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 1  than the wood raft?
 2      A.    If the water was flowing deep enough over it,
 3  then you might be able to do it; but the wood raft, due
 4  to its structural inferiority, would have problems with
 5  a vertical drop.
 6      Q.    Would a wood raft be structurally inferior,
 7  in terms of strength, to a birch bark canoe?
 8      A.    I think so.
 9      Q.    Solid wood?
10      A.    Solid wood in one direction, but only a few
11  supports in the other, and it's not designed.  It's
12  just thrown together.
13      Q.    And what you're talking about is shape then?
14      A.    In large part, yeah.
15      Q.    Same set of questions with respect to a
16  flat-bottom boat.  You say they can't go over beaver
17  dams either.
18      A.    I think it would be harder.  For example, the
19  Edith is a flat-bottom boat, and if you're going to
20  take the Edith with 850 pounds of load, that's a lot of
21  weight to have -- to take over the dam and hit the dam
22  with.  So you've got a lot of force.  You're pretty
23  much going to need to empty it, get somebody to come
24  with you, even though it's a one-person boat, lift it
25  over, and refill it.
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 1      Q.    Assuming you're going downstream.
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    We have a beaver dam.
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    Does that slow the water down?
 6      A.    Upstream of the beaver dam, yes.
 7      Q.    So why am I going to hit this beaver dam with
 8  a tremendous amount of force, assuming I've got a
 9  paddle or two paddles in my hand and/or a board and I'm
10  paying attention and have at least eyesight as good as
11  mine?
12      A.    I have no idea how good your eyesight is,
13  but --
14      Q.    It's very poor.
15      A.    -- if you're going at the dam and you go up
16  to it very slowly, you're just going to stop.
17      Q.    Okay.  But so what you're saying is, if
18  you're going over this lake that's created by the
19  beaver dam that's at least 3 feet deep --
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    -- and I'm going too slow, I'm grinding to a
22  halt?
23      A.    Right.
24      Q.    If I'm going too fast, I'm going to destroy
25  the boat?
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 1      A.    Right.
 2      Q.    Okay.  Is there a middle ground, when I'm
 3  going the right speed, because I'm a trapper and I've
 4  been doing this all my life and I get to the beaver dam
 5  and I hit it at the right point because I know where
 6  the low spot is and I can slide across the dam?
 7      A.    I think that's pretty much a speculation that
 8  that could be done, because you've got to realize, the
 9  beaver dam is probably stronger than your boat.
10      Q.    Do you have any specific evidence of this, or
11  is this just Gookin on early navigation by settlers of
12  the United States in birch bark canoes and flat-bottom
13  boats?
14      A.    I've presented my evidence concerning wood
15  strength and the fact it's a very weak structural
16  material.  And so if you're trying to say is there a
17  speed where you could go over the dam, which has pointy
18  sticks sticking out of it in various directions, break
19  through that and go over, but not break the dam -- or
20  break the boat?  I think it's unlikely that you could
21  do that consistently and get through.
22      Q.    So what you're saying, all those fellows who
23  came over and went beaver hunting back in the 1700s or
24  the 1600s, or whenever those top hats were popular,
25  would have come up on the beaver dam, stopped, carried
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 1  their boat around it or over it, and put it back in the
 2  water and gone on; they would not have navigated the
 3  beaver dam within their boat?
 4      A.    Okay, first, they didn't do that in Arizona.
 5  They didn't use boats.
 6      Q.    No, I understand that.  I said -- I'm talking
 7  about before anybody got here.  You know, we're back in
 8  New England.
 9      A.    Oh, not here.
10      Q.    It's 1600.  I'm out on the Tioughnioga River
11  and I'm beaver trapping, all right.  I'm familiar with
12  that.  I even did it a little.
13      A.    Okay.
14      Q.    And would I stop the boat, get out and carry
15  it over; or would I just paddle over that?
16      A.    Probably you would stop the boat, get out,
17  set a trap, and then carry it over.
18      Q.    Okay.  And then sooner or later I'm going to
19  come back to it, right?
20      A.    Yeah.
21      Q.    And if I've got a beaver, I've got to take
22  the trap and pick it up, and then I'm going on
23  downstream, and so I'm going to lift it over it twice,
24  is what you're saying?  Three times; once coming up,
25  twice going down?
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 1      A.    No, because probably when you went to get the
 2  beaver, you would just leave that on the downstream end
 3  and take the beaver and throw it over the dam.
 4            But if you're going to keep going, yeah, then
 5  you have to lift it up.
 6      Q.    And that's your perception of how the
 7  trappers won the West, so to speak?
 8      A.    Yes, on the Eastern rivers, which are
 9  significantly different.
10      Q.    Right.  But those fellows came West, didn't
11  they, as times expanded?
12      A.    Yes, they did, but they didn't even try to
13  use boats here, except on the San Pedro and Colorado.
14      Q.    While we're there, that question I would have
15  come to at some point, but I might as well get it right
16  now.  I was confused about Mr. Pattie.  There's no
17  question in your mind that Mr. Pattie used a boat on
18  the San Pedro, right?
19      A.    Right.
20      Q.    And there's no question in your mind that he
21  used them on the Colorado?
22      A.    Right.
23      Q.    And the thing that was confusing to me, that
24  why would a guy who was trapping beaver and using a
25  boat to do it on those two rivers then not have done it
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 1  when he was trapping beaver on the Salt?  Doesn't he
 2  still need to get across the stream and move up and
 3  down that stream to set his traps and then go check his
 4  traps, what have you?
 5      A.    He still needs to do that, but from his
 6  accounts, he normally did it on foot or on horseback
 7  going up and down the river and across.  And he talks
 8  about he built the canoe because they were in a flood
 9  condition and one guy had gotten killed trying to go
10  across on horseback.  That's when they built the canoe.
11  And I'm sure they didn't keep using it, because when
12  they got to the Colorado River, he had to build another
13  one.
14      Q.    I'm now on inflatables, which is on the next
15  page, I believe.
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    And you talk about inflatables not being
18  practicable at statehood in the first -- do you see
19  that?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    Is that Gookin on inflatables, or do you have
22  some authority for that?
23      A.    I have a fair amount of authority.  I've got
24  the fact that when you look at their literature about
25  the history of inflatables, they talk about them being
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 1  used as pontoon bridges and as, like, on lakes or as a
 2  short-term lifeboat on the ocean.  They don't talk
 3  about them going up and down rivers.
 4            The second point is I know that the rubber
 5  characteristics changed dramatically with the invention
 6  of carbon -- or the discovery of carbon black.
 7      Q.    But why do those -- how are those two things
 8  impracticable?  I mean assuming I had a boat, assuming
 9  it was an inflatable, and assuming I'm in the Salt
10  River Valley, what's impracticable about me throwing
11  that thing on the river and using it, assuming there's
12  enough water there?
13      A.    Historically, people didn't use the rubber
14  boats because they weren't strong enough.  The seams
15  popped open.  They couldn't handle any collisions to
16  speak of.  That's why they used them for I'm going to
17  put a pontoon boat in and that's going to be stagnant,
18  standing in one place.  I'm going to go on a lake.
19      Q.    You put a pontoon boat in presumably to
20  support something?
21      A.    To create a crossing.
22      Q.    Yes.  And when you put wood on top of it and
23  you --
24      A.    Probably.
25      Q.    -- you run horses or wagons across it --
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 1      A.    Right.
 2      Q.    -- does that vibrate the pontoon boat --
 3      A.    I -- go ahead.
 4      Q.    -- and create issues with the boat in terms
 5  of its ability to stay afloat?
 6      A.    It would impact the logs, which would, yes,
 7  vibrate the boats; but it wouldn't create tensile
 8  stresses by hitting the boats and pulling on the
 9  rubber.  Plus, I think they did just have problems,
10  that sometimes they sprung a leak and they had to go
11  build another one.
12            Oh, the other aspect is there's evidence that
13  the construction techniques used to build them didn't
14  hold the boat together.
15      Q.    Why did they keep building them then?
16      A.    Well, they did --
17      Q.    Sucker born every minute, was that the
18  theory?
19                 MR. MURPHY:  Can we let him answer
20  again, Mr. Helm?
21                 THE WITNESS:  I don't think they built a
22  lot of them.  They built, as I say, some for pontoons.
23  You could take it on the lake, because that's a nice
24  still body.  You're not running into things, hopefully.
25  So they had other purposes.
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 1                 But when you're talking about going down
 2  a river, you need something a little stronger, and they
 3  didn't have the rubber.  Rubber was very weak until
 4  carbon black and until they figured out how to do the
 5  seams better.
 6  BY MR. HELM:
 7      Q.    Now, my understanding is you're not a
 8  historian, don't claim to be?
 9      A.    And I thought I said I was on the Gila --
10      Q.    No, I understand specifically.
11      A.    -- and Salt and the Pima.
12      Q.    But what I want to know is, did you have --
13  you've talked about history and things way beyond the
14  Pimas, haven't you?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    You're talking about the history of rubber
17  boats right now, as far as I get?
18      A.    Right.
19      Q.    Okay.  And so my curiosity pops up at that
20  point.  Did you have a historian working with you that
21  helped you on this?
22      A.    No.  I went and found the evidence.  When I
23  heard rubber boats, my immediate reaction was why
24  weren't they more prevalent, because there was no real
25  discussion of them.  And so I went searching and I went


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1776


 1  and found the advances in technology, and I looked at
 2  them with an engineering eye.  And carbon black was a
 3  major step forward.  Plus, I had the Rubber Division's
 4  articles on the history of rubber boats, and they say
 5  around 1900 the advances of rubber manufacturing made
 6  it possible to build more durable rubber inflated
 7  boats, but these crude craft had inherent defects, and
 8  they tended to split at the seams and folds due to the
 9  less-than-optimal manufacturing of the rubber.
10            So I'm looking at a qualified source that
11  tells me this.
12      Q.    Okay.  So to kind of sum that out, what it
13  is, is it's Gookin on the history of rubber boats in
14  his capacity as a nonhistorian, without any help from a
15  historian, assessing the history of a rubber boat?
16      A.    Well, to me, it's more of an engineering
17  question, because I'm looking at manufacturing
18  techniques and tensile strengths.
19      Q.    Have you ever seen -- well, I think you have.
20  You said you've seen these folks who are kind of the
21  replica freaks, who go out and build replicas of old
22  boats and then use them today?
23      A.    The only one I've ever seen was Mr. Dimock or
24  Dimock, when he testified here.  I've heard of them.
25      Q.    You acknowledge that those kind of folks were
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 1  around and they were around in modern times, and that
 2  they build boats that at least they think are exact
 3  replicas of boats that existed historically, and then
 4  they go out and use them on rivers?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    Okay.  And you, in fact, know about
 7  Mr. Dimock and the Edith?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    And he used that on the Lower Salt River?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    And I guess my question is, if I take a boat
12  that is historically correct for the time frame of
13  statehood in Arizona and I use it in a commercial
14  fashion in modern day time, have I solved the issue of
15  modern boating?  That's modern boating, and I'm doing
16  it today, but it's in an old boat.
17      A.    If the river is in the same condition it was
18  in the century and a half ago condition, yes.
19      Q.    Okay.  How does that work in the situation
20  we've got?  And let me just give you kind of a
21  hypothetical.
22            We have a river that is wholly diverted.
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    That is dammed up.
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    But there's still some water in it, all
 2  right.  I mean it's clearly not in the condition it
 3  would have been had we not had the dams, if we had not
 4  had the diversions, if we had not had the interruption
 5  in the type of river it is.  So it's got less water in
 6  it.  It's got a different bottom, may have different
 7  shapes.  But you can still navigate it in an old boat.
 8            Is that good enough to establish navigation?
 9      A.    I don't think so.
10      Q.    Why not?
11      A.    Because it's not in its ordinary and natural
12  condition.  If it was in its ordinary and natural
13  condition, it might have been easier; it might have
14  been harder.  We don't know.
15      Q.    But it's a hard-and-fast rule, is what you're
16  telling me; that even though I have a lesser quality
17  river at this point in time that I am using that boat
18  on, that's not evidence to show that if I could use it
19  on the lesser quality river, I could use it on the
20  better quality river, when there was lots of water in
21  it?
22      A.    You have absolutely no idea if it's a better
23  or lesser quality river that you're on.
24      Q.    Well, but suppose I do.  Let's just assume
25  that I know that there's less water going down this
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 1  river than there was when it was in its natural and
 2  ordinary condition.
 3      A.    Then you don't need to worry about
 4  navigability, because you're God, and you could've put
 5  the water in and done it back then.
 6      Q.    Okay.
 7            Page 70.  And there you're talking about
 8  canvas canoes --
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    -- fair enough?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    And simple question.  Are these your
13  conclusions, this is Gookin on canvas canoes, or do you
14  have some specific items that you can identify that
15  tell us how you got to these conclusions?
16      A.    Well, I put quotes in and I cited to them, so
17  I think that kind of tells you.  I've done that
18  throughout the report.
19      Q.    So your whole basis for your assessment on
20  canvas canoes is a footnote to something called Miller?
21      A.    Actually, my basis for canoes, there are two,
22  several bases.  One, I looked at Mr. Fuller's pictures.
23  I'm enough of a hydrologist to know that the lines
24  shown in Figure IV-3 aren't very conducive to
25  maneuverability.  That's my technical expertise
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 1  speaking.
 2            Second, I did look at authorities, who talked
 3  about how filler changes in canvas have changed and are
 4  stronger than they used to be.  And, again, stronger
 5  means more durable, which means, as Mr. Fuller has told
 6  us, that you can boat rivers that are shallower and
 7  more rocky than you could with the old boat.  That's my
 8  argument.
 9      Q.    So you've got one authority that you cite,
10  Miller, and two pictures of canvas canoes; is that
11  fair?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    And with respect to the Kolb brothers
14  picture --
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    -- that's on the Colorado River, right?
17      A.    I would assume so, but I don't know.
18      Q.    Okay.  Not unreasonable assumption?
19      A.    Probably.  I mean I know Kolb was big on the
20  Colorado River.
21      Q.    My question would be, does that mean canoes
22  were used on the Colorado River?
23      A.    Well, at least to sit there once, yes.
24      Q.    Okay.  The guy was just holding the ores up
25  in the air, huh?
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 1      A.    Yeah, and assuming that's the Colorado River.
 2      Q.    Sure.
 3      A.    Probably is.
 4      Q.    I accept that.
 5            Referring you to page 73, at the bottom of
 6  the page you give us a quote that goes over onto the
 7  next page?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    And my only question there is, this quote is
10  applicable to the Upper Salt, correct?
11      A.    Yes.  It's from the Forest Service, for their
12  reach area of governance.
13      Q.    Going on to the next page, you talk about the
14  price of boats or canoes, and you've got a $1,282
15  number out there?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    Is this Gookin on economics, or do you have
18  an actual citation that tells us that that's the
19  number?
20      A.    Yes.  I used the CPI.
21      Q.    CPI from --
22      A.    The Consumer.
23      Q.    You went and found the price of a canoe back
24  whenever that price was, and you adjusted it every year
25  for the CPI and came up with a price at some date in
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 1  current times?
 2      A.    Yes.  The State presented the prices for the
 3  boats in the Sears catalog at the time.  I know how to
 4  read a number, I know how to do a CPI calculation, and
 5  I got a price.
 6      Q.    Okay.  So this is Gookin on economics, right?
 7      A.    Just means I went through high school, maybe
 8  grade school even.
 9      Q.    Page 79, you're talking about the Special
10  Master and his list of boats and things?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    And you indicate canoes are not mentioned on
13  any of the Master's lists?
14      A.    Correct, the list that they presented as
15  to -- well, actually, I relied on Fuller, who had
16  reviewed the lists of the Special Master, and he had
17  printed those, and I relied on that.
18      Q.    And from that, you came to the hard-and-fast
19  conclusion that canoes were not appropriate to judge
20  navigability on the Salt River by?
21      A.    That's one of many reasons, yes.
22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, could we
23  break for lunch at this time?
24                 MR. HELM:  Boy, I was having so much fun
25  I wasn't even hungry, but I would be happy to.
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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We were too.
 2                 Let's come back at 1:15.  Thank you.
 3                 (A lunch recess was taken from
 4  12:02 p.m. to 1:22 p.m.)
 5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, Mr. Helm,
 6  ready?
 7                 You have two hours.
 8                 MR. HELM:  Oh, that's troublesome.  I'll
 9  try, though.
10  BY MR. HELM:
11      Q.    Okay, Mr. Gookin, we've got to go quickly, so
12  I'm on page 84 and it's just a simple question.  You
13  give a citation to Arizona Appellate Decision, 28-29,
14  and I don't know how, as a lawyer, I find that decision
15  identified that way.  So if you could tell me the name
16  of the case, I would appreciate it.
17      A.    Okay.  I have to confess, I should have put
18  it in the bibliography, and I did not.
19            Wait, let me check the -- what did it say?
20  Page 28.  That would be the Winkleman decision.
21      Q.    Okay.  Thank you.
22            Next reference is to page 86, and there in
23  the first two lines you talk about the Salt River being
24  totally compromised by nonIndian development by 1939.
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    Wasn't it really at least totally compromised
 2  when they opened up Roosevelt Dam?
 3      A.    It was badly compromised by 1885, and it got
 4  a lot worse when Roosevelt.  All I was trying to get
 5  across is the last source of water for the river, the
 6  Verde, had been dammed up then.
 7      Q.    Page 87, you're talking about "...we are
 8  interested in the natural conditions as of statehood,
 9  we need to consider the channel data that occurred
10  between 1906 and 1915."
11            Is that the time frame under which you looked
12  at the channel to determine whether it was in its
13  natural and ordinary condition?
14      A.    For the channel, yes.
15      Q.    So you looked at the flows for pre1860 to
16  1800, as Winkleman directed; but the channel you
17  restricted yourself to 1906 to 1915, have I got that
18  right?
19      A.    Yeah, for the one channel of cross section I
20  did.  It was based on that.
21      Q.    This is page 91.  You tell us that in
22  accordance with directions from the Supreme Court and
23  the Appellate Court, I have broken the river
24  configuration into three periods; predevelopment,
25  statehood, and current.
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    Specifically, what citation directs you to do
 3  that from either the Supreme Court or Appellate Courts?
 4      A.    Well, the Appellate Court talked about using
 5  the 1800 to the 1860s or '70 period, which they
 6  considered predevelopment.  The statehood is The Daniel
 7  Ball language, which is cited in both cases.  And the
 8  Montana dealt with whether or not you used the current
 9  period and what it takes to use the current period and
10  so forth.  So I looked at all three.
11      Q.    Page 92, you have a picture of the Mojave
12  River in California?
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    Can you tell me the flow that that is
15  handling at that time the picture was taken?
16      A.    No clue.
17      Q.    Got an estimate?
18      A.    I gave up trying to estimate flows a long
19  time ago.
20      Q.    It's not much water, is it?
21      A.    No.  It's very little.
22      Q.    Would it be, at least at this point,
23  something that you would consider to be in a drought
24  condition?
25      A.    The Mojave River?
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 1      Q.    Yeah.
 2      A.    I think that's almost flood stage.
 3      Q.    Baseflow?
 4      A.    No, I doubt it.
 5      Q.    So you think this is about baseflow for the
 6  Mojave River?
 7      A.    I think, if it's the one I'm thinking of.
 8  The Mojave River is ephemeral.  I could be on the wrong
 9  river.
10                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  No, you're not.
11                 THE WITNESS:  I'm not on the wrong
12  river?
13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  (Shook head.)
14                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I trust
15  Commissioner Allen on that.
16  BY MR. HELM:
17      Q.    Page 93, you're saying that in the -- prior
18  to European occupation, that the river, the Lower Salt,
19  was, if I understand it, braided approximately
20  80 percent of the time?
21      A.    I'm sorry, I missed the year.
22      Q.    Pre-Anglo showing up.  I think that's what
23  this is in reference to.
24      A.    Oh, yes.  By the 1860s, yes.
25      Q.    And what is your authority that it was a
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 1  braided river at that point 80 percent of the time?
 2      A.    The survey plats by the GLO.
 3      Q.    And is that a reference to the -- what I'm
 4  going to call the floodplain extent of the river?
 5      A.    Well, they show the channels on it.
 6      Q.    I understand.  But those plats are showing
 7  more than just the low flow channel?
 8      A.    Usually they just show the channel as it was
 9  when they were out there, be it low flow, high flow,
10  whatever.  And I took all the survey plats and
11  estimated the lengths and came up with roughly
12  80 percent.
13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Pardon me.
14
15             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  You said this is
17  pre1860?
18                 THE WITNESS:  I should say it was
19  surveyed in the 1860s.  It was like '67, '68.
20                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And that was by --
21                 THE WITNESS:  Ingalls.
22                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Ingalls?
23                 THE WITNESS:  And if you want to look,
24  they're in my appendix.
25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah, I know.
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 1              CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
 2  BY MR. HELM:
 3      Q.    Page 94, just a quick one.  What do you mean
 4  by the terminology "live river"?
 5      A.    A live river is a flowing river.
 6      Q.    So did the Salt River become a dead river at
 7  some point?
 8      A.    Pretty much once Bartlett Dam was built, the
 9  Lower Salt River became a dead river.
10      Q.    Page 99 you set out a mean, a median and a
11  low.  And as I understand that, that would basically be
12  the flows at the confluence of the Verde and the Salt;
13  is that correct?
14      A.    Yeah, immediately below.
15            And you asked me to bring it up, but these
16  were the figures that I developed in the Gila report
17  and brought forward to this report.
18      Q.    Thank you.  And that's the figures that are
19  on page 99?
20      A.    Well, 98, 99.  98, 99 and -- oh, and -- yeah,
21  just 98 and 99.
22      Q.    I'm on page 103 now, and I am a little
23  confused by your Footnote 15.  You say "the natural
24  mean average flow" -- I'm not sure what that means. --
25  is only exceeded 20 to 25 percent of the time, and so
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 1  that is not enough to meet the test for ordinary.
 2      A.    Okay.  The mean average flow is simply what
 3  most people call the average.  And before that I said
 4  the natural, I think --
 5      Q.    You did.
 6      A.    -- which means I'm looking at the pre --
 7      Q.    Which you defined that earlier, so I didn't
 8  go back to it again.
 9      A.    Okay.  It means the predevelopment average
10  flow.
11      Q.    80 percent?
12      A.    No, it means the average flow, the
13  predevelopment average flow.
14      Q.    Is what the word natural alludes to?
15      A.    In terms of when I say natural mean annual.
16      Q.    Oh, okay.
17      A.    The phrase means that.
18            That flow occurs or it's exceeded about 75 --
19  excuse me, 20 to 25 percent of the time.  10 percent of
20  that 20 to 25 percent is above the 90 percent -- or
21  10 percent high flow.  So you're down to a very small
22  percentage of time that you're considering.
23            Now, I've never read clear direction.  I know
24  that you can lay out for certain seasons, but I would
25  question whether or not the legal standard would permit
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 1  you to just only do the boating 10 or 15 percent of the
 2  time.
 3      Q.    Okay.  Page 106, you've got a diagram
 4  there --
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    -- on which you show the mean, the median and
 7  the minimum.
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    Would you tell me where the 90 percent line
10  or the 10 percent high line would be?
11      A.    I did not put them on, and I didn't calculate
12  them.  The minimum would be the same as the 10 percent,
13  the bottom 10 percent.
14      Q.    Sure, I assumed that was right.  You're
15  missing the high 10 percent?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    And we don't have any idea where that falls
18  in terms of feet, other than it's at least a tad below
19  4.5 feet?
20      A.    I would think so.
21      Q.    Would it be above 3 feet there, do you think?
22      A.    Just a second.
23            I think it would be right around 3 feet.
24      Q.    You've got the median at about 2?
25      A.    Yeah.  No, the mean.
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 1      Q.    I'm sorry, yes, the mean.
 2      A.    But I don't know.  I didn't calculate it, is
 3  the correct answer.
 4      Q.    Page 108.  On the top of the page you're
 5  talking about extra-ordinary flows.  Are those flood
 6  flows that you're talking about?  Third line down.
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    Would those -- when you use that term
 9  "extra-ordinary flows," are we always referring to a
10  flood event?
11      A.    It would be possible that I could have been
12  talking about the drought, but I don't remember ever
13  doing that.
14      Q.    Page 111, you say that here Mr. Fuller should
15  be showing the worst case/shallowest cross section.
16  That's a reference to our earlier discussion using,
17  what was it, Colbert or whatever, Colbert and -- [sic]
18      A.    Colbert and Hyra minimum depth discussion.
19      Q.    Yeah, right.  That's what that's in reference
20  to?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    Page 115.  Does the means that the rivers the
23  Special Master in the Utah case was considering -- were
24  they different than what the Salt would have been?
25      A.    The means?
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 1      Q.    Yeah.
 2      A.    I'm sorry, I'm not seeing it on page 115.
 3      Q.    Well, where I have it marked on mine is with
 4  the statement, "However, the floods that the Utah
 5  Special Master considered had slower rises and slower
 6  falls than the Gila...due in part to the large areas
 7  that they drain," and that kicked into me that
 8  question.
 9            And so I just want to know if the Salt mean
10  is different than the means on the rivers considered by
11  the Special Master in Utah?
12      A.    I'm almost certain that -- the mean flow, you
13  mean?
14      Q.    Uh-huh.
15      A.    Was lower on the Salt.
16      Q.    So it was different?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    On 115, you start at the bottom talking about
19  marshland?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    And can you give me any places on the Lower
22  Salt where marshes invaded the low flow channel of the
23  Salt River?
24      A.    I just don't know.  I know the USGS said it
25  was marshy there on the -- just to the north of the
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 1  Indian Reservation or on the -- on the northwest
 2  boundary of the Indian Reservation, the Gila River
 3  Indians.
 4      Q.    You don't know what they were talking about
 5  when they said -- what marshy was a reference to, other
 6  than soggy ground somewhere down there?
 7      A.    They said marshy, boggy, slime.  They kind of
 8  just made a general written description that was not
 9  too pleasant.
10      Q.    Sure.  And from that you drew the implication
11  that there would be some marshlands in the channels of
12  the Salt?
13      A.    I think it's a good chance.
14      Q.    Okay.  But you don't have any evidence that
15  says, "Look at this, John.  There's a picture of a
16  marsh in the middle of the Salt River"?
17      A.    No, I do not.
18      Q.    You've heard the testimony here regarding
19  sand bars; that they don't really present much of an
20  obstacle to a boater because they can either boat
21  around them or they just drag their boat across them,
22  or I think Jon even talked about pushing it across,
23  without getting out, with his paddle.
24      A.    Yes, and I also read the Special Master's
25  reports talking about other ways they got around sand
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 1  bars.
 2      Q.    Okay.  Do you have any actual evidence that
 3  you can point to and show me a sand bar in the Salt
 4  River that actually acted as an impediment to
 5  navigation, assuming navigation would have occurred on
 6  the Salt?
 7      A.    I never indicated they were.
 8            I was just giving context for the quote that
 9  followed that sentence.
10      Q.    I'm sometimes too literal.
11            On page 126, you're talking about an Oregon
12  Appellate Court Decision.  And is that the Haselton
13  decision that you're talking about or some other
14  decision?
15      A.    Yeah, the John Day River was the Haselton
16  decision.  It's in the footnote.
17      Q.    Okay.  Well, I'm saying that's the -- when
18  you say "The Oregon Appellate Court Decision does talk
19  about," and so I'm looking for -- as opposed to saying
20  "Haselton talks about."
21      A.    Oh.
22      Q.    That is the Haselton reference?
23      A.    Yes, and check the footnote.  It gives you
24  all those numbers lawyers like.
25      Q.    Yeah, I know it, but that's all I'm trying to
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 1  get.
 2            Is Exhibit B to this report your complete
 3  list of authorities you rely on?
 4      A.    As of the time of the report, yes.  There
 5  will be a supplemental one for the PowerPoint that
 6  lists a few extras, a few more, but not many.
 7      Q.    Okay.  We're now done with your report, which
 8  means we're making progress, but we're not done yet.
 9  We have your PowerPoint to talk a little bit about,
10  because some of the things in your PowerPoint, at least
11  I didn't see them show up in your report, but we're
12  narrowing it down.  And, regrettably, I have to wait
13  while this stupid thing goes through the turnoff
14  process on this thing so I can get to the next.
15            So if you want to get your PowerPoint out,
16  I'll start zipping through that, if I can.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, how would you
18  like to do the PowerPoint?  Would you like the slides
19  displayed or --
20                 MR. HELM:  There's maybe only one where
21  I just can't read it.  I mean I've enlarged it as much
22  as I can get it on this thing, and it just fuzzes out,
23  and I want to know what the language is.  But for the
24  most part, I'm happy here, if everybody else is happy.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  We do have the
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 1  PowerPoint in paper form, so we could be able to
 2  reference it.
 3  BY MR. HELM:
 4      Q.    The first one that I have a reference to is
 5  your Slide 9.
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    And as I understand Slide 9, what you're
 8  showing me is, with the exception of a brief period in
 9  July, maybe, and June, maybe, maybe where they meet,
10  the flow in the Salt River near Chrysotile always
11  exceeds 50 percent of the ordinary condition; is that
12  correct?
13      A.    It shows that the average flows exceed the
14  50 percent daily condition, yes; or the average monthly
15  flows, I should say.
16      Q.    And would your answer be the same for
17  Number 10, Slide 10, for Segments 3, 4 and 5?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    And, again, it would be the same for
20  Slide 11?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    So, for the most part, the river is always in
23  the upper half of the ordinary condition?
24      A.    No.
25      Q.    No.  Which one of those slides shows the
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 1  river for any significant period of time below the
 2  median?
 3      A.    Western rivers in particular have large flood
 4  flows, large, high flows, spring flows, snowmelt flows.
 5  Those numbers distort the averages.  So that as you can
 6  see in chart number, say, 9, 10 and 11 or Mr. Fuller's
 7  charts on 12 and 13, the average is always higher.
 8  That doesn't mean the river is always higher, because
 9  the median is 50 percent of the days are above it and
10  50 percent of the days are below it.
11      Q.    Maybe that's why I'm confused.  I look at
12  your median on those three charts that we were just
13  talking about, and as you show the median, with some
14  very short periods of time in the mid summer, the flows
15  are always above it.
16      A.    Yes, the average monthly flows, which is --
17      Q.    Well, I take that to be the median.  I'm
18  sorry.  Because that's what he's got it identified as.
19  If it's not --
20      A.    Right, the blue, the dark blue --
21      Q.    The red line is the median, right?
22      A.    Yes, and you're talking about the monthly
23  mean being above the median, and that is true.
24            Mostly, I was just trying to re-create
25  Mr. Fuller's slides on these.
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 1      Q.    Okay, looking at Number 12.
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    Based on that, is it fair to say that
 4  12 months of the year the river was boatable?
 5      A.    I don't think you can tell.
 6      Q.    Okay.  It shows that the red line there is
 7  what?
 8      A.    The 90 percent line.
 9      Q.    Okay.  So in the ordinary course of events,
10  on average, because that's all we're dealing with, is
11  averages -- I get that. -- the river has enough water
12  in it to allow those kinds of boats to float that are
13  hung onto the vertical middle line?
14      A.    Are you talking about the line that goes down
15  to the top of the blue shaded area?
16      Q.    Yeah.
17      A.    Okay.  Those are Mr. Fuller's calculations,
18  which I do not adopt or agree with.
19      Q.    Okay.
20      A.    This gaging station was near Roosevelt, and
21  it measures one of the pools of water.  And he used the
22  criteria for the minimum cross section against the
23  depth data for the pools of water, and that's improper.
24      Q.    Okay.  But that's not what I asked you.  I
25  asked you based on this chart, it's boatable all year
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 1  long, right?
 2      A.    It doesn't say that, and it's --
 3      Q.    Well, that's my understanding of it, and I'm
 4  asking you to tell me if I'm misunderstanding.  The
 5  boats that you're showing there are all below the
 6  80 percent ordinary condition, right?
 7                 MR. MURPHY:  Mr. Chairman, I don't
 8  understand.  He's saying the boats that you're showing,
 9  but this is Mr. Fuller's slide.  And is Mr. Helm asking
10  Mr. Gookin what Mr. Fuller is showing?
11                 MR. HELM:  Yes.
12                 MR. MURPHY:  He could have asked
13  Mr. Fuller.  I don't know why, but --
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So as we understand the
15  question, John, you're asking Mr. --
16                 THE WITNESS:  Gookin.
17                 MR. HELM:  Mr. Gookin, if what
18  Mr. Fuller is showing is --
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- Gookin to interpret
20  what Mr. Fuller put on his slide because Mr. Gookin
21  included it in his slides?
22                 MR. HELM:  That's correct.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Got it?
24                 THE WITNESS:  Got it.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Give it.
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 1                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  The arrow and the
 2  three dashed lines apply to the annual condition.  So,
 3  for example, assuming Mr. Fuller had done it all
 4  correctly, you would say annually you could boat
 5  slightly over 40 percent of the time with a canoe,
 6  kayak, raft or driftboat.
 7                 And the way I get that is the top of the
 8  blue shaded area is immediately below the median line,
 9  okay.  So that is 50 percent.  It's a little below
10  50 percent.  And we're looking for between the
11  10 percent line, the high line, and the blue line.  So
12  there's 40 percent between the 10 percent high line and
13  the 50 percent median line.  50 minus 10 is 40, plus a
14  smidge, because the blue shaded is a little below the
15  median, and you get a little over 40.
16  BY MR. HELM:
17      Q.    And if I asked you that question for the next
18  two slides, that I assume are Mr. Fuller's also, your
19  answer would be similar?
20      A.    No, and that's part of the problem, because,
21  for example, on Segment 5, Slide 13, you see the median
22  has jumped all the way up in the chart.  And so now the
23  boats, it's very hard to tell, because you've got the
24  50 percent line at about 1,000, and you have the
25  10 percent low line that's somewhat below the arrow,


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1801


 1  the top of the blue.  I don't know what the percentage
 2  in that little gap is.  But it's probably on the order
 3  of 40 percent between the 90, the red line, and the
 4  green; and making a guess, 35 percent below.  So now
 5  we're at 75 percent or so, 80 percent.  75, I would
 6  say.
 7      Q.    Going down now to Slide 16, which is the
 8  Thomsen and Porcello mean annual flow slide.
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    And the first thing I'm curious to know is
11  why does all this matter?  Because what we're concerned
12  about is the ordinary and natural flow condition, which
13  is 80 percent of the flow, right?
14      A.    Well, that's not all we're concerned about,
15  but we're concerned about that.
16      Q.    All right, but I mean principally.  And
17  that's what we seem to be focusing.  We just seem to be
18  focusing on the median or the mean, as opposed to what
19  I call the spread, the water column between 10 percent
20  low and 10 percent high.
21      A.    It --
22                 MR. MURPHY:  Is that a question?  I
23  didn't hear a question there, Mr. Chairman.
24                 MR. HELM:  Why don't you go out in the
25  other room.  If we want to play this, I'm going to do
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 1  it to him, and I want him to know it.
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John.  John.  Okay.
 3                 Did you understand the question,
 4  Mr. Gookin?
 5                 THE WITNESS:  At this point, no.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Can you rephrase
 7  the question?
 8                 THE WITNESS:  I thought I did for a
 9  second, and I'm sorry.
10  BY MR. HELM:
11      Q.    Sure.  I just want you to tell me why we're
12  not focused on the -- instead of being at the mean or
13  the median and whether that's an average and how it
14  gets put out of whack by the floods, why we're not
15  focusing on the spread?
16      A.    Because the median -- the determination of
17  the median affects how much time in the spread it was
18  boatable.  What per --
19      Q.    So what --
20      A.    It --
21      Q.    What -- go ahead.
22      A.    Do you want me to try again?
23      Q.    Yeah, I wish you would.
24      A.    Okay.  He has a chart and he shows a range of
25  flows that's 80 percent of the time.  Now, he doesn't
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 1  indicate that, say, a raft can be boated any of those
 2  days that fall in the 80 percent.  He says some of
 3  those days, but not all of those days.
 4            That leads to the question how many days can
 5  it be, what percentage are we talking about?  Because,
 6  to me, if you can boat it, say, 70 percent of the time
 7  out of 80, it's a much stronger case for navigability
 8  than if you can only boat it, say, 1 percent of the
 9  time.  And that's why it matters.
10      Q.    Okay.  Do you have any charts set out where
11  you determine how much of the time it can be boated?
12      A.    I showed the depths for the minimum, median
13  and mean, which gets me up to about the 75, 80 percent
14  level, and showed none of those were boatable under the
15  Utah criteria.
16      Q.    Well, nothing's boatable -- or, well, and I
17  don't recall any that are over 3 feet that you've
18  shown.  But, basically, it's not a calculation, whether
19  it was the mean, the median or whatever.  As long as it
20  doesn't go above 3 feet, you would say it's not
21  boatable?
22      A.    As long as it's below the mean average of
23  3 feet, yes, it's not boatable.  It's not navigable for
24  title purposes, more accurately.
25      Q.    Okay.  And I guess what I'm driving at, or
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 1  maybe I can ask it a different way, is did you do any
 2  analysis on what -- within the ordinary and natural
 3  portion of the river, the 80 percent, without the 10
 4  and the 10, was -- whether the river at any point was
 5  navigable?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    Okay.  Where would I find that?
 8      A.    Jump to Slide 195.
 9      Q.    Can you do it without me having to jump?
10  Because this is way in the back of this turkey.  I'm
11  not tuned in by number of slides.
12      A.    Well, it's the slide that shows the results
13  of the Manning's equation.  It's Figure 6-3 in my
14  report, and I compute, for various assumed n-values,
15  the depth of water for mean, which is 75 to 80 percent;
16  median, which is 50 percent; and minimum, which is the
17  10 percent.
18            And given that the mean depth under the most
19  optimistic conditions comes only to 1.3 feet, I'm
20  pretty safe in saying it's not navigable.  It's not
21  going to get to 3 feet before you get to 90 percent; or
22  if it does -- well, I don't think it will, but it's
23  only going to be a day or two.
24      Q.    On Slide 17, does that slide tell me the --
25  or is there any way that I can pick out the ordinary
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 1  condition of the river from there?
 2      A.    This is just talking about how you --
 3  Mr. Fuller converted mean annual flow into -- or median
 4  annual flow into his answer which he used as median
 5  daily flow and trying to explain -- starting the
 6  explanation of why it was incorrect mathematically.
 7      Q.    It doesn't demonstrate the spread in any
 8  fashion, is what you're driving at?
 9      A.    No.
10      Q.    And neither does the next slide, Slide 18?
11      A.    Correct.
12      Q.    Could you explain for me again what the
13  purpose of Slide 19 is?
14      A.    Yes.  Mr. Fuller took the median annual flow
15  out of the Thomsen and Porcello report.  If you take
16  the median flow, which means you rank all the years in
17  descending order of flow, and you go down halfway and
18  you pick that year, the median annual flow occurred in
19  1948.  And I was using water years, which starts
20  October 1st and ends September 30.
21            The question then became do you just take the
22  median annual flow and directly convert it to cfs by
23  using the number of seconds in the year and the cubic
24  feet and so forth.  And that's the green line.  That's
25  what that answer is if you do it by just converting
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 1  units.
 2            If you do it by going to that year and taking
 3  all the daily flows, listing them in order, and going
 4  halfway down, you get the value that's depicted by the
 5  red line.
 6            And the point is there is a significant
 7  difference between computing the green line, which was
 8  basically computing the mean average daily flow for the
 9  water year 1948, than calculating the median daily
10  water flow for water year 1948.
11      Q.    And in any event, on that Slide 19, we don't
12  have any way to determine what would be the ordinary
13  spread, do we?
14      A.    No.  I'm not talking about that here.
15      Q.    I understand that.  I just want to make it
16  clear --
17      A.    Okay.
18      Q.    -- that we can't get that number off of
19  Slide 19?
20      A.    Right.
21      Q.    Going on to 19a, you're talking about the
22  Edith trip at 653 cfs?
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    That wasn't a flood stage on that segment of
25  the river, was it?
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 1      A.    No, but it was a much less frequent
 2  percentage occurrence than was suggested by saying it's
 3  well below the median.  If that flow is well above the
 4  median, then you're talking about a much less frequent
 5  time.
 6      Q.    It was within the ordinary condition?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    And at least if you use the Edith as a
 9  standard, it was navigable for the Edith?
10      A.    The Edith did not demonstrate navigability of
11  the Salt below Stewart, Segment 5, for a bunch of
12  reasons that I discussed in the --
13      Q.    I'm just talking about the area it traversed.
14      A.    No, I'm talking about all the issues of was
15  it ordinary and natural.  It only went one way, and you
16  can't afford to do that.
17      Q.    I picked a bad term.
18      A.    Okay.
19      Q.    What do you want to use when I don't want to
20  talk about navigability for title purpose, but simply
21  that the Edith navigated, went from a Point A on the
22  Salt River to Point B on the Salt River?
23      A.    And it did do that.
24      Q.    It did do that.
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    And it did that at that flow?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    And that flow was within the ordinary
 4  condition of the Salt River?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6            Oh, and, by the way, you got it.
 7            Sorry.
 8      Q.    Okay.  Slide 20, tell me what the purpose,
 9  again, of that slide is.
10      A.    Slide 20?
11      Q.    Uh-huh.
12      A.    To summarize the calculations and the various
13  values that were presented.
14      Q.    Can you take Slide 20 and show me the
15  ordinary and natural condition of the river for the
16  time it's representing?
17      A.    No.
18      Q.    Okay.  This is Slide 22, and this was the one
19  that I tried to blow up as far as I could blow it up on
20  my computer, and I could not read the boxes that are at
21  the bottom of that slide.
22      A.    Okay.
23      Q.    So could you tell me what they say?
24      A.    Are you talking about the bottom row?
25      Q.    Well, they're white.  You see 22?  I come
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 1  across, it looks like there's a little white spot
 2  there.  Then I come across to a bigger box and then I
 3  come across to one that's longer, but shorter, and then
 4  I come across to a bigger box again.
 5      A.    May I come look?
 6      Q.    Certainly, or I'll bring it to you.
 7            The white boxes.
 8      A.    Here?
 9      Q.    Yeah, on that slide.
10      A.    Oh, I see.
11            Okay, it's Slide 22.  I was on the wrong
12  slide.
13            Those white boxes were put on the map by
14  Mr. Fuller.  I just used this as a convenient base map
15  and superimposed the red arrow on it.  That's all I
16  did.
17      Q.    Okay.  And can --
18      A.    To show the very generalized direction of
19  underflow.
20      Q.    I still haven't been able to read it,
21  so . . .
22      A.    Oh, I can't either.
23      Q.    So we don't know what those white boxes are
24  down there.  You were just using this map that
25  Mr. Fuller made to show the arrow, the red arrow?
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    Which, as I understand it, was an arrow that
 3  shows the ancient flow of the river?
 4      A.    Yes, and crudely so.
 5      Q.    On Slide 29 you're talking about European
 6  occupation, and you're talking about the
 7  Spaniards/Mexicans, and you indicate that they have no
 8  evidence that they used boats.
 9            And the thing that I find curious or I don't
10  understand is, when the Spanish were exploring Arizona,
11  they were coming out of Mexico, correct?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    Okay.  So they're going north?
14      A.    For part of the time, yes.
15      Q.    And they didn't bring any boats with them
16  when they left Mexico, right?
17      A.    Sometimes.
18      Q.    And if I get what you're saying here, is, for
19  example, when the Spanish got to the Salt River, they
20  didn't know where it was going.  Maybe they talked to
21  some minions that told them, but they did not know, as
22  a matter of fact, where they would end up if they got
23  in a boat and set off down the Salt River; is that
24  fair?
25      A.    Yes.  But I think you're misconstruing what
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 1  I'm trying to say.
 2      Q.    Well, you don't know where I'm going yet, so
 3  be patient.
 4      A.    Okay.  I will.
 5      Q.    So the problem that I'm having is that, in
 6  the exploration phase at least, you're assuming that an
 7  explorer would abandon his horse for a boat when he
 8  didn't know whether that boat would get him back home
 9  or not?
10      A.    No, I am not assuming that.
11      Q.    Okay.
12      A.    What I'm trying to say is the Spaniards who
13  went there did not see the Indians using boats on the
14  Salt and Gila, but they did see them using boats on the
15  Colorado River.  That's the significance of the point.
16      Q.    Okay.  You say, "They did record when they
17  used boats."
18      A.    And I have --
19      Q.    And what that means is the Spaniards didn't
20  record when they used boats; they recorded when Indians
21  used boats?
22      A.    And I should have written it that way.  That
23  is quite right.
24      Q.    I'm easily confused.
25      A.    Well, I have problems with pronouns.  I can
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 1  use it to define different people in the same sentence.
 2      Q.    Have you ever run a log drive on any river?
 3      A.    No, sir.
 4      Q.    You have no experience in that?
 5      A.    No experience and don't want to.
 6      Q.    Slide 45, you indicate that the Thorpe and
 7  Crawford trip fails the Montana test.  And is that
 8  simply because your perception is that in Montana it
 9  says you can't drag a boat?
10      A.    The quote, yes, is at the bottom of the slide
11  that I'm referring to.
12      Q.    Okay.  So this goes back to your if you drag
13  a boat across a sand bar, you've just disqualified the
14  river from being ever navigable?
15      A.    Well, I wouldn't think sand bars, because
16  Utah specifically included sand bars as being okay.
17      Q.    How long did you have to drag it before it
18  disqualifies you?
19      A.    I think you would have to ask the U.S.
20  Supreme Court for more specific directions.
21      Q.    Well, how far did you allow it to be dragged
22  before you disqualified it in your mind?
23      A.    To me, if they're talking about, in these --
24  the news reports are very vague, but when they talk
25  about they drag the boat and they're giving a
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 1  significant frequency or implying it, then I say it
 2  fails the test.
 3            The fact that you hit a sand bar in
 4  particular, got out and pushed, that wouldn't do it.
 5      Q.    So what you're referring to dragging the boat
 6  as disqualifying, it's somebody who maybe drags the
 7  boat 50 percent of the time as he travels down a
 8  stretch of the river?
 9      A.    That would be a good hypothetical.
10      Q.    Okay.  Referring you to 58 and 59, which is
11  the Hamilton, Jordan and Halesworth trip.
12      A.    I'm there.
13      Q.    Yeah, what was the purpose of that trip?
14            Was it to assess whether the river was
15  navigable?
16      A.    I'm trying to remember it.
17            Oh, that one.  Okay.  It wasn't really clear
18  what the purpose was; but given his interview, I think
19  he was trying to determine if you could navigate it or
20  that was a purpose.  He may have been going for other
21  reasons.  We don't know from the article.
22      Q.    Okay.  If the purpose was to assess the
23  navigability of the river --
24      A.    Right.
25      Q.    -- wouldn't that qualify as a commercial
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 1  trip?
 2      A.    If he had then started commercial activities,
 3  I would agree; but he didn't.
 4      Q.    Okay.  So because he did not start up a river
 5  boat company after he got back from the trip, it
 6  disqualifies the trip, even though he assessed it?
 7      A.    Yes, because I guess the phrase is actions
 8  speak louder than words.  He or somebody else.  If
 9  somebody else had followed up, that would be --
10      Q.    You sound like the IRS now.
11      A.    Well, now, you don't have to get downright
12  nasty.
13      Q.    They'd disallow that deduction, wouldn't
14  they?
15            Going to the Wilcox and Andrews trip, 66, I
16  think it is, how far did they travel on the river to
17  get to the Joint Head Dam?
18      A.    I know I computed the distance at one point
19  to Joint Head.
20      Q.    Was it over 10 miles?
21      A.    I don't believe so, but I could be wrong.  As
22  I say, I thought I did compute it.
23      Q.    As you sit here, you don't recall?
24      A.    I can't remember the number, no.
25      Q.    Going on to page 78 or Slide 78, do I
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 1  understand that slide correctly that the orange line
 2  represents the upward end of the ordinary and natural
 3  condition?
 4      A.    As computed by Mr. Fuller, yes.
 5      Q.    But you put it in a different format, but
 6  that's what that orange line represents?
 7      A.    Yeah.  I was just trying to find a fourth
 8  color.
 9      Q.    Okay.  Did Mr. Fuller calculate exact numbers
10  for that orange line, or are those -- is it your
11  interpretation?
12      A.    I took the number that was on his chart and
13  put it in this graph to draw the line.  I think it was
14  2,990-something, I think.
15      Q.    So everything above that is the 10 percent?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    On Slide 82, you give us a maximum cfs of
18  79,806.  I assume that's somewhat in a flood stage?
19      A.    I would think so, yes.
20      Q.    And do you have a date when that occurred?
21      A.    No.  They only published three numbers for
22  each month.  This is a USGS report.  They published the
23  maximum, the mean average, and the minimum.
24      Q.    Once a month?
25      A.    For each month for a couple of years, two,
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 1  three years.
 2      Q.    What I'm confused about, did they publish the
 3  numbers three times a month or give us numbers for
 4  three times in a month?
 5      A.    No, they gave us three numbers for the whole
 6  month, the maximum --
 7      Q.    One time, three numbers?
 8      A.    Yeah, for January you got what the maximum
 9  day in January was, what the average for January was,
10  and what the smallest day in January was.
11      Q.    Do you know the day in January they publish
12  that or the day in February they publish that?
13      A.    No.  It was a compendium in one of the USGS
14  papers.
15      Q.    Okay.  Referring you to Slide 86, are the cf
16  numbers that you set out in that slide all flood
17  numbers?
18      A.    Yes.
19            Let me qualify it.  I don't know for Dome.  I
20  don't remember calculating it, but they sure look like
21  it.
22      Q.    To the best of your knowledge, they are, you
23  would say?
24      A.    Yeah, I would think so.
25      Q.    Going to Slide 90, are those numbers flood
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 1  stage?
 2      A.    On the Verde, I'm not sure if it was, because
 3  I don't remember.  I didn't play in the Verde hearing,
 4  so to speak.  But if you add those two together, which
 5  is the point, you're over the 3,000 cfs in Segment 6.
 6      Q.    And that would then be a flood number?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    So while the Verde number may not be a flood
 9  number, there's no doubt in your mind that the Salt
10  number is?
11      A.    Yeah.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, we're going
13  to take a break now, so we can build a fire.
14                 (A recess was taken from 2:21 p.m. to
15  2:35 p.m.)
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
17                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, please start.
19  BY MR. HELM:
20      Q.    Ready to roll.
21            Mr. Gookin, page 107 or plate 107 or
22  Slide 107.  There you're talking about various kinds of
23  canoes and the kind of psi they can withstand, and I
24  take that to mean is that in a direct head-on crash?
25      A.    With fiberglass and aluminum it doesn't
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 1  matter if it's head-on or from the side.  The cedar is
 2  from the side, perpendicular to the grain.
 3      Q.    Would the cedar be higher in a head-on?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    How about -- I notice one thing that was used
 6  a lot around statehood and before, that isn't in there,
 7  is a dugout canoe; basically, a big log with a hole in
 8  it.
 9      A.    Yeah.  Well, I think it was only used twice,
10  Hayden and Pattie.
11      Q.    Well, that's the only accounts we may have.
12  Although, I didn't go looking, so I don't know.  But my
13  point being, you didn't test for a log with a hole in
14  it?
15      A.    No, because that is so different than a
16  regular canoe, I don't think they're even really in the
17  same class.
18      Q.    You do degree that at least to the extent
19  there are two accounts of them, they were used in
20  Arizona pres-statehood?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    Down on Slide 131 and your faulty logic
23  discussion.  And do you have any statistics that would
24  classify how much faster travel by boat would be than
25  travel by horse, wagon, motorized vehicle and train?
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    Where would I find those?
 3      A.    It was in my report.  It's not really a
 4  statistic, but data, and it was about the Erie Canal.
 5  At least I think I put it in.
 6      Q.    Yeah, I remember you putting something in
 7  about the Erie Canal.  I didn't remember it dealt with
 8  the speed of a motorized vehicle or --
 9      A.    The transit time -- I'm on page 45 of my
10  report.  The transit time to traverse the route of the
11  Erie Canal went from 45 days before the canal was
12  started to 5 days after it was done.
13      Q.    Okay.  And that -- having come from that neck
14  of the woods, and, in fact, I think I have a relative
15  or two who might have participated in its construction,
16  those boats were pulled by horses, weren't they?
17      A.    Horses, mule, oxen, et cetera, yes.
18      Q.    Somebody was towing those boats up that
19  river, weren't they, or that canal?
20      A.    That canal, yes.
21      Q.    So could we use, to measure navigability on
22  the Salt River, a boat being pulled by a horse?
23      A.    I don't know what the law is on that one.
24      Q.    I'm referring you to Slide 162.
25      A.    I'm there.
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 1      Q.    I take it the blue line is the low flow
 2  channel?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    Do you have an estimate for the depth of the
 5  low flow channel on this portion of the Salt?
 6      A.    No idea.
 7      Q.    The same for the lower half of the picture?
 8      A.    Correct.
 9      Q.    Okay.  The braiding that you talk about on
10  those pictures, that's for more than the low flow
11  channel, correct?
12      A.    More than, yeah, the lowest flow channel, I
13  think would be the best way to put it.
14      Q.    However you want to put it.
15      A.    Yeah.
16      Q.    The braiding that you're using in these
17  pictures to illustrate is not just braiding of the
18  lowest flow channel?
19      A.    Correct.
20      Q.    It's braiding that you would have to have
21  more water than is in the lowest flow channel --
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    -- to get those braids to function?
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    We probably answered this, but I'm down on
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 1  171 with the Special Master, and he had no information
 2  of any kind available to him on the Salt River; is that
 3  fair?
 4      A.    I have no idea.  I would doubt it, but . . .
 5      Q.    In your review of his record, you didn't see
 6  any?
 7      A.    No.
 8      Q.    Slide 203.  I think you stated this.
 9  Tamarisk is not a native plant to Arizona, right?
10      A.    Correct.
11      Q.    And when was it brought here, to the best of
12  your knowledge?
13      A.    I know the answer to that from very good
14  authority, authorities, and they're all different.
15      Q.    What's your best guess?
16      A.    I think it came in with the Spaniards, who
17  brought it in to plant as shade trees at the missions.
18      Q.    And what would be the --
19      A.    That's one story I've heard.
20      Q.    Sure.  I've heard it too.
21            What other stories have you heard?
22      A.    I've heard it was brought into nurseries on
23  the East Coast.  I know I've heard a couple others, and
24  I finally just kind of let it all go.  I don't know
25  that we'll ever know.
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 1      Q.    At any rate, they're not natural?
 2      A.    They're not natural here, and they're not
 3  nice.
 4      Q.    They use a lot of water, don't they?
 5      A.    Yes, they do.
 6      Q.    And they seem to be able to survive droughts
 7  fairly well?
 8      A.    They'll be here growing in the middle of an
 9  atomic explosion someday.
10      Q.    I think you're right.
11            In any event, they would not have been
12  considered part of the --
13      A.    Natural --
14      Q.    -- ordinary and natural condition of the Salt
15  River as we're told to portray it by Winkleman?
16      A.    Right.  Well, not the natural, certainly, and
17  wouldn't impact the ordinary particularly.
18      Q.    Slide, actually, 211, 212, 213 and 214.  Or
19  skip 211.  12, 13 and 14 you have little insets --
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    -- that you're using to illustrate that while
22  it might look like a single channel, when you've got
23  the big aerial in front of you, when you get down and
24  look at the finer points, you see that it may or may
25  not be single channel?
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 1      A.    Not so much that point, although that's also
 2  true; but my point was, while the two maps on Slide 211
 3  may look very, very similar at a quick glance, when you
 4  blow it up and look more closely, you can see there are
 5  some very significant differences.
 6      Q.    What I want to know is, for example, on 212,
 7  the two blowups you have, how much of the river bottom
 8  do they cover?  Is that 1,000 yards, 2 feet?
 9      A.    I didn't go back to the original maps, so I
10  don't know if they're 7 and a half minute, 15-minute
11  quads.  I just took those, and I was trying to blow up
12  the little segments for comparison.  So I really don't
13  know.
14      Q.    Okay.  Here's where I get to my finale, I
15  think, other than -- and I'm going off on my own frolic
16  and detour and playing hydrologist.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is that microphone
18  working, Joe?
19                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, I think so.  Sounded
20  pretty scary to me.
21  BY MR. HELM:
22      Q.    It may get scary.
23            Throughout your report and in your
24  PowerPoint, there's been lots of calculations done with
25  means and medians.  You've done your fair share of
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 1  them, and you've set forth the ones that Mr. Fuller has
 2  done.  So we've all had an opportunity to look at lots
 3  of calculation of means and medians; is that fair?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    Now, the means and medians that you
 6  calculated or that you displayed were means and medians
 7  of the entire river, correct, the entire time frame?
 8      A.    There are so many in there, I can't answer
 9  that.
10      Q.    Okay.  Let me put it a different way.
11            Did you attempt to segregate the flood
12  channel and the drought, channel is the wrong word, but
13  those portions of the ordinary condition and then do a
14  median and means study of just the ordinary and natural
15  channel, the 80 percent?
16      A.    I took one cross section on the Lower Salt
17  River that I thought was fairly representative of that
18  township, and I did compute the 10 percent low, the
19  median and the mean for those channels and compute the
20  depths that would occur.
21      Q.    Okay.  But you didn't do the flood
22  10 percent?
23      A.    No, I didn't.
24      Q.    So even in that calculation, the flood
25  10 percent is included in the averaging that you did?
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    In other words, if you're doing the median,
 3  you started counting down from the top?
 4      A.    Right.
 5      Q.    And there is some portion of that count that
 6  had flood in it?
 7      A.    That's correct.
 8      Q.    And while those may have excluded drought, it
 9  still had flood in it.  And in the rest of the
10  calculations that were done, they had both flood and
11  drought in it?
12      A.    In the median I still had drought in it.
13      Q.    Right.  That's what --
14      A.    And flood.
15            And in the average I had both in it.
16      Q.    Okay.  And that was the way for every
17  calculation where mean and median was done?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    So, basically, it's fair to say that we have
20  no calculation from you of what the ordinary and
21  natural median would look like?
22      A.    No.
23      Q.    Well, I thought you just told me that your
24  calculations to determine those included the flood
25  portion?
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 1      A.    And the drought portion.  I included all the
 2  data.
 3      Q.    I understand that.
 4            But now I'm just trying to find out how that
 5  applies to the calculations as they apply to the
 6  80 percent.  The 80 percent includes a flood component.
 7      A.    80 percent does not include the flood
 8  component.
 9      Q.    You counted down from one, two, three, four,
10  five, and the first three were flood, weren't they?
11      A.    You said the 80 percent included the flood
12  component.  That's not a true statement.
13            The median includes the flood component.
14  That is a true statement.
15      Q.    Okay.
16      A.    And it includes the drought.
17      Q.    Sure.  And my point being that those are not
18  representative of the 80 percent?
19      A.    Actually, the median would be equally
20  representative of the median of the 80 percent because
21  I've knocked the 10 percent highest flows off that --
22  say I have 1,000 events or days.  I have deleted 100
23  off the top, 100 off the bottom, and gone halfway in
24  between, to do it the way you wanted, and found the
25  50 percent.  That's the same number I would get if I
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 1  did it with all 1,000.
 2      Q.    What happened if there were 15 floods in the
 3  flood portion and only 5 droughts?
 4      A.    That can't happen, because we're talking
 5  about the upper 10 percent, which means if you have
 6  1,000 days, there's 100 that are being excluded as
 7  floods and 100 that are being excluded as drought
 8  because it's 10 percent of the number of days.
 9      Q.    So it doesn't matter whether it's a flood or
10  a drought; it just relates to a percentage figure?
11      A.    The median is a percentage figure, and that's
12  one of the advantages, because a mean has those huge
13  floods, and you use the number, not the number of
14  times, and that distorts the whole thing.
15      Q.    That 10 percent is an arbitrary number,
16  correct?
17      A.    That's one, yes, that came up -- as I say,
18  Mr. Hjalmarson came up with it in the San Pedro, and
19  I've accepted it and adopted it, and Mr. Fuller started
20  using it.  And so maybe we want to change and go to
21  something else, if you want; but that's kind of -- it's
22  grown to have a life of its own.
23      Q.    Okay.  But it's a life that is based on some
24  work that Mr. Hjalmarson did on the San Pedro, correct?
25      A.    He brought up the first con -- he first
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 1  brought up that concept, yes.
 2      Q.    He hasn't been here during the Salt hearings,
 3  has he?
 4      A.    No, but I didn't want to backtrack.  I
 5  thought it was a good solution.
 6      Q.    So what you're telling me is the median of
 7  the 80 percent will be the median of the 100 percent;
 8  they're the same number?
 9      A.    They're definitionally equal.
10      Q.    If you wanted, you could calculate a mean and
11  a median for the 80 percent?
12      A.    You could.
13      Q.    You didn't?
14      A.    I didn't.
15      Q.    I don't have any further --
16      A.    Well, I --
17                 MR. HELM:  I don't have any further
18  questions.
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I think he meant it.
20                 THE WITNESS:  No.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you, John.
22                 MR. HELM:  Thank you.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there anyone else
24  who would like to ask Mr. Gookin some questions?
25                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I will.
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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Let's begin
 2  then.
 3                 MR. HELM:  You've got to give me a
 4  couple minutes to close this up.
 5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Sure.
 6                 MR. HELM:  I don't mind her sitting next
 7  to me, if she wants.  Uh-oh, she's bringing her own
 8  computer.
 9                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  That's okay.  I've
10  got to set up some stuff, too.
11
12                    CROSS-EXAMINATION
13  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
14      Q.    Good afternoon, Mr. Gookin.
15      A.    Almost.
16      Q.    My name is Joy Herr-Cardillo.
17      A.    Hello.
18      Q.    We've met before.
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    I represent Defenders of Wildlife, Jim
21  Vaaler, Don Steuter and Jerry Van Gasse.
22            I wanted to ask you a couple of questions.  I
23  don't have a whole lot, but I wanted to start and just
24  clarify some of the answers that you gave to John and
25  make sure I understand them.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1830


 1            So, first of all, with respect to incidents
 2  of people navigating the river, it's -- if I'm
 3  understanding your testimony correctly, it's your
 4  position that if the purpose for the trip was
 5  recreation, that that has absolutely no evidentiary
 6  value in terms of determining navigability?
 7      A.    I believe that's correct.
 8      Q.    Okay.  So even if the river was in virgin
 9  condition, it's in its natural condition, if somebody
10  boated the river, but did it for recreation, that your
11  position is the Commission should not consider that
12  evidence?
13      A.    That's my position.
14      Q.    And what is the legal authority upon which
15  you base that position?
16      A.    When they say highway of commerce.
17      Q.    Is there a particular case that you believe
18  supports that position?
19      A.    I can't point to it, no.  There might be, but
20  I don't know of it.
21      Q.    And just to be clear, your opinion regarding
22  the navigability of the Salt River is based upon that
23  understanding of The Daniel Ball test?
24      A.    Well, my opinion of the navigability is
25  primarily based on the 3 foot requirement from Utah.
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 1      Q.    And your contention is the 3 foot requirement
 2  is found where in the Utah case?
 3      A.    Well, I think it was towards the end.  That
 4  was one of his key findings; that you had to have a
 5  mean annual flow that produced a -- or a 3 foot mean --
 6  let me try that again.
 7            He looked at the gage sites and said that
 8  when the mean flow was 3 feet, mean depth was 3 feet or
 9  greater, it was navigable on those days.
10      Q.    So when you say "he," you're referring to the
11  Special Master in the U.S. v. Utah case?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    So have you actually read the Special
14  Master's report in the Utah case?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    And the Special Master actually considered
17  boating events that were for recreation purposes,
18  correct?
19      A.    I think he put it in the lines of evidence
20  that were presented.  I don't know how much he
21  considered it.
22      Q.    In your PowerPoint presentation, in Slides
23  168 and 169.  Give me a minute to get there.
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    As I thumb through this, sorry, it blurs, and
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 1  it takes a minute to come into focus.
 2            Sorry.  Getting there.  Yea.  Okay.  Here.
 3            You talk about the modern recreational
 4  criteria being based on trying to be thrilling.
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    What is your basis for that statement?
 7      A.    Primarily, listening to Mr. Fuller,
 8  Mr. Dimock.  Oh, well, not those two primarily, but
 9  listening to them, and I can't remember the name of the
10  other two gentlemen who testified; the one who ran a
11  recreation boating company, in particular, who
12  testified in October.  He was talking about how he
13  looked at running a rapid differently than somebody
14  who's trying to move goods, because he was trying to
15  give the customers a thrill.
16      Q.    Right, a whitewater experience --
17      A.    Right.
18      Q.    -- as I recall is how he phrased it.
19      A.    Which is kind of like a roller coaster, to
20  me.
21      Q.    So he was actually targeting months where the
22  flows would be high, correct?
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    And yet the modern recreational criteria that
25  have been used in this case have been focused on
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 1  minimal flows necessary, correct?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    Okay.  So how are those minimal flows that
 4  are necessary to boat dependent upon giving a thrilling
 5  ride?
 6      A.    Well, there's a bunch of criteria.  They want
 7  velocity.  They even have -- in at least one of them,
 8  they have one for tranquil boating and one for
 9  recreational boating.
10            The 6 inches, per se, that part of the
11  criteria I believe is to make sure that they don't have
12  to, basically, stop, get out, and so forth.
13            Then they also add maximum criteria and so
14  forth.
15      Q.    Okay.  But there's nothing in the reporting
16  of those criteria where there's any discussion of this
17  goal of making a thrilling ride, correct?
18      A.    I think they do talk about making it a
19  thrilling ride, but that is not the purpose of the
20  6 inches.
21      Q.    And when you say they do talk about it, what
22  source are you referring to, source or sources?
23      A.    I can't remember.  I think it was either
24  Cortell or Hyra, possibly even both mentioned it; but
25  it's just talking about this is what whitewater boating


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1834


 1  is trying to do.
 2      Q.    Is that something that you would be willing
 3  to track down between now and when we come back in
 4  January and be able to point us to that in the
 5  materials?
 6                 MR. MURPHY:  We've submitted those.
 7                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Yeah, but I want
 8  him -- do you want him to look for it right now?
 9                 MR. MURPHY:  It's your time.
10                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Are you saying
11  he's -- you're not willing to have him, over the break,
12  identify that portion of the report that he's relying
13  on?  Because we'll pull it out.  Do you have that, the
14  Hyra?
15                 THE WITNESS:  I have it on a bug I could
16  set up and upload it and start looking, or we could go
17  home right now, whichever you prefer.
18                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Mr. Chairman?
19                 THE WITNESS:  It's up to Mr. Murphy.
20  He's my counsel.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is that your final
22  question?
23                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  No, it's not my
24  final question.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's move on to
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 1  something else.
 2                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Am I going to get
 3  the information?
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.  We'll have him
 5  send it to you during the break.
 6                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Okay.
 7  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
 8      Q.    Is it your position -- I'll let you make your
 9  note.
10            Okay?
11      A.    Got it.
12      Q.    Okay.  Is it your position that recreational
13  use of the river can never be commercial?
14      A.    I heard there are some cases below the
15  Supreme Court level that talked about commercial
16  recreational boating, saying that did qualify; but I
17  haven't seen any evidence of recreational commercial --
18  or commercialized recreational boating from the
19  statehood accounts.  And I believe the modern
20  recreational boating concept is governed by PPL.
21      Q.    The modern recreational boating concept being
22  governed by PPL, can you clarify what you mean by that?
23      A.    The U.S. Supreme Court decision in PPL
24  Montana talked quite a bit about what you had to do to,
25  at a minimum, determine if the commercial boating,
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 1  modern recreational boating, was applicable for
 2  consideration.
 3      Q.    Right, and that was in terms of establishing
 4  an evidentiary foundation for modern boating being
 5  evidence of navigability, correct?
 6      A.    Right.
 7      Q.    But there's nothing in PPL Montana that
 8  discusses whether recreational boating can qualify as a
 9  commercial use of a river, correct?
10      A.    I guess it just addresses all rec -- whether
11  recreational boating can qualify as evidence for
12  navigability, of any kind.
13      Q.    But I think the focus on PPL is that it's
14  modern boating?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    Okay.  Do you recall reading in the Special
17  Master's report discussion of recreational boating as
18  being a potential commercial use?
19      A.    I don't remember.  I read it back before the
20  Santa Cruz hearing.
21      Q.    Slide 52 of your PowerPoint.  I should have
22  put these in order, because now I'm having my same out
23  of focus problem.
24            Okay.  You cite to Winkleman in that case, or
25  on that slide, where it says, "[E]vidence of the
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 1  River's condition after obstructions cause a reduction
 2  in its flow is likely of less significance than
 3  evidence of the River in its more natural condition and
 4  may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    Do you recognize that?
 7            Now, the context of that statement that the
 8  Court made in that opinion, do you remember the
 9  context?
10      A.    You mean the appeal?
11      Q.    Yes, in the opinion.
12      A.    Yeah.
13      Q.    Yes.
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And what was the context?
16      A.    That the examples and considering the boating
17  that occurred in the unnatural condition did not
18  disprove navigability or prove navigability.  What
19  they're saying here is it really doesn't relate to
20  navigability.
21      Q.    Actually, this paragraph or phrase from the
22  opinion in Winkleman is actually referring to an
23  argument that Defenders made with respect to expert
24  opinion that was based on the river in its actual
25  condition, as opposed to its natural condition.
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 1            And we had argued in the Winkleman case that
 2  it was error for the Commission to consider expert
 3  opinion, and included in that expert opinion was your
 4  opinion, because if you recall, when you opined on the
 5  Salt River the last time around, you did not attempt to
 6  determine what it would be like in its natural
 7  condition.  Do you recall that?
 8      A.    That is correct.
 9      Q.    Okay.  So if you could just maybe find this
10  excerpt from Winkleman.  I might be able to help you
11  here.  It's Paragraph 31.
12      A.    That's right, on page 29.
13      Q.    Paragraph 31.
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And if you would just read the beginning of
16  that paragraph?
17      A.    "Appellants also contend that ANSAC erred in
18  reviewing and considering expert opinions and other
19  evidence that evaluated the River in its depleted
20  condition -- after dams, canals, and other man-made
21  diversions -- rather than when it was free of
22  artificial obstructions.  Although evidence of the
23  River's condition after obstructions caused a reduction
24  in its flow is likely of less significance than
25  evidence of the River in its more natural condition and
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 1  may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"
 2      Q.    And then going on, the next sentence.
 3      A.    "Appellants' contention generally goes more
 4  to the weight to be afforded the evidence than its
 5  admissibility."
 6      Q.    Okay.  So modern evidence or evidence when
 7  the river is not in its ordinary and natural condition,
 8  what the Court was saying there is it may be less
 9  probative, but that goes to weight, not admissibility,
10  correct?
11      A.    I wasn't arguing admissibility.
12      Q.    In your presentation you talk about, I think
13  you referred to it as, the PPL Montana test with
14  respect to dragging boats.
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    Do you recall that statement?
17            And, in fact, PPL Montana, the facts of PPL
18  Montana, didn't involve any dragging of boats, correct?
19      A.    I know it involved some trappers, but I don't
20  know if they dragged the boats.  But I think that came
21  from a case that the Supreme Court cited to.
22      Q.    That's exactly right.  That's my point.  It
23  was just citing to an Oregon, U.S. v. Oregon, case and
24  just basically reviewing the law; that this wasn't
25  enough if it's just dragging boats, and citing to the
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 1  U.S. v. Oregon case, correct?
 2      A.    If the U.S. Supreme Court says this is the
 3  law as established -- or this Court set the law and
 4  here it is, I figure it's the law, yeah.
 5      Q.    Right.  But it wasn't a new test, I guess my
 6  point is, is this is not some new ground that PPL
 7  Montana established; this was well-settled law?
 8      A.    That, I wouldn't know, because I mean when
 9  the U.S. Supreme Court says it, it's done.  When the
10  Appellate Courts say it, you attorneys have a lot of
11  fun.  So they really put it into concrete, I feel.
12      Q.    I guess my issue that I'm taking with you is
13  your characterization that this was some sort of test
14  announced by PPL Montana, and what I'm saying is this
15  was really just a recitation of existing law by that
16  Court.
17      A.    If you want to change it to well-established
18  principles, I'm fine with that.
19      Q.    Okay.  See, we lawyers are wordsmiths.  We
20  care a lot about how you phrase it.
21      A.    I totally get that.
22      Q.    Sort of along the same lines, Slide 129 of
23  your presentation.
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    This is where you take what you present as a
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 1  quote from Winkleman, page 30, which I'm not sure what
 2  page 30 you're referencing there.
 3      A.    The copy I have has page numbers on it,
 4  but --
 5      Q.    So that's not the official reporter copy, but
 6  maybe the opinion, loose-leaf opinion?
 7      A.    I think it's the loose-leaf opinion.
 8      Q.    Okay.  At any rate, you state that there's
 9  two steps in demonstrating susceptibility, and you
10  include this quote.  But, in fact, Winkleman, in that
11  opinion, is simply quoting the U.S. v. Utah case,
12  correct?
13      A.    Was that Utah?  Was Murray Hawkins -- well,
14  the footnote that it goes to, 18, refers to a lot of
15  cases.
16      Q.    Actually, if you look at Paragraph 31 of
17  Winkleman --
18      A.    Right.  And the quote --
19      Q.    -- that language you're quoting on your slide
20  is actually in a parenthetical that follows a quote --
21  or a citation to the United States v. Utah.
22      A.    But it also has a Footnote 18 that cites to
23  other cases.
24      Q.    That is correct, but --
25      A.    So it's from a series of cases.
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 1      Q.    -- according to citation --
 2            No.  According to legal citation, the
 3  parenthetical is from the case that it follows.
 4      A.    Okay.
 5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Could we agree that as
 6  far as the legal issues are concerned that you're
 7  debating with Mr. Gookin, we can determine those upon
 8  reference to our attorney?
 9                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Right, I realize
10  that; but he is present -- he's including these in his
11  slides, and he's presenting this as language from
12  Winkleman, when, in fact, it's a quote within a quote,
13  and I think that it's important to establish.
14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I think the Commission
15  can make that decision.
16                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I'm going to make my
17  record, Mr. Chairman.
18  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
19      Q.    So this two-step requirement, there's nothing
20  in Winkleman that establishes this two-step
21  requirement.  This is something you've actually added
22  the numbers to that, correct?  The quote itself doesn't
23  break it out as a two-step process?
24      A.    Oh, yes, I added those 1 and 2.  I just broke
25  the clauses apart.
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 1      Q.    Okay.  And there is nothing in the holding of
 2  Winkleman that actually addresses and says that in
 3  order to establish navigability under the
 4  susceptibility test, that you have to first establish
 5  some sort of lack of settlement?  That's something that
 6  you have inferred from that opinion, correct?
 7      A.    That's what I -- how I read it, but I'm an
 8  engineer.
 9      Q.    Okay.  And there's nothing in the Arizona
10  statute that defines navigability that conditions the
11  susceptibility of use to the fact that it hasn't been
12  developed or the area hasn't been settled?
13      A.    Not that I'm aware of.
14      Q.    Now, when Mr. Helm was questioning you, he
15  asked you about some of the cases that you had read,
16  and you mentioned that you had read a case out of
17  Oregon involving the Rogue River?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    And is that the Hardy versus State Land Board
20  case?
21      A.    I'm sorry, I don't remember the name.  It
22  just came out very recently.
23      Q.    Okay.  October 2015?
24      A.    Probably.
25                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Do you want this as
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 1  evidence?
 2                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Yeah.
 3                 MR. SLADE:  Mr. Chair, I'm not sure we
 4  usually put cases in evidence, just for Mr. Mehnert's
 5  information, and this is a case.
 6                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Well, she said she
 7  wanted it as evidence.
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And we understand that.
 9  Thank you, Mr. Slade.  It's a little loose.
10  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
11      Q.    Do you recall in this case that the Court
12  addressed this issue of whether there was some
13  precondition to using the susceptibility test?
14      A.    No, I don't.  I focused more on the modern --
15      Q.    Okay.
16      A.    -- portions, the modern recreational
17  portions.  But no.
18      Q.    If you could turn to page 9, on the left-hand
19  column, the bottom paragraph that starts "We also
20  reject"?
21      A.    Okay.
22      Q.    And if you could just read that.
23      A.    "We also reject petitioners' suggestion (at
24  oral argument) that the 'susceptibility of use'
25  standard is applicable only where the area in question
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 1  was essentially uninhabited or only sparsely settled at
 2  the time of statehood.  Although those may have been
 3  the extant circumstances in United States v. Utah, the
 4  Supreme Court did not then, and has not since, held
 5  that the susceptibility-of-use standard is so limited.
 6  Indeed, the Court, in PPL Montana, cited United
 7  States v. Utah for the proposition that a river's
 8  'potential' for commercial use at the time of statehood
 9  is the 'crucial' question."
10      Q.    That's good.  Okay.
11                 MR. MURPHY:  Is that a question?
12                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I just wanted to --
13  I'm going to follow up with a question.
14                 MR. MURPHY:  Okay.
15  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
16      Q.    So does that change your understanding of
17  whether there has to be some demonstration that an area
18  was sparsely settled before the Commission or a Court
19  considers the susceptibility to navigation?
20      A.    I never thought that sparsely settled was the
21  only way you could demonstrate that the navigation
22  wasn't needed and, therefore, didn't occur.
23            If you can come up with a different way to
24  say this navigation, while it was needed, couldn't have
25  occurred because, fill in the reasons, and it was
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 1  persuasive, then you've met the first part of the test.
 2      Q.    So your contention is that susceptibility of
 3  use is only to be considered if, what?
 4      A.    If you can establish that there was some
 5  reason other than a lack of navigability that caused
 6  the people not to navigate.
 7      Q.    And your legal authority for articulating the
 8  test this way?
 9      A.    That's my reading of Winkleman, right or
10  wrong.
11      Q.    Your reading of Winkleman, which was
12  citing/quoting U.S. v. Utah?
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    Which U.S. v. Utah was interpreted just
15  recently by this Oregon Appellate Court?
16      A.    But only as far as settlement.  It didn't say
17  for any reason.
18      Q.    Okay.
19      A.    If I might expand, the second part was that
20  Mr. Fuller said the sparse settlement was a reason it
21  didn't occur, and I was explaining why it would have
22  occurred even so.
23      Q.    Just to be clear, what is the authority upon
24  which you base your contention that a trip has to be on
25  a river that is in its virgin condition?
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 1      A.    That would be the -- I think I said nearly
 2  virgin, but that would be the Winkleman case that kept
 3  talking about it has to be in its natural condition.
 4      Q.    So from the fact that the river has to be
 5  evaluated in its natural condition, you've extrapolated
 6  that only navigation that occurs on a river in its
 7  natural condition is evidence of navigability?
 8      A.    I believe that's the case, yes.
 9      Q.    And yet you're aware that Courts have based
10  findings of navigability on navigation of rivers that
11  are not in their ordinary and natural condition?
12      A.    Well, I thought that was normally how it was
13  done until Winkleman.
14      Q.    You also contended in your testimony with
15  Mr. Helm that a boat had to be reasonably either
16  economically disposed of -- can't read my own writing,
17  sorry. -- or the trip has to be a two-way trip?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    What is your legal authority for that
20  contention?
21      A.    In the Defenders case, they said that there
22  can be no legal presumption that it has to be two ways.
23  Now, the fact it's not a legal principle means to me
24  it's a factual principle.  And you're talking about a
25  highway of commerce.  Therefore, you've got to have
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 1  some sort of demonstration that it's, I think,
 2  reasonably practicable.  And that's my interpretation
 3  of what would constitute reasonably practicable.
 4      Q.    Are you aware of any Court case where the
 5  Court has held that a trip that only goes downriver is
 6  not evidence of navigability by virtue of the fact that
 7  it only goes downriver?
 8      A.    Well, the Defenders said that just -- if it
 9  goes -- if it just goes downriver, it didn't say it was
10  wrong.  It said there's no presumption, which to me
11  means legally it hasn't been defined.  So I'm bringing
12  up the factual aspects relating to what's it take to be
13  a highway of commerce.
14      Q.    Other than Defenders, are you aware of any
15  case where a Court has held that travel has to be
16  two-way?
17      A.    Well, I would say Daniel Ball, because it
18  said highway of commerce.  That's what that phrase
19  means to me.
20      Q.    Highway just means two-way traffic?
21      A.    Well, it's got to be -- it's highway of
22  commerce, which means there has to be -- it has to be
23  feasible; and to be feasible, you're either going to
24  have to take the boat both ways or you've got to have
25  something you can tear apart when you get down there,
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 1  otherwise it's just a fictional highway.
 2      Q.    Is it your contention -- you've read a
 3  portion of PPL Montana.  I think it was the first
 4  sentence under Subpart B.  Do you recall reading that,
 5  where the Court held as a matter of law?
 6      A.    Oh, yes.
 7      Q.    Okay.  Do you want to refer back to that?
 8            I thought I had it here.
 9      A.    It should be on page 21, Section B, the first
10  sentence.
11      Q.    I found it.  Yeah, thank you.
12            So if you would reread that sentence, but
13  then continue reading.
14      A.    Okay.
15            "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a
16  matter of law in its reliance upon the evidence of
17  present-day, primarily recreational use of the Madison
18  River.  Error is not inherent in a court's
19  consideration of such evidence, but the evidence must
20  be confined to that which shows the river could sustain
21  the kinds of [commerce,] commercial [commerce,] use
22  that, as a realistic matter, might have occurred at the
23  time of statehood."
24      Q.    Okay.  That's --
25      A.    And, by the way, that "realistic" puts me
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 1  back to the two-way travel.
 2      Q.    Okay.  So the opinion goes on to discuss
 3  under what circumstances the Court can consider modern
 4  use, correct?
 5      A.    That's correct.
 6      Q.    So it's not -- the PPL Montana case did not
 7  say, as a matter of law, that you should not or could
 8  not ever consider modern day use?
 9      A.    I have read that paragraph a dozen times, and
10  when it keeps -- it keeps going and it leads into the
11  other statements that the minimal proof necessary, at a
12  minimum they need to, and meaningfully similar and the
13  rivers have to be similar.
14            And I can't figure out, in the English, if
15  they're saying, okay, you have to do those two tests,
16  and which I considered; and then once you've done that,
17  you may or may not be allowed to use it.
18            On the face of it, I would say, well, it's
19  just wrong as a matter of law, so you can't use it, but
20  you can do these two tests if you're bored.
21      Q.    But, now, going back to the Hardy case, the
22  recent case out of the Oregon Court of Appeals.
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    In fact, in that case the Court did rely upon
25  evidence of modern day use?
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 1      A.    Yes, they did.
 2      Q.    And they addressed the PPL Montana
 3  requirements and said that those requirements had been
 4  met, correct?
 5      A.    Well, they said they had been met.  I would
 6  disagree they addressed the requirements.
 7                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  That's all I have.
 8                 THE WITNESS:  Also, the factual basis of
 9  that case was different as to what happened at
10  statehood.
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, I always love to
12  say this.  Mr. Gookin, there's no question before you.
13                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.
14                 There's one question before you.  Can we
15  go?
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Do you think you can
17  get done in four minutes?
18                 MR. SLADE:  If I ask one question and
19  get the right answer, I could; but it would take a lot.
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We would expect you to
21  have some pretty significant questioning.
22                 MR. SLADE:  Yes.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So we'll put it off
24  until the next meeting.  Is that all right?
25                 MR. SLADE:  That's all right.
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 1                 MR. SPARKS:  Is Joy done?
 2                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I'm done.
 3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  We're going to
 4  adjourn for Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year's.
 5                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Do you want to
 6  announce, Mr. Chairman, where the next meeting is going
 7  to be?
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
 9                 We are going to meet on December 15 to
10  argue the Verde River.  That starts at 9:00 a.m. where,
11  George; here?
12                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Yes.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Here in this
14  room, on Tuesday, December 15, we will argue the Verde
15  River case.
16                 And then on Tuesday, January 26th, in
17  the tower with the balcony overlooking Central and the
18  stadiums, we will begin again on the Salt River, and,
19  Mr. Gookin, you will be on the stand.  And we hope you
20  enjoy Thanksgiving and Christmas and New Year's.
21                 And then is there anyone other than
22  Mr. Slade who intends to examine Mr. Gookin further?
23                 (No response.)
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then following
25  Mr. Gookin, is our next witness going to be
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 1  Dr. Littlefield?
 2                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Dr. Littlefield after
 3  the --
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
 5                 MR. MCGINNIS:  We're still working
 6  through some schedules.  Some other people have people
 7  that aren't available in February that we might slip in
 8  ahead of him, but right now it's Dr. Littlefield.
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
10                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And we'll let people know
11  if it's changed.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then we're in recess.
13                 (The hearing adjourned at 3:29 p.m.)
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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 2
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 1                 BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled
   
 2  and numbered matter came on regularly to be heard
   
 3  before the Arizona Navigable Stream Adjudication
   
 4  Commission, at State Senate Building, Hearing Room 1,
   
 5  1700 West Washington Street, Phoenix, Arizona,
   
 6  commencing at 9:06 a.m. on the 20th day of November,
   
 7  2015.
   
 8 
    BEFORE:   WADE NOBLE, Chairman
 9            JIM HENNESS, Vice Chairman
              JIM HORTON, Commissioner
10            BILL ALLEN, Commissioner
   
11 
    COMMISSION STAFF:
12 
         Mr. George Mehnert, Director,
13       Legal Assistant, Research Analyst
   
14 
   
15  APPEARANCES:
   
16 
    For the Arizona Navigable Stream Adjudication
17  Commission:
   
18       SQUIRE PATTON BOGGS (US) LLP
         By Mr. Fred E. Breedlove, III, Esq.
19       1 East Washington Street
         Suite 2700
20       Phoenix, Arizona 85004
         (602) 528-4000
21       fred.breedlove@squirepb.com
   
22 
   
23 
   
24 
   
25 
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 1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:
   
 2  For Freeport Minerals Corporation:
   
 3       FENNEMORE CRAIG, PC
         By Mr. Sean T. Hood, Esq.
 4       2394 East Camelback Road
         Suite 600
 5       Phoenix, Arizona 85016
         (602) 916-5475
 6       shood@fclaw.com
   
 7 
   
 8  For the Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and
    Power District and Salt River Valley Water Users'
 9  Association:
   
10       SALMON LEWIS & WELDON, PLC
         By Mr. Mark A. McGinnis, Esq.
11       By Mr. R. Jeffrey Heilman
         2850 East Camelback Road
12       Suite 200
         Phoenix, Arizona 85016
13       (602) 801-9066
         mam@slwplc.com
14       rjh@slwplc.com
   
15 
   
16  For Arizona State Land Department:
   
17       ARIZONA ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE
         By Mr. Edwin W. Slade, III
18       By Ms. Laurie Hachtel
         Assistant Attorneys General
19       1275 West Washington
         Phoenix, Arizona  85007
20       (602) 542-7785
         NaturalResources@azag.gov
21 
   
22 
   
23 
   
24 
   
25 


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1688


 1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:
   
 2 
    For Maricopa County:
 3 
         HELM, LIVESAY & WORTHINGTON, LTD
 4       By Mr. John Helm, Esq.
         1619 East Guadalupe Road
 5       Suite 1
         Tempe, Arizona  85283
 6       (480) 345-9500
         helm.john@hlwaz.com
 7 
   
 8 
    For Yavapai-Apache Nation:
 9 
         MONTGOMERY & INTERPRETER, PLC
10       By Ms. Susan B. Montgomery
         4835 East Cactus Road
11       Suite 210
         Scottsdale, Arizona 85254
12       (480) 513-6825
         smontgomery@milawaz.com
13       rinterpreter@milawaz.com
   
14 
   
15  For Defenders of Wildlife, et al.:
   
16       ARIZONA CENTER FOR LAW IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST
         By Ms. Joy E. Herr-Cardillo
17       2205 East Speedway Boulevard
         Tucson, Arizona  85719
18       520-529-1798
         jherrcardillo@aclpi.org
19 
   
20 
    For the City of Phoenix:
21 
         CITY OF PHOENIX LAW DEPARTMENT
22       By Ms. Cynthia S. Campbell
         200 West Washington Street
23       Suite 1300
         Phoenix, Arizona  85003-1611
24       602-262-6761
         cynthia.campbell@phoenix.gov
25 
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 1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:
   
 2 
   
 3  For San Carlos Apache Tribe:
   
 4       THE SPARKS LAW FIRM, PC
         By Mr. Joe P. Sparks, Esq.
 5       By Ms. Julia Kolsrud
         7503 East First Street
 6       Scottsdale, Arizona 85251
         (480) 949-1339
 7       JoeSparks@sparkslawaz.com
         julia@sparkslawaz.com
 8 
   
 9 
    For Cemex:
10 
         LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER, L.L.P.
11       By Ms. Carla A Consoli
         201 East Washington Street
12       Suite 1200
         Phoenix, AZ 85004-2595
13       (602) 262-5311
         cconsoli@lrrlaw.com
14 
   
15 
    For Gila River Indian Community:
16 
         By Thomas L. Murphy, Esq.
17       Deputy General Counsel
         By Ms. Rebecca Hall
18       Senior Assistant General Counsel
         525 West Gu u Ki
19       Post Office Box 97
         Sacaton, Arizona  85147
20       (602) 562-9760
         thomas.murphy@gric.nsn.us
21       rebecca.hall@gric.nsn.us
   
22 
   
23 
   
24 
   
25 
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 1      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Good morning.  We
 2  welcome you to the hearing on the Salt River before the
 3  Navigable Stream Adjudication Commission.  We are in
 4  our fourth day this week, and we'll begin by having a
 5  roll call.
 6      Mr. Mehnert.
 7      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Commissioner Allen?
 8      COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Here.
 9      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Commissioner Henness?
10      COMMISSIONER HENNESS: Present.
11      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Commissioner Horton?
12      COMMISSIONER HORTON: Here.
13      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Chairman Noble?
14      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I am here.
15      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: We have a quorum, all
16  four Commissioners are here.  And our attorney, Fred
17  Breedlove, is at the donut table.
18      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Those of you who may
19  not be aware, you're invited to get donuts.  It might
20  be a little bit difficult, John, for you to eat the
21  donut and ask the questions, but I'm sure you can
22  manage.
23      MR. HELM: I'm just getting coffee to
24  stay awake.
25      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We do note that Dunkin
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 1  Donuts, unlike Starbucks, is celebrating Christmas this
 2  year, and we do appreciate that.  We have to have a
 3  verbal pause here until Mr. Helm gets back and begins
 4  his -- I mean begins his questioning.
 5      Could we have your name, the attorney
 6  who arrived?
 7      REBECCA HALL: Rebecca Hall, H-A-L-L.
 8      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Rebecca Hall.  Thank
 9  you very much.
10      Mr. Gookin, are you ready?
11      THE WITNESS: Yes.
12      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: And, Mr. Helm?
13      MR. HELM: I'm getting there real quick.
14      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Whenever you're
15  ready, just go ahead and start.
16      MR. HELM: Very good.  Thank you.
17      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: So while Mr. Helm does
18  one more thing, if you'll look over near the donut
19  table, you'll see an amazing new invention.  Can you
20  figure out what it is?
21      It's a self-standing trash bag.
22      MR. SLADE: Concealing the evidence,
23  huh?
24      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm, there's some
25  in the room that hope you hurry.
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 1      MR. HELM: I'm kind of enjoying the
 2  running monologue, personally.  I mean, you know, I'm
 3  thinking maybe late-night TV.
 4      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Now we'll see how
 5  many questions you actually cut out.
 6      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: How will you know,
 7  George, how will you know?
 8      MR. HELM: I was going to say, has he
 9  been tapping into my computer.
10      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: And we remind everyone
11  again it is our intent today to finish before 4:30 p.m.
12  So whatever your transportation plans or get-away plans
13  might be or parking lot plans may be, we hope to be out
14  of here before 4:30.
15      (A brief recess was taken.)
16  
17      CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
18      BY MR. HELM: 
19  Q.   Okay.  I'm starting on page 12 of your report
20    again, okay, where we finished off, but I'm down a
21    little.  And I particularly want to talk about your
22    ANSAC 2009 citation that's Footnote 2.
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   That's a citation to the Commission's report
25    that was the subject of the Winkleman appeal, correct?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   Do you understand the impact of the Court's
 3    reversal in Winkleman on that report?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   Tell me what you think it is.
 6  A.   I think the Court directed the Commission to
 7    consider the question of navigability with the river
 8    system in its near-virgin condition with ordinary
 9    flows.  But, to me, that doesn't say you have to ignore
10    the facts that were in the decision.
11  Q.   Okay.  Well, do you know how lower court
12    opinions, for example, are treated when they are
13    reversed by a higher court, in terms of the findings of
14    fact that are made in the lower court opinion?
15  A.   It is my understanding, right or wrong, that
16    the findings of fact remain.  They may no longer be
17    relevant, because of the change of law; but the
18    statements of fact are still valid.
19  Q.   Okay.  And so that's how you treated the
20    Commission's report; that it's still a valid report
21    with respect to every fact that it found in its report?
22  A.   Correct.
23  Q.   And so when you talk about a citation to the
24    Commission's report, you believe that to be a citation
25    to a valid finding of fact that it's appropriate for
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 1    you to make?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   And do you make this conclusion based on any
 4    other legal advice, or this is just your own idea?
 5  A.   This was my own idea.
 6  Q.   Okay, going on to page 14, basically, we have
 7    one paragraph on that page.  And my question to you, is
 8    your citation to footnote 6 the only authority you have
 9    for the statements that are made in that paragraph?
10  A.   Well, actually, that citation is just for the
11    sentence "...that by 1699 the Pimas were established in
12    the region."  The rest of it is from me.
13  Q.   That's Gookin on Pimas?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Page 16, above the European Occupancy, you
16    talk about the Spaniards and things.  Is this also just
17    Gookin on the Spaniards, or do you have some authority
18    for your statements in that paragraph?
19  A.   The footnote is to Stantech 1998, which would
20    be Mr. Fuller's report of 1998.
21  Q.   So you're relying on Mr. Fuller's report for
22    the statements in that paragraph?
23  A.   That are footnoted, yes.
24  Q.   If they're not footnoted -- my problem is, if
25    you look at the paragraph immediately above the bolded
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 1    European Occupancy, I don't see any footnotes.
 2  A.   Oh, you're talking about that paragraph.
 3        That's Gookin on Gookin or on Pima or
 4    whoever.
 5  Q.   The Spaniards?
 6  A.   I mean I've read all the accounts, so . . .
 7  Q.   When you say you've read all the accounts,
 8    you mean accounts of what?
 9  A.   Of the Spaniards visiting the Pimas.
10  Q.   Okay, so --
11        MR. SPARKS: Pardon me, Counsel, but can
12    you get the mike a little closer to you?
13        MR. HELM: If I get it any closer, Joe,
14    I'll be eating it.
15        MR. SPARKS: Okay.  Well, go ahead and
16    eat that then.
17        MR. HELM: Sorry, ain't gonna happen.
18        MR. SPARKS: Might as well.
19        BY MR. HELM: 
20  Q.   With respect to the accounts, can you
21    identify them for me?
22  A.   Oh, I've read the Kino accounts.  There were
23    several Jesuits.  I've read Carl Hayden's summary of
24    those accounts.  I've read Ezell.  I've read Russell.
25    I've read -- I don't know how many things I've read
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 1    about when the Spaniards visited the Pimas, that
 2    portion of their trips.
 3  Q.   Okay.  So your knowledge on the Spaniards is
 4    limited to accounts of their visit to the Pimas?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   And how long did the visit last?
 7  A.   Oh, it was usually a week or two, I would
 8    say, a moderate.  I mean they did stay over a little,
 9    but it wasn't permanent.
10  Q.   And do you know how many times they visited
11    them?
12  A.   I think about half dozen, but I can't list
13    them.
14  Q.   Okay.  Now going on to page 18, again, just
15    above your Number 1 bolded statement, you state, "I
16    believe that for a trip to be considered proof of
17    navigability, it must meet additional standards
18    established by the Courts."
19        Do you see that?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Would you tell me what additional standards
22    you're referring to?
23  A.   Well, as I indicated, I made a list of
24    criteria that I believed applied, and we've gotten as
25    far as Number 1 and --
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 1  Q.   And diverged?
 2  A.   And diverged, yes.
 3  Q.   So this would be a good time to get them all
 4    in one place.
 5  A.   We can try.
 6  Q.   I'll try and keep my mouth shut until you
 7    tell me you're through the list, okay?
 8  A.   I'm dying to see this.
 9  Q.   So am I, but we've got to try it.
10  A.   Okay.
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: That lasted all of
12    three seconds.
13        MR. HELM: He hasn't read anything from
14    the list yet.
15        THE WITNESS: First, I thought that the
16    trip must not involve portages or portages, as you
17    pronounce it.  Second, the trip must not involve
18    pushing, hauling or dragging the boat.  Third, I
19    thought the navigable reach must not be so brief as to
20    be -- as to not be a commercial reality.  Can't -- it
21    has to -- I forget the exact phrase, but it can't be
22    real short.  Four, I thought the trip had to be on the
23    river and not the canals, and by that I mean it's okay
24    if it was on both.  The river portion counts, but the
25    canal portions don't.
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 1        Fifth, I thought that the evidence of
 2    the trip should be when the river was in its
 3    substantively undisturbed condition, near virgin.
 4    Sixth, I thought the account should be plausible.
 5    Seventh, I thought the boat either has to be a boat
 6    that could be economically disposed of or the trip
 7    needs to be a two-way trip.
 8        I'm just waiting for you to catch up on
 9    writing.
10        BY MR. HELM: 
11  Q.   I appreciate it.
12  A.   Eighth, the trip must not be a ferry.
13  Q.   And by that you mean ferry boat?
14  A.   A ferry boat that just goes across the river.
15        Ninth, the trip must not be during flood
16    conditions.  And on that, I know drought conditions
17    also applies, but I never got to that point, so I left
18    it off.  Tenth, it must have happened.  It can't just
19    be an announcement I'm going to go out tomorrow.  And
20    eleventh, I believe that all goods and/or passengers
21    should arrive safely.
22        And that's it.
23  Q.   I only broke my rule twice.
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We didn't count those.
25    Those were minor.
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 1        BY MR. HELM: 
 2  Q.   Okay.  I think we've talked about portages.
 3    Would you agree?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   And I think we've established that the
 6    pushing and hauling parameter basically meant you can't
 7    get out of the boat to move it?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9  Q.   And I think you've established that the reach
10    had to be 10 miles?
11  A.   Approximately, yeah.  That was my --
12  Q.   Give or take?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   9 to 11, somewhere in that ballpark?
15  A.   Or more, I mean.
16  Q.   Could be longer?
17  A.   It could be longer, yes.
18  Q.   That would be the minimum.
19        And on that question, do you have any
20    authority for the 10 mile or its equivalent, that you
21    know of?
22  A.   In the Montana case they talk about the
23    19-mile stretch, but I didn't think that it came out
24    and fully said that's their criteria; but it did
25    influence my thinking.  But then I wanted to err on the
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 1    side of caution, and that's why I ended up about half
 2    of it.
 3  Q.   So the 10 standard is Gookin on distance?
 4  A.   Yeah.
 5  Q.   I'm a little confused by your one that
 6    required the river to be virgin or near virgin.
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   Can you explain that a little more to me?  In
 9    other words, any trip would not qualify as a trip that
10    you could use to determine navigability unless the
11    river was in a virgin state?
12  A.   Or near virgin.
13  Q.   Okay.  I mean what's near virgin?
14  A.   Well, the Winkleman court talked about using
15    the 1800, 1860, 1830 period, acknowledging that humans
16    had been there, but they had left, and they thought it
17    had gotten back to near virgin conditions.
18        So with that intent, I thought the evidence
19    should relate to before the evidence at -- or it should
20    be before the development by the Euro-Americans.
21  Q.   And you would agree that the river or the
22    Salt River, as we're talking about in this case, was
23    substantially changed by the date of statehood?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   So all of the trips that were before -- or at
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 1    least that you found that were before statehood, but
 2    after 1860 or thereabouts, would not qualify because
 3    the river was getting less and less virgin?
 4  A.   Yes, and as to exactly whether it was 1860, I
 5    think it had to be 1867, '8, '9, '70.  I'm --
 6  Q.   I won't argue with you on that --
 7  A.   Right in that area.
 8  Q.   -- on that time frame.
 9        I'm just saying that from whenever that was
10    to the date of statehood, every trip that was down
11    there, made by anybody, you have ruled out as evidence
12    of navigability --
13  A.   I don't think it --
14  Q.   -- because it wasn't a virgin river?
15  A.   It wasn't in the natural condition, yes.
16  Q.   And the next item I believe was account
17    plausible?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Tell me what that means.  I mean, to me,
20    plausibility is what I call a weasel word.
21  A.   Thank you.
22  Q.   It's in the eyes of the beholder.
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   And is that what that means?
25  A.   That's basically what it does mean.  When I
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 1    read the article, the facts should be consistent
 2    internally.  For example, one of the accounts they
 3    talked about the river was going 15 miles per hour or
 4    22 feet a second.  And yet the flow on the date they
 5    say the trip occurred was the 9th and the flow was
 6    2,000 cfs, which is about 3 feet per second.
 7        And that makes me question the validity of
 8    the report.  And my guess would be that the 9th is an
 9    incorrect statement and, therefore, it was a big flood.
10    In other words, you have to try to look at these things
11    to get as good a picture as you can.
12  Q.   So if I understand what you're saying, is
13    that you looked at a claimed trip and tried to make it
14    work one way or another, if you could; i.e., they've
15    said it's an fcs [sic] that is too big for that date,
16    so it must have occurred on another date in a flood
17    condition, or, conversely, they've got the cfs wrong
18    and the right date, that kind of analysis?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   And did you have any facts that you were
21    relying on when you, for example, concluded that the
22    cfs is wrong for that date and so, therefore, it must
23    have been a flood, and the closest flood was, and pick
24    a date?
25  A.   Yes, and I would -- when I put that in my
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 1    report, I footnoted there were reports that had flow
 2    numbers from the USGS for a scattering of dates.  In
 3    other words, they would gage it for a couple years and
 4    then they would stop, and then they would gage here for
 5    a couple years.  And I tried to use those flow data as
 6    I could find them.
 7  Q.   You couldn't always find them, is what you're
 8    saying --
 9  A.   Sometimes there was nothing.
10  Q.   -- because they didn't have --
11        You have this get rid of the boat or bring it
12    back upstream.
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   And when you say bring it back upstream, I
15    assume that you're requiring that it be rode upstream
16    or motorized and driven upstream or what have you?
17  A.   Yes, because from all I've read of other
18    navigability that was one way, that's how it was done.
19    It never became an issue because nobody ever tried.
20  Q.   Okay.  But for a long time you've told us, I
21    think, that there was a wagon road or some kind of road
22    that approximated the Salt River as it came north?
23  A.   That is true.
24  Q.   Okay.  If I could put my canoe on a wagon,
25    would that count?
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 1  A.   Yes, but then you need to factor the cost of
 2    the wagon trip.  And it kind of becomes silly, because
 3    it would be cheaper to take the wagon down with the
 4    goods, and then you could take goods back rather than
 5    the canoe.
 6  Q.   What if I wanted a nice smooth river ride,
 7    you know, to make my passengers happy?
 8  A.   If that happened, that would be probably
 9    okay.
10  Q.   We don't know, do we, one way or another?
11  A.   Well, it never came up in any of the reports.
12  Q.   You say the trip couldn't be a ferry, and I
13    don't mean the wing kind.
14        Does that mean that you did not use the
15    information that was available about ferries for any
16    purpose?
17  A.   That's correct.  And when I say "ferries," I
18    made a mistake.  You said a ferry boat.  I would count
19    a ferry boat.  One of them they tried to float a ferry
20    boat down.  It had originally been a ferry and then
21    they used it for transport down the river.  To me,
22    that's no longer a ferry, even though it was originally
23    a ferry boat.  I'm talking about crossing the rivers
24    perpendicular.
25  Q.   Sure, I got that.
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 1  A.   Roughly perpendicular.
 2  Q.   I'm not even asking you about the one that
 3    broke loose and how far did it go.
 4  A.   Right.
 5  Q.   Because that would be evidence that a boat
 6    could go downriver.
 7  A.   Yeah.
 8  Q.   Alls I want to know is, in terms of -- I take
 9    it that would have qualified for a determination on it
10    wasn't a ferry any longer; it was a boat going
11    downriver?
12  A.   With regard to that one aspect, yes.  The
13    fact there was no crew, no goods, it was too short
14    would probably knock it out.
15  Q.   With respect to the ferries, though, you did
16    not use any of the information that they made available
17    by their existence in determining whether the river was
18    navigable?
19  A.   That's correct.
20  Q.   For example, those ferries, at least in the
21    area where they were used, established some kind of
22    depth for the river, right?
23  A.   But we have no idea at what flow.  If we did
24    know the flow and the ferry was operating that day,
25    then you could have gotten a depth; but I did not go to
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 1    that level of research.
 2  Q.   Okay.  That information in terms of flows was
 3    available, wasn't it, at least for certain periods of
 4    time when ferries were active?
 5  A.   I think so, yes.
 6  Q.   Just when you're talking about flood
 7    conditions and that being one of your criteria, are you
 8    referring to the 10 percent?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   So you didn't count anything above the
11    10 percent?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Is the all goods must arrive an absolute?
14    For example, if I was canoeing down the river and
15    forgot to put my stove in the boat and I stayed
16    overnight on the shore, would that qualify or
17    disqualify my trip?
18  A.   That might -- well, probably if you -- if the
19    leaving the stove was just because you were --
20  Q.   Senility.
21  A.   -- yeah, you were still asleep, that probably
22    would not disqualify the trip.
23  Q.   Okay.  So there is some level of not
24    everything arrives just in the normal course of
25    human --
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 1  A.   Events.
 2  Q.   -- events, and you would not use those kind
 3    of, oh, geez, I lost a box over the side or something
 4    like that to disqualify navigation?
 5  A.   Right.  I'm talking about when the boat
 6    flipped and they lost their gear and so forth.
 7  Q.   I take it that if a boat flipped, if a canoe
 8    turned over, that would disqualify that trip?
 9  A.   I think it does.
10  Q.   I'm moving on to page 19 now.
11  A.   Okay.
12  Q.   And right above the bolded Burch citation --
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   -- you end with the word "normal."  That's a
15    scary word to me.
16  A.   It means the 80 percent range.
17  Q.   Okay.  So when you use "normal" in your
18    report, you're referring to what would be the ordinary
19    condition of the river as you see it?
20  A.   Right, and in particular, I have been using
21    the 80 percent range.
22  Q.   Referring you to page 26, there you talk
23    about the short trip with the grain?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   And, first of all, I assume that that boat
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 1    wasn't abandoned at that dock where they dumped the
 2    grain.  Did you assume that?
 3  A.   I didn't worry about that, because it was so
 4    short I figured they could push it upstream.
 5  Q.   They took it home with them afterwards, so
 6    the up and back component would have been --
 7  A.   Well, I don't know they took it back, because
 8    it didn't say.  It's just --
 9  Q.   But you assume they did?
10  A.   I didn't worry about it.
11  Q.   Okay.  If 2 to 3.5 miles, depending on how
12    you measure it, I believe you've testified that's the
13    distance that they traveled --
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   -- qualifies as a sufficient distance to
16    determine an area of the river to be navigable, would
17    this trip then demonstrate that portion of the river
18    was navigable?
19  A.   We would still have a question as to what
20    were the flows, was it in the 80 percent range; and we
21    just don't know from the account.
22  Q.   If it turns out that it was, it would
23    qualify?
24  A.   I think so.
25  Q.   Going on to page 27 and another mystery word,


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(6) Pages 1705 - 1708







Navigability of the Salt River 
Nos. 03-005-NAV and 04-008-NAV / Consolidated


Administrative Hearing - Volume 8
November 20, 2015


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1709


 1    "swollen."  What do you mean when you say the river is
 2    swollen?
 3  A.   Actually, I was quoting to Mr. Littlefield's
 4    report, which he found an article that said the river
 5    was swollen.  The way I interpret it was that it was in
 6    flood stage of some sort.
 7  Q.   So it would have been in the upper
 8    10 percent?
 9  A.   That would be my guess, yes.  It's not
10    certain, but that would be a probability.
11  Q.   If it wasn't in flood stage, would this trip
12    be a valid trip?
13  A.   No, because it had no goods and it didn't
14    convey any person and it was a solo kind of a
15    half-recreational, half-experimental trip.
16  Q.   Referring you now to page 29 and the famous
17    Yuma or Bust trip.
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   And if I understand what you're saying there,
20    is that they were pushing the boat; and my recollection
21    of where they were seen pushing the boat, they were on
22    the Gila River.  Is that your understanding?
23  A.   No, my recollection is it was on the Salt.
24  Q.   Okay.  So if it was on the Gila, you wouldn't
25    hold this against them in terms of navigating the Salt?
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 1  A.   No.
 2  Q.   That's, no, you wouldn't hold it against
 3    them?
 4  A.   I wouldn't hold the pushing against them for
 5    the Salt.
 6  Q.   Page 31.
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   It carries over from page 30.  You're talking
 9    about three choices that people had at the end of that
10    page and the start of the next page?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   And you say Choice 3 seems to have been the
13    favorite?
14  A.   That was my impression from the articles as a
15    whole.
16  Q.   Okay.  You don't have any specific statements
17    that you can point us to where people of the time said
18    we used the canals all the time or something like that?
19  A.   No, but there was the one statement on, I
20    think, the Burch trip that they went down the Tempe
21    Canal, although a different report said they went to
22    the Joint Head and went down the Swilling Ditch or one
23    of the ditches that fed out of Joint Head and so forth.
24  Q.   Moving on to page 32, do you know if the
25    beaver that you talk about in this portion of your
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 1    report were bank-dwelling or river-dwelling,
 2    river-dwelling being beaver that lived in dams?
 3  A.   In this section I was just comparing the
 4    impact of a brush dam, which I said was similar to a
 5    beaver dam, on whether or not a boat from that era had
 6    to portage.  I didn't specify a beaver dam.  They
 7    didn't talk about a beaver dam.
 8  Q.   Page 33, you used the terminology "in excess
 9    of normal flow."  I take it, based on what you've said
10    here earlier today, that would mean a flood flow, when
11    you use that kind of terminology?
12  A.   Yes, the upper 10 percent.
13  Q.   On page 34 you're talking about the Day trip,
14    I believe?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   And you said they had a large quantity of
17    beaver and otter in a small boat?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   How big was the boat?  Do you know?
20  A.   Small.
21  Q.   You don't know how big?
22  A.   All it said was small.
23  Q.   Sufficiently big enough to carry a large load
24    of beaver and otter?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   Plus whatever supplies they ended up carrying
 2    when they arrived in Yuma?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   Do you have any reason to believe that they
 5    did not carry the kinds of supplies that a normal
 6    couple of trappers setting out to go trapping and
 7    ultimately end up somewhere to sell their hides would
 8    have carried?
 9  A.   I thought they probably did carry the typical
10    supplies.
11  Q.   Do you have any estimate about how long of a
12    canoe one would have to use to carry the typical
13    supplies, assuming it was a successful economic trip in
14    terms of beaver and otter, carry whatever that amount
15    of beaver and otter would have been and get to Yuma?
16  A.   No.  And I don't think it was a canoe,
17    because they said boat, and technically a canoe is a
18    boat, but people usually distinguish.  So we don't
19    know.
20  Q.   You don't know whether they had some kind of
21    flat-bottom boat that would have been sufficient to, at
22    least in their view, navigate the Verde, the Salt and
23    the Gila or it was a canoe sufficient to do that?
24  A.   It could have been either.  Well, and as I
25    indicate, they may have navigated canals.
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 1  Q.   Well, there aren't a lot of canals on -- when
 2    you take a look at that trip at its total, that would
 3    keep motivating them down the river the way they wanted
 4    to go, are there?
 5  A.   Well, there aren't many on the Verde.  There
 6    are on the Salt, Lower Salt.  And there aren't many on
 7    the Lower Gila.
 8  Q.   So they spent, under any set of
 9    circumstances, a large amount of time going on the
10    Verde River, the Salt River, and the Gila River?
11  A.   I would agree for the Verde and the Gila.  I
12    don't know, particularly on the last trip, that they
13    would have gone down the Salt River, because the river
14    was pretty well dried up.
15  Q.   So how do you think they got their boat from
16    the confluence with the Verde to the confluence with
17    the Gila without using the Salt River?  You think they
18    put it on my hypothetical wagon?
19  A.   That is a possibility, but I would think,
20    based on the condition of the river, I would think they
21    had -- and the dams there, I think they would have
22    taken off at the Arizona Dam and floated down the
23    Arizona Canal until they found a farmer with a wagon or
24    something and then carted it away until they got back
25    to the river.
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 1  Q.   When you say "got back to the river," got
 2    back to the Salt River?
 3  A.   It depends on where they decided to reenter.
 4    I would have thought they'd probably reenter after the
 5    confluence with the Gila, because that's where you
 6    would find more water.
 7  Q.   Do you have any evidence of any kind that
 8    supports your hypothetical methodology that they
 9    adopted to avoid the Salt River?
10  A.   The only evidence I have are the flows and
11    the diversion capacities of the dams and the amount of
12    water that would probably be diverted, as estimated by
13    the USGS.
14  Q.   Assuming that they did do it the five times
15    that they said they did it --
16  A.   Yeah, I'm only talking about the last trip
17    right here.
18  Q.   So if it's truthful that they did it five
19    times, you would give them at least four of those as
20    having used the Salt River?
21  A.   I'd give three of them that they probably
22    did, because the Salt River was flowing so very high
23    and was clearly in -- above 90 percent -- or above
24    10 percent stage.  And the one other time, I have no
25    clue when they did it.


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1715


 1  Q.   Can you trap for beaver in a flood?
 2  A.   I would think so, depending on how scary it
 3    was to get near the river.
 4  Q.   When you have a bank-dwelling beaver, for
 5    example, do they build their home on the distant
 6    extremes of the floodplain, or do they build it at
 7    where they think there's going to be that mythical
 8    3 foot of water?
 9  A.   Excluding mythical, the 3 feet.
10  Q.   So you wouldn't find very many beaver if you
11    were trapping beaver out on the extreme edges of the
12    floodplain?
13  A.   They may have washed down; but more what I
14    was thinking, they may have -- the trappers could have
15    set a trap around where the lodge or the dam or the
16    whatever it was, the flood hit, they walked away and
17    waited and came back and found there was a beaver
18    there.
19  Q.   On that same page, you concluded that at some
20    point, that the Days dragged and waded the river?
21  A.   Yes, that's what we were discussing.
22  Q.   Do you have any evidence that they dragged or
23    waded the river specifically, that you can refer me to?
24  A.   It would be the hydrologic information I've
25    discussed.
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 1  Q.   That you just discussed, right?
 2        On the next page, at the very top you're
 3    talking about the maximum flow is 800 and 500 cfs is
 4    the minimum.  Do you see those?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Do you think the 500 cfs would have been
 7    enough of a flow for the Days to have floated their
 8    boat?
 9  A.   I don't think -- you mean if there were no
10    diversions?
11  Q.   Sure.
12  A.   I have no clue.
13  Q.   You don't know how much cfs it takes in a
14    channel to float a flat-bottom boat?
15  A.   Oh, I see where you're going.  I was thinking
16    if you're look -- sorry.  I thought you were asking
17    about specific research to it.
18        I think the 3 foot is the requirement, and I
19    don't think 500 cfs would give you 3 feet through the
20    reach.
21  Q.   How wide would the channel have to be to get
22    3 feet of depth if you had 500 cfs flowing down the
23    channel?
24  A.   Somewhere between 1 inch and really, really
25    wide.  You'd have to know the velocity to come up with
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 1    an answer.  I don't think it was 1 inch, but --
 2  Q.   I don't think it would be either.
 3        Pick a reasonable velocity that would not be
 4    in a flood range.
 5  A.   Okay.  I would probably guess about 1 and a
 6    half feet per second.
 7        I'm calling up my calculator.
 8  Q.   I have no problem.
 9  A.   111 feet, assuming 1.5 foot velocity and a
10    mean depth of 3 feet.
11  Q.   So I take it you don't think there were any
12    channels of those dimensions in the lower part of the
13    Salt when the Days passed through?
14  A.   I don't think there was 500 cfs in the Lower
15    Salt when the Days passed through on the last trip.  I
16    think there was a lot more than that on the previous
17    three, if they occurred those years.
18  Q.   How much do you think was there when the Days
19    passed through the last time?
20  A.   Probably on the order of a hundred or so, but
21    that's a wild guess.  I just don't know.
22  Q.   You didn't do anything to check it out?
23  A.   No.
24  Q.   Did you do anything to check out -- strike
25    that.
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 1        You talk about the Days getting to the
 2    Arizona Dam and the Arizona Canal on that page?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   And you tell me that it's flowing at
 5    1,000 cfs?
 6  A.   I don't see 1,000 cfs on that page.  Page 36?
 7  Q.   I'm on a different page.
 8  A.   Oh, that may be the problem.
 9  Q.   Let me check.
10        Page 35.
11  A.   The 1,000 cfs is what the Arizona Canal could
12    divert.
13  Q.   Okay.  Did you check what they were drawing
14    at the time that the Days passed through?
15  A.   They would have been drawing all that they
16    could, and I went through the explanation of how a
17    diversion dam works.  You build the structure across,
18    and it pushes all the water up to the canal's capacity
19    into the canal.  2 miles later, if the Arizona Dam
20    people wanted to return some of it, or the Arizona
21    Canal people, they could have.  They had a return flow
22    place located, or they could have kept it going.
23  Q.   And so if I understand what you're saying to
24    me, is that all year long or at least all during the
25    time frame that the Day brothers were passing down the
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 1    Salt, the Arizona Canal was taking its full allotment
 2    of 1,000 cfs and running it through that canal and
 3    either putting it back 2 miles down or just using it
 4    up?
 5  A.   Or dumping it out at the far end.
 6        Now, one thing, when you say their allotment,
 7    the Kent decree had a very surprising paragraph to me
 8    that said the Kibbey decree was never enforced.  So I
 9    would think the Arizona Dam would have been taking all
10    it could whenever it could, and I said that's at least
11    1,000.  I know it increased over time, but I don't know
12    what it was in that year.
13  Q.   Did you check what the flows were when the
14    Day brothers passed through for the time frame of their
15    last trip?
16  A.   On --
17  Q.   At the Arizona Canal or thereabouts.
18  A.   Yes, and I presented a slide on that in my
19    PowerPoint, Slide No. 77.  All I had in the way of data
20    was the maximum, the mean and the minimum for each
21    month, and I presented those data.
22  Q.   And what was it?
23        I don't have Slide 77 with me.  I'm trying to
24    avoid going down a whole bunch of pages.
25  A.   Oh.  Well, the mean flow was --
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 1    unfortunately, it's a graph, so I have to kind of
 2    reconstruct. -- about 1,200.  The mean was about 1,200
 3    in September.  October was down to about 9.  November
 4    was about 9.  December was about 12.  January was about
 5    12.
 6  Q.   So, in essence, from that, do we conclude
 7    that when we got to the Arizona Canal, that canal
 8    operation dried up the river?
 9  A.   I would think on many of the days it would
10    have dried it up.  There probably were some days
11    where -- well, I don't know for a fact how much bigger
12    than 1,000 cfs it was at that time.  I know that the
13    rights that were later decreed would exceed the 1,200
14    as of that priority date, but that assumes the Kent
15    decree got everything right, so I don't know that for a
16    fact.
17        I think the Arizona Dam probably dried it up.
18    If it didn't, very little went over; and what went over
19    got snatched up by the next canal downstream.
20  Q.   You may have said this.  Do you know when the
21    Arizona Canal went into operation?
22  A.   1885.
23    
24        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
25        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: I have a question
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 1    about that.
 2        You look at the picture on Plate 67.
 3    Apparently that was taken from below the dam,
 4    downriver?
 5        THE WITNESS: The top picture is.
 6        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: The bottom one, the
 7    bottom.
 8        THE WITNESS: Oh, the bottom picture is
 9    the gate into the Arizona Canal.  They could shut it
10    off if they wanted to, say during a dry-up.
11        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: But there's water
12    in the channel right below the dam.  I'm assuming that
13    we're downstream from the dam when we're looking at
14    this.
15        THE WITNESS: The description in the
16    USGS document that had the picture was that was the
17    gate that would release water into the canal, and I'm
18    not sure if that's from --
19        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Upstream.
20        THE WITNESS: -- upstream or downstream.
21        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: If you look at the
22    upper picture, the river is flowing.  Is that above or
23    below the dam?
24        THE WITNESS: The water is spilling over
25    the dam.
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 1        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: And into the river?
 2        THE WITNESS: Yes.
 3        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: And what is the
 4    date that you're assuming that that occurred?
 5        THE WITNESS: To my recollection, they
 6    didn't have a date in the picture.
 7        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: So there's really
 8    no way of knowing, number one, when the Day brothers
 9    actually moved through this particular area or if the
10    dam was actually functioning at that particular point
11    in time.  I mean we can only assume that it took them
12    so long to get here.
13        THE WITNESS: Oh, yeah, they -- I don't
14    know.  Yes, you're right.  Picking which day they went
15    through, I just don't know.
16        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: If they went
17    through in January --
18        THE WITNESS: There is a possibility
19    they were down for dry-up, but that would be about --
20        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: But not -- there's
21    very little agriculture going on in January; is that
22    not correct?
23        THE WITNESS: There was a lot more in
24    those days.  You had grains, you had leaching, you had
25    alfalfa.  It wasn't so cotton-oriented like it is
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 1    today.  And, also, one thing that farmers did back then
 2    that was significantly different is they would divert
 3    in the winter months and put it on the fields whether
 4    or not they needed it, to store it in the ground for
 5    the plants to use later.
 6        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: But all of this
 7    that we're talking about is pretty much hypothetical,
 8    is it not?
 9        THE WITNESS: It's the best speculation
10    I could come up with.
11        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.  Thank you.
12    
13        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
14        BY MR. HELM: 
15  Q.   And something that's close and near and dear
16    to my heart.  As I understand it, since about -- 1887,
17    was that when you said it went into operation?
18  A.   '85.
19  Q.   '85.  At least at some parts of the year, you
20    would say that the Arizona Canal and Dam dried up the
21    Salt River?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   Can you tell me whether, after 1885, there
24    were any fish in the Salt River below the Arizona Dam?
25  A.   I don't know.  And when I say "dried up,"
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 1    there still would have been pools standing, depending
 2    on how long the flow wasn't going; but there would be
 3    dry spots.
 4  Q.   So you would say that the fish that were
 5    below the Arizona Dam would all get together and get in
 6    whatever pools that were still remaining?
 7  A.   I think they would retreat to the pools as it
 8    shrank, yes.
 9  Q.   Would those pools, over some period of time,
10    become stagnant?
11  A.   Yes.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm, are you going
13    to ask a fish question?
14        MR. HELM: No, I was just trying to find
15    out whether all the fish died down there.  Apparently
16    they didn't.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, because we're
18    going to take a break.  I didn't want to interrupt your
19    line of thought.
20        MR. HELM: No, no, I'm not going to ask
21    him whether, you know, a spear bait would have been the
22    appropriate thing to use in the pools.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Hopefully he would have
24    understood that question.
25        We're going to take a ten-minute break
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 1    now.
 2        (A recess was taken from 10:06 a.m. to
 3        10:18 a.m.)
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin?
 5        THE WITNESS: I'm ready.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Rebecca?  And, John,
 7    you're up.
 8        MR. HELM: Here we go.
 9        BY MR. HELM: 
10  Q.   Referring you now to page 40, and here you're
11    talking about several rivers; the Salt, the Roosevelt,
12    the Verde at Fort McDowell, the Gila at Dome, right?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   And you're giving us cfs flows for those
15    rivers at the time period that's relevant to it, right?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Okay.  And what I get out of this is that
18    you're saying that every one of those rivers was at
19    flood stage at that point?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Could you give me what the ordinary flow
22    range would have been for those rivers at the time
23    you're talking about, under the ordinary condition, in
24    other words, the 80 percent?
25  A.   Oh.  Well, if you're taking the Salt River at
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 1    Roosevelt and the Verde at Fort McDowell, those pretty
 2    much -- they were close to ordinary.  Or, excuse me,
 3    you said ordinary or natural?
 4  Q.   Well, ordinary and natural.  I shortened it.
 5    I tend to shorten it to ordinary, is my speech, but --
 6  A.   Okay.
 7  Q.   -- I want the 80 percent, is what I'm looking
 8    for.
 9  A.   Oh.  Then, well, Mr. Fuller computed the
10    90 -- or the top 10 percent level at just under 3,000.
11    I just used 3,000 cfs, for the Salt and Verde combined.
12  Q.   Okay.  And that's what you're doing here,
13    you're giving me those numbers to add them together?
14  A.   Yeah, I would add the Salt and the Verde
15    together to make an estimate of what it was at the
16    confluence.
17  Q.   Okay.  So just above the Verde, what would
18    the Salt's ordinary flow have been, the middle
19    80 percent?
20  A.   I don't know off the top of my head.
21  Q.   The same question for the Verde, and your
22    answer would be "I don't know"?
23  A.   Correct.  I would have to look it up.
24  Q.   Did you look it up at the time you were doing
25    this?
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 1  A.   No, I was looking at the -- thinking about
 2    the flow in Segment 6, below the confluence.
 3  Q.   And what would the ordinary and natural flow
 4    be at Gila at Dome?
 5  A.   The upper -- oh, at Dome?  I know we've put
 6    it in.  I don't know what it is off the top of my head,
 7    but I know it's less than 9,500.
 8  Q.   Do you have an estimate?  What would the top
 9    be?
10  A.   5-, 6,000, I think.
11  Q.   And the bottom, somewhere around 3- or 400?
12  A.   That sounds about right, but I -- I know I
13    have numbers.  I just don't have them in my brain.
14  Q.   You just don't have them with you?
15  A.   Yeah.
16  Q.   We could find those from your Gila report?
17  A.   Yes.
18        No.
19  Q.   Maybe?
20  A.   I didn't do virgin flow estimates at Dome, to
21    my recollection.
22  Q.   Page 43.
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   You confused me a little here, and I want you
25    to unconfuse me, if you would.  You start out there and
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 1    you say, "There are two components to the navigability
 2    doctrine."
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   And since I've been here, you've told me
 5    there's three.  Which is it?
 6  A.   Well, okay, there's 1, 2a and 2b.
 7  Q.   Okay.  So have you changed your viewpoint of
 8    it since you wrote this report; is that --
 9  A.   No.  The first phrase says, basically, in
10    fact or susceptible, so that's two points.  But then
11    when you get to susceptibility, Winkleman and
12    implicitly, I think, Utah put two steps in that.
13  Q.   So there's really four steps?
14  A.   No, there's 1, navigable in fact; 2,
15    susceptible to navigation.  Under susceptible to
16    navigation, you have 2a, did they need the navigation;
17    and 2b, would it have worked.  Sorry for the confusion.
18  Q.   And you get all of that out of the Utah
19    decision?
20  A.   Well, I get 1 from all the decisions.  2a, as
21    I say, Utah implicit, but primarily I thought the
22    Winkleman decision laid it out clearest; and the same
23    with 2b.
24  Q.   Going down to page 43, at the bottom you're
25    talking about Mr. Fuller's reasons?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   And the four categories that you give us,
 3    those are your categories, right?
 4  A.   Yes.  I took --
 5  Q.   That's Gookin on Fuller?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   Going on over to A. on the next page, 44,
 8    Navigation Was Not Needed.
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   One question on that.  Why don't trains enter
11    into discussion, from your perspective?  I mean they
12    arrived before statehood, long before statehood, didn't
13    they?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And they were in Phoenix, Arizona or
16    thereabouts, Maricopa, long before statehood?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Okay.  So why don't trains become part of the
19    mix of why people didn't use the Salt River for
20    navigation?
21  A.   As I understand the doctrine, the Courts have
22    said you cannot use trains to disqualify navigability;
23    that when the trains came, they were so much cheaper,
24    there was just no point to navigate the rivers.  Even
25    the Mississippi lost a lot of traffic because of the
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 1    trains and the relative costs.
 2        Now, if I'm interpreting your question
 3    correctly, you're saying why can't I boat down the Gila
 4    River or Salt and Gila and put it on a train and take
 5    it back up.
 6  Q.   Well, that would be one, but I hadn't really
 7    thought of it in that context; but that certainly
 8    enters the play, doesn't it?
 9  A.   Well, I'm not sure, and that is a legal
10    question.  To me, if you're going to use the cheapness
11    of the train travel to justify floating downstream,
12    then I would think you have to go the next step and
13    say, well, then I can use the cheapness of the travel
14    to say it's not feasible.
15        Picking and choosing your facts and saying,
16    well, I'm going to use this fact and say, yes, this is
17    legally permissible for purpose A, but not purpose B, I
18    don't think is appropriate; but that's a lawyer
19    fighting question.
20  Q.   Sure.  From your perspective, though, you did
21    not consider trains as part of the mix, even though
22    they were, because you understand that there is some
23    case out there that says you can't do that?
24  A.   I understand you can't use the trains for
25    nixing navigability.  I don't think there's any case
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 1    about whether you can use the trains to permit you to
 2    navigate part of the river that you couldn't normally
 3    do or pretrain do.
 4  Q.   Okay.  Well, here's where I'm going.
 5  A.   And -- sorry.
 6  Q.   Go ahead.  No, finish.  I'm sorry.  I didn't
 7    mean to interrupt.
 8  A.   I have thought about this issue quite a bit,
 9    and the other thing that came to me was that on the
10    estimate of canoe cost, for example, almost half the
11    cost was the shipping cost because the canoe was made
12    out of -- to get it to Phoenix from Chicago, because
13    the canoe's made out of cedar, which is very weak.
14        Up in the Grand Canyon, on one of the trips
15    somebody was trying to get boats down so they could use
16    them to do the exploration, and they couldn't get a
17    cedar canoe to survive the trip.  They lost several
18    before they finally got it.
19        The Sears catalog talks about you have to pay
20    four times shipping charges to get the canoe there,
21    which tells me they figured they've got to do a lot of
22    reinforcement and crating.
23        The point of all this rambling is that if you
24    took it from Yuma and ran it up on the railroad back to
25    Phoenix, it's still going to be very expensive, because
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 1    the canoes of that era were so fragile that you would
 2    have to do a lot of packaging and reinforcing and so
 3    forth.  That was expensive.
 4  Q.   Part of the assumption, I take it, though,
 5    would be, or you would agree, that the canoe got --
 6    wasn't so fragile that it didn't get to Yuma?
 7  A.   Well, in this scenario I'm saying let's say
 8    it got to Yuma, but by hook, crook, miracle, divine
 9    intervention, whatever you want to pick.  I'll take
10    divine intervention.  But then you're faced with
11    getting it back up to Phoenix.
12  Q.   I was thinking more of your economic
13    approach, to be truthful to you.  And where I was going
14    was, say 1875, there's not an awful lot of people
15    living in the Salt River Valley.  I don't remember
16    what -- do you know what the 1880 census said there
17    was?  I think we've seen it, and it was chump change.
18  A.   Well, there are a lot more people living
19    there than they've said, because in the 1870s the
20    settlers in the Salt River area were enticing and
21    asking the Pimas to move up into the eastern reaches of
22    the Salt River Valley to provide a buffer against the
23    Apache raids.  That's basically what started the Salt
24    River -- the location of the Pimas that eventually
25    caused the Salt River Pima-Maricopa.  So they weren't
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 1    counted, so we don't know how many people there were.
 2  Q.   All right.  But I guess what I'm saying, from
 3    an economic measurement, would whatever that number of
 4    people living in the Salt River have been -- I'm
 5    excluding the Upper Gila.  I'm just talking about the
 6    Lower Gila. -- create a demand to build a railroad to
 7    the Phoenix area?
 8  A.   It did by 1887.  Actually, before, because
 9    they started it before then.
10  Q.   Well, either that or there was some nut
11    running the railroad, right?  If there was no demand --
12  A.   No.
13  Q.   If there was no demand, you wouldn't build
14    the railroad?
15  A.   Right.
16  Q.   So they perceived that by 1887 there was a
17    demand for a railroad to the Phoenix area?
18  A.   Yeah, that it was -- there was enough demand
19    to make a special trip.
20  Q.   And there's no question in your mind that the
21    railroads were a lot cheaper than the waterborne
22    transportation?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   And so by nineteen eighty -- or 1887, the
25    motivation to do anything to get waterborne
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 1    transportation on the Salt River pretty much -- I hate
 2    to say this, but I've got to. -- dried up?
 3  A.   I was afraid you were going to do that.
 4        Yes, I would agree.
 5  Q.   So what we have is a very small window when
 6    commercial transportation might have been a viable
 7    option on the Salt River, from your perspective, being
 8    from --
 9  A.   Not true.  You've got from the Winkleman
10    Court all the way back to 1800.  We know there were
11    Indians on the Lower Salt near the Gila that nobody
12    brought goods up the river to trade with.  We know
13    there were Forts that needed supplies, and those went
14    by wagon.  We know there were trappers who were
15    trapping the river and no indication they used canoes.
16        So you've got a good period of about 80 or
17    90 years when they should have boated.
18  Q.   When you do your analysis on what it cost to
19    build the railroad, if I understand what you're saying,
20    is the trappers, there would have been enough of them
21    at the time trapping was going on to convince one of
22    the mega-millionaires on the East Coast to build a
23    railroad out here?
24  A.   Well, the railroad was nowhere near out here
25    in that time.  In fact, the railroad had not been
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 1    invented yet.  Well, I'm not sure exactly when it was
 2    invented, but it hadn't -- the process of railroading
 3    America had not started.
 4  Q.   What I'm trying to find out is, is what the
 5    economic demand was that convinces you that there was
 6    this demand in the Salt River Valley that would have
 7    generated river use, if it had been available to use?
 8  A.   Oh.  We know for a fact that the
 9    Quartermaster's Station at Yuma used a navigable river
10    to supply the Forts up the Colorado.  We know for a
11    fact that they didn't use the river to supply the Forts
12    up the Gila and Salt.  We know that they wrote that
13    they wish they could have, but they had to do it by
14    wagon, which was much more expensive and so forth.
15  Q.   I just guess we're going to talk at
16    cross-purposes, but thank you very much.
17  A.   I'm sorry.
18  Q.   At any rate, back at the trains.  You think
19    that there's a case that says you can't use it?
20  A.   I think there's a case that says you can't
21    use trains to exclude navigability.  In other words,
22    say, well, by 1912 we had a train.  They were boating
23    up and down in, say, 1850, but in 1887, when it came,
24    they gave it up.  That doesn't prevent navigability.
25        It said once navigability is established, it
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 1    remains a navigable river.
 2  Q.   Does that case limit itself to trains, or
 3    does it say you can't use transportation next to a
 4    river to exclude the river from being navigable?
 5  A.   The synopsis I read when I was just trying to
 6    study up on this talked about railroads.
 7  Q.   Do you know whether there's a case out there
 8    that says you can't use land transportation of any ilk
 9    to exclude a river from being susceptible to
10    navigability?
11  A.   Yes.  I know there's one out there that says
12    you can't use railroads to exclude navigability.
13  Q.   And I'm saying do you know if there's one out
14    there that says you can't use wagons?
15  A.   I don't know that there's any case concerning
16    that.
17  Q.   Okay.  Going to page 45, and you're talking
18    about in the 1800s, the only practical way -- you've
19    got a quote there, I believe.  Do you see that?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   And the question that I have for you, keeping
22    that time in context, when the river was, I think at
23    least for our purposes, in its ordinary and natural
24    condition, what items in the Salt River Valley were in
25    existence that would merit large-scale water
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 1    transportation?
 2  A.   There were crops for the people who were
 3    there, and there was a market to receive goods, in
 4    particular the Army.
 5  Q.   I didn't ask you what the market.  I wanted
 6    to know what up there would merit a downriver form of
 7    large-scale water transportation, the kind that you
 8    talk about?
 9  A.   It would have been crops in -- in, what, the
10    1860s?
11  Q.   No, no, I'm talking about the eighteen --
12    when we're back to the natural and ordinary condition
13    of the river.
14  A.   Oh.  Well, that would be before the canals
15    then.  All there would be would be demand for goods in
16    return for money.  There wouldn't -- I don't know of
17    anything that would be shipped downstream.
18  Q.   Nothing up there that motivated me to want to
19    make the river better to ship downstream?
20  A.   Not -- yeah, not until they started farming.
21    I don't think there were many people there before
22    Swilling.
23  Q.   Excluding the -- I mean we can get in an
24    argument over the Native American farming --
25  A.   Right.
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 1  Q.   -- and whether that counted or not under
 2    Winkleman; but excluding that for purposes of this
 3    discussion --
 4  A.   Okay.
 5  Q.   -- Swilling was the farmer, wasn't he, so to
 6    speak?
 7  A.   Excluding the Native Americans, yes, on the
 8    Salt.
 9  Q.   Right.  And when did he start farming?
10  A.   I believe it was '68 or '69.  He started
11    digging in '67.
12  Q.   Okay.  And why did he do that; what was his
13    motivation?  He just didn't start farming out in the
14    middle of nowhere because he was a natural born farmer.
15        Let me make it easy on you.  He started
16    farming down there to supply the Forts up on the Verde,
17    didn't he?
18  A.   I suspect that was where his primary market
19    was, yes.
20  Q.   And he did it down there in the first years
21    because there were grass and things that were naturally
22    existing down there that he could harvest and sell to
23    the Forts for forage for their horses and stuff,
24    correct?
25  A.   I believe that's correct, yes.
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 1  Q.   So he was farming to ship stuff upstream,
 2    right?
 3  A.   I think he would have been happy to ship it
 4    downstream, if he could have, because -- or upstream,
 5    because -- but he didn't do either.  He wagoned it.
 6  Q.   All right.  But his motivation was to supply
 7    a demand that was upstream from the Salt River?
 8  A.   Probably.  But if you could have gone
 9    downstream, that would have been a better demand, a
10    better marketplace.
11  Q.   How far would it have been downstream to
12    Yuma?
13  A.   From Phoenix -- and let's pretend Swilling
14    Canal is wherever Phoenix was then, because it didn't
15    exist; but it's 195 miles.
16  Q.   How far is it to the first Fort up the Verde?
17  A.   That I'm not sure of.  I'm going to guess 25.
18  Q.   I take it in your discussion on the Erie
19    Canal and the large loads that it was designed to
20    carry, the large loads that you would equate that to in
21    Arizona would be some form of agriculture product?
22  A.   Probably agricultural.  It might be mining
23    equipment going upstream and ores or refined ores going
24    downstream.
25  Q.   Let me tell you where I am.  I've moved
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 1    along.
 2        Page 52.  Do you agree that a river could be
 3    navigable for title purposes and yet not be suitable
 4    for carrying large amounts of freight?
 5  A.   The word "large" is vague.
 6  Q.   Okay.
 7  A.   It has to be enough to be -- make the
 8    operation economically viable, whatever that is.
 9  Q.   All right.  Do you have -- what would be the
10    amount of an agricultural good that would be large
11    enough to make it economically viable in the Salt River
12    Valley?
13  A.   I didn't compute that.  The only two
14    computations I did was for a 500-pound canoe and the
15    Edith.
16  Q.   I take it your answer to mean, in terms of
17    canoes and the smaller flat-bottom boats, would be that
18    a river that was suitable for those to use could not be
19    navigable in fact for purposes of title?
20  A.   It depends on how you're using them.  You
21    need to transport something.
22  Q.   Well, but you told me that you eliminated
23    canoes and small flat-bottom boats from your research
24    to determine navigability; that you just said they
25    weren't suitable.  I'm talking about the canoes that
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 1    you eliminated.
 2  A.   Okay.  You've kind of wandered in the
 3    question.
 4  Q.   I'm sorry if I did.
 5  A.   Canoes, I say, were not the customary modes
 6    of travel at the time of statehood or before it in
 7    Arizona.  There's no evidence that they used them for
 8    that purpose.
 9        Boats, yes.
10  Q.   Let me see if I understand you.
11        Because the indigenous population of Arizona
12    before the European culture arrived didn't use canoes,
13    it's your understanding that in the navigability
14    context, they cannot be used to determine whether the
15    Salt River is navigable?
16  A.   No.
17  Q.   Where am I wrong in my understanding?
18  A.   I also looked at the Utah case, which
19    indicated that the boats that were used for commercial
20    transport did not include -- he didn't list a canoe as
21    one of the many types of boats that he considered as
22    for commercial transport.
23        I looked at the historic evidence of the
24    incidence of canoe use on the Salt and the Gila, the
25    whole drainage area, and I couldn't find any evidence
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 1    of people using the canoes to transmit commercial goods
 2    up and down either river.
 3  Q.   Those kinds of canoes that you're talking
 4    about were, in fact, used in lots of places in the
 5    United States to transport beaver pelts, or what have
 6    you, on rivers that were held to be navigable because
 7    that was what they were used for; is that fair --
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   -- up in the Northeast?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Okay.  So what I would like you to do for me
12    is to put together your rationalization how the State
13    of Arizona came into the union on an equal footing with
14    the other 47, I guess at that point, if they were held
15    to a different standard for the boats that determined
16    what rivers were navigable or not?
17  A.   They are not held to a different standard.
18    The phraseology is the customary means of trade and
19    travel as of statehood.  It's different as to what the
20    customary means of trade and travel were in different
21    states.
22  Q.   So it's your understanding that Equal Footing
23    Doctrine doesn't mean that we measure the use of a
24    river by the same boat, no matter whether that river
25    happens to be somewhere in New England or somewhere in


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1743


 1    the Southwest?
 2  A.   Right.  I think it means the ones that were
 3    used for that purpose in that region.
 4  Q.   So it's not really equal, is it?
 5  A.   I think it is.  We don't get to use ice
 6    riggers.
 7  Q.   Does that mean that if Puerto Rico gets into
 8    the Union, we're going to have to look at hovercraft?
 9  A.   That's my understanding.
10        If you notice, in Alaska they're allowing
11    inflatable rubber rafts, from what I've been hearing.
12    And yet I wouldn't consider an inflatable modern raft
13    made out of synthetic rubber to be a boat customarily
14    used in Arizona as of 1912.
15  Q.   Okay.  So what your understanding of the
16    Equal Footing Doctrine is, is that distinction is an
17    acceptable distinction.  In other words, we get to
18    suffer discrimination, because if our rivers could have
19    handled canoes, we can't use that as evidence that it's
20    navigable; whereas the rivers in the Northeast did use
21    those boats to determine navigability?
22  A.   You're missing the point that I'm trying to
23    get at.  It's not that I'm saying you can't use the
24    canoe to prove the navigability.  I'm saying nobody did
25    use the canoe to prove the navigability.
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 1  Q.   I must have misread Mr. Fuller's report.  I
 2    thought he was indicating that, one, canoes were used
 3    in 1912 in Arizona; and, two, that they did navigate?
 4  A.   Well, I did go through that, and I found -- I
 5    went through the evidence that's been disclosed,
 6    including Mr. Fuller's report, and I may have missed
 7    something.  I found the Pattie canoe on the San Pedro,
 8    which was used on the San Pedro, but in extraordinary
 9    conditions.  So that didn't prove navigability.
10  Q.   How about the eight canoes, I think it was
11    eight, on the Colorado from Pattie also?
12  A.   Yes, and they did use --
13  Q.   Is the Colorado in Arizona?
14  A.   Yeah.  But they were used as ferries, if I
15    remember, and they were not considered by Utah as being
16    a commercial boat.  I think the problem with the canoe
17    is it's too small, normally.
18  Q.   But my point is, is that canoes were in use
19    in Arizona on the Colorado River?
20  A.   You are correct.
21  Q.   All right.  And so what you're telling me now
22    is that since canoes weren't used on the Salt River,
23    that doesn't qualify as the kind of boat that was in
24    general use in Arizona for measuring navigability?
25  A.   That is an interesting question, and I don't
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 1    have a good answer.
 2  Q.   And it would be really problematic in terms
 3    of the susceptibility issue, wouldn't it?
 4  A.   Yes, I think, but -- well, that is a legal
 5    question as to whether boats from the Colorado count on
 6    the Salt, Gila, Verde, et cetera.
 7  Q.   Going now to 53 and towards the bottom,
 8    you're talking about the Colorado River and the fact
 9    that a small population shows that navigation can
10    occur.
11  A.   Shows that there was a need for navigation,
12    yes.
13  Q.   Just define for me what you mean by "small."
14  A.   I would say the size of Yuma when it first
15    started.
16  Q.   And that would have been how many people,
17    roughly?
18  A.   I'm guessing a couple hundred.
19  Q.   And what we're talking about here is
20    problems, right, your three or four problems that you
21    identified?
22  A.   They're my responses, yeah.
23  Q.   Right.
24        And you identify Yuma as one of the problems?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   And I didn't quite understand that.
 2  A.   Oh.
 3  Q.   And while there are a lot of people who might
 4    think Yuma is a problem, I don't get it in the context
 5    of navigability.  So please explain it to me.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I resemble that remark.
 7        MR. HELM: Some things I just can't
 8    resist, even if they're not good for me, you know.
 9        THE WITNESS: First, can I take the
10    Fifth?
11        BY MR. HELM: 
12  Q.   If you'll take me with it.
13  A.   Okay.
14        What I was meaning was Mr. Fuller had
15    indicated that there were too few people, and that
16    meant there weren't enough people that you would expect
17    to find people who knew how to boat or people who knew
18    how to make boats or people who wanted goods that could
19    be transported by boats, but primarily the first two.
20        And my point is you've got a river and
21    there's two ends to it, and you know that Yuma had
22    river pilots and they had river boats.  So Phoenix
23    didn't need to build them, and they didn't need to have
24    a native river pilot.  Yuma could have supplied them.
25  Q.   The next problem I have is, or your problem
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 1    that confused me, was right after the existence of
 2    Yuma, you indicate that lots of people in the Salt
 3    River Valley had boats.
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   But then the existence of those boats, in
 6    your mind, doesn't count toward determining whether the
 7    river is navigable or not because they only used them
 8    in floods?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Explain to me what you mean there.
11  A.   There were several uses for boats, and as
12    Mr. Fuller documented, there were lakes that the people
13    would take these boats, like we do today, and they
14    would go up to the lakes -- they were different
15    lakes. -- and recreate on the lakes.
16        So the fact you had a boat that you were
17    planning to take up in the summer to Flagstaff doesn't
18    prove that you're going to boat the Salt River.
19  Q.   What lakes were in existence in 1875?
20  A.   I know I listed them in my PowerPoint.  But
21    with regard to 1875, I have to say I don't know which
22    ones existed at that particular year.
23  Q.   How about 1900?
24  A.   Well, 1900, we know that the dam on the
25    Hassayampa, the Walnut Grove, I think, had come and
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 1    gone, especially gone.
 2  Q.   So the gone portion wouldn't provide any
 3    motivation for me having a boat?
 4  A.   Not once that happened, correct.
 5        We know that there was Granite Dells near
 6    Prescott, and I don't know when it was built.  And
 7    there were two near Flag, and I don't know when they
 8    were built.
 9  Q.   So what you're telling me, if I get it, is
10    that all these people that owned boats in the Salt
11    River Valley were going to get their wagons out and go
12    to the Granite Dells to use them in 1875?
13  A.   I'm telling you that Mr. Fuller indicated
14    that that was a source of use for boats before
15    statehood.
16  Q.   Granite Dells?
17  A.   The Granite Dells, the Flagstaff; when
18    Roosevelt started, Roosevelt.
19  Q.   We're talking at cross-purposes.
20  A.   I have to be --
21  Q.   I'm talking about that I understood the
22    premise to be, that lots of people in the Salt River
23    Valley had boats before statehood.
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   Okay.  And so I'm starting kind of at the
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 1    beginning of the lots of people, 1875, and starting to
 2    work my way up.  And my understanding was you told me
 3    that, yeah, they had boats.  And I had said, and you're
 4    saying they only used them in floods.  And you say, no,
 5    they took them to the lakes to use.
 6        And then obviously my question was, I don't
 7    recall any lakes that are particularly close to the
 8    Phoenix Salt River area that were in existence prior to
 9    Saguaro, maybe, where I would have carted a boat to and
10    launched it and gone fishing, for example, as a
11    recreation?
12  A.   Okay, first, I didn't deny they used them in
13    floods, because they did.  But I'm saying there were
14    motivations other than boating on the Salt River that
15    existed as a motivation to buy a boat, and that was
16    based on Mr. Fuller's report.
17  Q.   Well, if they had these boats, wouldn't they
18    have used them on the Salt, too, in non-flood times?
19  A.   If they could have, yeah.
20  Q.   Would 1,000 cfs float your boat?
21  A.   For commercial purposes, I don't think so.
22  Q.   Okay.  We can agree that there was 1,000 cfs
23    going into the Arizona Canal, right?
24  A.   No, I said it could divert up to 1,000.  It
25    didn't get 1,000 all the time, by a long shot.
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 1  Q.   It did at some point?
 2  A.   It did at some point.
 3  Q.   Or the guy who built it goofed up on his
 4    sizing?
 5  A.   Right.  Well, and they did keep enlarging it
 6    so they could do more.
 7  Q.   My point is, there were significant periods
 8    of time in the course of any year when the Salt River
 9    had water in it, correct, and the water would have been
10    sufficient to float a boat, deeper than 3 feet?
11  A.   No, not deeper than 3 feet.
12  Q.   2 feet?
13  A.   I put a table that indicated for the various
14    flows; and, basically, 1 to 2 feet was the range for
15    most things.
16  Q.   Do you accept Mr. Fuller's depth disclosures,
17    or did you disagree with any of them?
18  A.   I disagreed with them.
19  Q.   In terms of that a canoe floats in 6 inches?
20  A.   That was one of many disagreements.
21  Q.   Okay.
22        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm, I believe
23    we'll take another break right now.
24        MR. HELM: Okay.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.  Let's try
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 1    10 minutes.
 2        (A recess was taken from 10:59 a.m. to
 3        11:15 a.m.)
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin?
 5        THE WITNESS: Ready.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm?
 7        MR. HELM: Yes.  I think somebody just
 8    destroyed the --
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Well, at least they
10    pulled it onto the floor.
11        MR. SPARKS: He has a name, and it's
12    called clumsy.
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Just before you start,
14    Mr. Helm, I misremembered what time we were going to
15    end today.  It will be 3:30, not 4:30.
16        MR. HELM: Works for me.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Proceed, Mr. Helm.
18        MR. HELM: I'll try and get done in that
19    period.
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Oh, Mr. Helm, you've
21    destroyed Thanksgiving.
22        MR. HELM: I've got to go home and pack
23    to leave town, I mean, you know.
24        BY MR. HELM: 
25  Q.   I think when we broke, Mr. Gookin, we were
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 1    talking about the disagreements that you had with
 2    Mr. Fuller over boats, canoes, what have you, and we
 3    had just started on the canoe and floating in 6 inches?
 4  A.   It got mentioned.  I don't know we were
 5    there.
 6  Q.   Yeah.  Well, my understanding --
 7  A.   Oh, okay.
 8  Q.   -- was that you were telling me that you
 9    disagreed with --
10  A.   Oh.
11  Q.   The original question I had, did you agree in
12    a general nature with Mr. Fuller's depth allocations
13    amongst the various kinds of boats.
14  A.   Right.
15  Q.   And you said no.
16  A.   And I said no.
17  Q.   And so now we were getting specific, and we
18    had started with canoe.
19        What's wrong with Mr. Fuller's canoe depth?
20  A.   Well, first, he was counting all of the
21    vehicles based on their draw, rather than a required
22    depth, and they are different.  You need a safety
23    margin.
24        He doesn't consider the 3 foot --
25  Q.   Let me just stop you right there so that I
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 1    don't remain --
 2        MR. MURPHY: Can we let him answer the
 3    question?
 4        MR. HELM: Yeah, if I could understand
 5    what he was answering.  So if you'd let me --
 6        MR. MURPHY: Well, I think he should get
 7    a chance to answer the question first, before you
 8    continually interrupt him.
 9        MR. HELM: Do we want to play court?
10    Because I'd be delighted to play court with you.  I
11    think I can handle it.
12        MR. MURPHY: I want to play civilized.
13        BY MR. HELM: 
14  Q.   What I want to know is the distinction
15    between draw and depth, so that I understand your
16    testimony.
17  A.   As I understand it, when you measure from the
18    waterline down to the bottom of the keel, bottom,
19    whatever the lowest bottom is, that's the draw of the
20    boat, and it varies on how loaded it is.  The depth of
21    water has to be greater than the draw, because you're
22    not in a flat, nicely sculptured, clean canal.  You're
23    in a river.
24        So if you say that a river is 2 feet in one
25    point, that doesn't mean you have 2 feet for the whole
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 1    river.  And so you need to leave a safety margin.
 2  Q.   So when -- if I understand what you're
 3    saying, when Mr. Fuller made the determinations -- and
 4    I'm going to stick with a canoe at this point, because
 5    that's the thing we've been talking about, and he came
 6    up with 6 inches, what you're telling me is that
 7    6 inches does not take in to consider whatever safety
 8    margin would be appropriate for the canoe?
 9  A.   Okay.  The 6 inches was the minimum depth
10    requirement for canoes for recreational purposes,
11    modern boats.
12        Number one is, Mr. Fuller did not consider
13    the minimum depths.  He applied those minimum depth
14    criteria to depths that were greater than minimum.
15    That's improper.
16        Number two, he didn't consider the fact that
17    a boat or a canoe that's being used for trade and
18    travel will probably or should be carrying more than
19    just the one individual.  And so that will cause it to
20    be deeper.
21        Going back to the minimum depth, as I said,
22    it's the 6 inches.  If you're going to use the 6 inches
23    and you do go out there and find the minimum depth,
24    then that's probably okay.  But if you're not going to
25    do that, then -- that's okay for recreational travel
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 1    with modern boats.  If you're not going to do that,
 2    then you need to come up with a standard that tells you
 3    whether or not you're going to be able to make it
 4    through the river based on, say, the gage depths.  And
 5    that's where the Utah case comes in, because the
 6    Special Master listened to all that testimony, talked
 7    to the people who actually did the boating for
 8    commercial purposes, and determined a mean average
 9    depth of 3 feet was what it took.
10  Q.   I am totally confused.  Let's see if I can
11    unconfuse myself.
12        What you're saying is that Mr. Fuller got the
13    weight wrong, in that he did not include enough load in
14    the boat when determining the depth of flow it needed.
15    That's one problem, right?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Okay.  Then the next problem is he did not
18    consider that a proper -- if he had a properly loaded
19    boat, whether there would be enough water to get that
20    boat down the river?
21  A.   He considered whether there would be enough
22    water, but he did it wrong.
23  Q.   Okay.  How did he do it wrong?
24  A.   He found the depths at cross sections that
25    were not the minimum depth cross section, and he took
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 1    the criteria for the minimum depth cross section and
 2    applied it to the depth.
 3        The second thing he did wrong was he didn't
 4    model the river correctly in the lower reaches, in some
 5    of the reaches, to find the depth that really would
 6    have been there.  Even though he had two channels that
 7    would both be carrying low flows, he assumed it all
 8    went into one channel and ignored the second one.
 9        I also have a problem with his Manning's n,
10    but I don't think that's going to decide this case.
11    And probably something I forgot, but I'll bring it up
12    if I need to.
13  Q.   The two-channel issue, can there be two
14    channels where one of them doesn't have water in it?
15  A.   If the second channel is higher, yes; but
16    we've got channels with the same bottoms.
17  Q.   Okay.  So your assumption for your complaint
18    against Mr. Fuller's work to that extent is that the
19    two channels had identical bottom elevations?
20  A.   Substantively.  I mean it could have been an
21    inch or two one way or another.  That's not my
22    assumption.  That's based on the cross sections he
23    produced.
24  Q.   I flat don't understand your discussion about
25    the minimum depth cross section.  Are you telling me
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 1    that what we have to do is find the minimum depth on a
 2    river and use that cross section to determine whether
 3    the entire river is navigable?
 4  A.   I'm telling you that if you use the two
 5    sources he used, Cortell and Hyra, who established
 6    criteria for modern recreational boating, and if that's
 7    acceptable, then you have to use the entire set of
 8    criteria.  You can't say, oh, well, they decided it
 9    required a minimum depth of 6 inches, so I'm going to
10    take that, and then I'm going to go find the deepest
11    cross section that I can use and compare the 6 inches
12    to that.  That's just engineering mistake.
13  Q.   So if I get what you're telling me now, is
14    you go to the Salt River, you find the minimum depth
15    cross section.
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   All right.  And you use that minimum depth
18    cross section to measure whether the stream, the river,
19    is navigable?
20  A.   No.  I'm saying if you're going to use Hyra
21    and Cortell as your source to develop the
22    methodology --
23  Q.   Then that's what you do?
24  A.   -- you've got to use the whole methodology.
25    You can't just pick one number and then apply it
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 1    differently.  That's wrong.
 2  Q.   But am I right in what my understanding is;
 3    that using the Hyra and Cortell, you pick the minimum
 4    cross section, and that's what controls the
 5    determination?
 6  A.   They had some other things, but, yes, that
 7    was the primary thing that he looked to, was the
 8    minimum depth.  So that's the standard he picked, and
 9    it should be used consistently.
10  Q.   Okay.  Now, with respect to that specific
11    standard, the assumption that makes is that cross
12    section that shows the minimum depth is going to
13    require you to get out of the boat; you can't go any
14    further?
15  A.   No.
16  Q.   Ground to a halt; there's not enough water?
17  A.   What they're saying is that for recreational
18    purposes, and I keep emphasizing, it's modern
19    recreation; not the customary, normal travel at the
20    time of statehood.
21        But assuming that's relevant, the modern
22    recreation, they're saying a person who -- if the
23    minimum depth is below 6 inches, people aren't going to
24    use it for recreation and, therefore, they're not going
25    to consider the boat -- or the river to be useable
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 1    for --
 2  Q.   Recreationally navigable.
 3  A.   Yeah.
 4  Q.   I've invented a new term.
 5  A.   I like it.
 6  Q.   And what I'm driving at, the reason they
 7    consider it not recreationally navigable is because
 8    there's not enough water to float my boat, right?
 9  A.   I think your word about --
10  Q.   I can't go down it.
11  A.   Well, you may be able to go down it, but
12    you're going to scrape things up or you're pushing it
13    with a paddle.  It's -- they don't think people will do
14    it because, you know, recreation has the criteria of
15    fun.  Work doesn't have to be fun.  I mean I know this
16    is, but it's not always this good, you understand.
17  Q.   Thank you.
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: You done?
19        MR. HELM: That's a voice crying in the
20    night, if I've ever heard one.
21        BY MR. HELM: 
22  Q.   So what other problems -- does that fully
23    discuss the minimum depth problem you have with
24    Mr. Fuller?  Have we got everything --
25  A.   I also had --
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 1  Q.   -- that you hate canoes about?
 2  A.   What?
 3  Q.   We've got everything you hate his analysis of
 4    a canoe out on the table?
 5  A.   The other was we had disagreements about his
 6    flows and how he developed them, particularly the
 7    median.  So that would influence the answer.
 8  Q.   That's your discussion about 990 and 12,
 9    whatever it was?
10  A.   Yes.
11        I mentioned Manning's n.  And, of course, the
12    other question is, is a standard for modern
13    recreational boating the appropriate standard to use
14    for a test of navigability for title purposes.
15  Q.   And your opinion is?
16  A.   No.
17  Q.   What do you think the appropriate test?  It's
18    just that 3 feet?
19  A.   Mean average depth of 3 foot at the gage.
20  Q.   Now we got it all on the table?
21  A.   Probably not, but --
22  Q.   Good enough for government work.
23  A.   I think it's close to date.
24  Q.   All right.  What about -- that's canoes.
25    What about flat-bottom boats; same basic gripes?
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 1  A.   Yeah, and the criteria is different.  It's
 2    not 6 inches.  I think it's 1 foot.  But --
 3  Q.   Whatever it is --
 4  A.   -- the same arguments would apply on how he's
 5    applied it to flat-bottom boats.
 6  Q.   Okay.  What other kind of boats did you --
 7    rafts, I guess?
 8  A.   Well, the Special Master, in coming up with
 9    his criteria, said that rafts were used for short
10    reaches only.  So he did consider them, kind of.
11  Q.   So did he mess up his calculations for rafts?
12  A.   No, he still came up with mean average depth.
13        Oh, who "he"?
14  Q.   "He" be Mr. Fuller.
15  A.   Okay.
16  Q.   That's who I'm talking about anyway.
17  A.   I was talking about the Special Master.
18  Q.   Oh, okay.
19  A.   He did just fine.
20  Q.   What I'm trying to find out is, is it just
21    that you completely disagree with Mr. Fuller because of
22    the methodology he chose?  He did not adopt the Special
23    Master's 3 foot determination for the Salt River, and
24    so his determination is no good?
25  A.   Plus, he didn't model the depths or get the
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 1    correct depths for given flows, and he didn't use the
 2    correct flows.
 3  Q.   And that applies across the spectrum of
 4    boats?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   58.  With respect to modern boating, is it
 7    your impression that the evidence of modern boating
 8    that's being presented by Mr. Fuller, for example, is
 9    being presented to prove that actual boating took
10    place, as opposed to the river could have been
11    susceptible for navigation?
12  A.   I think he's trying to use it for both.
13  Q.   Okay.  And I take it you would find it
14    objectionable for both categories?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   And for the same basic reasons that you have
17    enunciated here and just gotten through, that's why
18    it's objectionable?
19  A.   What I got through was the depth discussions.
20  Q.   Okay.
21  A.   We have all the durability discussions and
22    the fact that the boats can take a lot more abuse now
23    than they could at statehood.
24  Q.   Okay.  So you got -- other than durability,
25    anything else?
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 1  A.   In the case of inflatable rafts, the fact
 2    that they just weren't available at statehood, so they
 3    can't be meaningfully similar.
 4        And the argument for canoes -- I know we've
 5    talked about canoes. -- I don't think they were used
 6    before statehood.  One more instance where it was used
 7    that I had missed.  Mr. Burtell pointed it out.  The
 8    Hayden trip used a dugout canoe, but that tends to
 9    indicate they really don't work, because the whole trip
10    failed.
11  Q.   But maybe Mr. Hayden had seen other people
12    using dugout canoes on the Lower Salt River, or do you
13    think he just built himself a dugout canoe and went
14    off, so to speak?
15  A.   I think he went up there, and then when he
16    got up there, that was how you were going to build a
17    boat.  So they built a dugout canoe.  But we're
18    speculating all of that out of a very short article or
19    couple articles.
20  Q.   On that page you talk about Montana PPL?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   And I would like you to give me the specific
23    reference, if you can, in PPL where they say using
24    modern boating is wrong as a matter of law.
25  A.   Oh, wait a minute.  Sorry, I was in the wrong
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 1    decision.
 2        On page 21 of the Montana decision,
 3    immediately after the heading B, as in boy -- that's a
 4    capital B. -- they state, the Supreme Court states,
 5    "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a matter of
 6    law in its reliance upon the evidence of present-day,
 7    primarily recreational use of the Madison River,"
 8    period, closed quote.
 9  Q.   And that's what you're relying on, and that's
10    all you're relying on?
11  A.   I'm relying on that for saying a matter of
12    law.
13  Q.   Yeah.
14  A.   I'm relying on other things for the matter of
15    fact.
16  Q.   Okay.  Moving right along, page 61.
17  A.   I'm there.
18  Q.   At the bottom of the page you're talking
19    about beaver dams again, and you're telling me that
20    wood rafts would have a major problem with a beaver
21    dam.
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   And Mr. Fuller has testified that at least in
24    a number of instances, the way boaters handle beaver
25    dams is they simply slide over the top of them in their
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 1    boat?
 2  A.   First, I haven't heard him say that with
 3    regard to wood rafts, which are a different type of
 4    vehicle.
 5  Q.   Okay.  You don't dispute that concept,
 6    though?
 7  A.   I do, because the canoes and the boats they
 8    use today are -- well, the canoes that he's talking
 9    about are made out of Royalex, which is so much
10    stronger and so much more durable than wood.  You can
11    throw it off a rooftop five stories high and it's fine.
12    Wood won't do that.
13  Q.   Are you telling me that all the trappers and
14    people who traversed all of the Eastern states, in the
15    days when all they had was a good old birch bark canoe,
16    did not slide over the top of beaver dams in that
17    canoe?
18  A.   I see no evidence that they did.  I would
19    doubt -- if the water was deep enough going over the
20    dam, you probably could do it.  It's going to depend a
21    lot on how big the dam is and how deep the water is.
22  Q.   Okay.  So you just basically don't know?
23  A.   I don't think so, but I don't have any
24    documentation.
25  Q.   So that's Gookin on beaver dams?
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 1  A.   Gookin on canoeing.
 2  Q.   Beaver dams and canoeing?
 3  A.   Yeah.
 4  Q.   So now tell me why, if I had my trusty wood
 5    raft, I couldn't do the same thing?
 6  A.   A wood raft is going to be a lot wider and
 7    heavier, because it's made out of solid wood; whereas
 8    the canoes have ribbing and so forth, rather than what
 9    I'm thinking of is like some wood logs or planks stuck
10    together.
11        The wood raft is structurally much more
12    inferior, and it would be harder to carry, because a
13    canoe you can turn upside down, and if you're stronger
14    than me and it's a small enough canoe, you can just
15    carry it over; but with a raft, you're going to need at
16    least two people, because it's just a flat piece.
17  Q.   I think we went astray, because I'm not
18    talking --
19  A.   Okay.
20  Q.   I'm asking you why I couldn't paddle up to
21    the beaver dam in my wood raft and slide over the top
22    of it --
23  A.   Oh.
24  Q.   -- assuming water's flowing over it,
25    obviously, or even though it's going to be shallower
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 1    than the wood raft?
 2  A.   If the water was flowing deep enough over it,
 3    then you might be able to do it; but the wood raft, due
 4    to its structural inferiority, would have problems with
 5    a vertical drop.
 6  Q.   Would a wood raft be structurally inferior,
 7    in terms of strength, to a birch bark canoe?
 8  A.   I think so.
 9  Q.   Solid wood?
10  A.   Solid wood in one direction, but only a few
11    supports in the other, and it's not designed.  It's
12    just thrown together.
13  Q.   And what you're talking about is shape then?
14  A.   In large part, yeah.
15  Q.   Same set of questions with respect to a
16    flat-bottom boat.  You say they can't go over beaver
17    dams either.
18  A.   I think it would be harder.  For example, the
19    Edith is a flat-bottom boat, and if you're going to
20    take the Edith with 850 pounds of load, that's a lot of
21    weight to have -- to take over the dam and hit the dam
22    with.  So you've got a lot of force.  You're pretty
23    much going to need to empty it, get somebody to come
24    with you, even though it's a one-person boat, lift it
25    over, and refill it.
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 1  Q.   Assuming you're going downstream.
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   We have a beaver dam.
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   Does that slow the water down?
 6  A.   Upstream of the beaver dam, yes.
 7  Q.   So why am I going to hit this beaver dam with
 8    a tremendous amount of force, assuming I've got a
 9    paddle or two paddles in my hand and/or a board and I'm
10    paying attention and have at least eyesight as good as
11    mine?
12  A.   I have no idea how good your eyesight is,
13    but --
14  Q.   It's very poor.
15  A.   -- if you're going at the dam and you go up
16    to it very slowly, you're just going to stop.
17  Q.   Okay.  But so what you're saying is, if
18    you're going over this lake that's created by the
19    beaver dam that's at least 3 feet deep --
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   -- and I'm going too slow, I'm grinding to a
22    halt?
23  A.   Right.
24  Q.   If I'm going too fast, I'm going to destroy
25    the boat?
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 1  A.   Right.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Is there a middle ground, when I'm
 3    going the right speed, because I'm a trapper and I've
 4    been doing this all my life and I get to the beaver dam
 5    and I hit it at the right point because I know where
 6    the low spot is and I can slide across the dam?
 7  A.   I think that's pretty much a speculation that
 8    that could be done, because you've got to realize, the
 9    beaver dam is probably stronger than your boat.
10  Q.   Do you have any specific evidence of this, or
11    is this just Gookin on early navigation by settlers of
12    the United States in birch bark canoes and flat-bottom
13    boats?
14  A.   I've presented my evidence concerning wood
15    strength and the fact it's a very weak structural
16    material.  And so if you're trying to say is there a
17    speed where you could go over the dam, which has pointy
18    sticks sticking out of it in various directions, break
19    through that and go over, but not break the dam -- or
20    break the boat?  I think it's unlikely that you could
21    do that consistently and get through.
22  Q.   So what you're saying, all those fellows who
23    came over and went beaver hunting back in the 1700s or
24    the 1600s, or whenever those top hats were popular,
25    would have come up on the beaver dam, stopped, carried
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 1    their boat around it or over it, and put it back in the
 2    water and gone on; they would not have navigated the
 3    beaver dam within their boat?
 4  A.   Okay, first, they didn't do that in Arizona.
 5    They didn't use boats.
 6  Q.   No, I understand that.  I said -- I'm talking
 7    about before anybody got here.  You know, we're back in
 8    New England.
 9  A.   Oh, not here.
10  Q.   It's 1600.  I'm out on the Tioughnioga River
11    and I'm beaver trapping, all right.  I'm familiar with
12    that.  I even did it a little.
13  A.   Okay.
14  Q.   And would I stop the boat, get out and carry
15    it over; or would I just paddle over that?
16  A.   Probably you would stop the boat, get out,
17    set a trap, and then carry it over.
18  Q.   Okay.  And then sooner or later I'm going to
19    come back to it, right?
20  A.   Yeah.
21  Q.   And if I've got a beaver, I've got to take
22    the trap and pick it up, and then I'm going on
23    downstream, and so I'm going to lift it over it twice,
24    is what you're saying?  Three times; once coming up,
25    twice going down?
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 1  A.   No, because probably when you went to get the
 2    beaver, you would just leave that on the downstream end
 3    and take the beaver and throw it over the dam.
 4        But if you're going to keep going, yeah, then
 5    you have to lift it up.
 6  Q.   And that's your perception of how the
 7    trappers won the West, so to speak?
 8  A.   Yes, on the Eastern rivers, which are
 9    significantly different.
10  Q.   Right.  But those fellows came West, didn't
11    they, as times expanded?
12  A.   Yes, they did, but they didn't even try to
13    use boats here, except on the San Pedro and Colorado.
14  Q.   While we're there, that question I would have
15    come to at some point, but I might as well get it right
16    now.  I was confused about Mr. Pattie.  There's no
17    question in your mind that Mr. Pattie used a boat on
18    the San Pedro, right?
19  A.   Right.
20  Q.   And there's no question in your mind that he
21    used them on the Colorado?
22  A.   Right.
23  Q.   And the thing that was confusing to me, that
24    why would a guy who was trapping beaver and using a
25    boat to do it on those two rivers then not have done it
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 1    when he was trapping beaver on the Salt?  Doesn't he
 2    still need to get across the stream and move up and
 3    down that stream to set his traps and then go check his
 4    traps, what have you?
 5  A.   He still needs to do that, but from his
 6    accounts, he normally did it on foot or on horseback
 7    going up and down the river and across.  And he talks
 8    about he built the canoe because they were in a flood
 9    condition and one guy had gotten killed trying to go
10    across on horseback.  That's when they built the canoe.
11    And I'm sure they didn't keep using it, because when
12    they got to the Colorado River, he had to build another
13    one.
14  Q.   I'm now on inflatables, which is on the next
15    page, I believe.
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   And you talk about inflatables not being
18    practicable at statehood in the first -- do you see
19    that?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Is that Gookin on inflatables, or do you have
22    some authority for that?
23  A.   I have a fair amount of authority.  I've got
24    the fact that when you look at their literature about
25    the history of inflatables, they talk about them being
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 1    used as pontoon bridges and as, like, on lakes or as a
 2    short-term lifeboat on the ocean.  They don't talk
 3    about them going up and down rivers.
 4        The second point is I know that the rubber
 5    characteristics changed dramatically with the invention
 6    of carbon -- or the discovery of carbon black.
 7  Q.   But why do those -- how are those two things
 8    impracticable?  I mean assuming I had a boat, assuming
 9    it was an inflatable, and assuming I'm in the Salt
10    River Valley, what's impracticable about me throwing
11    that thing on the river and using it, assuming there's
12    enough water there?
13  A.   Historically, people didn't use the rubber
14    boats because they weren't strong enough.  The seams
15    popped open.  They couldn't handle any collisions to
16    speak of.  That's why they used them for I'm going to
17    put a pontoon boat in and that's going to be stagnant,
18    standing in one place.  I'm going to go on a lake.
19  Q.   You put a pontoon boat in presumably to
20    support something?
21  A.   To create a crossing.
22  Q.   Yes.  And when you put wood on top of it and
23    you --
24  A.   Probably.
25  Q.   -- you run horses or wagons across it --
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 1  A.   Right.
 2  Q.   -- does that vibrate the pontoon boat --
 3  A.   I -- go ahead.
 4  Q.   -- and create issues with the boat in terms
 5    of its ability to stay afloat?
 6  A.   It would impact the logs, which would, yes,
 7    vibrate the boats; but it wouldn't create tensile
 8    stresses by hitting the boats and pulling on the
 9    rubber.  Plus, I think they did just have problems,
10    that sometimes they sprung a leak and they had to go
11    build another one.
12        Oh, the other aspect is there's evidence that
13    the construction techniques used to build them didn't
14    hold the boat together.
15  Q.   Why did they keep building them then?
16  A.   Well, they did --
17  Q.   Sucker born every minute, was that the
18    theory?
19        MR. MURPHY: Can we let him answer
20    again, Mr. Helm?
21        THE WITNESS: I don't think they built a
22    lot of them.  They built, as I say, some for pontoons.
23    You could take it on the lake, because that's a nice
24    still body.  You're not running into things, hopefully.
25    So they had other purposes.
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 1        But when you're talking about going down
 2    a river, you need something a little stronger, and they
 3    didn't have the rubber.  Rubber was very weak until
 4    carbon black and until they figured out how to do the
 5    seams better.
 6        BY MR. HELM: 
 7  Q.   Now, my understanding is you're not a
 8    historian, don't claim to be?
 9  A.   And I thought I said I was on the Gila --
10  Q.   No, I understand specifically.
11  A.   -- and Salt and the Pima.
12  Q.   But what I want to know is, did you have --
13    you've talked about history and things way beyond the
14    Pimas, haven't you?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   You're talking about the history of rubber
17    boats right now, as far as I get?
18  A.   Right.
19  Q.   Okay.  And so my curiosity pops up at that
20    point.  Did you have a historian working with you that
21    helped you on this?
22  A.   No.  I went and found the evidence.  When I
23    heard rubber boats, my immediate reaction was why
24    weren't they more prevalent, because there was no real
25    discussion of them.  And so I went searching and I went
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 1    and found the advances in technology, and I looked at
 2    them with an engineering eye.  And carbon black was a
 3    major step forward.  Plus, I had the Rubber Division's
 4    articles on the history of rubber boats, and they say
 5    around 1900 the advances of rubber manufacturing made
 6    it possible to build more durable rubber inflated
 7    boats, but these crude craft had inherent defects, and
 8    they tended to split at the seams and folds due to the
 9    less-than-optimal manufacturing of the rubber.
10        So I'm looking at a qualified source that
11    tells me this.
12  Q.   Okay.  So to kind of sum that out, what it
13    is, is it's Gookin on the history of rubber boats in
14    his capacity as a nonhistorian, without any help from a
15    historian, assessing the history of a rubber boat?
16  A.   Well, to me, it's more of an engineering
17    question, because I'm looking at manufacturing
18    techniques and tensile strengths.
19  Q.   Have you ever seen -- well, I think you have.
20    You said you've seen these folks who are kind of the
21    replica freaks, who go out and build replicas of old
22    boats and then use them today?
23  A.   The only one I've ever seen was Mr. Dimock or
24    Dimock, when he testified here.  I've heard of them.
25  Q.   You acknowledge that those kind of folks were
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 1    around and they were around in modern times, and that
 2    they build boats that at least they think are exact
 3    replicas of boats that existed historically, and then
 4    they go out and use them on rivers?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Okay.  And you, in fact, know about
 7    Mr. Dimock and the Edith?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   And he used that on the Lower Salt River?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And I guess my question is, if I take a boat
12    that is historically correct for the time frame of
13    statehood in Arizona and I use it in a commercial
14    fashion in modern day time, have I solved the issue of
15    modern boating?  That's modern boating, and I'm doing
16    it today, but it's in an old boat.
17  A.   If the river is in the same condition it was
18    in the century and a half ago condition, yes.
19  Q.   Okay.  How does that work in the situation
20    we've got?  And let me just give you kind of a
21    hypothetical.
22        We have a river that is wholly diverted.
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   That is dammed up.
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   But there's still some water in it, all
 2    right.  I mean it's clearly not in the condition it
 3    would have been had we not had the dams, if we had not
 4    had the diversions, if we had not had the interruption
 5    in the type of river it is.  So it's got less water in
 6    it.  It's got a different bottom, may have different
 7    shapes.  But you can still navigate it in an old boat.
 8        Is that good enough to establish navigation?
 9  A.   I don't think so.
10  Q.   Why not?
11  A.   Because it's not in its ordinary and natural
12    condition.  If it was in its ordinary and natural
13    condition, it might have been easier; it might have
14    been harder.  We don't know.
15  Q.   But it's a hard-and-fast rule, is what you're
16    telling me; that even though I have a lesser quality
17    river at this point in time that I am using that boat
18    on, that's not evidence to show that if I could use it
19    on the lesser quality river, I could use it on the
20    better quality river, when there was lots of water in
21    it?
22  A.   You have absolutely no idea if it's a better
23    or lesser quality river that you're on.
24  Q.   Well, but suppose I do.  Let's just assume
25    that I know that there's less water going down this
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 1    river than there was when it was in its natural and
 2    ordinary condition.
 3  A.   Then you don't need to worry about
 4    navigability, because you're God, and you could've put
 5    the water in and done it back then.
 6  Q.   Okay.
 7        Page 70.  And there you're talking about
 8    canvas canoes --
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   -- fair enough?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   And simple question.  Are these your
13    conclusions, this is Gookin on canvas canoes, or do you
14    have some specific items that you can identify that
15    tell us how you got to these conclusions?
16  A.   Well, I put quotes in and I cited to them, so
17    I think that kind of tells you.  I've done that
18    throughout the report.
19  Q.   So your whole basis for your assessment on
20    canvas canoes is a footnote to something called Miller?
21  A.   Actually, my basis for canoes, there are two,
22    several bases.  One, I looked at Mr. Fuller's pictures.
23    I'm enough of a hydrologist to know that the lines
24    shown in Figure IV-3 aren't very conducive to
25    maneuverability.  That's my technical expertise
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 1    speaking.
 2        Second, I did look at authorities, who talked
 3    about how filler changes in canvas have changed and are
 4    stronger than they used to be.  And, again, stronger
 5    means more durable, which means, as Mr. Fuller has told
 6    us, that you can boat rivers that are shallower and
 7    more rocky than you could with the old boat.  That's my
 8    argument.
 9  Q.   So you've got one authority that you cite,
10    Miller, and two pictures of canvas canoes; is that
11    fair?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   And with respect to the Kolb brothers
14    picture --
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   -- that's on the Colorado River, right?
17  A.   I would assume so, but I don't know.
18  Q.   Okay.  Not unreasonable assumption?
19  A.   Probably.  I mean I know Kolb was big on the
20    Colorado River.
21  Q.   My question would be, does that mean canoes
22    were used on the Colorado River?
23  A.   Well, at least to sit there once, yes.
24  Q.   Okay.  The guy was just holding the ores up
25    in the air, huh?
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 1  A.   Yeah, and assuming that's the Colorado River.
 2  Q.   Sure.
 3  A.   Probably is.
 4  Q.   I accept that.
 5        Referring you to page 73, at the bottom of
 6    the page you give us a quote that goes over onto the
 7    next page?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   And my only question there is, this quote is
10    applicable to the Upper Salt, correct?
11  A.   Yes.  It's from the Forest Service, for their
12    reach area of governance.
13  Q.   Going on to the next page, you talk about the
14    price of boats or canoes, and you've got a $1,282
15    number out there?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Is this Gookin on economics, or do you have
18    an actual citation that tells us that that's the
19    number?
20  A.   Yes.  I used the CPI.
21  Q.   CPI from --
22  A.   The Consumer.
23  Q.   You went and found the price of a canoe back
24    whenever that price was, and you adjusted it every year
25    for the CPI and came up with a price at some date in
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 1    current times?
 2  A.   Yes.  The State presented the prices for the
 3    boats in the Sears catalog at the time.  I know how to
 4    read a number, I know how to do a CPI calculation, and
 5    I got a price.
 6  Q.   Okay.  So this is Gookin on economics, right?
 7  A.   Just means I went through high school, maybe
 8    grade school even.
 9  Q.   Page 79, you're talking about the Special
10    Master and his list of boats and things?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   And you indicate canoes are not mentioned on
13    any of the Master's lists?
14  A.   Correct, the list that they presented as
15    to -- well, actually, I relied on Fuller, who had
16    reviewed the lists of the Special Master, and he had
17    printed those, and I relied on that.
18  Q.   And from that, you came to the hard-and-fast
19    conclusion that canoes were not appropriate to judge
20    navigability on the Salt River by?
21  A.   That's one of many reasons, yes.
22        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm, could we
23    break for lunch at this time?
24        MR. HELM: Boy, I was having so much fun
25    I wasn't even hungry, but I would be happy to.
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 1        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We were too.
 2        Let's come back at 1:15.  Thank you.
 3        (A lunch recess was taken from
 4        12:02 p.m. to 1:22 p.m.)
 5        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin, Mr. Helm,
 6    ready?
 7        You have two hours.
 8        MR. HELM: Oh, that's troublesome.  I'll
 9    try, though.
10        BY MR. HELM: 
11  Q.   Okay, Mr. Gookin, we've got to go quickly, so
12    I'm on page 84 and it's just a simple question.  You
13    give a citation to Arizona Appellate Decision, 28-29,
14    and I don't know how, as a lawyer, I find that decision
15    identified that way.  So if you could tell me the name
16    of the case, I would appreciate it.
17  A.   Okay.  I have to confess, I should have put
18    it in the bibliography, and I did not.
19        Wait, let me check the -- what did it say?
20    Page 28.  That would be the Winkleman decision.
21  Q.   Okay.  Thank you.
22        Next reference is to page 86, and there in
23    the first two lines you talk about the Salt River being
24    totally compromised by nonIndian development by 1939.
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   Wasn't it really at least totally compromised
 2    when they opened up Roosevelt Dam?
 3  A.   It was badly compromised by 1885, and it got
 4    a lot worse when Roosevelt.  All I was trying to get
 5    across is the last source of water for the river, the
 6    Verde, had been dammed up then.
 7  Q.   Page 87, you're talking about "...we are
 8    interested in the natural conditions as of statehood,
 9    we need to consider the channel data that occurred
10    between 1906 and 1915."
11        Is that the time frame under which you looked
12    at the channel to determine whether it was in its
13    natural and ordinary condition?
14  A.   For the channel, yes.
15  Q.   So you looked at the flows for pre1860 to
16    1800, as Winkleman directed; but the channel you
17    restricted yourself to 1906 to 1915, have I got that
18    right?
19  A.   Yeah, for the one channel of cross section I
20    did.  It was based on that.
21  Q.   This is page 91.  You tell us that in
22    accordance with directions from the Supreme Court and
23    the Appellate Court, I have broken the river
24    configuration into three periods; predevelopment,
25    statehood, and current.
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Specifically, what citation directs you to do
 3    that from either the Supreme Court or Appellate Courts?
 4  A.   Well, the Appellate Court talked about using
 5    the 1800 to the 1860s or '70 period, which they
 6    considered predevelopment.  The statehood is The Daniel
 7    Ball language, which is cited in both cases.  And the
 8    Montana dealt with whether or not you used the current
 9    period and what it takes to use the current period and
10    so forth.  So I looked at all three.
11  Q.   Page 92, you have a picture of the Mojave
12    River in California?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Can you tell me the flow that that is
15    handling at that time the picture was taken?
16  A.   No clue.
17  Q.   Got an estimate?
18  A.   I gave up trying to estimate flows a long
19    time ago.
20  Q.   It's not much water, is it?
21  A.   No.  It's very little.
22  Q.   Would it be, at least at this point,
23    something that you would consider to be in a drought
24    condition?
25  A.   The Mojave River?
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 1  Q.   Yeah.
 2  A.   I think that's almost flood stage.
 3  Q.   Baseflow?
 4  A.   No, I doubt it.
 5  Q.   So you think this is about baseflow for the
 6    Mojave River?
 7  A.   I think, if it's the one I'm thinking of.
 8    The Mojave River is ephemeral.  I could be on the wrong
 9    river.
10        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: No, you're not.
11        THE WITNESS: I'm not on the wrong
12    river?
13        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: (Shook head.)
14        THE WITNESS: Okay.  I trust
15    Commissioner Allen on that.
16        BY MR. HELM: 
17  Q.   Page 93, you're saying that in the -- prior
18    to European occupation, that the river, the Lower Salt,
19    was, if I understand it, braided approximately
20    80 percent of the time?
21  A.   I'm sorry, I missed the year.
22  Q.   Pre-Anglo showing up.  I think that's what
23    this is in reference to.
24  A.   Oh, yes.  By the 1860s, yes.
25  Q.   And what is your authority that it was a
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 1    braided river at that point 80 percent of the time?
 2  A.   The survey plats by the GLO.
 3  Q.   And is that a reference to the -- what I'm
 4    going to call the floodplain extent of the river?
 5  A.   Well, they show the channels on it.
 6  Q.   I understand.  But those plats are showing
 7    more than just the low flow channel?
 8  A.   Usually they just show the channel as it was
 9    when they were out there, be it low flow, high flow,
10    whatever.  And I took all the survey plats and
11    estimated the lengths and came up with roughly
12    80 percent.
13        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Pardon me.
14    
15        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
16        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: You said this is
17    pre1860?
18        THE WITNESS: I should say it was
19    surveyed in the 1860s.  It was like '67, '68.
20        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: And that was by --
21        THE WITNESS: Ingalls.
22        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Ingalls?
23        THE WITNESS: And if you want to look,
24    they're in my appendix.
25        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Yeah, I know.
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 1        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
 2        BY MR. HELM: 
 3  Q.   Page 94, just a quick one.  What do you mean
 4    by the terminology "live river"?
 5  A.   A live river is a flowing river.
 6  Q.   So did the Salt River become a dead river at
 7    some point?
 8  A.   Pretty much once Bartlett Dam was built, the
 9    Lower Salt River became a dead river.
10  Q.   Page 99 you set out a mean, a median and a
11    low.  And as I understand that, that would basically be
12    the flows at the confluence of the Verde and the Salt;
13    is that correct?
14  A.   Yeah, immediately below.
15        And you asked me to bring it up, but these
16    were the figures that I developed in the Gila report
17    and brought forward to this report.
18  Q.   Thank you.  And that's the figures that are
19    on page 99?
20  A.   Well, 98, 99.  98, 99 and -- oh, and -- yeah,
21    just 98 and 99.
22  Q.   I'm on page 103 now, and I am a little
23    confused by your Footnote 15.  You say "the natural
24    mean average flow" -- I'm not sure what that means. --
25    is only exceeded 20 to 25 percent of the time, and so
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 1    that is not enough to meet the test for ordinary.
 2  A.   Okay.  The mean average flow is simply what
 3    most people call the average.  And before that I said
 4    the natural, I think --
 5  Q.   You did.
 6  A.   -- which means I'm looking at the pre --
 7  Q.   Which you defined that earlier, so I didn't
 8    go back to it again.
 9  A.   Okay.  It means the predevelopment average
10    flow.
11  Q.   80 percent?
12  A.   No, it means the average flow, the
13    predevelopment average flow.
14  Q.   Is what the word natural alludes to?
15  A.   In terms of when I say natural mean annual.
16  Q.   Oh, okay.
17  A.   The phrase means that.
18        That flow occurs or it's exceeded about 75 --
19    excuse me, 20 to 25 percent of the time.  10 percent of
20    that 20 to 25 percent is above the 90 percent -- or
21    10 percent high flow.  So you're down to a very small
22    percentage of time that you're considering.
23        Now, I've never read clear direction.  I know
24    that you can lay out for certain seasons, but I would
25    question whether or not the legal standard would permit
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 1    you to just only do the boating 10 or 15 percent of the
 2    time.
 3  Q.   Okay.  Page 106, you've got a diagram
 4    there --
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   -- on which you show the mean, the median and
 7    the minimum.
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   Would you tell me where the 90 percent line
10    or the 10 percent high line would be?
11  A.   I did not put them on, and I didn't calculate
12    them.  The minimum would be the same as the 10 percent,
13    the bottom 10 percent.
14  Q.   Sure, I assumed that was right.  You're
15    missing the high 10 percent?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   And we don't have any idea where that falls
18    in terms of feet, other than it's at least a tad below
19    4.5 feet?
20  A.   I would think so.
21  Q.   Would it be above 3 feet there, do you think?
22  A.   Just a second.
23        I think it would be right around 3 feet.
24  Q.   You've got the median at about 2?
25  A.   Yeah.  No, the mean.
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 1  Q.   I'm sorry, yes, the mean.
 2  A.   But I don't know.  I didn't calculate it, is
 3    the correct answer.
 4  Q.   Page 108.  On the top of the page you're
 5    talking about extra-ordinary flows.  Are those flood
 6    flows that you're talking about?  Third line down.
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   Would those -- when you use that term
 9    "extra-ordinary flows," are we always referring to a
10    flood event?
11  A.   It would be possible that I could have been
12    talking about the drought, but I don't remember ever
13    doing that.
14  Q.   Page 111, you say that here Mr. Fuller should
15    be showing the worst case/shallowest cross section.
16    That's a reference to our earlier discussion using,
17    what was it, Colbert or whatever, Colbert and -- [sic]
18  A.   Colbert and Hyra minimum depth discussion.
19  Q.   Yeah, right.  That's what that's in reference
20    to?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   Page 115.  Does the means that the rivers the
23    Special Master in the Utah case was considering -- were
24    they different than what the Salt would have been?
25  A.   The means?


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1792


 1  Q.   Yeah.
 2  A.   I'm sorry, I'm not seeing it on page 115.
 3  Q.   Well, where I have it marked on mine is with
 4    the statement, "However, the floods that the Utah
 5    Special Master considered had slower rises and slower
 6    falls than the Gila...due in part to the large areas
 7    that they drain," and that kicked into me that
 8    question.
 9        And so I just want to know if the Salt mean
10    is different than the means on the rivers considered by
11    the Special Master in Utah?
12  A.   I'm almost certain that -- the mean flow, you
13    mean?
14  Q.   Uh-huh.
15  A.   Was lower on the Salt.
16  Q.   So it was different?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   On 115, you start at the bottom talking about
19    marshland?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   And can you give me any places on the Lower
22    Salt where marshes invaded the low flow channel of the
23    Salt River?
24  A.   I just don't know.  I know the USGS said it
25    was marshy there on the -- just to the north of the
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 1    Indian Reservation or on the -- on the northwest
 2    boundary of the Indian Reservation, the Gila River
 3    Indians.
 4  Q.   You don't know what they were talking about
 5    when they said -- what marshy was a reference to, other
 6    than soggy ground somewhere down there?
 7  A.   They said marshy, boggy, slime.  They kind of
 8    just made a general written description that was not
 9    too pleasant.
10  Q.   Sure.  And from that you drew the implication
11    that there would be some marshlands in the channels of
12    the Salt?
13  A.   I think it's a good chance.
14  Q.   Okay.  But you don't have any evidence that
15    says, "Look at this, John.  There's a picture of a
16    marsh in the middle of the Salt River"?
17  A.   No, I do not.
18  Q.   You've heard the testimony here regarding
19    sand bars; that they don't really present much of an
20    obstacle to a boater because they can either boat
21    around them or they just drag their boat across them,
22    or I think Jon even talked about pushing it across,
23    without getting out, with his paddle.
24  A.   Yes, and I also read the Special Master's
25    reports talking about other ways they got around sand
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 1    bars.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Do you have any actual evidence that
 3    you can point to and show me a sand bar in the Salt
 4    River that actually acted as an impediment to
 5    navigation, assuming navigation would have occurred on
 6    the Salt?
 7  A.   I never indicated they were.
 8        I was just giving context for the quote that
 9    followed that sentence.
10  Q.   I'm sometimes too literal.
11        On page 126, you're talking about an Oregon
12    Appellate Court Decision.  And is that the Haselton
13    decision that you're talking about or some other
14    decision?
15  A.   Yeah, the John Day River was the Haselton
16    decision.  It's in the footnote.
17  Q.   Okay.  Well, I'm saying that's the -- when
18    you say "The Oregon Appellate Court Decision does talk
19    about," and so I'm looking for -- as opposed to saying
20    "Haselton talks about."
21  A.   Oh.
22  Q.   That is the Haselton reference?
23  A.   Yes, and check the footnote.  It gives you
24    all those numbers lawyers like.
25  Q.   Yeah, I know it, but that's all I'm trying to
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 1    get.
 2        Is Exhibit B to this report your complete
 3    list of authorities you rely on?
 4  A.   As of the time of the report, yes.  There
 5    will be a supplemental one for the PowerPoint that
 6    lists a few extras, a few more, but not many.
 7  Q.   Okay.  We're now done with your report, which
 8    means we're making progress, but we're not done yet.
 9    We have your PowerPoint to talk a little bit about,
10    because some of the things in your PowerPoint, at least
11    I didn't see them show up in your report, but we're
12    narrowing it down.  And, regrettably, I have to wait
13    while this stupid thing goes through the turnoff
14    process on this thing so I can get to the next.
15        So if you want to get your PowerPoint out,
16    I'll start zipping through that, if I can.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm, how would you
18    like to do the PowerPoint?  Would you like the slides
19    displayed or --
20        MR. HELM: There's maybe only one where
21    I just can't read it.  I mean I've enlarged it as much
22    as I can get it on this thing, and it just fuzzes out,
23    and I want to know what the language is.  But for the
24    most part, I'm happy here, if everybody else is happy.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  We do have the
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 1    PowerPoint in paper form, so we could be able to
 2    reference it.
 3        BY MR. HELM: 
 4  Q.   The first one that I have a reference to is
 5    your Slide 9.
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   And as I understand Slide 9, what you're
 8    showing me is, with the exception of a brief period in
 9    July, maybe, and June, maybe, maybe where they meet,
10    the flow in the Salt River near Chrysotile always
11    exceeds 50 percent of the ordinary condition; is that
12    correct?
13  A.   It shows that the average flows exceed the
14    50 percent daily condition, yes; or the average monthly
15    flows, I should say.
16  Q.   And would your answer be the same for
17    Number 10, Slide 10, for Segments 3, 4 and 5?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   And, again, it would be the same for
20    Slide 11?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   So, for the most part, the river is always in
23    the upper half of the ordinary condition?
24  A.   No.
25  Q.   No.  Which one of those slides shows the
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 1    river for any significant period of time below the
 2    median?
 3  A.   Western rivers in particular have large flood
 4    flows, large, high flows, spring flows, snowmelt flows.
 5    Those numbers distort the averages.  So that as you can
 6    see in chart number, say, 9, 10 and 11 or Mr. Fuller's
 7    charts on 12 and 13, the average is always higher.
 8    That doesn't mean the river is always higher, because
 9    the median is 50 percent of the days are above it and
10    50 percent of the days are below it.
11  Q.   Maybe that's why I'm confused.  I look at
12    your median on those three charts that we were just
13    talking about, and as you show the median, with some
14    very short periods of time in the mid summer, the flows
15    are always above it.
16  A.   Yes, the average monthly flows, which is --
17  Q.   Well, I take that to be the median.  I'm
18    sorry.  Because that's what he's got it identified as.
19    If it's not --
20  A.   Right, the blue, the dark blue --
21  Q.   The red line is the median, right?
22  A.   Yes, and you're talking about the monthly
23    mean being above the median, and that is true.
24        Mostly, I was just trying to re-create
25    Mr. Fuller's slides on these.
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 1  Q.   Okay, looking at Number 12.
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   Based on that, is it fair to say that
 4    12 months of the year the river was boatable?
 5  A.   I don't think you can tell.
 6  Q.   Okay.  It shows that the red line there is
 7    what?
 8  A.   The 90 percent line.
 9  Q.   Okay.  So in the ordinary course of events,
10    on average, because that's all we're dealing with, is
11    averages -- I get that. -- the river has enough water
12    in it to allow those kinds of boats to float that are
13    hung onto the vertical middle line?
14  A.   Are you talking about the line that goes down
15    to the top of the blue shaded area?
16  Q.   Yeah.
17  A.   Okay.  Those are Mr. Fuller's calculations,
18    which I do not adopt or agree with.
19  Q.   Okay.
20  A.   This gaging station was near Roosevelt, and
21    it measures one of the pools of water.  And he used the
22    criteria for the minimum cross section against the
23    depth data for the pools of water, and that's improper.
24  Q.   Okay.  But that's not what I asked you.  I
25    asked you based on this chart, it's boatable all year
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 1    long, right?
 2  A.   It doesn't say that, and it's --
 3  Q.   Well, that's my understanding of it, and I'm
 4    asking you to tell me if I'm misunderstanding.  The
 5    boats that you're showing there are all below the
 6    80 percent ordinary condition, right?
 7        MR. MURPHY: Mr. Chairman, I don't
 8    understand.  He's saying the boats that you're showing,
 9    but this is Mr. Fuller's slide.  And is Mr. Helm asking
10    Mr. Gookin what Mr. Fuller is showing?
11        MR. HELM: Yes.
12        MR. MURPHY: He could have asked
13    Mr. Fuller.  I don't know why, but --
14        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: So as we understand the
15    question, John, you're asking Mr. --
16        THE WITNESS: Gookin.
17        MR. HELM: Mr. Gookin, if what
18    Mr. Fuller is showing is --
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: -- Gookin to interpret
20    what Mr. Fuller put on his slide because Mr. Gookin
21    included it in his slides?
22        MR. HELM: That's correct.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Got it?
24        THE WITNESS: Got it.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Give it.
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 1        THE WITNESS: Okay.  The arrow and the
 2    three dashed lines apply to the annual condition.  So,
 3    for example, assuming Mr. Fuller had done it all
 4    correctly, you would say annually you could boat
 5    slightly over 40 percent of the time with a canoe,
 6    kayak, raft or driftboat.
 7        And the way I get that is the top of the
 8    blue shaded area is immediately below the median line,
 9    okay.  So that is 50 percent.  It's a little below
10    50 percent.  And we're looking for between the
11    10 percent line, the high line, and the blue line.  So
12    there's 40 percent between the 10 percent high line and
13    the 50 percent median line.  50 minus 10 is 40, plus a
14    smidge, because the blue shaded is a little below the
15    median, and you get a little over 40.
16        BY MR. HELM: 
17  Q.   And if I asked you that question for the next
18    two slides, that I assume are Mr. Fuller's also, your
19    answer would be similar?
20  A.   No, and that's part of the problem, because,
21    for example, on Segment 5, Slide 13, you see the median
22    has jumped all the way up in the chart.  And so now the
23    boats, it's very hard to tell, because you've got the
24    50 percent line at about 1,000, and you have the
25    10 percent low line that's somewhat below the arrow,
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 1    the top of the blue.  I don't know what the percentage
 2    in that little gap is.  But it's probably on the order
 3    of 40 percent between the 90, the red line, and the
 4    green; and making a guess, 35 percent below.  So now
 5    we're at 75 percent or so, 80 percent.  75, I would
 6    say.
 7  Q.   Going down now to Slide 16, which is the
 8    Thomsen and Porcello mean annual flow slide.
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   And the first thing I'm curious to know is
11    why does all this matter?  Because what we're concerned
12    about is the ordinary and natural flow condition, which
13    is 80 percent of the flow, right?
14  A.   Well, that's not all we're concerned about,
15    but we're concerned about that.
16  Q.   All right, but I mean principally.  And
17    that's what we seem to be focusing.  We just seem to be
18    focusing on the median or the mean, as opposed to what
19    I call the spread, the water column between 10 percent
20    low and 10 percent high.
21  A.   It --
22        MR. MURPHY: Is that a question?  I
23    didn't hear a question there, Mr. Chairman.
24        MR. HELM: Why don't you go out in the
25    other room.  If we want to play this, I'm going to do
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 1    it to him, and I want him to know it.
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: John.  John.  Okay.
 3        Did you understand the question,
 4    Mr. Gookin?
 5        THE WITNESS: At this point, no.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Can you rephrase
 7    the question?
 8        THE WITNESS: I thought I did for a
 9    second, and I'm sorry.
10        BY MR. HELM: 
11  Q.   Sure.  I just want you to tell me why we're
12    not focused on the -- instead of being at the mean or
13    the median and whether that's an average and how it
14    gets put out of whack by the floods, why we're not
15    focusing on the spread?
16  A.   Because the median -- the determination of
17    the median affects how much time in the spread it was
18    boatable.  What per --
19  Q.   So what --
20  A.   It --
21  Q.   What -- go ahead.
22  A.   Do you want me to try again?
23  Q.   Yeah, I wish you would.
24  A.   Okay.  He has a chart and he shows a range of
25    flows that's 80 percent of the time.  Now, he doesn't
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 1    indicate that, say, a raft can be boated any of those
 2    days that fall in the 80 percent.  He says some of
 3    those days, but not all of those days.
 4        That leads to the question how many days can
 5    it be, what percentage are we talking about?  Because,
 6    to me, if you can boat it, say, 70 percent of the time
 7    out of 80, it's a much stronger case for navigability
 8    than if you can only boat it, say, 1 percent of the
 9    time.  And that's why it matters.
10  Q.   Okay.  Do you have any charts set out where
11    you determine how much of the time it can be boated?
12  A.   I showed the depths for the minimum, median
13    and mean, which gets me up to about the 75, 80 percent
14    level, and showed none of those were boatable under the
15    Utah criteria.
16  Q.   Well, nothing's boatable -- or, well, and I
17    don't recall any that are over 3 feet that you've
18    shown.  But, basically, it's not a calculation, whether
19    it was the mean, the median or whatever.  As long as it
20    doesn't go above 3 feet, you would say it's not
21    boatable?
22  A.   As long as it's below the mean average of
23    3 feet, yes, it's not boatable.  It's not navigable for
24    title purposes, more accurately.
25  Q.   Okay.  And I guess what I'm driving at, or
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 1    maybe I can ask it a different way, is did you do any
 2    analysis on what -- within the ordinary and natural
 3    portion of the river, the 80 percent, without the 10
 4    and the 10, was -- whether the river at any point was
 5    navigable?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   Okay.  Where would I find that?
 8  A.   Jump to Slide 195.
 9  Q.   Can you do it without me having to jump?
10    Because this is way in the back of this turkey.  I'm
11    not tuned in by number of slides.
12  A.   Well, it's the slide that shows the results
13    of the Manning's equation.  It's Figure 6-3 in my
14    report, and I compute, for various assumed n-values,
15    the depth of water for mean, which is 75 to 80 percent;
16    median, which is 50 percent; and minimum, which is the
17    10 percent.
18        And given that the mean depth under the most
19    optimistic conditions comes only to 1.3 feet, I'm
20    pretty safe in saying it's not navigable.  It's not
21    going to get to 3 feet before you get to 90 percent; or
22    if it does -- well, I don't think it will, but it's
23    only going to be a day or two.
24  Q.   On Slide 17, does that slide tell me the --
25    or is there any way that I can pick out the ordinary
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 1    condition of the river from there?
 2  A.   This is just talking about how you --
 3    Mr. Fuller converted mean annual flow into -- or median
 4    annual flow into his answer which he used as median
 5    daily flow and trying to explain -- starting the
 6    explanation of why it was incorrect mathematically.
 7  Q.   It doesn't demonstrate the spread in any
 8    fashion, is what you're driving at?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   And neither does the next slide, Slide 18?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   Could you explain for me again what the
13    purpose of Slide 19 is?
14  A.   Yes.  Mr. Fuller took the median annual flow
15    out of the Thomsen and Porcello report.  If you take
16    the median flow, which means you rank all the years in
17    descending order of flow, and you go down halfway and
18    you pick that year, the median annual flow occurred in
19    1948.  And I was using water years, which starts
20    October 1st and ends September 30.
21        The question then became do you just take the
22    median annual flow and directly convert it to cfs by
23    using the number of seconds in the year and the cubic
24    feet and so forth.  And that's the green line.  That's
25    what that answer is if you do it by just converting
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 1    units.
 2        If you do it by going to that year and taking
 3    all the daily flows, listing them in order, and going
 4    halfway down, you get the value that's depicted by the
 5    red line.
 6        And the point is there is a significant
 7    difference between computing the green line, which was
 8    basically computing the mean average daily flow for the
 9    water year 1948, than calculating the median daily
10    water flow for water year 1948.
11  Q.   And in any event, on that Slide 19, we don't
12    have any way to determine what would be the ordinary
13    spread, do we?
14  A.   No.  I'm not talking about that here.
15  Q.   I understand that.  I just want to make it
16    clear --
17  A.   Okay.
18  Q.   -- that we can't get that number off of
19    Slide 19?
20  A.   Right.
21  Q.   Going on to 19a, you're talking about the
22    Edith trip at 653 cfs?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   That wasn't a flood stage on that segment of
25    the river, was it?
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 1  A.   No, but it was a much less frequent
 2    percentage occurrence than was suggested by saying it's
 3    well below the median.  If that flow is well above the
 4    median, then you're talking about a much less frequent
 5    time.
 6  Q.   It was within the ordinary condition?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   And at least if you use the Edith as a
 9    standard, it was navigable for the Edith?
10  A.   The Edith did not demonstrate navigability of
11    the Salt below Stewart, Segment 5, for a bunch of
12    reasons that I discussed in the --
13  Q.   I'm just talking about the area it traversed.
14  A.   No, I'm talking about all the issues of was
15    it ordinary and natural.  It only went one way, and you
16    can't afford to do that.
17  Q.   I picked a bad term.
18  A.   Okay.
19  Q.   What do you want to use when I don't want to
20    talk about navigability for title purpose, but simply
21    that the Edith navigated, went from a Point A on the
22    Salt River to Point B on the Salt River?
23  A.   And it did do that.
24  Q.   It did do that.
25  A.   Yes.


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1808


 1  Q.   And it did that at that flow?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   And that flow was within the ordinary
 4    condition of the Salt River?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6        Oh, and, by the way, you got it.
 7        Sorry.
 8  Q.   Okay.  Slide 20, tell me what the purpose,
 9    again, of that slide is.
10  A.   Slide 20?
11  Q.   Uh-huh.
12  A.   To summarize the calculations and the various
13    values that were presented.
14  Q.   Can you take Slide 20 and show me the
15    ordinary and natural condition of the river for the
16    time it's representing?
17  A.   No.
18  Q.   Okay.  This is Slide 22, and this was the one
19    that I tried to blow up as far as I could blow it up on
20    my computer, and I could not read the boxes that are at
21    the bottom of that slide.
22  A.   Okay.
23  Q.   So could you tell me what they say?
24  A.   Are you talking about the bottom row?
25  Q.   Well, they're white.  You see 22?  I come
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 1    across, it looks like there's a little white spot
 2    there.  Then I come across to a bigger box and then I
 3    come across to one that's longer, but shorter, and then
 4    I come across to a bigger box again.
 5  A.   May I come look?
 6  Q.   Certainly, or I'll bring it to you.
 7        The white boxes.
 8  A.   Here?
 9  Q.   Yeah, on that slide.
10  A.   Oh, I see.
11        Okay, it's Slide 22.  I was on the wrong
12    slide.
13        Those white boxes were put on the map by
14    Mr. Fuller.  I just used this as a convenient base map
15    and superimposed the red arrow on it.  That's all I
16    did.
17  Q.   Okay.  And can --
18  A.   To show the very generalized direction of
19    underflow.
20  Q.   I still haven't been able to read it,
21    so . . .
22  A.   Oh, I can't either.
23  Q.   So we don't know what those white boxes are
24    down there.  You were just using this map that
25    Mr. Fuller made to show the arrow, the red arrow?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Which, as I understand it, was an arrow that
 3    shows the ancient flow of the river?
 4  A.   Yes, and crudely so.
 5  Q.   On Slide 29 you're talking about European
 6    occupation, and you're talking about the
 7    Spaniards/Mexicans, and you indicate that they have no
 8    evidence that they used boats.
 9        And the thing that I find curious or I don't
10    understand is, when the Spanish were exploring Arizona,
11    they were coming out of Mexico, correct?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Okay.  So they're going north?
14  A.   For part of the time, yes.
15  Q.   And they didn't bring any boats with them
16    when they left Mexico, right?
17  A.   Sometimes.
18  Q.   And if I get what you're saying here, is, for
19    example, when the Spanish got to the Salt River, they
20    didn't know where it was going.  Maybe they talked to
21    some minions that told them, but they did not know, as
22    a matter of fact, where they would end up if they got
23    in a boat and set off down the Salt River; is that
24    fair?
25  A.   Yes.  But I think you're misconstruing what
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 1    I'm trying to say.
 2  Q.   Well, you don't know where I'm going yet, so
 3    be patient.
 4  A.   Okay.  I will.
 5  Q.   So the problem that I'm having is that, in
 6    the exploration phase at least, you're assuming that an
 7    explorer would abandon his horse for a boat when he
 8    didn't know whether that boat would get him back home
 9    or not?
10  A.   No, I am not assuming that.
11  Q.   Okay.
12  A.   What I'm trying to say is the Spaniards who
13    went there did not see the Indians using boats on the
14    Salt and Gila, but they did see them using boats on the
15    Colorado River.  That's the significance of the point.
16  Q.   Okay.  You say, "They did record when they
17    used boats."
18  A.   And I have --
19  Q.   And what that means is the Spaniards didn't
20    record when they used boats; they recorded when Indians
21    used boats?
22  A.   And I should have written it that way.  That
23    is quite right.
24  Q.   I'm easily confused.
25  A.   Well, I have problems with pronouns.  I can
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 1    use it to define different people in the same sentence.
 2  Q.   Have you ever run a log drive on any river?
 3  A.   No, sir.
 4  Q.   You have no experience in that?
 5  A.   No experience and don't want to.
 6  Q.   Slide 45, you indicate that the Thorpe and
 7    Crawford trip fails the Montana test.  And is that
 8    simply because your perception is that in Montana it
 9    says you can't drag a boat?
10  A.   The quote, yes, is at the bottom of the slide
11    that I'm referring to.
12  Q.   Okay.  So this goes back to your if you drag
13    a boat across a sand bar, you've just disqualified the
14    river from being ever navigable?
15  A.   Well, I wouldn't think sand bars, because
16    Utah specifically included sand bars as being okay.
17  Q.   How long did you have to drag it before it
18    disqualifies you?
19  A.   I think you would have to ask the U.S.
20    Supreme Court for more specific directions.
21  Q.   Well, how far did you allow it to be dragged
22    before you disqualified it in your mind?
23  A.   To me, if they're talking about, in these --
24    the news reports are very vague, but when they talk
25    about they drag the boat and they're giving a
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 1    significant frequency or implying it, then I say it
 2    fails the test.
 3        The fact that you hit a sand bar in
 4    particular, got out and pushed, that wouldn't do it.
 5  Q.   So what you're referring to dragging the boat
 6    as disqualifying, it's somebody who maybe drags the
 7    boat 50 percent of the time as he travels down a
 8    stretch of the river?
 9  A.   That would be a good hypothetical.
10  Q.   Okay.  Referring you to 58 and 59, which is
11    the Hamilton, Jordan and Halesworth trip.
12  A.   I'm there.
13  Q.   Yeah, what was the purpose of that trip?
14        Was it to assess whether the river was
15    navigable?
16  A.   I'm trying to remember it.
17        Oh, that one.  Okay.  It wasn't really clear
18    what the purpose was; but given his interview, I think
19    he was trying to determine if you could navigate it or
20    that was a purpose.  He may have been going for other
21    reasons.  We don't know from the article.
22  Q.   Okay.  If the purpose was to assess the
23    navigability of the river --
24  A.   Right.
25  Q.   -- wouldn't that qualify as a commercial
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 1    trip?
 2  A.   If he had then started commercial activities,
 3    I would agree; but he didn't.
 4  Q.   Okay.  So because he did not start up a river
 5    boat company after he got back from the trip, it
 6    disqualifies the trip, even though he assessed it?
 7  A.   Yes, because I guess the phrase is actions
 8    speak louder than words.  He or somebody else.  If
 9    somebody else had followed up, that would be --
10  Q.   You sound like the IRS now.
11  A.   Well, now, you don't have to get downright
12    nasty.
13  Q.   They'd disallow that deduction, wouldn't
14    they?
15        Going to the Wilcox and Andrews trip, 66, I
16    think it is, how far did they travel on the river to
17    get to the Joint Head Dam?
18  A.   I know I computed the distance at one point
19    to Joint Head.
20  Q.   Was it over 10 miles?
21  A.   I don't believe so, but I could be wrong.  As
22    I say, I thought I did compute it.
23  Q.   As you sit here, you don't recall?
24  A.   I can't remember the number, no.
25  Q.   Going on to page 78 or Slide 78, do I
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 1    understand that slide correctly that the orange line
 2    represents the upward end of the ordinary and natural
 3    condition?
 4  A.   As computed by Mr. Fuller, yes.
 5  Q.   But you put it in a different format, but
 6    that's what that orange line represents?
 7  A.   Yeah.  I was just trying to find a fourth
 8    color.
 9  Q.   Okay.  Did Mr. Fuller calculate exact numbers
10    for that orange line, or are those -- is it your
11    interpretation?
12  A.   I took the number that was on his chart and
13    put it in this graph to draw the line.  I think it was
14    2,990-something, I think.
15  Q.   So everything above that is the 10 percent?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   On Slide 82, you give us a maximum cfs of
18    79,806.  I assume that's somewhat in a flood stage?
19  A.   I would think so, yes.
20  Q.   And do you have a date when that occurred?
21  A.   No.  They only published three numbers for
22    each month.  This is a USGS report.  They published the
23    maximum, the mean average, and the minimum.
24  Q.   Once a month?
25  A.   For each month for a couple of years, two,
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 1    three years.
 2  Q.   What I'm confused about, did they publish the
 3    numbers three times a month or give us numbers for
 4    three times in a month?
 5  A.   No, they gave us three numbers for the whole
 6    month, the maximum --
 7  Q.   One time, three numbers?
 8  A.   Yeah, for January you got what the maximum
 9    day in January was, what the average for January was,
10    and what the smallest day in January was.
11  Q.   Do you know the day in January they publish
12    that or the day in February they publish that?
13  A.   No.  It was a compendium in one of the USGS
14    papers.
15  Q.   Okay.  Referring you to Slide 86, are the cf
16    numbers that you set out in that slide all flood
17    numbers?
18  A.   Yes.
19        Let me qualify it.  I don't know for Dome.  I
20    don't remember calculating it, but they sure look like
21    it.
22  Q.   To the best of your knowledge, they are, you
23    would say?
24  A.   Yeah, I would think so.
25  Q.   Going to Slide 90, are those numbers flood
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 1    stage?
 2  A.   On the Verde, I'm not sure if it was, because
 3    I don't remember.  I didn't play in the Verde hearing,
 4    so to speak.  But if you add those two together, which
 5    is the point, you're over the 3,000 cfs in Segment 6.
 6  Q.   And that would then be a flood number?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   So while the Verde number may not be a flood
 9    number, there's no doubt in your mind that the Salt
10    number is?
11  A.   Yeah.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm, we're going
13    to take a break now, so we can build a fire.
14        (A recess was taken from 2:21 p.m. to
15        2:35 p.m.)
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin?
17        THE WITNESS: I'm ready.
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: John, please start.
19        BY MR. HELM: 
20  Q.   Ready to roll.
21        Mr. Gookin, page 107 or plate 107 or
22    Slide 107.  There you're talking about various kinds of
23    canoes and the kind of psi they can withstand, and I
24    take that to mean is that in a direct head-on crash?
25  A.   With fiberglass and aluminum it doesn't
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 1    matter if it's head-on or from the side.  The cedar is
 2    from the side, perpendicular to the grain.
 3  Q.   Would the cedar be higher in a head-on?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   How about -- I notice one thing that was used
 6    a lot around statehood and before, that isn't in there,
 7    is a dugout canoe; basically, a big log with a hole in
 8    it.
 9  A.   Yeah.  Well, I think it was only used twice,
10    Hayden and Pattie.
11  Q.   Well, that's the only accounts we may have.
12    Although, I didn't go looking, so I don't know.  But my
13    point being, you didn't test for a log with a hole in
14    it?
15  A.   No, because that is so different than a
16    regular canoe, I don't think they're even really in the
17    same class.
18  Q.   You do degree that at least to the extent
19    there are two accounts of them, they were used in
20    Arizona pres-statehood?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   Down on Slide 131 and your faulty logic
23    discussion.  And do you have any statistics that would
24    classify how much faster travel by boat would be than
25    travel by horse, wagon, motorized vehicle and train?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Where would I find those?
 3  A.   It was in my report.  It's not really a
 4    statistic, but data, and it was about the Erie Canal.
 5    At least I think I put it in.
 6  Q.   Yeah, I remember you putting something in
 7    about the Erie Canal.  I didn't remember it dealt with
 8    the speed of a motorized vehicle or --
 9  A.   The transit time -- I'm on page 45 of my
10    report.  The transit time to traverse the route of the
11    Erie Canal went from 45 days before the canal was
12    started to 5 days after it was done.
13  Q.   Okay.  And that -- having come from that neck
14    of the woods, and, in fact, I think I have a relative
15    or two who might have participated in its construction,
16    those boats were pulled by horses, weren't they?
17  A.   Horses, mule, oxen, et cetera, yes.
18  Q.   Somebody was towing those boats up that
19    river, weren't they, or that canal?
20  A.   That canal, yes.
21  Q.   So could we use, to measure navigability on
22    the Salt River, a boat being pulled by a horse?
23  A.   I don't know what the law is on that one.
24  Q.   I'm referring you to Slide 162.
25  A.   I'm there.
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 1  Q.   I take it the blue line is the low flow
 2    channel?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   Do you have an estimate for the depth of the
 5    low flow channel on this portion of the Salt?
 6  A.   No idea.
 7  Q.   The same for the lower half of the picture?
 8  A.   Correct.
 9  Q.   Okay.  The braiding that you talk about on
10    those pictures, that's for more than the low flow
11    channel, correct?
12  A.   More than, yeah, the lowest flow channel, I
13    think would be the best way to put it.
14  Q.   However you want to put it.
15  A.   Yeah.
16  Q.   The braiding that you're using in these
17    pictures to illustrate is not just braiding of the
18    lowest flow channel?
19  A.   Correct.
20  Q.   It's braiding that you would have to have
21    more water than is in the lowest flow channel --
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   -- to get those braids to function?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   We probably answered this, but I'm down on
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 1    171 with the Special Master, and he had no information
 2    of any kind available to him on the Salt River; is that
 3    fair?
 4  A.   I have no idea.  I would doubt it, but . . .
 5  Q.   In your review of his record, you didn't see
 6    any?
 7  A.   No.
 8  Q.   Slide 203.  I think you stated this.
 9    Tamarisk is not a native plant to Arizona, right?
10  A.   Correct.
11  Q.   And when was it brought here, to the best of
12    your knowledge?
13  A.   I know the answer to that from very good
14    authority, authorities, and they're all different.
15  Q.   What's your best guess?
16  A.   I think it came in with the Spaniards, who
17    brought it in to plant as shade trees at the missions.
18  Q.   And what would be the --
19  A.   That's one story I've heard.
20  Q.   Sure.  I've heard it too.
21        What other stories have you heard?
22  A.   I've heard it was brought into nurseries on
23    the East Coast.  I know I've heard a couple others, and
24    I finally just kind of let it all go.  I don't know
25    that we'll ever know.
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 1  Q.   At any rate, they're not natural?
 2  A.   They're not natural here, and they're not
 3    nice.
 4  Q.   They use a lot of water, don't they?
 5  A.   Yes, they do.
 6  Q.   And they seem to be able to survive droughts
 7    fairly well?
 8  A.   They'll be here growing in the middle of an
 9    atomic explosion someday.
10  Q.   I think you're right.
11        In any event, they would not have been
12    considered part of the --
13  A.   Natural --
14  Q.   -- ordinary and natural condition of the Salt
15    River as we're told to portray it by Winkleman?
16  A.   Right.  Well, not the natural, certainly, and
17    wouldn't impact the ordinary particularly.
18  Q.   Slide, actually, 211, 212, 213 and 214.  Or
19    skip 211.  12, 13 and 14 you have little insets --
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   -- that you're using to illustrate that while
22    it might look like a single channel, when you've got
23    the big aerial in front of you, when you get down and
24    look at the finer points, you see that it may or may
25    not be single channel?
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 1  A.   Not so much that point, although that's also
 2    true; but my point was, while the two maps on Slide 211
 3    may look very, very similar at a quick glance, when you
 4    blow it up and look more closely, you can see there are
 5    some very significant differences.
 6  Q.   What I want to know is, for example, on 212,
 7    the two blowups you have, how much of the river bottom
 8    do they cover?  Is that 1,000 yards, 2 feet?
 9  A.   I didn't go back to the original maps, so I
10    don't know if they're 7 and a half minute, 15-minute
11    quads.  I just took those, and I was trying to blow up
12    the little segments for comparison.  So I really don't
13    know.
14  Q.   Okay.  Here's where I get to my finale, I
15    think, other than -- and I'm going off on my own frolic
16    and detour and playing hydrologist.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Is that microphone
18    working, Joe?
19        MR. SPARKS: Yeah, I think so.  Sounded
20    pretty scary to me.
21        BY MR. HELM: 
22  Q.   It may get scary.
23        Throughout your report and in your
24    PowerPoint, there's been lots of calculations done with
25    means and medians.  You've done your fair share of
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 1    them, and you've set forth the ones that Mr. Fuller has
 2    done.  So we've all had an opportunity to look at lots
 3    of calculation of means and medians; is that fair?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   Now, the means and medians that you
 6    calculated or that you displayed were means and medians
 7    of the entire river, correct, the entire time frame?
 8  A.   There are so many in there, I can't answer
 9    that.
10  Q.   Okay.  Let me put it a different way.
11        Did you attempt to segregate the flood
12    channel and the drought, channel is the wrong word, but
13    those portions of the ordinary condition and then do a
14    median and means study of just the ordinary and natural
15    channel, the 80 percent?
16  A.   I took one cross section on the Lower Salt
17    River that I thought was fairly representative of that
18    township, and I did compute the 10 percent low, the
19    median and the mean for those channels and compute the
20    depths that would occur.
21  Q.   Okay.  But you didn't do the flood
22    10 percent?
23  A.   No, I didn't.
24  Q.   So even in that calculation, the flood
25    10 percent is included in the averaging that you did?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   In other words, if you're doing the median,
 3    you started counting down from the top?
 4  A.   Right.
 5  Q.   And there is some portion of that count that
 6    had flood in it?
 7  A.   That's correct.
 8  Q.   And while those may have excluded drought, it
 9    still had flood in it.  And in the rest of the
10    calculations that were done, they had both flood and
11    drought in it?
12  A.   In the median I still had drought in it.
13  Q.   Right.  That's what --
14  A.   And flood.
15        And in the average I had both in it.
16  Q.   Okay.  And that was the way for every
17    calculation where mean and median was done?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   So, basically, it's fair to say that we have
20    no calculation from you of what the ordinary and
21    natural median would look like?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   Well, I thought you just told me that your
24    calculations to determine those included the flood
25    portion?
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 1  A.   And the drought portion.  I included all the
 2    data.
 3  Q.   I understand that.
 4        But now I'm just trying to find out how that
 5    applies to the calculations as they apply to the
 6    80 percent.  The 80 percent includes a flood component.
 7  A.   80 percent does not include the flood
 8    component.
 9  Q.   You counted down from one, two, three, four,
10    five, and the first three were flood, weren't they?
11  A.   You said the 80 percent included the flood
12    component.  That's not a true statement.
13        The median includes the flood component.
14    That is a true statement.
15  Q.   Okay.
16  A.   And it includes the drought.
17  Q.   Sure.  And my point being that those are not
18    representative of the 80 percent?
19  A.   Actually, the median would be equally
20    representative of the median of the 80 percent because
21    I've knocked the 10 percent highest flows off that --
22    say I have 1,000 events or days.  I have deleted 100
23    off the top, 100 off the bottom, and gone halfway in
24    between, to do it the way you wanted, and found the
25    50 percent.  That's the same number I would get if I
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 1    did it with all 1,000.
 2  Q.   What happened if there were 15 floods in the
 3    flood portion and only 5 droughts?
 4  A.   That can't happen, because we're talking
 5    about the upper 10 percent, which means if you have
 6    1,000 days, there's 100 that are being excluded as
 7    floods and 100 that are being excluded as drought
 8    because it's 10 percent of the number of days.
 9  Q.   So it doesn't matter whether it's a flood or
10    a drought; it just relates to a percentage figure?
11  A.   The median is a percentage figure, and that's
12    one of the advantages, because a mean has those huge
13    floods, and you use the number, not the number of
14    times, and that distorts the whole thing.
15  Q.   That 10 percent is an arbitrary number,
16    correct?
17  A.   That's one, yes, that came up -- as I say,
18    Mr. Hjalmarson came up with it in the San Pedro, and
19    I've accepted it and adopted it, and Mr. Fuller started
20    using it.  And so maybe we want to change and go to
21    something else, if you want; but that's kind of -- it's
22    grown to have a life of its own.
23  Q.   Okay.  But it's a life that is based on some
24    work that Mr. Hjalmarson did on the San Pedro, correct?
25  A.   He brought up the first con -- he first
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 1    brought up that concept, yes.
 2  Q.   He hasn't been here during the Salt hearings,
 3    has he?
 4  A.   No, but I didn't want to backtrack.  I
 5    thought it was a good solution.
 6  Q.   So what you're telling me is the median of
 7    the 80 percent will be the median of the 100 percent;
 8    they're the same number?
 9  A.   They're definitionally equal.
10  Q.   If you wanted, you could calculate a mean and
11    a median for the 80 percent?
12  A.   You could.
13  Q.   You didn't?
14  A.   I didn't.
15  Q.   I don't have any further --
16  A.   Well, I --
17        MR. HELM: I don't have any further
18    questions.
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I think he meant it.
20        THE WITNESS: No.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you, John.
22        MR. HELM: Thank you.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Is there anyone else
24    who would like to ask Mr. Gookin some questions?
25        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: I will.
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 1        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Let's begin
 2    then.
 3        MR. HELM: You've got to give me a
 4    couple minutes to close this up.
 5        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Sure.
 6        MR. HELM: I don't mind her sitting next
 7    to me, if she wants.  Uh-oh, she's bringing her own
 8    computer.
 9        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: That's okay.  I've
10    got to set up some stuff, too.
11    
12        CROSS-EXAMINATION
13        BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO: 
14  Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. Gookin.
15  A.   Almost.
16  Q.   My name is Joy Herr-Cardillo.
17  A.   Hello.
18  Q.   We've met before.
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   I represent Defenders of Wildlife, Jim
21    Vaaler, Don Steuter and Jerry Van Gasse.
22        I wanted to ask you a couple of questions.  I
23    don't have a whole lot, but I wanted to start and just
24    clarify some of the answers that you gave to John and
25    make sure I understand them.
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 1        So, first of all, with respect to incidents
 2    of people navigating the river, it's -- if I'm
 3    understanding your testimony correctly, it's your
 4    position that if the purpose for the trip was
 5    recreation, that that has absolutely no evidentiary
 6    value in terms of determining navigability?
 7  A.   I believe that's correct.
 8  Q.   Okay.  So even if the river was in virgin
 9    condition, it's in its natural condition, if somebody
10    boated the river, but did it for recreation, that your
11    position is the Commission should not consider that
12    evidence?
13  A.   That's my position.
14  Q.   And what is the legal authority upon which
15    you base that position?
16  A.   When they say highway of commerce.
17  Q.   Is there a particular case that you believe
18    supports that position?
19  A.   I can't point to it, no.  There might be, but
20    I don't know of it.
21  Q.   And just to be clear, your opinion regarding
22    the navigability of the Salt River is based upon that
23    understanding of The Daniel Ball test?
24  A.   Well, my opinion of the navigability is
25    primarily based on the 3 foot requirement from Utah.
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 1  Q.   And your contention is the 3 foot requirement
 2    is found where in the Utah case?
 3  A.   Well, I think it was towards the end.  That
 4    was one of his key findings; that you had to have a
 5    mean annual flow that produced a -- or a 3 foot mean --
 6    let me try that again.
 7        He looked at the gage sites and said that
 8    when the mean flow was 3 feet, mean depth was 3 feet or
 9    greater, it was navigable on those days.
10  Q.   So when you say "he," you're referring to the
11    Special Master in the U.S. v. Utah case?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   So have you actually read the Special
14    Master's report in the Utah case?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   And the Special Master actually considered
17    boating events that were for recreation purposes,
18    correct?
19  A.   I think he put it in the lines of evidence
20    that were presented.  I don't know how much he
21    considered it.
22  Q.   In your PowerPoint presentation, in Slides
23    168 and 169.  Give me a minute to get there.
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   As I thumb through this, sorry, it blurs, and
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 1    it takes a minute to come into focus.
 2        Sorry.  Getting there.  Yea.  Okay.  Here.
 3        You talk about the modern recreational
 4    criteria being based on trying to be thrilling.
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   What is your basis for that statement?
 7  A.   Primarily, listening to Mr. Fuller,
 8    Mr. Dimock.  Oh, well, not those two primarily, but
 9    listening to them, and I can't remember the name of the
10    other two gentlemen who testified; the one who ran a
11    recreation boating company, in particular, who
12    testified in October.  He was talking about how he
13    looked at running a rapid differently than somebody
14    who's trying to move goods, because he was trying to
15    give the customers a thrill.
16  Q.   Right, a whitewater experience --
17  A.   Right.
18  Q.   -- as I recall is how he phrased it.
19  A.   Which is kind of like a roller coaster, to
20    me.
21  Q.   So he was actually targeting months where the
22    flows would be high, correct?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   And yet the modern recreational criteria that
25    have been used in this case have been focused on
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 1    minimal flows necessary, correct?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   Okay.  So how are those minimal flows that
 4    are necessary to boat dependent upon giving a thrilling
 5    ride?
 6  A.   Well, there's a bunch of criteria.  They want
 7    velocity.  They even have -- in at least one of them,
 8    they have one for tranquil boating and one for
 9    recreational boating.
10        The 6 inches, per se, that part of the
11    criteria I believe is to make sure that they don't have
12    to, basically, stop, get out, and so forth.
13        Then they also add maximum criteria and so
14    forth.
15  Q.   Okay.  But there's nothing in the reporting
16    of those criteria where there's any discussion of this
17    goal of making a thrilling ride, correct?
18  A.   I think they do talk about making it a
19    thrilling ride, but that is not the purpose of the
20    6 inches.
21  Q.   And when you say they do talk about it, what
22    source are you referring to, source or sources?
23  A.   I can't remember.  I think it was either
24    Cortell or Hyra, possibly even both mentioned it; but
25    it's just talking about this is what whitewater boating
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 1    is trying to do.
 2  Q.   Is that something that you would be willing
 3    to track down between now and when we come back in
 4    January and be able to point us to that in the
 5    materials?
 6        MR. MURPHY: We've submitted those.
 7        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: Yeah, but I want
 8    him -- do you want him to look for it right now?
 9        MR. MURPHY: It's your time.
10        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: Are you saying
11    he's -- you're not willing to have him, over the break,
12    identify that portion of the report that he's relying
13    on?  Because we'll pull it out.  Do you have that, the
14    Hyra?
15        THE WITNESS: I have it on a bug I could
16    set up and upload it and start looking, or we could go
17    home right now, whichever you prefer.
18        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: Mr. Chairman?
19        THE WITNESS: It's up to Mr. Murphy.
20    He's my counsel.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Is that your final
22    question?
23        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: No, it's not my
24    final question.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let's move on to
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 1    something else.
 2        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: Am I going to get
 3    the information?
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Yes.  We'll have him
 5    send it to you during the break.
 6        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: Okay.
 7        BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO: 
 8  Q.   Is it your position -- I'll let you make your
 9    note.
10        Okay?
11  A.   Got it.
12  Q.   Okay.  Is it your position that recreational
13    use of the river can never be commercial?
14  A.   I heard there are some cases below the
15    Supreme Court level that talked about commercial
16    recreational boating, saying that did qualify; but I
17    haven't seen any evidence of recreational commercial --
18    or commercialized recreational boating from the
19    statehood accounts.  And I believe the modern
20    recreational boating concept is governed by PPL.
21  Q.   The modern recreational boating concept being
22    governed by PPL, can you clarify what you mean by that?
23  A.   The U.S. Supreme Court decision in PPL
24    Montana talked quite a bit about what you had to do to,
25    at a minimum, determine if the commercial boating,


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1836


 1    modern recreational boating, was applicable for
 2    consideration.
 3  Q.   Right, and that was in terms of establishing
 4    an evidentiary foundation for modern boating being
 5    evidence of navigability, correct?
 6  A.   Right.
 7  Q.   But there's nothing in PPL Montana that
 8    discusses whether recreational boating can qualify as a
 9    commercial use of a river, correct?
10  A.   I guess it just addresses all rec -- whether
11    recreational boating can qualify as evidence for
12    navigability, of any kind.
13  Q.   But I think the focus on PPL is that it's
14    modern boating?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Okay.  Do you recall reading in the Special
17    Master's report discussion of recreational boating as
18    being a potential commercial use?
19  A.   I don't remember.  I read it back before the
20    Santa Cruz hearing.
21  Q.   Slide 52 of your PowerPoint.  I should have
22    put these in order, because now I'm having my same out
23    of focus problem.
24        Okay.  You cite to Winkleman in that case, or
25    on that slide, where it says, "[E]vidence of the
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 1    River's condition after obstructions cause a reduction
 2    in its flow is likely of less significance than
 3    evidence of the River in its more natural condition and
 4    may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Do you recognize that?
 7        Now, the context of that statement that the
 8    Court made in that opinion, do you remember the
 9    context?
10  A.   You mean the appeal?
11  Q.   Yes, in the opinion.
12  A.   Yeah.
13  Q.   Yes.
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And what was the context?
16  A.   That the examples and considering the boating
17    that occurred in the unnatural condition did not
18    disprove navigability or prove navigability.  What
19    they're saying here is it really doesn't relate to
20    navigability.
21  Q.   Actually, this paragraph or phrase from the
22    opinion in Winkleman is actually referring to an
23    argument that Defenders made with respect to expert
24    opinion that was based on the river in its actual
25    condition, as opposed to its natural condition.
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 1        And we had argued in the Winkleman case that
 2    it was error for the Commission to consider expert
 3    opinion, and included in that expert opinion was your
 4    opinion, because if you recall, when you opined on the
 5    Salt River the last time around, you did not attempt to
 6    determine what it would be like in its natural
 7    condition.  Do you recall that?
 8  A.   That is correct.
 9  Q.   Okay.  So if you could just maybe find this
10    excerpt from Winkleman.  I might be able to help you
11    here.  It's Paragraph 31.
12  A.   That's right, on page 29.
13  Q.   Paragraph 31.
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And if you would just read the beginning of
16    that paragraph?
17  A.   "Appellants also contend that ANSAC erred in
18    reviewing and considering expert opinions and other
19    evidence that evaluated the River in its depleted
20    condition -- after dams, canals, and other man-made
21    diversions -- rather than when it was free of
22    artificial obstructions.  Although evidence of the
23    River's condition after obstructions caused a reduction
24    in its flow is likely of less significance than
25    evidence of the River in its more natural condition and
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 1    may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"
 2  Q.   And then going on, the next sentence.
 3  A.   "Appellants' contention generally goes more
 4    to the weight to be afforded the evidence than its
 5    admissibility."
 6  Q.   Okay.  So modern evidence or evidence when
 7    the river is not in its ordinary and natural condition,
 8    what the Court was saying there is it may be less
 9    probative, but that goes to weight, not admissibility,
10    correct?
11  A.   I wasn't arguing admissibility.
12  Q.   In your presentation you talk about, I think
13    you referred to it as, the PPL Montana test with
14    respect to dragging boats.
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Do you recall that statement?
17        And, in fact, PPL Montana, the facts of PPL
18    Montana, didn't involve any dragging of boats, correct?
19  A.   I know it involved some trappers, but I don't
20    know if they dragged the boats.  But I think that came
21    from a case that the Supreme Court cited to.
22  Q.   That's exactly right.  That's my point.  It
23    was just citing to an Oregon, U.S. v. Oregon, case and
24    just basically reviewing the law; that this wasn't
25    enough if it's just dragging boats, and citing to the
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 1    U.S. v. Oregon case, correct?
 2  A.   If the U.S. Supreme Court says this is the
 3    law as established -- or this Court set the law and
 4    here it is, I figure it's the law, yeah.
 5  Q.   Right.  But it wasn't a new test, I guess my
 6    point is, is this is not some new ground that PPL
 7    Montana established; this was well-settled law?
 8  A.   That, I wouldn't know, because I mean when
 9    the U.S. Supreme Court says it, it's done.  When the
10    Appellate Courts say it, you attorneys have a lot of
11    fun.  So they really put it into concrete, I feel.
12  Q.   I guess my issue that I'm taking with you is
13    your characterization that this was some sort of test
14    announced by PPL Montana, and what I'm saying is this
15    was really just a recitation of existing law by that
16    Court.
17  A.   If you want to change it to well-established
18    principles, I'm fine with that.
19  Q.   Okay.  See, we lawyers are wordsmiths.  We
20    care a lot about how you phrase it.
21  A.   I totally get that.
22  Q.   Sort of along the same lines, Slide 129 of
23    your presentation.
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   This is where you take what you present as a
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 1    quote from Winkleman, page 30, which I'm not sure what
 2    page 30 you're referencing there.
 3  A.   The copy I have has page numbers on it,
 4    but --
 5  Q.   So that's not the official reporter copy, but
 6    maybe the opinion, loose-leaf opinion?
 7  A.   I think it's the loose-leaf opinion.
 8  Q.   Okay.  At any rate, you state that there's
 9    two steps in demonstrating susceptibility, and you
10    include this quote.  But, in fact, Winkleman, in that
11    opinion, is simply quoting the U.S. v. Utah case,
12    correct?
13  A.   Was that Utah?  Was Murray Hawkins -- well,
14    the footnote that it goes to, 18, refers to a lot of
15    cases.
16  Q.   Actually, if you look at Paragraph 31 of
17    Winkleman --
18  A.   Right.  And the quote --
19  Q.   -- that language you're quoting on your slide
20    is actually in a parenthetical that follows a quote --
21    or a citation to the United States v. Utah.
22  A.   But it also has a Footnote 18 that cites to
23    other cases.
24  Q.   That is correct, but --
25  A.   So it's from a series of cases.
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 1  Q.   -- according to citation --
 2        No.  According to legal citation, the
 3    parenthetical is from the case that it follows.
 4  A.   Okay.
 5        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Could we agree that as
 6    far as the legal issues are concerned that you're
 7    debating with Mr. Gookin, we can determine those upon
 8    reference to our attorney?
 9        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: Right, I realize
10    that; but he is present -- he's including these in his
11    slides, and he's presenting this as language from
12    Winkleman, when, in fact, it's a quote within a quote,
13    and I think that it's important to establish.
14        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I think the Commission
15    can make that decision.
16        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: I'm going to make my
17    record, Mr. Chairman.
18        BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO: 
19  Q.   So this two-step requirement, there's nothing
20    in Winkleman that establishes this two-step
21    requirement.  This is something you've actually added
22    the numbers to that, correct?  The quote itself doesn't
23    break it out as a two-step process?
24  A.   Oh, yes, I added those 1 and 2.  I just broke
25    the clauses apart.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And there is nothing in the holding of
 2    Winkleman that actually addresses and says that in
 3    order to establish navigability under the
 4    susceptibility test, that you have to first establish
 5    some sort of lack of settlement?  That's something that
 6    you have inferred from that opinion, correct?
 7  A.   That's what I -- how I read it, but I'm an
 8    engineer.
 9  Q.   Okay.  And there's nothing in the Arizona
10    statute that defines navigability that conditions the
11    susceptibility of use to the fact that it hasn't been
12    developed or the area hasn't been settled?
13  A.   Not that I'm aware of.
14  Q.   Now, when Mr. Helm was questioning you, he
15    asked you about some of the cases that you had read,
16    and you mentioned that you had read a case out of
17    Oregon involving the Rogue River?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   And is that the Hardy versus State Land Board
20    case?
21  A.   I'm sorry, I don't remember the name.  It
22    just came out very recently.
23  Q.   Okay.  October 2015?
24  A.   Probably.
25        DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Do you want this as
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 1    evidence?
 2        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: Yeah.
 3        MR. SLADE: Mr. Chair, I'm not sure we
 4    usually put cases in evidence, just for Mr. Mehnert's
 5    information, and this is a case.
 6        DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Well, she said she
 7    wanted it as evidence.
 8        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: And we understand that.
 9    Thank you, Mr. Slade.  It's a little loose.
10        BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO: 
11  Q.   Do you recall in this case that the Court
12    addressed this issue of whether there was some
13    precondition to using the susceptibility test?
14  A.   No, I don't.  I focused more on the modern --
15  Q.   Okay.
16  A.   -- portions, the modern recreational
17    portions.  But no.
18  Q.   If you could turn to page 9, on the left-hand
19    column, the bottom paragraph that starts "We also
20    reject"?
21  A.   Okay.
22  Q.   And if you could just read that.
23  A.   "We also reject petitioners' suggestion (at
24    oral argument) that the 'susceptibility of use'
25    standard is applicable only where the area in question
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 1    was essentially uninhabited or only sparsely settled at
 2    the time of statehood.  Although those may have been
 3    the extant circumstances in United States v. Utah, the
 4    Supreme Court did not then, and has not since, held
 5    that the susceptibility-of-use standard is so limited.
 6    Indeed, the Court, in PPL Montana, cited United
 7    States v. Utah for the proposition that a river's
 8    'potential' for commercial use at the time of statehood
 9    is the 'crucial' question."
10  Q.   That's good.  Okay.
11        MR. MURPHY: Is that a question?
12        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: I just wanted to --
13    I'm going to follow up with a question.
14        MR. MURPHY: Okay.
15        BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO: 
16  Q.   So does that change your understanding of
17    whether there has to be some demonstration that an area
18    was sparsely settled before the Commission or a Court
19    considers the susceptibility to navigation?
20  A.   I never thought that sparsely settled was the
21    only way you could demonstrate that the navigation
22    wasn't needed and, therefore, didn't occur.
23        If you can come up with a different way to
24    say this navigation, while it was needed, couldn't have
25    occurred because, fill in the reasons, and it was
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 1    persuasive, then you've met the first part of the test.
 2  Q.   So your contention is that susceptibility of
 3    use is only to be considered if, what?
 4  A.   If you can establish that there was some
 5    reason other than a lack of navigability that caused
 6    the people not to navigate.
 7  Q.   And your legal authority for articulating the
 8    test this way?
 9  A.   That's my reading of Winkleman, right or
10    wrong.
11  Q.   Your reading of Winkleman, which was
12    citing/quoting U.S. v. Utah?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Which U.S. v. Utah was interpreted just
15    recently by this Oregon Appellate Court?
16  A.   But only as far as settlement.  It didn't say
17    for any reason.
18  Q.   Okay.
19  A.   If I might expand, the second part was that
20    Mr. Fuller said the sparse settlement was a reason it
21    didn't occur, and I was explaining why it would have
22    occurred even so.
23  Q.   Just to be clear, what is the authority upon
24    which you base your contention that a trip has to be on
25    a river that is in its virgin condition?
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 1  A.   That would be the -- I think I said nearly
 2    virgin, but that would be the Winkleman case that kept
 3    talking about it has to be in its natural condition.
 4  Q.   So from the fact that the river has to be
 5    evaluated in its natural condition, you've extrapolated
 6    that only navigation that occurs on a river in its
 7    natural condition is evidence of navigability?
 8  A.   I believe that's the case, yes.
 9  Q.   And yet you're aware that Courts have based
10    findings of navigability on navigation of rivers that
11    are not in their ordinary and natural condition?
12  A.   Well, I thought that was normally how it was
13    done until Winkleman.
14  Q.   You also contended in your testimony with
15    Mr. Helm that a boat had to be reasonably either
16    economically disposed of -- can't read my own writing,
17    sorry. -- or the trip has to be a two-way trip?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   What is your legal authority for that
20    contention?
21  A.   In the Defenders case, they said that there
22    can be no legal presumption that it has to be two ways.
23    Now, the fact it's not a legal principle means to me
24    it's a factual principle.  And you're talking about a
25    highway of commerce.  Therefore, you've got to have
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 1    some sort of demonstration that it's, I think,
 2    reasonably practicable.  And that's my interpretation
 3    of what would constitute reasonably practicable.
 4  Q.   Are you aware of any Court case where the
 5    Court has held that a trip that only goes downriver is
 6    not evidence of navigability by virtue of the fact that
 7    it only goes downriver?
 8  A.   Well, the Defenders said that just -- if it
 9    goes -- if it just goes downriver, it didn't say it was
10    wrong.  It said there's no presumption, which to me
11    means legally it hasn't been defined.  So I'm bringing
12    up the factual aspects relating to what's it take to be
13    a highway of commerce.
14  Q.   Other than Defenders, are you aware of any
15    case where a Court has held that travel has to be
16    two-way?
17  A.   Well, I would say Daniel Ball, because it
18    said highway of commerce.  That's what that phrase
19    means to me.
20  Q.   Highway just means two-way traffic?
21  A.   Well, it's got to be -- it's highway of
22    commerce, which means there has to be -- it has to be
23    feasible; and to be feasible, you're either going to
24    have to take the boat both ways or you've got to have
25    something you can tear apart when you get down there,
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 1    otherwise it's just a fictional highway.
 2  Q.   Is it your contention -- you've read a
 3    portion of PPL Montana.  I think it was the first
 4    sentence under Subpart B.  Do you recall reading that,
 5    where the Court held as a matter of law?
 6  A.   Oh, yes.
 7  Q.   Okay.  Do you want to refer back to that?
 8        I thought I had it here.
 9  A.   It should be on page 21, Section B, the first
10    sentence.
11  Q.   I found it.  Yeah, thank you.
12        So if you would reread that sentence, but
13    then continue reading.
14  A.   Okay.
15        "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a
16    matter of law in its reliance upon the evidence of
17    present-day, primarily recreational use of the Madison
18    River.  Error is not inherent in a court's
19    consideration of such evidence, but the evidence must
20    be confined to that which shows the river could sustain
21    the kinds of [commerce,] commercial [commerce,] use
22    that, as a realistic matter, might have occurred at the
23    time of statehood."
24  Q.   Okay.  That's --
25  A.   And, by the way, that "realistic" puts me
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 1    back to the two-way travel.
 2  Q.   Okay.  So the opinion goes on to discuss
 3    under what circumstances the Court can consider modern
 4    use, correct?
 5  A.   That's correct.
 6  Q.   So it's not -- the PPL Montana case did not
 7    say, as a matter of law, that you should not or could
 8    not ever consider modern day use?
 9  A.   I have read that paragraph a dozen times, and
10    when it keeps -- it keeps going and it leads into the
11    other statements that the minimal proof necessary, at a
12    minimum they need to, and meaningfully similar and the
13    rivers have to be similar.
14        And I can't figure out, in the English, if
15    they're saying, okay, you have to do those two tests,
16    and which I considered; and then once you've done that,
17    you may or may not be allowed to use it.
18        On the face of it, I would say, well, it's
19    just wrong as a matter of law, so you can't use it, but
20    you can do these two tests if you're bored.
21  Q.   But, now, going back to the Hardy case, the
22    recent case out of the Oregon Court of Appeals.
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   In fact, in that case the Court did rely upon
25    evidence of modern day use?
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 1  A.   Yes, they did.
 2  Q.   And they addressed the PPL Montana
 3    requirements and said that those requirements had been
 4    met, correct?
 5  A.   Well, they said they had been met.  I would
 6    disagree they addressed the requirements.
 7        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: That's all I have.
 8        THE WITNESS: Also, the factual basis of
 9    that case was different as to what happened at
10    statehood.
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Well, I always love to
12    say this.  Mr. Gookin, there's no question before you.
13        THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
14        There's one question before you.  Can we
15    go?
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Do you think you can
17    get done in four minutes?
18        MR. SLADE: If I ask one question and
19    get the right answer, I could; but it would take a lot.
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We would expect you to
21    have some pretty significant questioning.
22        MR. SLADE: Yes.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: So we'll put it off
24    until the next meeting.  Is that all right?
25        MR. SLADE: That's all right.


SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 Page 1852


 1        MR. SPARKS: Is Joy done?
 2        MS. HERR-CARDILLO: I'm done.
 3        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  We're going to
 4    adjourn for Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year's.
 5        DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Do you want to
 6    announce, Mr. Chairman, where the next meeting is going
 7    to be?
 8        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Yes.
 9        We are going to meet on December 15 to
10    argue the Verde River.  That starts at 9:00 a.m. where,
11    George; here?
12        DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Yes.
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Here in this
14    room, on Tuesday, December 15, we will argue the Verde
15    River case.
16        And then on Tuesday, January 26th, in
17    the tower with the balcony overlooking Central and the
18    stadiums, we will begin again on the Salt River, and,
19    Mr. Gookin, you will be on the stand.  And we hope you
20    enjoy Thanksgiving and Christmas and New Year's.
21        And then is there anyone other than
22    Mr. Slade who intends to examine Mr. Gookin further?
23        (No response.)
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Then following
25    Mr. Gookin, is our next witness going to be
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 1    Dr. Littlefield?
 2        MR. MCGINNIS: Dr. Littlefield after
 3    the --
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Yes.
 5        MR. MCGINNIS: We're still working
 6    through some schedules.  Some other people have people
 7    that aren't available in February that we might slip in
 8    ahead of him, but right now it's Dr. Littlefield.
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.
10        MR. MCGINNIS: And we'll let people know
11    if it's changed.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Then we're in recess.
13        (The hearing adjourned at 3:29 p.m.)
14    
15    
16    
17    
18    
19    
20    
21    
22    
23    
24    
25    
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 1  STATE OF ARIZONA    )
    COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )
 2 
   
 3            BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings
    were taken before me; that the foregoing pages are
 4  a full, true, and accurate record of the proceedings,
    all done to the best of my skill and ability; that
 5  the proceedings were taken down by me in shorthand
    and thereafter reduced to print under my direction.
 6 
              I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to
 7  any of the parties hereto, nor am I in any way
    interested in the outcome hereof.
 8 
              I CERTIFY that I have complied with the
 9  ethical obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3)
    and ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).  Dated at
10  Phoenix, Arizona, this 8th day of December, 2015.
   
11 
   
12 
            _______________________________________
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                       Certified Reporter
14                    Arizona CR No. 50192
   
15 
              I CERTIFY that Coash & Coash, Inc., has
16  complied with the ethical obligations set forth in
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Good morning.  We
  


 2   welcome you to the hearing on the Salt River before the
  


 3   Navigable Stream Adjudication Commission.  We are in
  


 4   our fourth day this week, and we'll begin by having a
  


 5   roll call.
  


 6                  Mr. Mehnert.
  


 7                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen?
  


 8                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
  


 9                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Henness?
  


10                  COMMISSIONER HENNESS:  Present.
  


11                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton?
  


12                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
  


13                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.
  


15                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  We have a quorum, all
  


16   four Commissioners are here.  And our attorney, Fred
  


17   Breedlove, is at the donut table.
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Those of you who may
  


19   not be aware, you're invited to get donuts.  It might
  


20   be a little bit difficult, John, for you to eat the
  


21   donut and ask the questions, but I'm sure you can
  


22   manage.
  


23                  MR. HELM:  I'm just getting coffee to
  


24   stay awake.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We do note that Dunkin
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 1   Donuts, unlike Starbucks, is celebrating Christmas this
  


 2   year, and we do appreciate that.  We have to have a
  


 3   verbal pause here until Mr. Helm gets back and begins
  


 4   his -- I mean begins his questioning.
  


 5                  Could we have your name, the attorney
  


 6   who arrived?
  


 7                  REBECCA HALL:  Rebecca Hall, H-A-L-L.
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rebecca Hall.  Thank
  


 9   you very much.
  


10                  Mr. Gookin, are you ready?
  


11                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, Mr. Helm?
  


13                  MR. HELM:  I'm getting there real quick.
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Whenever you're
  


15   ready, just go ahead and start.
  


16                  MR. HELM:  Very good.  Thank you.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So while Mr. Helm does
  


18   one more thing, if you'll look over near the donut
  


19   table, you'll see an amazing new invention.  Can you
  


20   figure out what it is?
  


21                  It's a self-standing trash bag.
  


22                  MR. SLADE:  Concealing the evidence,
  


23   huh?
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, there's some
  


25   in the room that hope you hurry.
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 1                  MR. HELM:  I'm kind of enjoying the
  


 2   running monologue, personally.  I mean, you know, I'm
  


 3   thinking maybe late-night TV.
  


 4                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Now we'll see how
  


 5   many questions you actually cut out.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  How will you know,
  


 7   George, how will you know?
  


 8                  MR. HELM:  I was going to say, has he
  


 9   been tapping into my computer.
  


10                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And we remind everyone
  


11   again it is our intent today to finish before 4:30 p.m.
  


12   So whatever your transportation plans or get-away plans
  


13   might be or parking lot plans may be, we hope to be out
  


14   of here before 4:30.
  


15                  (A brief recess was taken.)
  


16
  


17               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


18   BY MR. HELM:
  


19       Q.    Okay.  I'm starting on page 12 of your report
  


20   again, okay, where we finished off, but I'm down a
  


21   little.  And I particularly want to talk about your
  


22   ANSAC 2009 citation that's Footnote 2.
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    That's a citation to the Commission's report
  


25   that was the subject of the Winkleman appeal, correct?
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 1       A.    Correct.
  


 2       Q.    Do you understand the impact of the Court's
  


 3   reversal in Winkleman on that report?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    Tell me what you think it is.
  


 6       A.    I think the Court directed the Commission to
  


 7   consider the question of navigability with the river
  


 8   system in its near-virgin condition with ordinary
  


 9   flows.  But, to me, that doesn't say you have to ignore
  


10   the facts that were in the decision.
  


11       Q.    Okay.  Well, do you know how lower court
  


12   opinions, for example, are treated when they are
  


13   reversed by a higher court, in terms of the findings of
  


14   fact that are made in the lower court opinion?
  


15       A.    It is my understanding, right or wrong, that
  


16   the findings of fact remain.  They may no longer be
  


17   relevant, because of the change of law; but the
  


18   statements of fact are still valid.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  And so that's how you treated the
  


20   Commission's report; that it's still a valid report
  


21   with respect to every fact that it found in its report?
  


22       A.    Correct.
  


23       Q.    And so when you talk about a citation to the
  


24   Commission's report, you believe that to be a citation
  


25   to a valid finding of fact that it's appropriate for


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 1694


  


 1   you to make?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    And do you make this conclusion based on any
  


 4   other legal advice, or this is just your own idea?
  


 5       A.    This was my own idea.
  


 6       Q.    Okay, going on to page 14, basically, we have
  


 7   one paragraph on that page.  And my question to you, is
  


 8   your citation to footnote 6 the only authority you have
  


 9   for the statements that are made in that paragraph?
  


10       A.    Well, actually, that citation is just for the
  


11   sentence "...that by 1699 the Pimas were established in
  


12   the region."  The rest of it is from me.
  


13       Q.    That's Gookin on Pimas?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    Page 16, above the European Occupancy, you
  


16   talk about the Spaniards and things.  Is this also just
  


17   Gookin on the Spaniards, or do you have some authority
  


18   for your statements in that paragraph?
  


19       A.    The footnote is to Stantech 1998, which would
  


20   be Mr. Fuller's report of 1998.
  


21       Q.    So you're relying on Mr. Fuller's report for
  


22   the statements in that paragraph?
  


23       A.    That are footnoted, yes.
  


24       Q.    If they're not footnoted -- my problem is, if
  


25   you look at the paragraph immediately above the bolded
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 1   European Occupancy, I don't see any footnotes.
  


 2       A.    Oh, you're talking about that paragraph.
  


 3             That's Gookin on Gookin or on Pima or
  


 4   whoever.
  


 5       Q.    The Spaniards?
  


 6       A.    I mean I've read all the accounts, so . . .
  


 7       Q.    When you say you've read all the accounts,
  


 8   you mean accounts of what?
  


 9       A.    Of the Spaniards visiting the Pimas.
  


10       Q.    Okay, so --
  


11                  MR. SPARKS:  Pardon me, Counsel, but can
  


12   you get the mike a little closer to you?
  


13                  MR. HELM:  If I get it any closer, Joe,
  


14   I'll be eating it.
  


15                  MR. SPARKS:  Okay.  Well, go ahead and
  


16   eat that then.
  


17                  MR. HELM:  Sorry, ain't gonna happen.
  


18                  MR. SPARKS:  Might as well.
  


19   BY MR. HELM:
  


20       Q.    With respect to the accounts, can you
  


21   identify them for me?
  


22       A.    Oh, I've read the Kino accounts.  There were
  


23   several Jesuits.  I've read Carl Hayden's summary of
  


24   those accounts.  I've read Ezell.  I've read Russell.
  


25   I've read -- I don't know how many things I've read
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 1   about when the Spaniards visited the Pimas, that
  


 2   portion of their trips.
  


 3       Q.    Okay.  So your knowledge on the Spaniards is
  


 4   limited to accounts of their visit to the Pimas?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    And how long did the visit last?
  


 7       A.    Oh, it was usually a week or two, I would
  


 8   say, a moderate.  I mean they did stay over a little,
  


 9   but it wasn't permanent.
  


10       Q.    And do you know how many times they visited
  


11   them?
  


12       A.    I think about half dozen, but I can't list
  


13   them.
  


14       Q.    Okay.  Now going on to page 18, again, just
  


15   above your Number 1 bolded statement, you state, "I
  


16   believe that for a trip to be considered proof of
  


17   navigability, it must meet additional standards
  


18   established by the Courts."
  


19             Do you see that?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    Would you tell me what additional standards
  


22   you're referring to?
  


23       A.    Well, as I indicated, I made a list of
  


24   criteria that I believed applied, and we've gotten as
  


25   far as Number 1 and --
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 1       Q.    And diverged?
  


 2       A.    And diverged, yes.
  


 3       Q.    So this would be a good time to get them all
  


 4   in one place.
  


 5       A.    We can try.
  


 6       Q.    I'll try and keep my mouth shut until you
  


 7   tell me you're through the list, okay?
  


 8       A.    I'm dying to see this.
  


 9       Q.    So am I, but we've got to try it.
  


10       A.    Okay.
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That lasted all of
  


12   three seconds.
  


13                  MR. HELM:  He hasn't read anything from
  


14   the list yet.
  


15                  THE WITNESS:  First, I thought that the
  


16   trip must not involve portages or portages, as you
  


17   pronounce it.  Second, the trip must not involve
  


18   pushing, hauling or dragging the boat.  Third, I
  


19   thought the navigable reach must not be so brief as to
  


20   be -- as to not be a commercial reality.  Can't -- it
  


21   has to -- I forget the exact phrase, but it can't be
  


22   real short.  Four, I thought the trip had to be on the
  


23   river and not the canals, and by that I mean it's okay
  


24   if it was on both.  The river portion counts, but the
  


25   canal portions don't.
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 1                  Fifth, I thought that the evidence of
  


 2   the trip should be when the river was in its
  


 3   substantively undisturbed condition, near virgin.
  


 4   Sixth, I thought the account should be plausible.
  


 5   Seventh, I thought the boat either has to be a boat
  


 6   that could be economically disposed of or the trip
  


 7   needs to be a two-way trip.
  


 8                  I'm just waiting for you to catch up on
  


 9   writing.
  


10   BY MR. HELM:
  


11       Q.    I appreciate it.
  


12       A.    Eighth, the trip must not be a ferry.
  


13       Q.    And by that you mean ferry boat?
  


14       A.    A ferry boat that just goes across the river.
  


15             Ninth, the trip must not be during flood
  


16   conditions.  And on that, I know drought conditions
  


17   also applies, but I never got to that point, so I left
  


18   it off.  Tenth, it must have happened.  It can't just
  


19   be an announcement I'm going to go out tomorrow.  And
  


20   eleventh, I believe that all goods and/or passengers
  


21   should arrive safely.
  


22             And that's it.
  


23       Q.    I only broke my rule twice.
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We didn't count those.
  


25   Those were minor.
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 1   BY MR. HELM:
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  I think we've talked about portages.
  


 3   Would you agree?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    And I think we've established that the
  


 6   pushing and hauling parameter basically meant you can't
  


 7   get out of the boat to move it?
  


 8       A.    Correct.
  


 9       Q.    And I think you've established that the reach
  


10   had to be 10 miles?
  


11       A.    Approximately, yeah.  That was my --
  


12       Q.    Give or take?
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    9 to 11, somewhere in that ballpark?
  


15       A.    Or more, I mean.
  


16       Q.    Could be longer?
  


17       A.    It could be longer, yes.
  


18       Q.    That would be the minimum.
  


19             And on that question, do you have any
  


20   authority for the 10 mile or its equivalent, that you
  


21   know of?
  


22       A.    In the Montana case they talk about the
  


23   19-mile stretch, but I didn't think that it came out
  


24   and fully said that's their criteria; but it did
  


25   influence my thinking.  But then I wanted to err on the
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 1   side of caution, and that's why I ended up about half
  


 2   of it.
  


 3       Q.    So the 10 standard is Gookin on distance?
  


 4       A.    Yeah.
  


 5       Q.    I'm a little confused by your one that
  


 6   required the river to be virgin or near virgin.
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    Can you explain that a little more to me?  In
  


 9   other words, any trip would not qualify as a trip that
  


10   you could use to determine navigability unless the
  


11   river was in a virgin state?
  


12       A.    Or near virgin.
  


13       Q.    Okay.  I mean what's near virgin?
  


14       A.    Well, the Winkleman court talked about using
  


15   the 1800, 1860, 1830 period, acknowledging that humans
  


16   had been there, but they had left, and they thought it
  


17   had gotten back to near virgin conditions.
  


18             So with that intent, I thought the evidence
  


19   should relate to before the evidence at -- or it should
  


20   be before the development by the Euro-Americans.
  


21       Q.    And you would agree that the river or the
  


22   Salt River, as we're talking about in this case, was
  


23   substantially changed by the date of statehood?
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    So all of the trips that were before -- or at
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 1   least that you found that were before statehood, but
  


 2   after 1860 or thereabouts, would not qualify because
  


 3   the river was getting less and less virgin?
  


 4       A.    Yes, and as to exactly whether it was 1860, I
  


 5   think it had to be 1867, '8, '9, '70.  I'm --
  


 6       Q.    I won't argue with you on that --
  


 7       A.    Right in that area.
  


 8       Q.    -- on that time frame.
  


 9             I'm just saying that from whenever that was
  


10   to the date of statehood, every trip that was down
  


11   there, made by anybody, you have ruled out as evidence
  


12   of navigability --
  


13       A.    I don't think it --
  


14       Q.    -- because it wasn't a virgin river?
  


15       A.    It wasn't in the natural condition, yes.
  


16       Q.    And the next item I believe was account
  


17   plausible?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    Tell me what that means.  I mean, to me,
  


20   plausibility is what I call a weasel word.
  


21       A.    Thank you.
  


22       Q.    It's in the eyes of the beholder.
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    And is that what that means?
  


25       A.    That's basically what it does mean.  When I
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 1   read the article, the facts should be consistent
  


 2   internally.  For example, one of the accounts they
  


 3   talked about the river was going 15 miles per hour or
  


 4   22 feet a second.  And yet the flow on the date they
  


 5   say the trip occurred was the 9th and the flow was
  


 6   2,000 cfs, which is about 3 feet per second.
  


 7             And that makes me question the validity of
  


 8   the report.  And my guess would be that the 9th is an
  


 9   incorrect statement and, therefore, it was a big flood.
  


10   In other words, you have to try to look at these things
  


11   to get as good a picture as you can.
  


12       Q.    So if I understand what you're saying, is
  


13   that you looked at a claimed trip and tried to make it
  


14   work one way or another, if you could; i.e., they've
  


15   said it's an fcs [sic] that is too big for that date,
  


16   so it must have occurred on another date in a flood
  


17   condition, or, conversely, they've got the cfs wrong
  


18   and the right date, that kind of analysis?
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    And did you have any facts that you were
  


21   relying on when you, for example, concluded that the
  


22   cfs is wrong for that date and so, therefore, it must
  


23   have been a flood, and the closest flood was, and pick
  


24   a date?
  


25       A.    Yes, and I would -- when I put that in my
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 1   report, I footnoted there were reports that had flow
  


 2   numbers from the USGS for a scattering of dates.  In
  


 3   other words, they would gage it for a couple years and
  


 4   then they would stop, and then they would gage here for
  


 5   a couple years.  And I tried to use those flow data as
  


 6   I could find them.
  


 7       Q.    You couldn't always find them, is what you're
  


 8   saying --
  


 9       A.    Sometimes there was nothing.
  


10       Q.    -- because they didn't have --
  


11             You have this get rid of the boat or bring it
  


12   back upstream.
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    And when you say bring it back upstream, I
  


15   assume that you're requiring that it be rode upstream
  


16   or motorized and driven upstream or what have you?
  


17       A.    Yes, because from all I've read of other
  


18   navigability that was one way, that's how it was done.
  


19   It never became an issue because nobody ever tried.
  


20       Q.    Okay.  But for a long time you've told us, I
  


21   think, that there was a wagon road or some kind of road
  


22   that approximated the Salt River as it came north?
  


23       A.    That is true.
  


24       Q.    Okay.  If I could put my canoe on a wagon,
  


25   would that count?
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 1       A.    Yes, but then you need to factor the cost of
  


 2   the wagon trip.  And it kind of becomes silly, because
  


 3   it would be cheaper to take the wagon down with the
  


 4   goods, and then you could take goods back rather than
  


 5   the canoe.
  


 6       Q.    What if I wanted a nice smooth river ride,
  


 7   you know, to make my passengers happy?
  


 8       A.    If that happened, that would be probably
  


 9   okay.
  


10       Q.    We don't know, do we, one way or another?
  


11       A.    Well, it never came up in any of the reports.
  


12       Q.    You say the trip couldn't be a ferry, and I
  


13   don't mean the wing kind.
  


14             Does that mean that you did not use the
  


15   information that was available about ferries for any
  


16   purpose?
  


17       A.    That's correct.  And when I say "ferries," I
  


18   made a mistake.  You said a ferry boat.  I would count
  


19   a ferry boat.  One of them they tried to float a ferry
  


20   boat down.  It had originally been a ferry and then
  


21   they used it for transport down the river.  To me,
  


22   that's no longer a ferry, even though it was originally
  


23   a ferry boat.  I'm talking about crossing the rivers
  


24   perpendicular.
  


25       Q.    Sure, I got that.
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 1       A.    Roughly perpendicular.
  


 2       Q.    I'm not even asking you about the one that
  


 3   broke loose and how far did it go.
  


 4       A.    Right.
  


 5       Q.    Because that would be evidence that a boat
  


 6   could go downriver.
  


 7       A.    Yeah.
  


 8       Q.    Alls I want to know is, in terms of -- I take
  


 9   it that would have qualified for a determination on it
  


10   wasn't a ferry any longer; it was a boat going
  


11   downriver?
  


12       A.    With regard to that one aspect, yes.  The
  


13   fact there was no crew, no goods, it was too short
  


14   would probably knock it out.
  


15       Q.    With respect to the ferries, though, you did
  


16   not use any of the information that they made available
  


17   by their existence in determining whether the river was
  


18   navigable?
  


19       A.    That's correct.
  


20       Q.    For example, those ferries, at least in the
  


21   area where they were used, established some kind of
  


22   depth for the river, right?
  


23       A.    But we have no idea at what flow.  If we did
  


24   know the flow and the ferry was operating that day,
  


25   then you could have gotten a depth; but I did not go to
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 1   that level of research.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  That information in terms of flows was
  


 3   available, wasn't it, at least for certain periods of
  


 4   time when ferries were active?
  


 5       A.    I think so, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Just when you're talking about flood
  


 7   conditions and that being one of your criteria, are you
  


 8   referring to the 10 percent?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    So you didn't count anything above the
  


11   10 percent?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    Is the all goods must arrive an absolute?
  


14   For example, if I was canoeing down the river and
  


15   forgot to put my stove in the boat and I stayed
  


16   overnight on the shore, would that qualify or
  


17   disqualify my trip?
  


18       A.    That might -- well, probably if you -- if the
  


19   leaving the stove was just because you were --
  


20       Q.    Senility.
  


21       A.    -- yeah, you were still asleep, that probably
  


22   would not disqualify the trip.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  So there is some level of not
  


24   everything arrives just in the normal course of
  


25   human --
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 1       A.    Events.
  


 2       Q.    -- events, and you would not use those kind
  


 3   of, oh, geez, I lost a box over the side or something
  


 4   like that to disqualify navigation?
  


 5       A.    Right.  I'm talking about when the boat
  


 6   flipped and they lost their gear and so forth.
  


 7       Q.    I take it that if a boat flipped, if a canoe
  


 8   turned over, that would disqualify that trip?
  


 9       A.    I think it does.
  


10       Q.    I'm moving on to page 19 now.
  


11       A.    Okay.
  


12       Q.    And right above the bolded Burch citation --
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    -- you end with the word "normal."  That's a
  


15   scary word to me.
  


16       A.    It means the 80 percent range.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  So when you use "normal" in your
  


18   report, you're referring to what would be the ordinary
  


19   condition of the river as you see it?
  


20       A.    Right, and in particular, I have been using
  


21   the 80 percent range.
  


22       Q.    Referring you to page 26, there you talk
  


23   about the short trip with the grain?
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    And, first of all, I assume that that boat
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 1   wasn't abandoned at that dock where they dumped the
  


 2   grain.  Did you assume that?
  


 3       A.    I didn't worry about that, because it was so
  


 4   short I figured they could push it upstream.
  


 5       Q.    They took it home with them afterwards, so
  


 6   the up and back component would have been --
  


 7       A.    Well, I don't know they took it back, because
  


 8   it didn't say.  It's just --
  


 9       Q.    But you assume they did?
  


10       A.    I didn't worry about it.
  


11       Q.    Okay.  If 2 to 3.5 miles, depending on how
  


12   you measure it, I believe you've testified that's the
  


13   distance that they traveled --
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    -- qualifies as a sufficient distance to
  


16   determine an area of the river to be navigable, would
  


17   this trip then demonstrate that portion of the river
  


18   was navigable?
  


19       A.    We would still have a question as to what
  


20   were the flows, was it in the 80 percent range; and we
  


21   just don't know from the account.
  


22       Q.    If it turns out that it was, it would
  


23   qualify?
  


24       A.    I think so.
  


25       Q.    Going on to page 27 and another mystery word,
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 1   "swollen."  What do you mean when you say the river is
  


 2   swollen?
  


 3       A.    Actually, I was quoting to Mr. Littlefield's
  


 4   report, which he found an article that said the river
  


 5   was swollen.  The way I interpret it was that it was in
  


 6   flood stage of some sort.
  


 7       Q.    So it would have been in the upper
  


 8   10 percent?
  


 9       A.    That would be my guess, yes.  It's not
  


10   certain, but that would be a probability.
  


11       Q.    If it wasn't in flood stage, would this trip
  


12   be a valid trip?
  


13       A.    No, because it had no goods and it didn't
  


14   convey any person and it was a solo kind of a
  


15   half-recreational, half-experimental trip.
  


16       Q.    Referring you now to page 29 and the famous
  


17   Yuma or Bust trip.
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    And if I understand what you're saying there,
  


20   is that they were pushing the boat; and my recollection
  


21   of where they were seen pushing the boat, they were on
  


22   the Gila River.  Is that your understanding?
  


23       A.    No, my recollection is it was on the Salt.
  


24       Q.    Okay.  So if it was on the Gila, you wouldn't
  


25   hold this against them in terms of navigating the Salt?
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 1       A.    No.
  


 2       Q.    That's, no, you wouldn't hold it against
  


 3   them?
  


 4       A.    I wouldn't hold the pushing against them for
  


 5   the Salt.
  


 6       Q.    Page 31.
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    It carries over from page 30.  You're talking
  


 9   about three choices that people had at the end of that
  


10   page and the start of the next page?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    And you say Choice 3 seems to have been the
  


13   favorite?
  


14       A.    That was my impression from the articles as a
  


15   whole.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  You don't have any specific statements
  


17   that you can point us to where people of the time said
  


18   we used the canals all the time or something like that?
  


19       A.    No, but there was the one statement on, I
  


20   think, the Burch trip that they went down the Tempe
  


21   Canal, although a different report said they went to
  


22   the Joint Head and went down the Swilling Ditch or one
  


23   of the ditches that fed out of Joint Head and so forth.
  


24       Q.    Moving on to page 32, do you know if the
  


25   beaver that you talk about in this portion of your
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 1   report were bank-dwelling or river-dwelling,
  


 2   river-dwelling being beaver that lived in dams?
  


 3       A.    In this section I was just comparing the
  


 4   impact of a brush dam, which I said was similar to a
  


 5   beaver dam, on whether or not a boat from that era had
  


 6   to portage.  I didn't specify a beaver dam.  They
  


 7   didn't talk about a beaver dam.
  


 8       Q.    Page 33, you used the terminology "in excess
  


 9   of normal flow."  I take it, based on what you've said
  


10   here earlier today, that would mean a flood flow, when
  


11   you use that kind of terminology?
  


12       A.    Yes, the upper 10 percent.
  


13       Q.    On page 34 you're talking about the Day trip,
  


14   I believe?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    And you said they had a large quantity of
  


17   beaver and otter in a small boat?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    How big was the boat?  Do you know?
  


20       A.    Small.
  


21       Q.    You don't know how big?
  


22       A.    All it said was small.
  


23       Q.    Sufficiently big enough to carry a large load
  


24   of beaver and otter?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Plus whatever supplies they ended up carrying
  


 2   when they arrived in Yuma?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    Do you have any reason to believe that they
  


 5   did not carry the kinds of supplies that a normal
  


 6   couple of trappers setting out to go trapping and
  


 7   ultimately end up somewhere to sell their hides would
  


 8   have carried?
  


 9       A.    I thought they probably did carry the typical
  


10   supplies.
  


11       Q.    Do you have any estimate about how long of a
  


12   canoe one would have to use to carry the typical
  


13   supplies, assuming it was a successful economic trip in
  


14   terms of beaver and otter, carry whatever that amount
  


15   of beaver and otter would have been and get to Yuma?
  


16       A.    No.  And I don't think it was a canoe,
  


17   because they said boat, and technically a canoe is a
  


18   boat, but people usually distinguish.  So we don't
  


19   know.
  


20       Q.    You don't know whether they had some kind of
  


21   flat-bottom boat that would have been sufficient to, at
  


22   least in their view, navigate the Verde, the Salt and
  


23   the Gila or it was a canoe sufficient to do that?
  


24       A.    It could have been either.  Well, and as I
  


25   indicate, they may have navigated canals.
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 1       Q.    Well, there aren't a lot of canals on -- when
  


 2   you take a look at that trip at its total, that would
  


 3   keep motivating them down the river the way they wanted
  


 4   to go, are there?
  


 5       A.    Well, there aren't many on the Verde.  There
  


 6   are on the Salt, Lower Salt.  And there aren't many on
  


 7   the Lower Gila.
  


 8       Q.    So they spent, under any set of
  


 9   circumstances, a large amount of time going on the
  


10   Verde River, the Salt River, and the Gila River?
  


11       A.    I would agree for the Verde and the Gila.  I
  


12   don't know, particularly on the last trip, that they
  


13   would have gone down the Salt River, because the river
  


14   was pretty well dried up.
  


15       Q.    So how do you think they got their boat from
  


16   the confluence with the Verde to the confluence with
  


17   the Gila without using the Salt River?  You think they
  


18   put it on my hypothetical wagon?
  


19       A.    That is a possibility, but I would think,
  


20   based on the condition of the river, I would think they
  


21   had -- and the dams there, I think they would have
  


22   taken off at the Arizona Dam and floated down the
  


23   Arizona Canal until they found a farmer with a wagon or
  


24   something and then carted it away until they got back
  


25   to the river.
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 1       Q.    When you say "got back to the river," got
  


 2   back to the Salt River?
  


 3       A.    It depends on where they decided to reenter.
  


 4   I would have thought they'd probably reenter after the
  


 5   confluence with the Gila, because that's where you
  


 6   would find more water.
  


 7       Q.    Do you have any evidence of any kind that
  


 8   supports your hypothetical methodology that they
  


 9   adopted to avoid the Salt River?
  


10       A.    The only evidence I have are the flows and
  


11   the diversion capacities of the dams and the amount of
  


12   water that would probably be diverted, as estimated by
  


13   the USGS.
  


14       Q.    Assuming that they did do it the five times
  


15   that they said they did it --
  


16       A.    Yeah, I'm only talking about the last trip
  


17   right here.
  


18       Q.    So if it's truthful that they did it five
  


19   times, you would give them at least four of those as
  


20   having used the Salt River?
  


21       A.    I'd give three of them that they probably
  


22   did, because the Salt River was flowing so very high
  


23   and was clearly in -- above 90 percent -- or above
  


24   10 percent stage.  And the one other time, I have no
  


25   clue when they did it.
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 1       Q.    Can you trap for beaver in a flood?
  


 2       A.    I would think so, depending on how scary it
  


 3   was to get near the river.
  


 4       Q.    When you have a bank-dwelling beaver, for
  


 5   example, do they build their home on the distant
  


 6   extremes of the floodplain, or do they build it at
  


 7   where they think there's going to be that mythical
  


 8   3 foot of water?
  


 9       A.    Excluding mythical, the 3 feet.
  


10       Q.    So you wouldn't find very many beaver if you
  


11   were trapping beaver out on the extreme edges of the
  


12   floodplain?
  


13       A.    They may have washed down; but more what I
  


14   was thinking, they may have -- the trappers could have
  


15   set a trap around where the lodge or the dam or the
  


16   whatever it was, the flood hit, they walked away and
  


17   waited and came back and found there was a beaver
  


18   there.
  


19       Q.    On that same page, you concluded that at some
  


20   point, that the Days dragged and waded the river?
  


21       A.    Yes, that's what we were discussing.
  


22       Q.    Do you have any evidence that they dragged or
  


23   waded the river specifically, that you can refer me to?
  


24       A.    It would be the hydrologic information I've
  


25   discussed.
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 1       Q.    That you just discussed, right?
  


 2             On the next page, at the very top you're
  


 3   talking about the maximum flow is 800 and 500 cfs is
  


 4   the minimum.  Do you see those?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    Do you think the 500 cfs would have been
  


 7   enough of a flow for the Days to have floated their
  


 8   boat?
  


 9       A.    I don't think -- you mean if there were no
  


10   diversions?
  


11       Q.    Sure.
  


12       A.    I have no clue.
  


13       Q.    You don't know how much cfs it takes in a
  


14   channel to float a flat-bottom boat?
  


15       A.    Oh, I see where you're going.  I was thinking
  


16   if you're look -- sorry.  I thought you were asking
  


17   about specific research to it.
  


18             I think the 3 foot is the requirement, and I
  


19   don't think 500 cfs would give you 3 feet through the
  


20   reach.
  


21       Q.    How wide would the channel have to be to get
  


22   3 feet of depth if you had 500 cfs flowing down the
  


23   channel?
  


24       A.    Somewhere between 1 inch and really, really
  


25   wide.  You'd have to know the velocity to come up with
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 1   an answer.  I don't think it was 1 inch, but --
  


 2       Q.    I don't think it would be either.
  


 3             Pick a reasonable velocity that would not be
  


 4   in a flood range.
  


 5       A.    Okay.  I would probably guess about 1 and a
  


 6   half feet per second.
  


 7             I'm calling up my calculator.
  


 8       Q.    I have no problem.
  


 9       A.    111 feet, assuming 1.5 foot velocity and a
  


10   mean depth of 3 feet.
  


11       Q.    So I take it you don't think there were any
  


12   channels of those dimensions in the lower part of the
  


13   Salt when the Days passed through?
  


14       A.    I don't think there was 500 cfs in the Lower
  


15   Salt when the Days passed through on the last trip.  I
  


16   think there was a lot more than that on the previous
  


17   three, if they occurred those years.
  


18       Q.    How much do you think was there when the Days
  


19   passed through the last time?
  


20       A.    Probably on the order of a hundred or so, but
  


21   that's a wild guess.  I just don't know.
  


22       Q.    You didn't do anything to check it out?
  


23       A.    No.
  


24       Q.    Did you do anything to check out -- strike
  


25   that.
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 1             You talk about the Days getting to the
  


 2   Arizona Dam and the Arizona Canal on that page?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    And you tell me that it's flowing at
  


 5   1,000 cfs?
  


 6       A.    I don't see 1,000 cfs on that page.  Page 36?
  


 7       Q.    I'm on a different page.
  


 8       A.    Oh, that may be the problem.
  


 9       Q.    Let me check.
  


10             Page 35.
  


11       A.    The 1,000 cfs is what the Arizona Canal could
  


12   divert.
  


13       Q.    Okay.  Did you check what they were drawing
  


14   at the time that the Days passed through?
  


15       A.    They would have been drawing all that they
  


16   could, and I went through the explanation of how a
  


17   diversion dam works.  You build the structure across,
  


18   and it pushes all the water up to the canal's capacity
  


19   into the canal.  2 miles later, if the Arizona Dam
  


20   people wanted to return some of it, or the Arizona
  


21   Canal people, they could have.  They had a return flow
  


22   place located, or they could have kept it going.
  


23       Q.    And so if I understand what you're saying to
  


24   me, is that all year long or at least all during the
  


25   time frame that the Day brothers were passing down the
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 1   Salt, the Arizona Canal was taking its full allotment
  


 2   of 1,000 cfs and running it through that canal and
  


 3   either putting it back 2 miles down or just using it
  


 4   up?
  


 5       A.    Or dumping it out at the far end.
  


 6             Now, one thing, when you say their allotment,
  


 7   the Kent decree had a very surprising paragraph to me
  


 8   that said the Kibbey decree was never enforced.  So I
  


 9   would think the Arizona Dam would have been taking all
  


10   it could whenever it could, and I said that's at least
  


11   1,000.  I know it increased over time, but I don't know
  


12   what it was in that year.
  


13       Q.    Did you check what the flows were when the
  


14   Day brothers passed through for the time frame of their
  


15   last trip?
  


16       A.    On --
  


17       Q.    At the Arizona Canal or thereabouts.
  


18       A.    Yes, and I presented a slide on that in my
  


19   PowerPoint, Slide No. 77.  All I had in the way of data
  


20   was the maximum, the mean and the minimum for each
  


21   month, and I presented those data.
  


22       Q.    And what was it?
  


23             I don't have Slide 77 with me.  I'm trying to
  


24   avoid going down a whole bunch of pages.
  


25       A.    Oh.  Well, the mean flow was --
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 1   unfortunately, it's a graph, so I have to kind of
  


 2   reconstruct. -- about 1,200.  The mean was about 1,200
  


 3   in September.  October was down to about 9.  November
  


 4   was about 9.  December was about 12.  January was about
  


 5   12.
  


 6       Q.    So, in essence, from that, do we conclude
  


 7   that when we got to the Arizona Canal, that canal
  


 8   operation dried up the river?
  


 9       A.    I would think on many of the days it would
  


10   have dried it up.  There probably were some days
  


11   where -- well, I don't know for a fact how much bigger
  


12   than 1,000 cfs it was at that time.  I know that the
  


13   rights that were later decreed would exceed the 1,200
  


14   as of that priority date, but that assumes the Kent
  


15   decree got everything right, so I don't know that for a
  


16   fact.
  


17             I think the Arizona Dam probably dried it up.
  


18   If it didn't, very little went over; and what went over
  


19   got snatched up by the next canal downstream.
  


20       Q.    You may have said this.  Do you know when the
  


21   Arizona Canal went into operation?
  


22       A.    1885.
  


23
  


24             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
  


25                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  I have a question
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 1   about that.
  


 2                  You look at the picture on Plate 67.
  


 3   Apparently that was taken from below the dam,
  


 4   downriver?
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  The top picture is.
  


 6                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  The bottom one, the
  


 7   bottom.
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  Oh, the bottom picture is
  


 9   the gate into the Arizona Canal.  They could shut it
  


10   off if they wanted to, say during a dry-up.
  


11                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But there's water
  


12   in the channel right below the dam.  I'm assuming that
  


13   we're downstream from the dam when we're looking at
  


14   this.
  


15                  THE WITNESS:  The description in the
  


16   USGS document that had the picture was that was the
  


17   gate that would release water into the canal, and I'm
  


18   not sure if that's from --
  


19                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Upstream.
  


20                  THE WITNESS:  -- upstream or downstream.
  


21                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  If you look at the
  


22   upper picture, the river is flowing.  Is that above or
  


23   below the dam?
  


24                  THE WITNESS:  The water is spilling over
  


25   the dam.
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 1                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And into the river?
  


 2                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  


 3                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And what is the
  


 4   date that you're assuming that that occurred?
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  To my recollection, they
  


 6   didn't have a date in the picture.
  


 7                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  So there's really
  


 8   no way of knowing, number one, when the Day brothers
  


 9   actually moved through this particular area or if the
  


10   dam was actually functioning at that particular point
  


11   in time.  I mean we can only assume that it took them
  


12   so long to get here.
  


13                  THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah, they -- I don't
  


14   know.  Yes, you're right.  Picking which day they went
  


15   through, I just don't know.
  


16                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  If they went
  


17   through in January --
  


18                  THE WITNESS:  There is a possibility
  


19   they were down for dry-up, but that would be about --
  


20                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But not -- there's
  


21   very little agriculture going on in January; is that
  


22   not correct?
  


23                  THE WITNESS:  There was a lot more in
  


24   those days.  You had grains, you had leaching, you had
  


25   alfalfa.  It wasn't so cotton-oriented like it is
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 1   today.  And, also, one thing that farmers did back then
  


 2   that was significantly different is they would divert
  


 3   in the winter months and put it on the fields whether
  


 4   or not they needed it, to store it in the ground for
  


 5   the plants to use later.
  


 6                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But all of this
  


 7   that we're talking about is pretty much hypothetical,
  


 8   is it not?
  


 9                  THE WITNESS:  It's the best speculation
  


10   I could come up with.
  


11                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Thank you.
  


12
  


13               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


14   BY MR. HELM:
  


15       Q.    And something that's close and near and dear
  


16   to my heart.  As I understand it, since about -- 1887,
  


17   was that when you said it went into operation?
  


18       A.    '85.
  


19       Q.    '85.  At least at some parts of the year, you
  


20   would say that the Arizona Canal and Dam dried up the
  


21   Salt River?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    Can you tell me whether, after 1885, there
  


24   were any fish in the Salt River below the Arizona Dam?
  


25       A.    I don't know.  And when I say "dried up,"
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 1   there still would have been pools standing, depending
  


 2   on how long the flow wasn't going; but there would be
  


 3   dry spots.
  


 4       Q.    So you would say that the fish that were
  


 5   below the Arizona Dam would all get together and get in
  


 6   whatever pools that were still remaining?
  


 7       A.    I think they would retreat to the pools as it
  


 8   shrank, yes.
  


 9       Q.    Would those pools, over some period of time,
  


10   become stagnant?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, are you going
  


13   to ask a fish question?
  


14                  MR. HELM:  No, I was just trying to find
  


15   out whether all the fish died down there.  Apparently
  


16   they didn't.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, because we're
  


18   going to take a break.  I didn't want to interrupt your
  


19   line of thought.
  


20                  MR. HELM:  No, no, I'm not going to ask
  


21   him whether, you know, a spear bait would have been the
  


22   appropriate thing to use in the pools.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Hopefully he would have
  


24   understood that question.
  


25                  We're going to take a ten-minute break
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 1   now.
  


 2                  (A recess was taken from 10:06 a.m. to
  


 3   10:18 a.m.)
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rebecca?  And, John,
  


 7   you're up.
  


 8                  MR. HELM:  Here we go.
  


 9   BY MR. HELM:
  


10       Q.    Referring you now to page 40, and here you're
  


11   talking about several rivers; the Salt, the Roosevelt,
  


12   the Verde at Fort McDowell, the Gila at Dome, right?
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    And you're giving us cfs flows for those
  


15   rivers at the time period that's relevant to it, right?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  And what I get out of this is that
  


18   you're saying that every one of those rivers was at
  


19   flood stage at that point?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    Could you give me what the ordinary flow
  


22   range would have been for those rivers at the time
  


23   you're talking about, under the ordinary condition, in
  


24   other words, the 80 percent?
  


25       A.    Oh.  Well, if you're taking the Salt River at
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 1   Roosevelt and the Verde at Fort McDowell, those pretty
  


 2   much -- they were close to ordinary.  Or, excuse me,
  


 3   you said ordinary or natural?
  


 4       Q.    Well, ordinary and natural.  I shortened it.
  


 5   I tend to shorten it to ordinary, is my speech, but --
  


 6       A.    Okay.
  


 7       Q.    -- I want the 80 percent, is what I'm looking
  


 8   for.
  


 9       A.    Oh.  Then, well, Mr. Fuller computed the
  


10   90 -- or the top 10 percent level at just under 3,000.
  


11   I just used 3,000 cfs, for the Salt and Verde combined.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  And that's what you're doing here,
  


13   you're giving me those numbers to add them together?
  


14       A.    Yeah, I would add the Salt and the Verde
  


15   together to make an estimate of what it was at the
  


16   confluence.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  So just above the Verde, what would
  


18   the Salt's ordinary flow have been, the middle
  


19   80 percent?
  


20       A.    I don't know off the top of my head.
  


21       Q.    The same question for the Verde, and your
  


22   answer would be "I don't know"?
  


23       A.    Correct.  I would have to look it up.
  


24       Q.    Did you look it up at the time you were doing
  


25   this?
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 1       A.    No, I was looking at the -- thinking about
  


 2   the flow in Segment 6, below the confluence.
  


 3       Q.    And what would the ordinary and natural flow
  


 4   be at Gila at Dome?
  


 5       A.    The upper -- oh, at Dome?  I know we've put
  


 6   it in.  I don't know what it is off the top of my head,
  


 7   but I know it's less than 9,500.
  


 8       Q.    Do you have an estimate?  What would the top
  


 9   be?
  


10       A.    5-, 6,000, I think.
  


11       Q.    And the bottom, somewhere around 3- or 400?
  


12       A.    That sounds about right, but I -- I know I
  


13   have numbers.  I just don't have them in my brain.
  


14       Q.    You just don't have them with you?
  


15       A.    Yeah.
  


16       Q.    We could find those from your Gila report?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18             No.
  


19       Q.    Maybe?
  


20       A.    I didn't do virgin flow estimates at Dome, to
  


21   my recollection.
  


22       Q.    Page 43.
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    You confused me a little here, and I want you
  


25   to unconfuse me, if you would.  You start out there and
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 1   you say, "There are two components to the navigability
  


 2   doctrine."
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    And since I've been here, you've told me
  


 5   there's three.  Which is it?
  


 6       A.    Well, okay, there's 1, 2a and 2b.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.  So have you changed your viewpoint of
  


 8   it since you wrote this report; is that --
  


 9       A.    No.  The first phrase says, basically, in
  


10   fact or susceptible, so that's two points.  But then
  


11   when you get to susceptibility, Winkleman and
  


12   implicitly, I think, Utah put two steps in that.
  


13       Q.    So there's really four steps?
  


14       A.    No, there's 1, navigable in fact; 2,
  


15   susceptible to navigation.  Under susceptible to
  


16   navigation, you have 2a, did they need the navigation;
  


17   and 2b, would it have worked.  Sorry for the confusion.
  


18       Q.    And you get all of that out of the Utah
  


19   decision?
  


20       A.    Well, I get 1 from all the decisions.  2a, as
  


21   I say, Utah implicit, but primarily I thought the
  


22   Winkleman decision laid it out clearest; and the same
  


23   with 2b.
  


24       Q.    Going down to page 43, at the bottom you're
  


25   talking about Mr. Fuller's reasons?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    And the four categories that you give us,
  


 3   those are your categories, right?
  


 4       A.    Yes.  I took --
  


 5       Q.    That's Gookin on Fuller?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    Going on over to A. on the next page, 44,
  


 8   Navigation Was Not Needed.
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    One question on that.  Why don't trains enter
  


11   into discussion, from your perspective?  I mean they
  


12   arrived before statehood, long before statehood, didn't
  


13   they?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And they were in Phoenix, Arizona or
  


16   thereabouts, Maricopa, long before statehood?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  So why don't trains become part of the
  


19   mix of why people didn't use the Salt River for
  


20   navigation?
  


21       A.    As I understand the doctrine, the Courts have
  


22   said you cannot use trains to disqualify navigability;
  


23   that when the trains came, they were so much cheaper,
  


24   there was just no point to navigate the rivers.  Even
  


25   the Mississippi lost a lot of traffic because of the
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 1   trains and the relative costs.
  


 2             Now, if I'm interpreting your question
  


 3   correctly, you're saying why can't I boat down the Gila
  


 4   River or Salt and Gila and put it on a train and take
  


 5   it back up.
  


 6       Q.    Well, that would be one, but I hadn't really
  


 7   thought of it in that context; but that certainly
  


 8   enters the play, doesn't it?
  


 9       A.    Well, I'm not sure, and that is a legal
  


10   question.  To me, if you're going to use the cheapness
  


11   of the train travel to justify floating downstream,
  


12   then I would think you have to go the next step and
  


13   say, well, then I can use the cheapness of the travel
  


14   to say it's not feasible.
  


15             Picking and choosing your facts and saying,
  


16   well, I'm going to use this fact and say, yes, this is
  


17   legally permissible for purpose A, but not purpose B, I
  


18   don't think is appropriate; but that's a lawyer
  


19   fighting question.
  


20       Q.    Sure.  From your perspective, though, you did
  


21   not consider trains as part of the mix, even though
  


22   they were, because you understand that there is some
  


23   case out there that says you can't do that?
  


24       A.    I understand you can't use the trains for
  


25   nixing navigability.  I don't think there's any case
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 1   about whether you can use the trains to permit you to
  


 2   navigate part of the river that you couldn't normally
  


 3   do or pretrain do.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  Well, here's where I'm going.
  


 5       A.    And -- sorry.
  


 6       Q.    Go ahead.  No, finish.  I'm sorry.  I didn't
  


 7   mean to interrupt.
  


 8       A.    I have thought about this issue quite a bit,
  


 9   and the other thing that came to me was that on the
  


10   estimate of canoe cost, for example, almost half the
  


11   cost was the shipping cost because the canoe was made
  


12   out of -- to get it to Phoenix from Chicago, because
  


13   the canoe's made out of cedar, which is very weak.
  


14             Up in the Grand Canyon, on one of the trips
  


15   somebody was trying to get boats down so they could use
  


16   them to do the exploration, and they couldn't get a
  


17   cedar canoe to survive the trip.  They lost several
  


18   before they finally got it.
  


19             The Sears catalog talks about you have to pay
  


20   four times shipping charges to get the canoe there,
  


21   which tells me they figured they've got to do a lot of
  


22   reinforcement and crating.
  


23             The point of all this rambling is that if you
  


24   took it from Yuma and ran it up on the railroad back to
  


25   Phoenix, it's still going to be very expensive, because
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 1   the canoes of that era were so fragile that you would
  


 2   have to do a lot of packaging and reinforcing and so
  


 3   forth.  That was expensive.
  


 4       Q.    Part of the assumption, I take it, though,
  


 5   would be, or you would agree, that the canoe got --
  


 6   wasn't so fragile that it didn't get to Yuma?
  


 7       A.    Well, in this scenario I'm saying let's say
  


 8   it got to Yuma, but by hook, crook, miracle, divine
  


 9   intervention, whatever you want to pick.  I'll take
  


10   divine intervention.  But then you're faced with
  


11   getting it back up to Phoenix.
  


12       Q.    I was thinking more of your economic
  


13   approach, to be truthful to you.  And where I was going
  


14   was, say 1875, there's not an awful lot of people
  


15   living in the Salt River Valley.  I don't remember
  


16   what -- do you know what the 1880 census said there
  


17   was?  I think we've seen it, and it was chump change.
  


18       A.    Well, there are a lot more people living
  


19   there than they've said, because in the 1870s the
  


20   settlers in the Salt River area were enticing and
  


21   asking the Pimas to move up into the eastern reaches of
  


22   the Salt River Valley to provide a buffer against the
  


23   Apache raids.  That's basically what started the Salt
  


24   River -- the location of the Pimas that eventually
  


25   caused the Salt River Pima-Maricopa.  So they weren't
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 1   counted, so we don't know how many people there were.
  


 2       Q.    All right.  But I guess what I'm saying, from
  


 3   an economic measurement, would whatever that number of
  


 4   people living in the Salt River have been -- I'm
  


 5   excluding the Upper Gila.  I'm just talking about the
  


 6   Lower Gila. -- create a demand to build a railroad to
  


 7   the Phoenix area?
  


 8       A.    It did by 1887.  Actually, before, because
  


 9   they started it before then.
  


10       Q.    Well, either that or there was some nut
  


11   running the railroad, right?  If there was no demand --
  


12       A.    No.
  


13       Q.    If there was no demand, you wouldn't build
  


14   the railroad?
  


15       A.    Right.
  


16       Q.    So they perceived that by 1887 there was a
  


17   demand for a railroad to the Phoenix area?
  


18       A.    Yeah, that it was -- there was enough demand
  


19   to make a special trip.
  


20       Q.    And there's no question in your mind that the
  


21   railroads were a lot cheaper than the waterborne
  


22   transportation?
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    And so by nineteen eighty -- or 1887, the
  


25   motivation to do anything to get waterborne
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 1   transportation on the Salt River pretty much -- I hate
  


 2   to say this, but I've got to. -- dried up?
  


 3       A.    I was afraid you were going to do that.
  


 4             Yes, I would agree.
  


 5       Q.    So what we have is a very small window when
  


 6   commercial transportation might have been a viable
  


 7   option on the Salt River, from your perspective, being
  


 8   from --
  


 9       A.    Not true.  You've got from the Winkleman
  


10   Court all the way back to 1800.  We know there were
  


11   Indians on the Lower Salt near the Gila that nobody
  


12   brought goods up the river to trade with.  We know
  


13   there were Forts that needed supplies, and those went
  


14   by wagon.  We know there were trappers who were
  


15   trapping the river and no indication they used canoes.
  


16             So you've got a good period of about 80 or
  


17   90 years when they should have boated.
  


18       Q.    When you do your analysis on what it cost to
  


19   build the railroad, if I understand what you're saying,
  


20   is the trappers, there would have been enough of them
  


21   at the time trapping was going on to convince one of
  


22   the mega-millionaires on the East Coast to build a
  


23   railroad out here?
  


24       A.    Well, the railroad was nowhere near out here
  


25   in that time.  In fact, the railroad had not been
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 1   invented yet.  Well, I'm not sure exactly when it was
  


 2   invented, but it hadn't -- the process of railroading
  


 3   America had not started.
  


 4       Q.    What I'm trying to find out is, is what the
  


 5   economic demand was that convinces you that there was
  


 6   this demand in the Salt River Valley that would have
  


 7   generated river use, if it had been available to use?
  


 8       A.    Oh.  We know for a fact that the
  


 9   Quartermaster's Station at Yuma used a navigable river
  


10   to supply the Forts up the Colorado.  We know for a
  


11   fact that they didn't use the river to supply the Forts
  


12   up the Gila and Salt.  We know that they wrote that
  


13   they wish they could have, but they had to do it by
  


14   wagon, which was much more expensive and so forth.
  


15       Q.    I just guess we're going to talk at
  


16   cross-purposes, but thank you very much.
  


17       A.    I'm sorry.
  


18       Q.    At any rate, back at the trains.  You think
  


19   that there's a case that says you can't use it?
  


20       A.    I think there's a case that says you can't
  


21   use trains to exclude navigability.  In other words,
  


22   say, well, by 1912 we had a train.  They were boating
  


23   up and down in, say, 1850, but in 1887, when it came,
  


24   they gave it up.  That doesn't prevent navigability.
  


25             It said once navigability is established, it
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 1   remains a navigable river.
  


 2       Q.    Does that case limit itself to trains, or
  


 3   does it say you can't use transportation next to a
  


 4   river to exclude the river from being navigable?
  


 5       A.    The synopsis I read when I was just trying to
  


 6   study up on this talked about railroads.
  


 7       Q.    Do you know whether there's a case out there
  


 8   that says you can't use land transportation of any ilk
  


 9   to exclude a river from being susceptible to
  


10   navigability?
  


11       A.    Yes.  I know there's one out there that says
  


12   you can't use railroads to exclude navigability.
  


13       Q.    And I'm saying do you know if there's one out
  


14   there that says you can't use wagons?
  


15       A.    I don't know that there's any case concerning
  


16   that.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  Going to page 45, and you're talking
  


18   about in the 1800s, the only practical way -- you've
  


19   got a quote there, I believe.  Do you see that?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    And the question that I have for you, keeping
  


22   that time in context, when the river was, I think at
  


23   least for our purposes, in its ordinary and natural
  


24   condition, what items in the Salt River Valley were in
  


25   existence that would merit large-scale water
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 1   transportation?
  


 2       A.    There were crops for the people who were
  


 3   there, and there was a market to receive goods, in
  


 4   particular the Army.
  


 5       Q.    I didn't ask you what the market.  I wanted
  


 6   to know what up there would merit a downriver form of
  


 7   large-scale water transportation, the kind that you
  


 8   talk about?
  


 9       A.    It would have been crops in -- in, what, the
  


10   1860s?
  


11       Q.    No, no, I'm talking about the eighteen --
  


12   when we're back to the natural and ordinary condition
  


13   of the river.
  


14       A.    Oh.  Well, that would be before the canals
  


15   then.  All there would be would be demand for goods in
  


16   return for money.  There wouldn't -- I don't know of
  


17   anything that would be shipped downstream.
  


18       Q.    Nothing up there that motivated me to want to
  


19   make the river better to ship downstream?
  


20       A.    Not -- yeah, not until they started farming.
  


21   I don't think there were many people there before
  


22   Swilling.
  


23       Q.    Excluding the -- I mean we can get in an
  


24   argument over the Native American farming --
  


25       A.    Right.
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 1       Q.    -- and whether that counted or not under
  


 2   Winkleman; but excluding that for purposes of this
  


 3   discussion --
  


 4       A.    Okay.
  


 5       Q.    -- Swilling was the farmer, wasn't he, so to
  


 6   speak?
  


 7       A.    Excluding the Native Americans, yes, on the
  


 8   Salt.
  


 9       Q.    Right.  And when did he start farming?
  


10       A.    I believe it was '68 or '69.  He started
  


11   digging in '67.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  And why did he do that; what was his
  


13   motivation?  He just didn't start farming out in the
  


14   middle of nowhere because he was a natural born farmer.
  


15             Let me make it easy on you.  He started
  


16   farming down there to supply the Forts up on the Verde,
  


17   didn't he?
  


18       A.    I suspect that was where his primary market
  


19   was, yes.
  


20       Q.    And he did it down there in the first years
  


21   because there were grass and things that were naturally
  


22   existing down there that he could harvest and sell to
  


23   the Forts for forage for their horses and stuff,
  


24   correct?
  


25       A.    I believe that's correct, yes.
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 1       Q.    So he was farming to ship stuff upstream,
  


 2   right?
  


 3       A.    I think he would have been happy to ship it
  


 4   downstream, if he could have, because -- or upstream,
  


 5   because -- but he didn't do either.  He wagoned it.
  


 6       Q.    All right.  But his motivation was to supply
  


 7   a demand that was upstream from the Salt River?
  


 8       A.    Probably.  But if you could have gone
  


 9   downstream, that would have been a better demand, a
  


10   better marketplace.
  


11       Q.    How far would it have been downstream to
  


12   Yuma?
  


13       A.    From Phoenix -- and let's pretend Swilling
  


14   Canal is wherever Phoenix was then, because it didn't
  


15   exist; but it's 195 miles.
  


16       Q.    How far is it to the first Fort up the Verde?
  


17       A.    That I'm not sure of.  I'm going to guess 25.
  


18       Q.    I take it in your discussion on the Erie
  


19   Canal and the large loads that it was designed to
  


20   carry, the large loads that you would equate that to in
  


21   Arizona would be some form of agriculture product?
  


22       A.    Probably agricultural.  It might be mining
  


23   equipment going upstream and ores or refined ores going
  


24   downstream.
  


25       Q.    Let me tell you where I am.  I've moved
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 1   along.
  


 2             Page 52.  Do you agree that a river could be
  


 3   navigable for title purposes and yet not be suitable
  


 4   for carrying large amounts of freight?
  


 5       A.    The word "large" is vague.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.
  


 7       A.    It has to be enough to be -- make the
  


 8   operation economically viable, whatever that is.
  


 9       Q.    All right.  Do you have -- what would be the
  


10   amount of an agricultural good that would be large
  


11   enough to make it economically viable in the Salt River
  


12   Valley?
  


13       A.    I didn't compute that.  The only two
  


14   computations I did was for a 500-pound canoe and the
  


15   Edith.
  


16       Q.    I take it your answer to mean, in terms of
  


17   canoes and the smaller flat-bottom boats, would be that
  


18   a river that was suitable for those to use could not be
  


19   navigable in fact for purposes of title?
  


20       A.    It depends on how you're using them.  You
  


21   need to transport something.
  


22       Q.    Well, but you told me that you eliminated
  


23   canoes and small flat-bottom boats from your research
  


24   to determine navigability; that you just said they
  


25   weren't suitable.  I'm talking about the canoes that
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 1   you eliminated.
  


 2       A.    Okay.  You've kind of wandered in the
  


 3   question.
  


 4       Q.    I'm sorry if I did.
  


 5       A.    Canoes, I say, were not the customary modes
  


 6   of travel at the time of statehood or before it in
  


 7   Arizona.  There's no evidence that they used them for
  


 8   that purpose.
  


 9             Boats, yes.
  


10       Q.    Let me see if I understand you.
  


11             Because the indigenous population of Arizona
  


12   before the European culture arrived didn't use canoes,
  


13   it's your understanding that in the navigability
  


14   context, they cannot be used to determine whether the
  


15   Salt River is navigable?
  


16       A.    No.
  


17       Q.    Where am I wrong in my understanding?
  


18       A.    I also looked at the Utah case, which
  


19   indicated that the boats that were used for commercial
  


20   transport did not include -- he didn't list a canoe as
  


21   one of the many types of boats that he considered as
  


22   for commercial transport.
  


23             I looked at the historic evidence of the
  


24   incidence of canoe use on the Salt and the Gila, the
  


25   whole drainage area, and I couldn't find any evidence
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 1   of people using the canoes to transmit commercial goods
  


 2   up and down either river.
  


 3       Q.    Those kinds of canoes that you're talking
  


 4   about were, in fact, used in lots of places in the
  


 5   United States to transport beaver pelts, or what have
  


 6   you, on rivers that were held to be navigable because
  


 7   that was what they were used for; is that fair --
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    -- up in the Northeast?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    Okay.  So what I would like you to do for me
  


12   is to put together your rationalization how the State
  


13   of Arizona came into the union on an equal footing with
  


14   the other 47, I guess at that point, if they were held
  


15   to a different standard for the boats that determined
  


16   what rivers were navigable or not?
  


17       A.    They are not held to a different standard.
  


18   The phraseology is the customary means of trade and
  


19   travel as of statehood.  It's different as to what the
  


20   customary means of trade and travel were in different
  


21   states.
  


22       Q.    So it's your understanding that Equal Footing
  


23   Doctrine doesn't mean that we measure the use of a
  


24   river by the same boat, no matter whether that river
  


25   happens to be somewhere in New England or somewhere in
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 1   the Southwest?
  


 2       A.    Right.  I think it means the ones that were
  


 3   used for that purpose in that region.
  


 4       Q.    So it's not really equal, is it?
  


 5       A.    I think it is.  We don't get to use ice
  


 6   riggers.
  


 7       Q.    Does that mean that if Puerto Rico gets into
  


 8   the Union, we're going to have to look at hovercraft?
  


 9       A.    That's my understanding.
  


10             If you notice, in Alaska they're allowing
  


11   inflatable rubber rafts, from what I've been hearing.
  


12   And yet I wouldn't consider an inflatable modern raft
  


13   made out of synthetic rubber to be a boat customarily
  


14   used in Arizona as of 1912.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  So what your understanding of the
  


16   Equal Footing Doctrine is, is that distinction is an
  


17   acceptable distinction.  In other words, we get to
  


18   suffer discrimination, because if our rivers could have
  


19   handled canoes, we can't use that as evidence that it's
  


20   navigable; whereas the rivers in the Northeast did use
  


21   those boats to determine navigability?
  


22       A.    You're missing the point that I'm trying to
  


23   get at.  It's not that I'm saying you can't use the
  


24   canoe to prove the navigability.  I'm saying nobody did
  


25   use the canoe to prove the navigability.
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 1       Q.    I must have misread Mr. Fuller's report.  I
  


 2   thought he was indicating that, one, canoes were used
  


 3   in 1912 in Arizona; and, two, that they did navigate?
  


 4       A.    Well, I did go through that, and I found -- I
  


 5   went through the evidence that's been disclosed,
  


 6   including Mr. Fuller's report, and I may have missed
  


 7   something.  I found the Pattie canoe on the San Pedro,
  


 8   which was used on the San Pedro, but in extraordinary
  


 9   conditions.  So that didn't prove navigability.
  


10       Q.    How about the eight canoes, I think it was
  


11   eight, on the Colorado from Pattie also?
  


12       A.    Yes, and they did use --
  


13       Q.    Is the Colorado in Arizona?
  


14       A.    Yeah.  But they were used as ferries, if I
  


15   remember, and they were not considered by Utah as being
  


16   a commercial boat.  I think the problem with the canoe
  


17   is it's too small, normally.
  


18       Q.    But my point is, is that canoes were in use
  


19   in Arizona on the Colorado River?
  


20       A.    You are correct.
  


21       Q.    All right.  And so what you're telling me now
  


22   is that since canoes weren't used on the Salt River,
  


23   that doesn't qualify as the kind of boat that was in
  


24   general use in Arizona for measuring navigability?
  


25       A.    That is an interesting question, and I don't
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 1   have a good answer.
  


 2       Q.    And it would be really problematic in terms
  


 3   of the susceptibility issue, wouldn't it?
  


 4       A.    Yes, I think, but -- well, that is a legal
  


 5   question as to whether boats from the Colorado count on
  


 6   the Salt, Gila, Verde, et cetera.
  


 7       Q.    Going now to 53 and towards the bottom,
  


 8   you're talking about the Colorado River and the fact
  


 9   that a small population shows that navigation can
  


10   occur.
  


11       A.    Shows that there was a need for navigation,
  


12   yes.
  


13       Q.    Just define for me what you mean by "small."
  


14       A.    I would say the size of Yuma when it first
  


15   started.
  


16       Q.    And that would have been how many people,
  


17   roughly?
  


18       A.    I'm guessing a couple hundred.
  


19       Q.    And what we're talking about here is
  


20   problems, right, your three or four problems that you
  


21   identified?
  


22       A.    They're my responses, yeah.
  


23       Q.    Right.
  


24             And you identify Yuma as one of the problems?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And I didn't quite understand that.
  


 2       A.    Oh.
  


 3       Q.    And while there are a lot of people who might
  


 4   think Yuma is a problem, I don't get it in the context
  


 5   of navigability.  So please explain it to me.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I resemble that remark.
  


 7                  MR. HELM:  Some things I just can't
  


 8   resist, even if they're not good for me, you know.
  


 9                  THE WITNESS:  First, can I take the
  


10   Fifth?
  


11   BY MR. HELM:
  


12       Q.    If you'll take me with it.
  


13       A.    Okay.
  


14             What I was meaning was Mr. Fuller had
  


15   indicated that there were too few people, and that
  


16   meant there weren't enough people that you would expect
  


17   to find people who knew how to boat or people who knew
  


18   how to make boats or people who wanted goods that could
  


19   be transported by boats, but primarily the first two.
  


20             And my point is you've got a river and
  


21   there's two ends to it, and you know that Yuma had
  


22   river pilots and they had river boats.  So Phoenix
  


23   didn't need to build them, and they didn't need to have
  


24   a native river pilot.  Yuma could have supplied them.
  


25       Q.    The next problem I have is, or your problem
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 1   that confused me, was right after the existence of
  


 2   Yuma, you indicate that lots of people in the Salt
  


 3   River Valley had boats.
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    But then the existence of those boats, in
  


 6   your mind, doesn't count toward determining whether the
  


 7   river is navigable or not because they only used them
  


 8   in floods?
  


 9       A.    No.
  


10       Q.    Explain to me what you mean there.
  


11       A.    There were several uses for boats, and as
  


12   Mr. Fuller documented, there were lakes that the people
  


13   would take these boats, like we do today, and they
  


14   would go up to the lakes -- they were different
  


15   lakes. -- and recreate on the lakes.
  


16             So the fact you had a boat that you were
  


17   planning to take up in the summer to Flagstaff doesn't
  


18   prove that you're going to boat the Salt River.
  


19       Q.    What lakes were in existence in 1875?
  


20       A.    I know I listed them in my PowerPoint.  But
  


21   with regard to 1875, I have to say I don't know which
  


22   ones existed at that particular year.
  


23       Q.    How about 1900?
  


24       A.    Well, 1900, we know that the dam on the
  


25   Hassayampa, the Walnut Grove, I think, had come and
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 1   gone, especially gone.
  


 2       Q.    So the gone portion wouldn't provide any
  


 3   motivation for me having a boat?
  


 4       A.    Not once that happened, correct.
  


 5             We know that there was Granite Dells near
  


 6   Prescott, and I don't know when it was built.  And
  


 7   there were two near Flag, and I don't know when they
  


 8   were built.
  


 9       Q.    So what you're telling me, if I get it, is
  


10   that all these people that owned boats in the Salt
  


11   River Valley were going to get their wagons out and go
  


12   to the Granite Dells to use them in 1875?
  


13       A.    I'm telling you that Mr. Fuller indicated
  


14   that that was a source of use for boats before
  


15   statehood.
  


16       Q.    Granite Dells?
  


17       A.    The Granite Dells, the Flagstaff; when
  


18   Roosevelt started, Roosevelt.
  


19       Q.    We're talking at cross-purposes.
  


20       A.    I have to be --
  


21       Q.    I'm talking about that I understood the
  


22   premise to be, that lots of people in the Salt River
  


23   Valley had boats before statehood.
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    Okay.  And so I'm starting kind of at the
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 1   beginning of the lots of people, 1875, and starting to
  


 2   work my way up.  And my understanding was you told me
  


 3   that, yeah, they had boats.  And I had said, and you're
  


 4   saying they only used them in floods.  And you say, no,
  


 5   they took them to the lakes to use.
  


 6             And then obviously my question was, I don't
  


 7   recall any lakes that are particularly close to the
  


 8   Phoenix Salt River area that were in existence prior to
  


 9   Saguaro, maybe, where I would have carted a boat to and
  


10   launched it and gone fishing, for example, as a
  


11   recreation?
  


12       A.    Okay, first, I didn't deny they used them in
  


13   floods, because they did.  But I'm saying there were
  


14   motivations other than boating on the Salt River that
  


15   existed as a motivation to buy a boat, and that was
  


16   based on Mr. Fuller's report.
  


17       Q.    Well, if they had these boats, wouldn't they
  


18   have used them on the Salt, too, in non-flood times?
  


19       A.    If they could have, yeah.
  


20       Q.    Would 1,000 cfs float your boat?
  


21       A.    For commercial purposes, I don't think so.
  


22       Q.    Okay.  We can agree that there was 1,000 cfs
  


23   going into the Arizona Canal, right?
  


24       A.    No, I said it could divert up to 1,000.  It
  


25   didn't get 1,000 all the time, by a long shot.
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 1       Q.    It did at some point?
  


 2       A.    It did at some point.
  


 3       Q.    Or the guy who built it goofed up on his
  


 4   sizing?
  


 5       A.    Right.  Well, and they did keep enlarging it
  


 6   so they could do more.
  


 7       Q.    My point is, there were significant periods
  


 8   of time in the course of any year when the Salt River
  


 9   had water in it, correct, and the water would have been
  


10   sufficient to float a boat, deeper than 3 feet?
  


11       A.    No, not deeper than 3 feet.
  


12       Q.    2 feet?
  


13       A.    I put a table that indicated for the various
  


14   flows; and, basically, 1 to 2 feet was the range for
  


15   most things.
  


16       Q.    Do you accept Mr. Fuller's depth disclosures,
  


17   or did you disagree with any of them?
  


18       A.    I disagreed with them.
  


19       Q.    In terms of that a canoe floats in 6 inches?
  


20       A.    That was one of many disagreements.
  


21       Q.    Okay.
  


22                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, I believe
  


23   we'll take another break right now.
  


24                  MR. HELM:  Okay.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.  Let's try
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 1   10 minutes.
  


 2                  (A recess was taken from 10:59 a.m. to
  


 3   11:15 a.m.)
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  Ready.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm?
  


 7                  MR. HELM:  Yes.  I think somebody just
  


 8   destroyed the --
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, at least they
  


10   pulled it onto the floor.
  


11                  MR. SPARKS:  He has a name, and it's
  


12   called clumsy.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Just before you start,
  


14   Mr. Helm, I misremembered what time we were going to
  


15   end today.  It will be 3:30, not 4:30.
  


16                  MR. HELM:  Works for me.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Proceed, Mr. Helm.
  


18                  MR. HELM:  I'll try and get done in that
  


19   period.
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, Mr. Helm, you've
  


21   destroyed Thanksgiving.
  


22                  MR. HELM:  I've got to go home and pack
  


23   to leave town, I mean, you know.
  


24   BY MR. HELM:
  


25       Q.    I think when we broke, Mr. Gookin, we were
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 1   talking about the disagreements that you had with
  


 2   Mr. Fuller over boats, canoes, what have you, and we
  


 3   had just started on the canoe and floating in 6 inches?
  


 4       A.    It got mentioned.  I don't know we were
  


 5   there.
  


 6       Q.    Yeah.  Well, my understanding --
  


 7       A.    Oh, okay.
  


 8       Q.    -- was that you were telling me that you
  


 9   disagreed with --
  


10       A.    Oh.
  


11       Q.    The original question I had, did you agree in
  


12   a general nature with Mr. Fuller's depth allocations
  


13   amongst the various kinds of boats.
  


14       A.    Right.
  


15       Q.    And you said no.
  


16       A.    And I said no.
  


17       Q.    And so now we were getting specific, and we
  


18   had started with canoe.
  


19             What's wrong with Mr. Fuller's canoe depth?
  


20       A.    Well, first, he was counting all of the
  


21   vehicles based on their draw, rather than a required
  


22   depth, and they are different.  You need a safety
  


23   margin.
  


24             He doesn't consider the 3 foot --
  


25       Q.    Let me just stop you right there so that I
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 1   don't remain --
  


 2                  MR. MURPHY:  Can we let him answer the
  


 3   question?
  


 4                  MR. HELM:  Yeah, if I could understand
  


 5   what he was answering.  So if you'd let me --
  


 6                  MR. MURPHY:  Well, I think he should get
  


 7   a chance to answer the question first, before you
  


 8   continually interrupt him.
  


 9                  MR. HELM:  Do we want to play court?
  


10   Because I'd be delighted to play court with you.  I
  


11   think I can handle it.
  


12                  MR. MURPHY:  I want to play civilized.
  


13   BY MR. HELM:
  


14       Q.    What I want to know is the distinction
  


15   between draw and depth, so that I understand your
  


16   testimony.
  


17       A.    As I understand it, when you measure from the
  


18   waterline down to the bottom of the keel, bottom,
  


19   whatever the lowest bottom is, that's the draw of the
  


20   boat, and it varies on how loaded it is.  The depth of
  


21   water has to be greater than the draw, because you're
  


22   not in a flat, nicely sculptured, clean canal.  You're
  


23   in a river.
  


24             So if you say that a river is 2 feet in one
  


25   point, that doesn't mean you have 2 feet for the whole
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 1   river.  And so you need to leave a safety margin.
  


 2       Q.    So when -- if I understand what you're
  


 3   saying, when Mr. Fuller made the determinations -- and
  


 4   I'm going to stick with a canoe at this point, because
  


 5   that's the thing we've been talking about, and he came
  


 6   up with 6 inches, what you're telling me is that
  


 7   6 inches does not take in to consider whatever safety
  


 8   margin would be appropriate for the canoe?
  


 9       A.    Okay.  The 6 inches was the minimum depth
  


10   requirement for canoes for recreational purposes,
  


11   modern boats.
  


12             Number one is, Mr. Fuller did not consider
  


13   the minimum depths.  He applied those minimum depth
  


14   criteria to depths that were greater than minimum.
  


15   That's improper.
  


16             Number two, he didn't consider the fact that
  


17   a boat or a canoe that's being used for trade and
  


18   travel will probably or should be carrying more than
  


19   just the one individual.  And so that will cause it to
  


20   be deeper.
  


21             Going back to the minimum depth, as I said,
  


22   it's the 6 inches.  If you're going to use the 6 inches
  


23   and you do go out there and find the minimum depth,
  


24   then that's probably okay.  But if you're not going to
  


25   do that, then -- that's okay for recreational travel
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 1   with modern boats.  If you're not going to do that,
  


 2   then you need to come up with a standard that tells you
  


 3   whether or not you're going to be able to make it
  


 4   through the river based on, say, the gage depths.  And
  


 5   that's where the Utah case comes in, because the
  


 6   Special Master listened to all that testimony, talked
  


 7   to the people who actually did the boating for
  


 8   commercial purposes, and determined a mean average
  


 9   depth of 3 feet was what it took.
  


10       Q.    I am totally confused.  Let's see if I can
  


11   unconfuse myself.
  


12             What you're saying is that Mr. Fuller got the
  


13   weight wrong, in that he did not include enough load in
  


14   the boat when determining the depth of flow it needed.
  


15   That's one problem, right?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  Then the next problem is he did not
  


18   consider that a proper -- if he had a properly loaded
  


19   boat, whether there would be enough water to get that
  


20   boat down the river?
  


21       A.    He considered whether there would be enough
  


22   water, but he did it wrong.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  How did he do it wrong?
  


24       A.    He found the depths at cross sections that
  


25   were not the minimum depth cross section, and he took
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 1   the criteria for the minimum depth cross section and
  


 2   applied it to the depth.
  


 3             The second thing he did wrong was he didn't
  


 4   model the river correctly in the lower reaches, in some
  


 5   of the reaches, to find the depth that really would
  


 6   have been there.  Even though he had two channels that
  


 7   would both be carrying low flows, he assumed it all
  


 8   went into one channel and ignored the second one.
  


 9             I also have a problem with his Manning's n,
  


10   but I don't think that's going to decide this case.
  


11   And probably something I forgot, but I'll bring it up
  


12   if I need to.
  


13       Q.    The two-channel issue, can there be two
  


14   channels where one of them doesn't have water in it?
  


15       A.    If the second channel is higher, yes; but
  


16   we've got channels with the same bottoms.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  So your assumption for your complaint
  


18   against Mr. Fuller's work to that extent is that the
  


19   two channels had identical bottom elevations?
  


20       A.    Substantively.  I mean it could have been an
  


21   inch or two one way or another.  That's not my
  


22   assumption.  That's based on the cross sections he
  


23   produced.
  


24       Q.    I flat don't understand your discussion about
  


25   the minimum depth cross section.  Are you telling me
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 1   that what we have to do is find the minimum depth on a
  


 2   river and use that cross section to determine whether
  


 3   the entire river is navigable?
  


 4       A.    I'm telling you that if you use the two
  


 5   sources he used, Cortell and Hyra, who established
  


 6   criteria for modern recreational boating, and if that's
  


 7   acceptable, then you have to use the entire set of
  


 8   criteria.  You can't say, oh, well, they decided it
  


 9   required a minimum depth of 6 inches, so I'm going to
  


10   take that, and then I'm going to go find the deepest
  


11   cross section that I can use and compare the 6 inches
  


12   to that.  That's just engineering mistake.
  


13       Q.    So if I get what you're telling me now, is
  


14   you go to the Salt River, you find the minimum depth
  


15   cross section.
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    All right.  And you use that minimum depth
  


18   cross section to measure whether the stream, the river,
  


19   is navigable?
  


20       A.    No.  I'm saying if you're going to use Hyra
  


21   and Cortell as your source to develop the
  


22   methodology --
  


23       Q.    Then that's what you do?
  


24       A.    -- you've got to use the whole methodology.
  


25   You can't just pick one number and then apply it
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 1   differently.  That's wrong.
  


 2       Q.    But am I right in what my understanding is;
  


 3   that using the Hyra and Cortell, you pick the minimum
  


 4   cross section, and that's what controls the
  


 5   determination?
  


 6       A.    They had some other things, but, yes, that
  


 7   was the primary thing that he looked to, was the
  


 8   minimum depth.  So that's the standard he picked, and
  


 9   it should be used consistently.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  Now, with respect to that specific
  


11   standard, the assumption that makes is that cross
  


12   section that shows the minimum depth is going to
  


13   require you to get out of the boat; you can't go any
  


14   further?
  


15       A.    No.
  


16       Q.    Ground to a halt; there's not enough water?
  


17       A.    What they're saying is that for recreational
  


18   purposes, and I keep emphasizing, it's modern
  


19   recreation; not the customary, normal travel at the
  


20   time of statehood.
  


21             But assuming that's relevant, the modern
  


22   recreation, they're saying a person who -- if the
  


23   minimum depth is below 6 inches, people aren't going to
  


24   use it for recreation and, therefore, they're not going
  


25   to consider the boat -- or the river to be useable
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 1   for --
  


 2       Q.    Recreationally navigable.
  


 3       A.    Yeah.
  


 4       Q.    I've invented a new term.
  


 5       A.    I like it.
  


 6       Q.    And what I'm driving at, the reason they
  


 7   consider it not recreationally navigable is because
  


 8   there's not enough water to float my boat, right?
  


 9       A.    I think your word about --
  


10       Q.    I can't go down it.
  


11       A.    Well, you may be able to go down it, but
  


12   you're going to scrape things up or you're pushing it
  


13   with a paddle.  It's -- they don't think people will do
  


14   it because, you know, recreation has the criteria of
  


15   fun.  Work doesn't have to be fun.  I mean I know this
  


16   is, but it's not always this good, you understand.
  


17       Q.    Thank you.
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You done?
  


19                  MR. HELM:  That's a voice crying in the
  


20   night, if I've ever heard one.
  


21   BY MR. HELM:
  


22       Q.    So what other problems -- does that fully
  


23   discuss the minimum depth problem you have with
  


24   Mr. Fuller?  Have we got everything --
  


25       A.    I also had --
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 1       Q.    -- that you hate canoes about?
  


 2       A.    What?
  


 3       Q.    We've got everything you hate his analysis of
  


 4   a canoe out on the table?
  


 5       A.    The other was we had disagreements about his
  


 6   flows and how he developed them, particularly the
  


 7   median.  So that would influence the answer.
  


 8       Q.    That's your discussion about 990 and 12,
  


 9   whatever it was?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11             I mentioned Manning's n.  And, of course, the
  


12   other question is, is a standard for modern
  


13   recreational boating the appropriate standard to use
  


14   for a test of navigability for title purposes.
  


15       Q.    And your opinion is?
  


16       A.    No.
  


17       Q.    What do you think the appropriate test?  It's
  


18   just that 3 feet?
  


19       A.    Mean average depth of 3 foot at the gage.
  


20       Q.    Now we got it all on the table?
  


21       A.    Probably not, but --
  


22       Q.    Good enough for government work.
  


23       A.    I think it's close to date.
  


24       Q.    All right.  What about -- that's canoes.
  


25   What about flat-bottom boats; same basic gripes?
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 1       A.    Yeah, and the criteria is different.  It's
  


 2   not 6 inches.  I think it's 1 foot.  But --
  


 3       Q.    Whatever it is --
  


 4       A.    -- the same arguments would apply on how he's
  


 5   applied it to flat-bottom boats.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  What other kind of boats did you --
  


 7   rafts, I guess?
  


 8       A.    Well, the Special Master, in coming up with
  


 9   his criteria, said that rafts were used for short
  


10   reaches only.  So he did consider them, kind of.
  


11       Q.    So did he mess up his calculations for rafts?
  


12       A.    No, he still came up with mean average depth.
  


13             Oh, who "he"?
  


14       Q.    "He" be Mr. Fuller.
  


15       A.    Okay.
  


16       Q.    That's who I'm talking about anyway.
  


17       A.    I was talking about the Special Master.
  


18       Q.    Oh, okay.
  


19       A.    He did just fine.
  


20       Q.    What I'm trying to find out is, is it just
  


21   that you completely disagree with Mr. Fuller because of
  


22   the methodology he chose?  He did not adopt the Special
  


23   Master's 3 foot determination for the Salt River, and
  


24   so his determination is no good?
  


25       A.    Plus, he didn't model the depths or get the
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 1   correct depths for given flows, and he didn't use the
  


 2   correct flows.
  


 3       Q.    And that applies across the spectrum of
  


 4   boats?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    58.  With respect to modern boating, is it
  


 7   your impression that the evidence of modern boating
  


 8   that's being presented by Mr. Fuller, for example, is
  


 9   being presented to prove that actual boating took
  


10   place, as opposed to the river could have been
  


11   susceptible for navigation?
  


12       A.    I think he's trying to use it for both.
  


13       Q.    Okay.  And I take it you would find it
  


14   objectionable for both categories?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    And for the same basic reasons that you have
  


17   enunciated here and just gotten through, that's why
  


18   it's objectionable?
  


19       A.    What I got through was the depth discussions.
  


20       Q.    Okay.
  


21       A.    We have all the durability discussions and
  


22   the fact that the boats can take a lot more abuse now
  


23   than they could at statehood.
  


24       Q.    Okay.  So you got -- other than durability,
  


25   anything else?
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 1       A.    In the case of inflatable rafts, the fact
  


 2   that they just weren't available at statehood, so they
  


 3   can't be meaningfully similar.
  


 4             And the argument for canoes -- I know we've
  


 5   talked about canoes. -- I don't think they were used
  


 6   before statehood.  One more instance where it was used
  


 7   that I had missed.  Mr. Burtell pointed it out.  The
  


 8   Hayden trip used a dugout canoe, but that tends to
  


 9   indicate they really don't work, because the whole trip
  


10   failed.
  


11       Q.    But maybe Mr. Hayden had seen other people
  


12   using dugout canoes on the Lower Salt River, or do you
  


13   think he just built himself a dugout canoe and went
  


14   off, so to speak?
  


15       A.    I think he went up there, and then when he
  


16   got up there, that was how you were going to build a
  


17   boat.  So they built a dugout canoe.  But we're
  


18   speculating all of that out of a very short article or
  


19   couple articles.
  


20       Q.    On that page you talk about Montana PPL?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    And I would like you to give me the specific
  


23   reference, if you can, in PPL where they say using
  


24   modern boating is wrong as a matter of law.
  


25       A.    Oh, wait a minute.  Sorry, I was in the wrong
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 1   decision.
  


 2             On page 21 of the Montana decision,
  


 3   immediately after the heading B, as in boy -- that's a
  


 4   capital B. -- they state, the Supreme Court states,
  


 5   "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a matter of
  


 6   law in its reliance upon the evidence of present-day,
  


 7   primarily recreational use of the Madison River,"
  


 8   period, closed quote.
  


 9       Q.    And that's what you're relying on, and that's
  


10   all you're relying on?
  


11       A.    I'm relying on that for saying a matter of
  


12   law.
  


13       Q.    Yeah.
  


14       A.    I'm relying on other things for the matter of
  


15   fact.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  Moving right along, page 61.
  


17       A.    I'm there.
  


18       Q.    At the bottom of the page you're talking
  


19   about beaver dams again, and you're telling me that
  


20   wood rafts would have a major problem with a beaver
  


21   dam.
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    And Mr. Fuller has testified that at least in
  


24   a number of instances, the way boaters handle beaver
  


25   dams is they simply slide over the top of them in their
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 1   boat?
  


 2       A.    First, I haven't heard him say that with
  


 3   regard to wood rafts, which are a different type of
  


 4   vehicle.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.  You don't dispute that concept,
  


 6   though?
  


 7       A.    I do, because the canoes and the boats they
  


 8   use today are -- well, the canoes that he's talking
  


 9   about are made out of Royalex, which is so much
  


10   stronger and so much more durable than wood.  You can
  


11   throw it off a rooftop five stories high and it's fine.
  


12   Wood won't do that.
  


13       Q.    Are you telling me that all the trappers and
  


14   people who traversed all of the Eastern states, in the
  


15   days when all they had was a good old birch bark canoe,
  


16   did not slide over the top of beaver dams in that
  


17   canoe?
  


18       A.    I see no evidence that they did.  I would
  


19   doubt -- if the water was deep enough going over the
  


20   dam, you probably could do it.  It's going to depend a
  


21   lot on how big the dam is and how deep the water is.
  


22       Q.    Okay.  So you just basically don't know?
  


23       A.    I don't think so, but I don't have any
  


24   documentation.
  


25       Q.    So that's Gookin on beaver dams?
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 1       A.    Gookin on canoeing.
  


 2       Q.    Beaver dams and canoeing?
  


 3       A.    Yeah.
  


 4       Q.    So now tell me why, if I had my trusty wood
  


 5   raft, I couldn't do the same thing?
  


 6       A.    A wood raft is going to be a lot wider and
  


 7   heavier, because it's made out of solid wood; whereas
  


 8   the canoes have ribbing and so forth, rather than what
  


 9   I'm thinking of is like some wood logs or planks stuck
  


10   together.
  


11             The wood raft is structurally much more
  


12   inferior, and it would be harder to carry, because a
  


13   canoe you can turn upside down, and if you're stronger
  


14   than me and it's a small enough canoe, you can just
  


15   carry it over; but with a raft, you're going to need at
  


16   least two people, because it's just a flat piece.
  


17       Q.    I think we went astray, because I'm not
  


18   talking --
  


19       A.    Okay.
  


20       Q.    I'm asking you why I couldn't paddle up to
  


21   the beaver dam in my wood raft and slide over the top
  


22   of it --
  


23       A.    Oh.
  


24       Q.    -- assuming water's flowing over it,
  


25   obviously, or even though it's going to be shallower
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 1   than the wood raft?
  


 2       A.    If the water was flowing deep enough over it,
  


 3   then you might be able to do it; but the wood raft, due
  


 4   to its structural inferiority, would have problems with
  


 5   a vertical drop.
  


 6       Q.    Would a wood raft be structurally inferior,
  


 7   in terms of strength, to a birch bark canoe?
  


 8       A.    I think so.
  


 9       Q.    Solid wood?
  


10       A.    Solid wood in one direction, but only a few
  


11   supports in the other, and it's not designed.  It's
  


12   just thrown together.
  


13       Q.    And what you're talking about is shape then?
  


14       A.    In large part, yeah.
  


15       Q.    Same set of questions with respect to a
  


16   flat-bottom boat.  You say they can't go over beaver
  


17   dams either.
  


18       A.    I think it would be harder.  For example, the
  


19   Edith is a flat-bottom boat, and if you're going to
  


20   take the Edith with 850 pounds of load, that's a lot of
  


21   weight to have -- to take over the dam and hit the dam
  


22   with.  So you've got a lot of force.  You're pretty
  


23   much going to need to empty it, get somebody to come
  


24   with you, even though it's a one-person boat, lift it
  


25   over, and refill it.
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 1       Q.    Assuming you're going downstream.
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    We have a beaver dam.
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    Does that slow the water down?
  


 6       A.    Upstream of the beaver dam, yes.
  


 7       Q.    So why am I going to hit this beaver dam with
  


 8   a tremendous amount of force, assuming I've got a
  


 9   paddle or two paddles in my hand and/or a board and I'm
  


10   paying attention and have at least eyesight as good as
  


11   mine?
  


12       A.    I have no idea how good your eyesight is,
  


13   but --
  


14       Q.    It's very poor.
  


15       A.    -- if you're going at the dam and you go up
  


16   to it very slowly, you're just going to stop.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  But so what you're saying is, if
  


18   you're going over this lake that's created by the
  


19   beaver dam that's at least 3 feet deep --
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    -- and I'm going too slow, I'm grinding to a
  


22   halt?
  


23       A.    Right.
  


24       Q.    If I'm going too fast, I'm going to destroy
  


25   the boat?
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 1       A.    Right.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  Is there a middle ground, when I'm
  


 3   going the right speed, because I'm a trapper and I've
  


 4   been doing this all my life and I get to the beaver dam
  


 5   and I hit it at the right point because I know where
  


 6   the low spot is and I can slide across the dam?
  


 7       A.    I think that's pretty much a speculation that
  


 8   that could be done, because you've got to realize, the
  


 9   beaver dam is probably stronger than your boat.
  


10       Q.    Do you have any specific evidence of this, or
  


11   is this just Gookin on early navigation by settlers of
  


12   the United States in birch bark canoes and flat-bottom
  


13   boats?
  


14       A.    I've presented my evidence concerning wood
  


15   strength and the fact it's a very weak structural
  


16   material.  And so if you're trying to say is there a
  


17   speed where you could go over the dam, which has pointy
  


18   sticks sticking out of it in various directions, break
  


19   through that and go over, but not break the dam -- or
  


20   break the boat?  I think it's unlikely that you could
  


21   do that consistently and get through.
  


22       Q.    So what you're saying, all those fellows who
  


23   came over and went beaver hunting back in the 1700s or
  


24   the 1600s, or whenever those top hats were popular,
  


25   would have come up on the beaver dam, stopped, carried
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 1   their boat around it or over it, and put it back in the
  


 2   water and gone on; they would not have navigated the
  


 3   beaver dam within their boat?
  


 4       A.    Okay, first, they didn't do that in Arizona.
  


 5   They didn't use boats.
  


 6       Q.    No, I understand that.  I said -- I'm talking
  


 7   about before anybody got here.  You know, we're back in
  


 8   New England.
  


 9       A.    Oh, not here.
  


10       Q.    It's 1600.  I'm out on the Tioughnioga River
  


11   and I'm beaver trapping, all right.  I'm familiar with
  


12   that.  I even did it a little.
  


13       A.    Okay.
  


14       Q.    And would I stop the boat, get out and carry
  


15   it over; or would I just paddle over that?
  


16       A.    Probably you would stop the boat, get out,
  


17   set a trap, and then carry it over.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  And then sooner or later I'm going to
  


19   come back to it, right?
  


20       A.    Yeah.
  


21       Q.    And if I've got a beaver, I've got to take
  


22   the trap and pick it up, and then I'm going on
  


23   downstream, and so I'm going to lift it over it twice,
  


24   is what you're saying?  Three times; once coming up,
  


25   twice going down?
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 1       A.    No, because probably when you went to get the
  


 2   beaver, you would just leave that on the downstream end
  


 3   and take the beaver and throw it over the dam.
  


 4             But if you're going to keep going, yeah, then
  


 5   you have to lift it up.
  


 6       Q.    And that's your perception of how the
  


 7   trappers won the West, so to speak?
  


 8       A.    Yes, on the Eastern rivers, which are
  


 9   significantly different.
  


10       Q.    Right.  But those fellows came West, didn't
  


11   they, as times expanded?
  


12       A.    Yes, they did, but they didn't even try to
  


13   use boats here, except on the San Pedro and Colorado.
  


14       Q.    While we're there, that question I would have
  


15   come to at some point, but I might as well get it right
  


16   now.  I was confused about Mr. Pattie.  There's no
  


17   question in your mind that Mr. Pattie used a boat on
  


18   the San Pedro, right?
  


19       A.    Right.
  


20       Q.    And there's no question in your mind that he
  


21   used them on the Colorado?
  


22       A.    Right.
  


23       Q.    And the thing that was confusing to me, that
  


24   why would a guy who was trapping beaver and using a
  


25   boat to do it on those two rivers then not have done it
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 1   when he was trapping beaver on the Salt?  Doesn't he
  


 2   still need to get across the stream and move up and
  


 3   down that stream to set his traps and then go check his
  


 4   traps, what have you?
  


 5       A.    He still needs to do that, but from his
  


 6   accounts, he normally did it on foot or on horseback
  


 7   going up and down the river and across.  And he talks
  


 8   about he built the canoe because they were in a flood
  


 9   condition and one guy had gotten killed trying to go
  


10   across on horseback.  That's when they built the canoe.
  


11   And I'm sure they didn't keep using it, because when
  


12   they got to the Colorado River, he had to build another
  


13   one.
  


14       Q.    I'm now on inflatables, which is on the next
  


15   page, I believe.
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    And you talk about inflatables not being
  


18   practicable at statehood in the first -- do you see
  


19   that?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    Is that Gookin on inflatables, or do you have
  


22   some authority for that?
  


23       A.    I have a fair amount of authority.  I've got
  


24   the fact that when you look at their literature about
  


25   the history of inflatables, they talk about them being
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 1   used as pontoon bridges and as, like, on lakes or as a
  


 2   short-term lifeboat on the ocean.  They don't talk
  


 3   about them going up and down rivers.
  


 4             The second point is I know that the rubber
  


 5   characteristics changed dramatically with the invention
  


 6   of carbon -- or the discovery of carbon black.
  


 7       Q.    But why do those -- how are those two things
  


 8   impracticable?  I mean assuming I had a boat, assuming
  


 9   it was an inflatable, and assuming I'm in the Salt
  


10   River Valley, what's impracticable about me throwing
  


11   that thing on the river and using it, assuming there's
  


12   enough water there?
  


13       A.    Historically, people didn't use the rubber
  


14   boats because they weren't strong enough.  The seams
  


15   popped open.  They couldn't handle any collisions to
  


16   speak of.  That's why they used them for I'm going to
  


17   put a pontoon boat in and that's going to be stagnant,
  


18   standing in one place.  I'm going to go on a lake.
  


19       Q.    You put a pontoon boat in presumably to
  


20   support something?
  


21       A.    To create a crossing.
  


22       Q.    Yes.  And when you put wood on top of it and
  


23   you --
  


24       A.    Probably.
  


25       Q.    -- you run horses or wagons across it --
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 1       A.    Right.
  


 2       Q.    -- does that vibrate the pontoon boat --
  


 3       A.    I -- go ahead.
  


 4       Q.    -- and create issues with the boat in terms
  


 5   of its ability to stay afloat?
  


 6       A.    It would impact the logs, which would, yes,
  


 7   vibrate the boats; but it wouldn't create tensile
  


 8   stresses by hitting the boats and pulling on the
  


 9   rubber.  Plus, I think they did just have problems,
  


10   that sometimes they sprung a leak and they had to go
  


11   build another one.
  


12             Oh, the other aspect is there's evidence that
  


13   the construction techniques used to build them didn't
  


14   hold the boat together.
  


15       Q.    Why did they keep building them then?
  


16       A.    Well, they did --
  


17       Q.    Sucker born every minute, was that the
  


18   theory?
  


19                  MR. MURPHY:  Can we let him answer
  


20   again, Mr. Helm?
  


21                  THE WITNESS:  I don't think they built a
  


22   lot of them.  They built, as I say, some for pontoons.
  


23   You could take it on the lake, because that's a nice
  


24   still body.  You're not running into things, hopefully.
  


25   So they had other purposes.
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 1                  But when you're talking about going down
  


 2   a river, you need something a little stronger, and they
  


 3   didn't have the rubber.  Rubber was very weak until
  


 4   carbon black and until they figured out how to do the
  


 5   seams better.
  


 6   BY MR. HELM:
  


 7       Q.    Now, my understanding is you're not a
  


 8   historian, don't claim to be?
  


 9       A.    And I thought I said I was on the Gila --
  


10       Q.    No, I understand specifically.
  


11       A.    -- and Salt and the Pima.
  


12       Q.    But what I want to know is, did you have --
  


13   you've talked about history and things way beyond the
  


14   Pimas, haven't you?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    You're talking about the history of rubber
  


17   boats right now, as far as I get?
  


18       A.    Right.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  And so my curiosity pops up at that
  


20   point.  Did you have a historian working with you that
  


21   helped you on this?
  


22       A.    No.  I went and found the evidence.  When I
  


23   heard rubber boats, my immediate reaction was why
  


24   weren't they more prevalent, because there was no real
  


25   discussion of them.  And so I went searching and I went
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 1   and found the advances in technology, and I looked at
  


 2   them with an engineering eye.  And carbon black was a
  


 3   major step forward.  Plus, I had the Rubber Division's
  


 4   articles on the history of rubber boats, and they say
  


 5   around 1900 the advances of rubber manufacturing made
  


 6   it possible to build more durable rubber inflated
  


 7   boats, but these crude craft had inherent defects, and
  


 8   they tended to split at the seams and folds due to the
  


 9   less-than-optimal manufacturing of the rubber.
  


10             So I'm looking at a qualified source that
  


11   tells me this.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  So to kind of sum that out, what it
  


13   is, is it's Gookin on the history of rubber boats in
  


14   his capacity as a nonhistorian, without any help from a
  


15   historian, assessing the history of a rubber boat?
  


16       A.    Well, to me, it's more of an engineering
  


17   question, because I'm looking at manufacturing
  


18   techniques and tensile strengths.
  


19       Q.    Have you ever seen -- well, I think you have.
  


20   You said you've seen these folks who are kind of the
  


21   replica freaks, who go out and build replicas of old
  


22   boats and then use them today?
  


23       A.    The only one I've ever seen was Mr. Dimock or
  


24   Dimock, when he testified here.  I've heard of them.
  


25       Q.    You acknowledge that those kind of folks were
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 1   around and they were around in modern times, and that
  


 2   they build boats that at least they think are exact
  


 3   replicas of boats that existed historically, and then
  


 4   they go out and use them on rivers?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  And you, in fact, know about
  


 7   Mr. Dimock and the Edith?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    And he used that on the Lower Salt River?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    And I guess my question is, if I take a boat
  


12   that is historically correct for the time frame of
  


13   statehood in Arizona and I use it in a commercial
  


14   fashion in modern day time, have I solved the issue of
  


15   modern boating?  That's modern boating, and I'm doing
  


16   it today, but it's in an old boat.
  


17       A.    If the river is in the same condition it was
  


18   in the century and a half ago condition, yes.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  How does that work in the situation
  


20   we've got?  And let me just give you kind of a
  


21   hypothetical.
  


22             We have a river that is wholly diverted.
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    That is dammed up.
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    But there's still some water in it, all
  


 2   right.  I mean it's clearly not in the condition it
  


 3   would have been had we not had the dams, if we had not
  


 4   had the diversions, if we had not had the interruption
  


 5   in the type of river it is.  So it's got less water in
  


 6   it.  It's got a different bottom, may have different
  


 7   shapes.  But you can still navigate it in an old boat.
  


 8             Is that good enough to establish navigation?
  


 9       A.    I don't think so.
  


10       Q.    Why not?
  


11       A.    Because it's not in its ordinary and natural
  


12   condition.  If it was in its ordinary and natural
  


13   condition, it might have been easier; it might have
  


14   been harder.  We don't know.
  


15       Q.    But it's a hard-and-fast rule, is what you're
  


16   telling me; that even though I have a lesser quality
  


17   river at this point in time that I am using that boat
  


18   on, that's not evidence to show that if I could use it
  


19   on the lesser quality river, I could use it on the
  


20   better quality river, when there was lots of water in
  


21   it?
  


22       A.    You have absolutely no idea if it's a better
  


23   or lesser quality river that you're on.
  


24       Q.    Well, but suppose I do.  Let's just assume
  


25   that I know that there's less water going down this
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 1   river than there was when it was in its natural and
  


 2   ordinary condition.
  


 3       A.    Then you don't need to worry about
  


 4   navigability, because you're God, and you could've put
  


 5   the water in and done it back then.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.
  


 7             Page 70.  And there you're talking about
  


 8   canvas canoes --
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    -- fair enough?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    And simple question.  Are these your
  


13   conclusions, this is Gookin on canvas canoes, or do you
  


14   have some specific items that you can identify that
  


15   tell us how you got to these conclusions?
  


16       A.    Well, I put quotes in and I cited to them, so
  


17   I think that kind of tells you.  I've done that
  


18   throughout the report.
  


19       Q.    So your whole basis for your assessment on
  


20   canvas canoes is a footnote to something called Miller?
  


21       A.    Actually, my basis for canoes, there are two,
  


22   several bases.  One, I looked at Mr. Fuller's pictures.
  


23   I'm enough of a hydrologist to know that the lines
  


24   shown in Figure IV-3 aren't very conducive to
  


25   maneuverability.  That's my technical expertise
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 1   speaking.
  


 2             Second, I did look at authorities, who talked
  


 3   about how filler changes in canvas have changed and are
  


 4   stronger than they used to be.  And, again, stronger
  


 5   means more durable, which means, as Mr. Fuller has told
  


 6   us, that you can boat rivers that are shallower and
  


 7   more rocky than you could with the old boat.  That's my
  


 8   argument.
  


 9       Q.    So you've got one authority that you cite,
  


10   Miller, and two pictures of canvas canoes; is that
  


11   fair?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    And with respect to the Kolb brothers
  


14   picture --
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    -- that's on the Colorado River, right?
  


17       A.    I would assume so, but I don't know.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  Not unreasonable assumption?
  


19       A.    Probably.  I mean I know Kolb was big on the
  


20   Colorado River.
  


21       Q.    My question would be, does that mean canoes
  


22   were used on the Colorado River?
  


23       A.    Well, at least to sit there once, yes.
  


24       Q.    Okay.  The guy was just holding the ores up
  


25   in the air, huh?
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 1       A.    Yeah, and assuming that's the Colorado River.
  


 2       Q.    Sure.
  


 3       A.    Probably is.
  


 4       Q.    I accept that.
  


 5             Referring you to page 73, at the bottom of
  


 6   the page you give us a quote that goes over onto the
  


 7   next page?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    And my only question there is, this quote is
  


10   applicable to the Upper Salt, correct?
  


11       A.    Yes.  It's from the Forest Service, for their
  


12   reach area of governance.
  


13       Q.    Going on to the next page, you talk about the
  


14   price of boats or canoes, and you've got a $1,282
  


15   number out there?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    Is this Gookin on economics, or do you have
  


18   an actual citation that tells us that that's the
  


19   number?
  


20       A.    Yes.  I used the CPI.
  


21       Q.    CPI from --
  


22       A.    The Consumer.
  


23       Q.    You went and found the price of a canoe back
  


24   whenever that price was, and you adjusted it every year
  


25   for the CPI and came up with a price at some date in
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 1   current times?
  


 2       A.    Yes.  The State presented the prices for the
  


 3   boats in the Sears catalog at the time.  I know how to
  


 4   read a number, I know how to do a CPI calculation, and
  


 5   I got a price.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  So this is Gookin on economics, right?
  


 7       A.    Just means I went through high school, maybe
  


 8   grade school even.
  


 9       Q.    Page 79, you're talking about the Special
  


10   Master and his list of boats and things?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    And you indicate canoes are not mentioned on
  


13   any of the Master's lists?
  


14       A.    Correct, the list that they presented as
  


15   to -- well, actually, I relied on Fuller, who had
  


16   reviewed the lists of the Special Master, and he had
  


17   printed those, and I relied on that.
  


18       Q.    And from that, you came to the hard-and-fast
  


19   conclusion that canoes were not appropriate to judge
  


20   navigability on the Salt River by?
  


21       A.    That's one of many reasons, yes.
  


22                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, could we
  


23   break for lunch at this time?
  


24                  MR. HELM:  Boy, I was having so much fun
  


25   I wasn't even hungry, but I would be happy to.
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We were too.
  


 2                  Let's come back at 1:15.  Thank you.
  


 3                  (A lunch recess was taken from
  


 4   12:02 p.m. to 1:22 p.m.)
  


 5                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, Mr. Helm,
  


 6   ready?
  


 7                  You have two hours.
  


 8                  MR. HELM:  Oh, that's troublesome.  I'll
  


 9   try, though.
  


10   BY MR. HELM:
  


11       Q.    Okay, Mr. Gookin, we've got to go quickly, so
  


12   I'm on page 84 and it's just a simple question.  You
  


13   give a citation to Arizona Appellate Decision, 28-29,
  


14   and I don't know how, as a lawyer, I find that decision
  


15   identified that way.  So if you could tell me the name
  


16   of the case, I would appreciate it.
  


17       A.    Okay.  I have to confess, I should have put
  


18   it in the bibliography, and I did not.
  


19             Wait, let me check the -- what did it say?
  


20   Page 28.  That would be the Winkleman decision.
  


21       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.
  


22             Next reference is to page 86, and there in
  


23   the first two lines you talk about the Salt River being
  


24   totally compromised by nonIndian development by 1939.
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Wasn't it really at least totally compromised
  


 2   when they opened up Roosevelt Dam?
  


 3       A.    It was badly compromised by 1885, and it got
  


 4   a lot worse when Roosevelt.  All I was trying to get
  


 5   across is the last source of water for the river, the
  


 6   Verde, had been dammed up then.
  


 7       Q.    Page 87, you're talking about "...we are
  


 8   interested in the natural conditions as of statehood,
  


 9   we need to consider the channel data that occurred
  


10   between 1906 and 1915."
  


11             Is that the time frame under which you looked
  


12   at the channel to determine whether it was in its
  


13   natural and ordinary condition?
  


14       A.    For the channel, yes.
  


15       Q.    So you looked at the flows for pre1860 to
  


16   1800, as Winkleman directed; but the channel you
  


17   restricted yourself to 1906 to 1915, have I got that
  


18   right?
  


19       A.    Yeah, for the one channel of cross section I
  


20   did.  It was based on that.
  


21       Q.    This is page 91.  You tell us that in
  


22   accordance with directions from the Supreme Court and
  


23   the Appellate Court, I have broken the river
  


24   configuration into three periods; predevelopment,
  


25   statehood, and current.
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    Specifically, what citation directs you to do
  


 3   that from either the Supreme Court or Appellate Courts?
  


 4       A.    Well, the Appellate Court talked about using
  


 5   the 1800 to the 1860s or '70 period, which they
  


 6   considered predevelopment.  The statehood is The Daniel
  


 7   Ball language, which is cited in both cases.  And the
  


 8   Montana dealt with whether or not you used the current
  


 9   period and what it takes to use the current period and
  


10   so forth.  So I looked at all three.
  


11       Q.    Page 92, you have a picture of the Mojave
  


12   River in California?
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    Can you tell me the flow that that is
  


15   handling at that time the picture was taken?
  


16       A.    No clue.
  


17       Q.    Got an estimate?
  


18       A.    I gave up trying to estimate flows a long
  


19   time ago.
  


20       Q.    It's not much water, is it?
  


21       A.    No.  It's very little.
  


22       Q.    Would it be, at least at this point,
  


23   something that you would consider to be in a drought
  


24   condition?
  


25       A.    The Mojave River?
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 1       Q.    Yeah.
  


 2       A.    I think that's almost flood stage.
  


 3       Q.    Baseflow?
  


 4       A.    No, I doubt it.
  


 5       Q.    So you think this is about baseflow for the
  


 6   Mojave River?
  


 7       A.    I think, if it's the one I'm thinking of.
  


 8   The Mojave River is ephemeral.  I could be on the wrong
  


 9   river.
  


10                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  No, you're not.
  


11                  THE WITNESS:  I'm not on the wrong
  


12   river?
  


13                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  (Shook head.)
  


14                  THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I trust
  


15   Commissioner Allen on that.
  


16   BY MR. HELM:
  


17       Q.    Page 93, you're saying that in the -- prior
  


18   to European occupation, that the river, the Lower Salt,
  


19   was, if I understand it, braided approximately
  


20   80 percent of the time?
  


21       A.    I'm sorry, I missed the year.
  


22       Q.    Pre-Anglo showing up.  I think that's what
  


23   this is in reference to.
  


24       A.    Oh, yes.  By the 1860s, yes.
  


25       Q.    And what is your authority that it was a
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 1   braided river at that point 80 percent of the time?
  


 2       A.    The survey plats by the GLO.
  


 3       Q.    And is that a reference to the -- what I'm
  


 4   going to call the floodplain extent of the river?
  


 5       A.    Well, they show the channels on it.
  


 6       Q.    I understand.  But those plats are showing
  


 7   more than just the low flow channel?
  


 8       A.    Usually they just show the channel as it was
  


 9   when they were out there, be it low flow, high flow,
  


10   whatever.  And I took all the survey plats and
  


11   estimated the lengths and came up with roughly
  


12   80 percent.
  


13                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Pardon me.
  


14
  


15              EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
  


16                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  You said this is
  


17   pre1860?
  


18                  THE WITNESS:  I should say it was
  


19   surveyed in the 1860s.  It was like '67, '68.
  


20                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And that was by --
  


21                  THE WITNESS:  Ingalls.
  


22                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Ingalls?
  


23                  THE WITNESS:  And if you want to look,
  


24   they're in my appendix.
  


25                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah, I know.
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 1               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


 2   BY MR. HELM:
  


 3       Q.    Page 94, just a quick one.  What do you mean
  


 4   by the terminology "live river"?
  


 5       A.    A live river is a flowing river.
  


 6       Q.    So did the Salt River become a dead river at
  


 7   some point?
  


 8       A.    Pretty much once Bartlett Dam was built, the
  


 9   Lower Salt River became a dead river.
  


10       Q.    Page 99 you set out a mean, a median and a
  


11   low.  And as I understand that, that would basically be
  


12   the flows at the confluence of the Verde and the Salt;
  


13   is that correct?
  


14       A.    Yeah, immediately below.
  


15             And you asked me to bring it up, but these
  


16   were the figures that I developed in the Gila report
  


17   and brought forward to this report.
  


18       Q.    Thank you.  And that's the figures that are
  


19   on page 99?
  


20       A.    Well, 98, 99.  98, 99 and -- oh, and -- yeah,
  


21   just 98 and 99.
  


22       Q.    I'm on page 103 now, and I am a little
  


23   confused by your Footnote 15.  You say "the natural
  


24   mean average flow" -- I'm not sure what that means. --
  


25   is only exceeded 20 to 25 percent of the time, and so
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 1   that is not enough to meet the test for ordinary.
  


 2       A.    Okay.  The mean average flow is simply what
  


 3   most people call the average.  And before that I said
  


 4   the natural, I think --
  


 5       Q.    You did.
  


 6       A.    -- which means I'm looking at the pre --
  


 7       Q.    Which you defined that earlier, so I didn't
  


 8   go back to it again.
  


 9       A.    Okay.  It means the predevelopment average
  


10   flow.
  


11       Q.    80 percent?
  


12       A.    No, it means the average flow, the
  


13   predevelopment average flow.
  


14       Q.    Is what the word natural alludes to?
  


15       A.    In terms of when I say natural mean annual.
  


16       Q.    Oh, okay.
  


17       A.    The phrase means that.
  


18             That flow occurs or it's exceeded about 75 --
  


19   excuse me, 20 to 25 percent of the time.  10 percent of
  


20   that 20 to 25 percent is above the 90 percent -- or
  


21   10 percent high flow.  So you're down to a very small
  


22   percentage of time that you're considering.
  


23             Now, I've never read clear direction.  I know
  


24   that you can lay out for certain seasons, but I would
  


25   question whether or not the legal standard would permit
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 1   you to just only do the boating 10 or 15 percent of the
  


 2   time.
  


 3       Q.    Okay.  Page 106, you've got a diagram
  


 4   there --
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    -- on which you show the mean, the median and
  


 7   the minimum.
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    Would you tell me where the 90 percent line
  


10   or the 10 percent high line would be?
  


11       A.    I did not put them on, and I didn't calculate
  


12   them.  The minimum would be the same as the 10 percent,
  


13   the bottom 10 percent.
  


14       Q.    Sure, I assumed that was right.  You're
  


15   missing the high 10 percent?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    And we don't have any idea where that falls
  


18   in terms of feet, other than it's at least a tad below
  


19   4.5 feet?
  


20       A.    I would think so.
  


21       Q.    Would it be above 3 feet there, do you think?
  


22       A.    Just a second.
  


23             I think it would be right around 3 feet.
  


24       Q.    You've got the median at about 2?
  


25       A.    Yeah.  No, the mean.
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 1       Q.    I'm sorry, yes, the mean.
  


 2       A.    But I don't know.  I didn't calculate it, is
  


 3   the correct answer.
  


 4       Q.    Page 108.  On the top of the page you're
  


 5   talking about extra-ordinary flows.  Are those flood
  


 6   flows that you're talking about?  Third line down.
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    Would those -- when you use that term
  


 9   "extra-ordinary flows," are we always referring to a
  


10   flood event?
  


11       A.    It would be possible that I could have been
  


12   talking about the drought, but I don't remember ever
  


13   doing that.
  


14       Q.    Page 111, you say that here Mr. Fuller should
  


15   be showing the worst case/shallowest cross section.
  


16   That's a reference to our earlier discussion using,
  


17   what was it, Colbert or whatever, Colbert and -- [sic]
  


18       A.    Colbert and Hyra minimum depth discussion.
  


19       Q.    Yeah, right.  That's what that's in reference
  


20   to?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    Page 115.  Does the means that the rivers the
  


23   Special Master in the Utah case was considering -- were
  


24   they different than what the Salt would have been?
  


25       A.    The means?
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 1       Q.    Yeah.
  


 2       A.    I'm sorry, I'm not seeing it on page 115.
  


 3       Q.    Well, where I have it marked on mine is with
  


 4   the statement, "However, the floods that the Utah
  


 5   Special Master considered had slower rises and slower
  


 6   falls than the Gila...due in part to the large areas
  


 7   that they drain," and that kicked into me that
  


 8   question.
  


 9             And so I just want to know if the Salt mean
  


10   is different than the means on the rivers considered by
  


11   the Special Master in Utah?
  


12       A.    I'm almost certain that -- the mean flow, you
  


13   mean?
  


14       Q.    Uh-huh.
  


15       A.    Was lower on the Salt.
  


16       Q.    So it was different?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    On 115, you start at the bottom talking about
  


19   marshland?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    And can you give me any places on the Lower
  


22   Salt where marshes invaded the low flow channel of the
  


23   Salt River?
  


24       A.    I just don't know.  I know the USGS said it
  


25   was marshy there on the -- just to the north of the


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 1793


  


 1   Indian Reservation or on the -- on the northwest
  


 2   boundary of the Indian Reservation, the Gila River
  


 3   Indians.
  


 4       Q.    You don't know what they were talking about
  


 5   when they said -- what marshy was a reference to, other
  


 6   than soggy ground somewhere down there?
  


 7       A.    They said marshy, boggy, slime.  They kind of
  


 8   just made a general written description that was not
  


 9   too pleasant.
  


10       Q.    Sure.  And from that you drew the implication
  


11   that there would be some marshlands in the channels of
  


12   the Salt?
  


13       A.    I think it's a good chance.
  


14       Q.    Okay.  But you don't have any evidence that
  


15   says, "Look at this, John.  There's a picture of a
  


16   marsh in the middle of the Salt River"?
  


17       A.    No, I do not.
  


18       Q.    You've heard the testimony here regarding
  


19   sand bars; that they don't really present much of an
  


20   obstacle to a boater because they can either boat
  


21   around them or they just drag their boat across them,
  


22   or I think Jon even talked about pushing it across,
  


23   without getting out, with his paddle.
  


24       A.    Yes, and I also read the Special Master's
  


25   reports talking about other ways they got around sand
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 1   bars.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  Do you have any actual evidence that
  


 3   you can point to and show me a sand bar in the Salt
  


 4   River that actually acted as an impediment to
  


 5   navigation, assuming navigation would have occurred on
  


 6   the Salt?
  


 7       A.    I never indicated they were.
  


 8             I was just giving context for the quote that
  


 9   followed that sentence.
  


10       Q.    I'm sometimes too literal.
  


11             On page 126, you're talking about an Oregon
  


12   Appellate Court Decision.  And is that the Haselton
  


13   decision that you're talking about or some other
  


14   decision?
  


15       A.    Yeah, the John Day River was the Haselton
  


16   decision.  It's in the footnote.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  Well, I'm saying that's the -- when
  


18   you say "The Oregon Appellate Court Decision does talk
  


19   about," and so I'm looking for -- as opposed to saying
  


20   "Haselton talks about."
  


21       A.    Oh.
  


22       Q.    That is the Haselton reference?
  


23       A.    Yes, and check the footnote.  It gives you
  


24   all those numbers lawyers like.
  


25       Q.    Yeah, I know it, but that's all I'm trying to
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 1   get.
  


 2             Is Exhibit B to this report your complete
  


 3   list of authorities you rely on?
  


 4       A.    As of the time of the report, yes.  There
  


 5   will be a supplemental one for the PowerPoint that
  


 6   lists a few extras, a few more, but not many.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.  We're now done with your report, which
  


 8   means we're making progress, but we're not done yet.
  


 9   We have your PowerPoint to talk a little bit about,
  


10   because some of the things in your PowerPoint, at least
  


11   I didn't see them show up in your report, but we're
  


12   narrowing it down.  And, regrettably, I have to wait
  


13   while this stupid thing goes through the turnoff
  


14   process on this thing so I can get to the next.
  


15             So if you want to get your PowerPoint out,
  


16   I'll start zipping through that, if I can.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, how would you
  


18   like to do the PowerPoint?  Would you like the slides
  


19   displayed or --
  


20                  MR. HELM:  There's maybe only one where
  


21   I just can't read it.  I mean I've enlarged it as much
  


22   as I can get it on this thing, and it just fuzzes out,
  


23   and I want to know what the language is.  But for the
  


24   most part, I'm happy here, if everybody else is happy.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  We do have the
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 1   PowerPoint in paper form, so we could be able to
  


 2   reference it.
  


 3   BY MR. HELM:
  


 4       Q.    The first one that I have a reference to is
  


 5   your Slide 9.
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    And as I understand Slide 9, what you're
  


 8   showing me is, with the exception of a brief period in
  


 9   July, maybe, and June, maybe, maybe where they meet,
  


10   the flow in the Salt River near Chrysotile always
  


11   exceeds 50 percent of the ordinary condition; is that
  


12   correct?
  


13       A.    It shows that the average flows exceed the
  


14   50 percent daily condition, yes; or the average monthly
  


15   flows, I should say.
  


16       Q.    And would your answer be the same for
  


17   Number 10, Slide 10, for Segments 3, 4 and 5?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    And, again, it would be the same for
  


20   Slide 11?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    So, for the most part, the river is always in
  


23   the upper half of the ordinary condition?
  


24       A.    No.
  


25       Q.    No.  Which one of those slides shows the
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 1   river for any significant period of time below the
  


 2   median?
  


 3       A.    Western rivers in particular have large flood
  


 4   flows, large, high flows, spring flows, snowmelt flows.
  


 5   Those numbers distort the averages.  So that as you can
  


 6   see in chart number, say, 9, 10 and 11 or Mr. Fuller's
  


 7   charts on 12 and 13, the average is always higher.
  


 8   That doesn't mean the river is always higher, because
  


 9   the median is 50 percent of the days are above it and
  


10   50 percent of the days are below it.
  


11       Q.    Maybe that's why I'm confused.  I look at
  


12   your median on those three charts that we were just
  


13   talking about, and as you show the median, with some
  


14   very short periods of time in the mid summer, the flows
  


15   are always above it.
  


16       A.    Yes, the average monthly flows, which is --
  


17       Q.    Well, I take that to be the median.  I'm
  


18   sorry.  Because that's what he's got it identified as.
  


19   If it's not --
  


20       A.    Right, the blue, the dark blue --
  


21       Q.    The red line is the median, right?
  


22       A.    Yes, and you're talking about the monthly
  


23   mean being above the median, and that is true.
  


24             Mostly, I was just trying to re-create
  


25   Mr. Fuller's slides on these.
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 1       Q.    Okay, looking at Number 12.
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    Based on that, is it fair to say that
  


 4   12 months of the year the river was boatable?
  


 5       A.    I don't think you can tell.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  It shows that the red line there is
  


 7   what?
  


 8       A.    The 90 percent line.
  


 9       Q.    Okay.  So in the ordinary course of events,
  


10   on average, because that's all we're dealing with, is
  


11   averages -- I get that. -- the river has enough water
  


12   in it to allow those kinds of boats to float that are
  


13   hung onto the vertical middle line?
  


14       A.    Are you talking about the line that goes down
  


15   to the top of the blue shaded area?
  


16       Q.    Yeah.
  


17       A.    Okay.  Those are Mr. Fuller's calculations,
  


18   which I do not adopt or agree with.
  


19       Q.    Okay.
  


20       A.    This gaging station was near Roosevelt, and
  


21   it measures one of the pools of water.  And he used the
  


22   criteria for the minimum cross section against the
  


23   depth data for the pools of water, and that's improper.
  


24       Q.    Okay.  But that's not what I asked you.  I
  


25   asked you based on this chart, it's boatable all year
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 1   long, right?
  


 2       A.    It doesn't say that, and it's --
  


 3       Q.    Well, that's my understanding of it, and I'm
  


 4   asking you to tell me if I'm misunderstanding.  The
  


 5   boats that you're showing there are all below the
  


 6   80 percent ordinary condition, right?
  


 7                  MR. MURPHY:  Mr. Chairman, I don't
  


 8   understand.  He's saying the boats that you're showing,
  


 9   but this is Mr. Fuller's slide.  And is Mr. Helm asking
  


10   Mr. Gookin what Mr. Fuller is showing?
  


11                  MR. HELM:  Yes.
  


12                  MR. MURPHY:  He could have asked
  


13   Mr. Fuller.  I don't know why, but --
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So as we understand the
  


15   question, John, you're asking Mr. --
  


16                  THE WITNESS:  Gookin.
  


17                  MR. HELM:  Mr. Gookin, if what
  


18   Mr. Fuller is showing is --
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- Gookin to interpret
  


20   what Mr. Fuller put on his slide because Mr. Gookin
  


21   included it in his slides?
  


22                  MR. HELM:  That's correct.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Got it?
  


24                  THE WITNESS:  Got it.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Give it.
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 1                  THE WITNESS:  Okay.  The arrow and the
  


 2   three dashed lines apply to the annual condition.  So,
  


 3   for example, assuming Mr. Fuller had done it all
  


 4   correctly, you would say annually you could boat
  


 5   slightly over 40 percent of the time with a canoe,
  


 6   kayak, raft or driftboat.
  


 7                  And the way I get that is the top of the
  


 8   blue shaded area is immediately below the median line,
  


 9   okay.  So that is 50 percent.  It's a little below
  


10   50 percent.  And we're looking for between the
  


11   10 percent line, the high line, and the blue line.  So
  


12   there's 40 percent between the 10 percent high line and
  


13   the 50 percent median line.  50 minus 10 is 40, plus a
  


14   smidge, because the blue shaded is a little below the
  


15   median, and you get a little over 40.
  


16   BY MR. HELM:
  


17       Q.    And if I asked you that question for the next
  


18   two slides, that I assume are Mr. Fuller's also, your
  


19   answer would be similar?
  


20       A.    No, and that's part of the problem, because,
  


21   for example, on Segment 5, Slide 13, you see the median
  


22   has jumped all the way up in the chart.  And so now the
  


23   boats, it's very hard to tell, because you've got the
  


24   50 percent line at about 1,000, and you have the
  


25   10 percent low line that's somewhat below the arrow,
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 1   the top of the blue.  I don't know what the percentage
  


 2   in that little gap is.  But it's probably on the order
  


 3   of 40 percent between the 90, the red line, and the
  


 4   green; and making a guess, 35 percent below.  So now
  


 5   we're at 75 percent or so, 80 percent.  75, I would
  


 6   say.
  


 7       Q.    Going down now to Slide 16, which is the
  


 8   Thomsen and Porcello mean annual flow slide.
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    And the first thing I'm curious to know is
  


11   why does all this matter?  Because what we're concerned
  


12   about is the ordinary and natural flow condition, which
  


13   is 80 percent of the flow, right?
  


14       A.    Well, that's not all we're concerned about,
  


15   but we're concerned about that.
  


16       Q.    All right, but I mean principally.  And
  


17   that's what we seem to be focusing.  We just seem to be
  


18   focusing on the median or the mean, as opposed to what
  


19   I call the spread, the water column between 10 percent
  


20   low and 10 percent high.
  


21       A.    It --
  


22                  MR. MURPHY:  Is that a question?  I
  


23   didn't hear a question there, Mr. Chairman.
  


24                  MR. HELM:  Why don't you go out in the
  


25   other room.  If we want to play this, I'm going to do
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 1   it to him, and I want him to know it.
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John.  John.  Okay.
  


 3                  Did you understand the question,
  


 4   Mr. Gookin?
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  At this point, no.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Can you rephrase
  


 7   the question?
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  I thought I did for a
  


 9   second, and I'm sorry.
  


10   BY MR. HELM:
  


11       Q.    Sure.  I just want you to tell me why we're
  


12   not focused on the -- instead of being at the mean or
  


13   the median and whether that's an average and how it
  


14   gets put out of whack by the floods, why we're not
  


15   focusing on the spread?
  


16       A.    Because the median -- the determination of
  


17   the median affects how much time in the spread it was
  


18   boatable.  What per --
  


19       Q.    So what --
  


20       A.    It --
  


21       Q.    What -- go ahead.
  


22       A.    Do you want me to try again?
  


23       Q.    Yeah, I wish you would.
  


24       A.    Okay.  He has a chart and he shows a range of
  


25   flows that's 80 percent of the time.  Now, he doesn't
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 1   indicate that, say, a raft can be boated any of those
  


 2   days that fall in the 80 percent.  He says some of
  


 3   those days, but not all of those days.
  


 4             That leads to the question how many days can
  


 5   it be, what percentage are we talking about?  Because,
  


 6   to me, if you can boat it, say, 70 percent of the time
  


 7   out of 80, it's a much stronger case for navigability
  


 8   than if you can only boat it, say, 1 percent of the
  


 9   time.  And that's why it matters.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  Do you have any charts set out where
  


11   you determine how much of the time it can be boated?
  


12       A.    I showed the depths for the minimum, median
  


13   and mean, which gets me up to about the 75, 80 percent
  


14   level, and showed none of those were boatable under the
  


15   Utah criteria.
  


16       Q.    Well, nothing's boatable -- or, well, and I
  


17   don't recall any that are over 3 feet that you've
  


18   shown.  But, basically, it's not a calculation, whether
  


19   it was the mean, the median or whatever.  As long as it
  


20   doesn't go above 3 feet, you would say it's not
  


21   boatable?
  


22       A.    As long as it's below the mean average of
  


23   3 feet, yes, it's not boatable.  It's not navigable for
  


24   title purposes, more accurately.
  


25       Q.    Okay.  And I guess what I'm driving at, or
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 1   maybe I can ask it a different way, is did you do any
  


 2   analysis on what -- within the ordinary and natural
  


 3   portion of the river, the 80 percent, without the 10
  


 4   and the 10, was -- whether the river at any point was
  


 5   navigable?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.  Where would I find that?
  


 8       A.    Jump to Slide 195.
  


 9       Q.    Can you do it without me having to jump?
  


10   Because this is way in the back of this turkey.  I'm
  


11   not tuned in by number of slides.
  


12       A.    Well, it's the slide that shows the results
  


13   of the Manning's equation.  It's Figure 6-3 in my
  


14   report, and I compute, for various assumed n-values,
  


15   the depth of water for mean, which is 75 to 80 percent;
  


16   median, which is 50 percent; and minimum, which is the
  


17   10 percent.
  


18             And given that the mean depth under the most
  


19   optimistic conditions comes only to 1.3 feet, I'm
  


20   pretty safe in saying it's not navigable.  It's not
  


21   going to get to 3 feet before you get to 90 percent; or
  


22   if it does -- well, I don't think it will, but it's
  


23   only going to be a day or two.
  


24       Q.    On Slide 17, does that slide tell me the --
  


25   or is there any way that I can pick out the ordinary
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 1   condition of the river from there?
  


 2       A.    This is just talking about how you --
  


 3   Mr. Fuller converted mean annual flow into -- or median
  


 4   annual flow into his answer which he used as median
  


 5   daily flow and trying to explain -- starting the
  


 6   explanation of why it was incorrect mathematically.
  


 7       Q.    It doesn't demonstrate the spread in any
  


 8   fashion, is what you're driving at?
  


 9       A.    No.
  


10       Q.    And neither does the next slide, Slide 18?
  


11       A.    Correct.
  


12       Q.    Could you explain for me again what the
  


13   purpose of Slide 19 is?
  


14       A.    Yes.  Mr. Fuller took the median annual flow
  


15   out of the Thomsen and Porcello report.  If you take
  


16   the median flow, which means you rank all the years in
  


17   descending order of flow, and you go down halfway and
  


18   you pick that year, the median annual flow occurred in
  


19   1948.  And I was using water years, which starts
  


20   October 1st and ends September 30.
  


21             The question then became do you just take the
  


22   median annual flow and directly convert it to cfs by
  


23   using the number of seconds in the year and the cubic
  


24   feet and so forth.  And that's the green line.  That's
  


25   what that answer is if you do it by just converting
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 1   units.
  


 2             If you do it by going to that year and taking
  


 3   all the daily flows, listing them in order, and going
  


 4   halfway down, you get the value that's depicted by the
  


 5   red line.
  


 6             And the point is there is a significant
  


 7   difference between computing the green line, which was
  


 8   basically computing the mean average daily flow for the
  


 9   water year 1948, than calculating the median daily
  


10   water flow for water year 1948.
  


11       Q.    And in any event, on that Slide 19, we don't
  


12   have any way to determine what would be the ordinary
  


13   spread, do we?
  


14       A.    No.  I'm not talking about that here.
  


15       Q.    I understand that.  I just want to make it
  


16   clear --
  


17       A.    Okay.
  


18       Q.    -- that we can't get that number off of
  


19   Slide 19?
  


20       A.    Right.
  


21       Q.    Going on to 19a, you're talking about the
  


22   Edith trip at 653 cfs?
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    That wasn't a flood stage on that segment of
  


25   the river, was it?
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 1       A.    No, but it was a much less frequent
  


 2   percentage occurrence than was suggested by saying it's
  


 3   well below the median.  If that flow is well above the
  


 4   median, then you're talking about a much less frequent
  


 5   time.
  


 6       Q.    It was within the ordinary condition?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    And at least if you use the Edith as a
  


 9   standard, it was navigable for the Edith?
  


10       A.    The Edith did not demonstrate navigability of
  


11   the Salt below Stewart, Segment 5, for a bunch of
  


12   reasons that I discussed in the --
  


13       Q.    I'm just talking about the area it traversed.
  


14       A.    No, I'm talking about all the issues of was
  


15   it ordinary and natural.  It only went one way, and you
  


16   can't afford to do that.
  


17       Q.    I picked a bad term.
  


18       A.    Okay.
  


19       Q.    What do you want to use when I don't want to
  


20   talk about navigability for title purpose, but simply
  


21   that the Edith navigated, went from a Point A on the
  


22   Salt River to Point B on the Salt River?
  


23       A.    And it did do that.
  


24       Q.    It did do that.
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And it did that at that flow?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    And that flow was within the ordinary
  


 4   condition of the Salt River?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6             Oh, and, by the way, you got it.
  


 7             Sorry.
  


 8       Q.    Okay.  Slide 20, tell me what the purpose,
  


 9   again, of that slide is.
  


10       A.    Slide 20?
  


11       Q.    Uh-huh.
  


12       A.    To summarize the calculations and the various
  


13   values that were presented.
  


14       Q.    Can you take Slide 20 and show me the
  


15   ordinary and natural condition of the river for the
  


16   time it's representing?
  


17       A.    No.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  This is Slide 22, and this was the one
  


19   that I tried to blow up as far as I could blow it up on
  


20   my computer, and I could not read the boxes that are at
  


21   the bottom of that slide.
  


22       A.    Okay.
  


23       Q.    So could you tell me what they say?
  


24       A.    Are you talking about the bottom row?
  


25       Q.    Well, they're white.  You see 22?  I come
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 1   across, it looks like there's a little white spot
  


 2   there.  Then I come across to a bigger box and then I
  


 3   come across to one that's longer, but shorter, and then
  


 4   I come across to a bigger box again.
  


 5       A.    May I come look?
  


 6       Q.    Certainly, or I'll bring it to you.
  


 7             The white boxes.
  


 8       A.    Here?
  


 9       Q.    Yeah, on that slide.
  


10       A.    Oh, I see.
  


11             Okay, it's Slide 22.  I was on the wrong
  


12   slide.
  


13             Those white boxes were put on the map by
  


14   Mr. Fuller.  I just used this as a convenient base map
  


15   and superimposed the red arrow on it.  That's all I
  


16   did.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  And can --
  


18       A.    To show the very generalized direction of
  


19   underflow.
  


20       Q.    I still haven't been able to read it,
  


21   so . . .
  


22       A.    Oh, I can't either.
  


23       Q.    So we don't know what those white boxes are
  


24   down there.  You were just using this map that
  


25   Mr. Fuller made to show the arrow, the red arrow?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    Which, as I understand it, was an arrow that
  


 3   shows the ancient flow of the river?
  


 4       A.    Yes, and crudely so.
  


 5       Q.    On Slide 29 you're talking about European
  


 6   occupation, and you're talking about the
  


 7   Spaniards/Mexicans, and you indicate that they have no
  


 8   evidence that they used boats.
  


 9             And the thing that I find curious or I don't
  


10   understand is, when the Spanish were exploring Arizona,
  


11   they were coming out of Mexico, correct?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    Okay.  So they're going north?
  


14       A.    For part of the time, yes.
  


15       Q.    And they didn't bring any boats with them
  


16   when they left Mexico, right?
  


17       A.    Sometimes.
  


18       Q.    And if I get what you're saying here, is, for
  


19   example, when the Spanish got to the Salt River, they
  


20   didn't know where it was going.  Maybe they talked to
  


21   some minions that told them, but they did not know, as
  


22   a matter of fact, where they would end up if they got
  


23   in a boat and set off down the Salt River; is that
  


24   fair?
  


25       A.    Yes.  But I think you're misconstruing what
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 1   I'm trying to say.
  


 2       Q.    Well, you don't know where I'm going yet, so
  


 3   be patient.
  


 4       A.    Okay.  I will.
  


 5       Q.    So the problem that I'm having is that, in
  


 6   the exploration phase at least, you're assuming that an
  


 7   explorer would abandon his horse for a boat when he
  


 8   didn't know whether that boat would get him back home
  


 9   or not?
  


10       A.    No, I am not assuming that.
  


11       Q.    Okay.
  


12       A.    What I'm trying to say is the Spaniards who
  


13   went there did not see the Indians using boats on the
  


14   Salt and Gila, but they did see them using boats on the
  


15   Colorado River.  That's the significance of the point.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  You say, "They did record when they
  


17   used boats."
  


18       A.    And I have --
  


19       Q.    And what that means is the Spaniards didn't
  


20   record when they used boats; they recorded when Indians
  


21   used boats?
  


22       A.    And I should have written it that way.  That
  


23   is quite right.
  


24       Q.    I'm easily confused.
  


25       A.    Well, I have problems with pronouns.  I can
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 1   use it to define different people in the same sentence.
  


 2       Q.    Have you ever run a log drive on any river?
  


 3       A.    No, sir.
  


 4       Q.    You have no experience in that?
  


 5       A.    No experience and don't want to.
  


 6       Q.    Slide 45, you indicate that the Thorpe and
  


 7   Crawford trip fails the Montana test.  And is that
  


 8   simply because your perception is that in Montana it
  


 9   says you can't drag a boat?
  


10       A.    The quote, yes, is at the bottom of the slide
  


11   that I'm referring to.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  So this goes back to your if you drag
  


13   a boat across a sand bar, you've just disqualified the
  


14   river from being ever navigable?
  


15       A.    Well, I wouldn't think sand bars, because
  


16   Utah specifically included sand bars as being okay.
  


17       Q.    How long did you have to drag it before it
  


18   disqualifies you?
  


19       A.    I think you would have to ask the U.S.
  


20   Supreme Court for more specific directions.
  


21       Q.    Well, how far did you allow it to be dragged
  


22   before you disqualified it in your mind?
  


23       A.    To me, if they're talking about, in these --
  


24   the news reports are very vague, but when they talk
  


25   about they drag the boat and they're giving a
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 1   significant frequency or implying it, then I say it
  


 2   fails the test.
  


 3             The fact that you hit a sand bar in
  


 4   particular, got out and pushed, that wouldn't do it.
  


 5       Q.    So what you're referring to dragging the boat
  


 6   as disqualifying, it's somebody who maybe drags the
  


 7   boat 50 percent of the time as he travels down a
  


 8   stretch of the river?
  


 9       A.    That would be a good hypothetical.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  Referring you to 58 and 59, which is
  


11   the Hamilton, Jordan and Halesworth trip.
  


12       A.    I'm there.
  


13       Q.    Yeah, what was the purpose of that trip?
  


14             Was it to assess whether the river was
  


15   navigable?
  


16       A.    I'm trying to remember it.
  


17             Oh, that one.  Okay.  It wasn't really clear
  


18   what the purpose was; but given his interview, I think
  


19   he was trying to determine if you could navigate it or
  


20   that was a purpose.  He may have been going for other
  


21   reasons.  We don't know from the article.
  


22       Q.    Okay.  If the purpose was to assess the
  


23   navigability of the river --
  


24       A.    Right.
  


25       Q.    -- wouldn't that qualify as a commercial
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 1   trip?
  


 2       A.    If he had then started commercial activities,
  


 3   I would agree; but he didn't.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  So because he did not start up a river
  


 5   boat company after he got back from the trip, it
  


 6   disqualifies the trip, even though he assessed it?
  


 7       A.    Yes, because I guess the phrase is actions
  


 8   speak louder than words.  He or somebody else.  If
  


 9   somebody else had followed up, that would be --
  


10       Q.    You sound like the IRS now.
  


11       A.    Well, now, you don't have to get downright
  


12   nasty.
  


13       Q.    They'd disallow that deduction, wouldn't
  


14   they?
  


15             Going to the Wilcox and Andrews trip, 66, I
  


16   think it is, how far did they travel on the river to
  


17   get to the Joint Head Dam?
  


18       A.    I know I computed the distance at one point
  


19   to Joint Head.
  


20       Q.    Was it over 10 miles?
  


21       A.    I don't believe so, but I could be wrong.  As
  


22   I say, I thought I did compute it.
  


23       Q.    As you sit here, you don't recall?
  


24       A.    I can't remember the number, no.
  


25       Q.    Going on to page 78 or Slide 78, do I
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 1   understand that slide correctly that the orange line
  


 2   represents the upward end of the ordinary and natural
  


 3   condition?
  


 4       A.    As computed by Mr. Fuller, yes.
  


 5       Q.    But you put it in a different format, but
  


 6   that's what that orange line represents?
  


 7       A.    Yeah.  I was just trying to find a fourth
  


 8   color.
  


 9       Q.    Okay.  Did Mr. Fuller calculate exact numbers
  


10   for that orange line, or are those -- is it your
  


11   interpretation?
  


12       A.    I took the number that was on his chart and
  


13   put it in this graph to draw the line.  I think it was
  


14   2,990-something, I think.
  


15       Q.    So everything above that is the 10 percent?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    On Slide 82, you give us a maximum cfs of
  


18   79,806.  I assume that's somewhat in a flood stage?
  


19       A.    I would think so, yes.
  


20       Q.    And do you have a date when that occurred?
  


21       A.    No.  They only published three numbers for
  


22   each month.  This is a USGS report.  They published the
  


23   maximum, the mean average, and the minimum.
  


24       Q.    Once a month?
  


25       A.    For each month for a couple of years, two,
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 1   three years.
  


 2       Q.    What I'm confused about, did they publish the
  


 3   numbers three times a month or give us numbers for
  


 4   three times in a month?
  


 5       A.    No, they gave us three numbers for the whole
  


 6   month, the maximum --
  


 7       Q.    One time, three numbers?
  


 8       A.    Yeah, for January you got what the maximum
  


 9   day in January was, what the average for January was,
  


10   and what the smallest day in January was.
  


11       Q.    Do you know the day in January they publish
  


12   that or the day in February they publish that?
  


13       A.    No.  It was a compendium in one of the USGS
  


14   papers.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  Referring you to Slide 86, are the cf
  


16   numbers that you set out in that slide all flood
  


17   numbers?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19             Let me qualify it.  I don't know for Dome.  I
  


20   don't remember calculating it, but they sure look like
  


21   it.
  


22       Q.    To the best of your knowledge, they are, you
  


23   would say?
  


24       A.    Yeah, I would think so.
  


25       Q.    Going to Slide 90, are those numbers flood
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 1   stage?
  


 2       A.    On the Verde, I'm not sure if it was, because
  


 3   I don't remember.  I didn't play in the Verde hearing,
  


 4   so to speak.  But if you add those two together, which
  


 5   is the point, you're over the 3,000 cfs in Segment 6.
  


 6       Q.    And that would then be a flood number?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    So while the Verde number may not be a flood
  


 9   number, there's no doubt in your mind that the Salt
  


10   number is?
  


11       A.    Yeah.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, we're going
  


13   to take a break now, so we can build a fire.
  


14                  (A recess was taken from 2:21 p.m. to
  


15   2:35 p.m.)
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
  


17                  THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, please start.
  


19   BY MR. HELM:
  


20       Q.    Ready to roll.
  


21             Mr. Gookin, page 107 or plate 107 or
  


22   Slide 107.  There you're talking about various kinds of
  


23   canoes and the kind of psi they can withstand, and I
  


24   take that to mean is that in a direct head-on crash?
  


25       A.    With fiberglass and aluminum it doesn't
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 1   matter if it's head-on or from the side.  The cedar is
  


 2   from the side, perpendicular to the grain.
  


 3       Q.    Would the cedar be higher in a head-on?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    How about -- I notice one thing that was used
  


 6   a lot around statehood and before, that isn't in there,
  


 7   is a dugout canoe; basically, a big log with a hole in
  


 8   it.
  


 9       A.    Yeah.  Well, I think it was only used twice,
  


10   Hayden and Pattie.
  


11       Q.    Well, that's the only accounts we may have.
  


12   Although, I didn't go looking, so I don't know.  But my
  


13   point being, you didn't test for a log with a hole in
  


14   it?
  


15       A.    No, because that is so different than a
  


16   regular canoe, I don't think they're even really in the
  


17   same class.
  


18       Q.    You do degree that at least to the extent
  


19   there are two accounts of them, they were used in
  


20   Arizona pres-statehood?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    Down on Slide 131 and your faulty logic
  


23   discussion.  And do you have any statistics that would
  


24   classify how much faster travel by boat would be than
  


25   travel by horse, wagon, motorized vehicle and train?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    Where would I find those?
  


 3       A.    It was in my report.  It's not really a
  


 4   statistic, but data, and it was about the Erie Canal.
  


 5   At least I think I put it in.
  


 6       Q.    Yeah, I remember you putting something in
  


 7   about the Erie Canal.  I didn't remember it dealt with
  


 8   the speed of a motorized vehicle or --
  


 9       A.    The transit time -- I'm on page 45 of my
  


10   report.  The transit time to traverse the route of the
  


11   Erie Canal went from 45 days before the canal was
  


12   started to 5 days after it was done.
  


13       Q.    Okay.  And that -- having come from that neck
  


14   of the woods, and, in fact, I think I have a relative
  


15   or two who might have participated in its construction,
  


16   those boats were pulled by horses, weren't they?
  


17       A.    Horses, mule, oxen, et cetera, yes.
  


18       Q.    Somebody was towing those boats up that
  


19   river, weren't they, or that canal?
  


20       A.    That canal, yes.
  


21       Q.    So could we use, to measure navigability on
  


22   the Salt River, a boat being pulled by a horse?
  


23       A.    I don't know what the law is on that one.
  


24       Q.    I'm referring you to Slide 162.
  


25       A.    I'm there.
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 1       Q.    I take it the blue line is the low flow
  


 2   channel?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    Do you have an estimate for the depth of the
  


 5   low flow channel on this portion of the Salt?
  


 6       A.    No idea.
  


 7       Q.    The same for the lower half of the picture?
  


 8       A.    Correct.
  


 9       Q.    Okay.  The braiding that you talk about on
  


10   those pictures, that's for more than the low flow
  


11   channel, correct?
  


12       A.    More than, yeah, the lowest flow channel, I
  


13   think would be the best way to put it.
  


14       Q.    However you want to put it.
  


15       A.    Yeah.
  


16       Q.    The braiding that you're using in these
  


17   pictures to illustrate is not just braiding of the
  


18   lowest flow channel?
  


19       A.    Correct.
  


20       Q.    It's braiding that you would have to have
  


21   more water than is in the lowest flow channel --
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    -- to get those braids to function?
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    We probably answered this, but I'm down on
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 1   171 with the Special Master, and he had no information
  


 2   of any kind available to him on the Salt River; is that
  


 3   fair?
  


 4       A.    I have no idea.  I would doubt it, but . . .
  


 5       Q.    In your review of his record, you didn't see
  


 6   any?
  


 7       A.    No.
  


 8       Q.    Slide 203.  I think you stated this.
  


 9   Tamarisk is not a native plant to Arizona, right?
  


10       A.    Correct.
  


11       Q.    And when was it brought here, to the best of
  


12   your knowledge?
  


13       A.    I know the answer to that from very good
  


14   authority, authorities, and they're all different.
  


15       Q.    What's your best guess?
  


16       A.    I think it came in with the Spaniards, who
  


17   brought it in to plant as shade trees at the missions.
  


18       Q.    And what would be the --
  


19       A.    That's one story I've heard.
  


20       Q.    Sure.  I've heard it too.
  


21             What other stories have you heard?
  


22       A.    I've heard it was brought into nurseries on
  


23   the East Coast.  I know I've heard a couple others, and
  


24   I finally just kind of let it all go.  I don't know
  


25   that we'll ever know.
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 1       Q.    At any rate, they're not natural?
  


 2       A.    They're not natural here, and they're not
  


 3   nice.
  


 4       Q.    They use a lot of water, don't they?
  


 5       A.    Yes, they do.
  


 6       Q.    And they seem to be able to survive droughts
  


 7   fairly well?
  


 8       A.    They'll be here growing in the middle of an
  


 9   atomic explosion someday.
  


10       Q.    I think you're right.
  


11             In any event, they would not have been
  


12   considered part of the --
  


13       A.    Natural --
  


14       Q.    -- ordinary and natural condition of the Salt
  


15   River as we're told to portray it by Winkleman?
  


16       A.    Right.  Well, not the natural, certainly, and
  


17   wouldn't impact the ordinary particularly.
  


18       Q.    Slide, actually, 211, 212, 213 and 214.  Or
  


19   skip 211.  12, 13 and 14 you have little insets --
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    -- that you're using to illustrate that while
  


22   it might look like a single channel, when you've got
  


23   the big aerial in front of you, when you get down and
  


24   look at the finer points, you see that it may or may
  


25   not be single channel?
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 1       A.    Not so much that point, although that's also
  


 2   true; but my point was, while the two maps on Slide 211
  


 3   may look very, very similar at a quick glance, when you
  


 4   blow it up and look more closely, you can see there are
  


 5   some very significant differences.
  


 6       Q.    What I want to know is, for example, on 212,
  


 7   the two blowups you have, how much of the river bottom
  


 8   do they cover?  Is that 1,000 yards, 2 feet?
  


 9       A.    I didn't go back to the original maps, so I
  


10   don't know if they're 7 and a half minute, 15-minute
  


11   quads.  I just took those, and I was trying to blow up
  


12   the little segments for comparison.  So I really don't
  


13   know.
  


14       Q.    Okay.  Here's where I get to my finale, I
  


15   think, other than -- and I'm going off on my own frolic
  


16   and detour and playing hydrologist.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is that microphone
  


18   working, Joe?
  


19                  MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, I think so.  Sounded
  


20   pretty scary to me.
  


21   BY MR. HELM:
  


22       Q.    It may get scary.
  


23             Throughout your report and in your
  


24   PowerPoint, there's been lots of calculations done with
  


25   means and medians.  You've done your fair share of
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 1   them, and you've set forth the ones that Mr. Fuller has
  


 2   done.  So we've all had an opportunity to look at lots
  


 3   of calculation of means and medians; is that fair?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    Now, the means and medians that you
  


 6   calculated or that you displayed were means and medians
  


 7   of the entire river, correct, the entire time frame?
  


 8       A.    There are so many in there, I can't answer
  


 9   that.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  Let me put it a different way.
  


11             Did you attempt to segregate the flood
  


12   channel and the drought, channel is the wrong word, but
  


13   those portions of the ordinary condition and then do a
  


14   median and means study of just the ordinary and natural
  


15   channel, the 80 percent?
  


16       A.    I took one cross section on the Lower Salt
  


17   River that I thought was fairly representative of that
  


18   township, and I did compute the 10 percent low, the
  


19   median and the mean for those channels and compute the
  


20   depths that would occur.
  


21       Q.    Okay.  But you didn't do the flood
  


22   10 percent?
  


23       A.    No, I didn't.
  


24       Q.    So even in that calculation, the flood
  


25   10 percent is included in the averaging that you did?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    In other words, if you're doing the median,
  


 3   you started counting down from the top?
  


 4       A.    Right.
  


 5       Q.    And there is some portion of that count that
  


 6   had flood in it?
  


 7       A.    That's correct.
  


 8       Q.    And while those may have excluded drought, it
  


 9   still had flood in it.  And in the rest of the
  


10   calculations that were done, they had both flood and
  


11   drought in it?
  


12       A.    In the median I still had drought in it.
  


13       Q.    Right.  That's what --
  


14       A.    And flood.
  


15             And in the average I had both in it.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  And that was the way for every
  


17   calculation where mean and median was done?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    So, basically, it's fair to say that we have
  


20   no calculation from you of what the ordinary and
  


21   natural median would look like?
  


22       A.    No.
  


23       Q.    Well, I thought you just told me that your
  


24   calculations to determine those included the flood
  


25   portion?
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 1       A.    And the drought portion.  I included all the
  


 2   data.
  


 3       Q.    I understand that.
  


 4             But now I'm just trying to find out how that
  


 5   applies to the calculations as they apply to the
  


 6   80 percent.  The 80 percent includes a flood component.
  


 7       A.    80 percent does not include the flood
  


 8   component.
  


 9       Q.    You counted down from one, two, three, four,
  


10   five, and the first three were flood, weren't they?
  


11       A.    You said the 80 percent included the flood
  


12   component.  That's not a true statement.
  


13             The median includes the flood component.
  


14   That is a true statement.
  


15       Q.    Okay.
  


16       A.    And it includes the drought.
  


17       Q.    Sure.  And my point being that those are not
  


18   representative of the 80 percent?
  


19       A.    Actually, the median would be equally
  


20   representative of the median of the 80 percent because
  


21   I've knocked the 10 percent highest flows off that --
  


22   say I have 1,000 events or days.  I have deleted 100
  


23   off the top, 100 off the bottom, and gone halfway in
  


24   between, to do it the way you wanted, and found the
  


25   50 percent.  That's the same number I would get if I
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 1   did it with all 1,000.
  


 2       Q.    What happened if there were 15 floods in the
  


 3   flood portion and only 5 droughts?
  


 4       A.    That can't happen, because we're talking
  


 5   about the upper 10 percent, which means if you have
  


 6   1,000 days, there's 100 that are being excluded as
  


 7   floods and 100 that are being excluded as drought
  


 8   because it's 10 percent of the number of days.
  


 9       Q.    So it doesn't matter whether it's a flood or
  


10   a drought; it just relates to a percentage figure?
  


11       A.    The median is a percentage figure, and that's
  


12   one of the advantages, because a mean has those huge
  


13   floods, and you use the number, not the number of
  


14   times, and that distorts the whole thing.
  


15       Q.    That 10 percent is an arbitrary number,
  


16   correct?
  


17       A.    That's one, yes, that came up -- as I say,
  


18   Mr. Hjalmarson came up with it in the San Pedro, and
  


19   I've accepted it and adopted it, and Mr. Fuller started
  


20   using it.  And so maybe we want to change and go to
  


21   something else, if you want; but that's kind of -- it's
  


22   grown to have a life of its own.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  But it's a life that is based on some
  


24   work that Mr. Hjalmarson did on the San Pedro, correct?
  


25       A.    He brought up the first con -- he first
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 1   brought up that concept, yes.
  


 2       Q.    He hasn't been here during the Salt hearings,
  


 3   has he?
  


 4       A.    No, but I didn't want to backtrack.  I
  


 5   thought it was a good solution.
  


 6       Q.    So what you're telling me is the median of
  


 7   the 80 percent will be the median of the 100 percent;
  


 8   they're the same number?
  


 9       A.    They're definitionally equal.
  


10       Q.    If you wanted, you could calculate a mean and
  


11   a median for the 80 percent?
  


12       A.    You could.
  


13       Q.    You didn't?
  


14       A.    I didn't.
  


15       Q.    I don't have any further --
  


16       A.    Well, I --
  


17                  MR. HELM:  I don't have any further
  


18   questions.
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I think he meant it.
  


20                  THE WITNESS:  No.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you, John.
  


22                  MR. HELM:  Thank you.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there anyone else
  


24   who would like to ask Mr. Gookin some questions?
  


25                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I will.
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Let's begin
  


 2   then.
  


 3                  MR. HELM:  You've got to give me a
  


 4   couple minutes to close this up.
  


 5                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Sure.
  


 6                  MR. HELM:  I don't mind her sitting next
  


 7   to me, if she wants.  Uh-oh, she's bringing her own
  


 8   computer.
  


 9                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  That's okay.  I've
  


10   got to set up some stuff, too.
  


11
  


12                     CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


13   BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
  


14       Q.    Good afternoon, Mr. Gookin.
  


15       A.    Almost.
  


16       Q.    My name is Joy Herr-Cardillo.
  


17       A.    Hello.
  


18       Q.    We've met before.
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    I represent Defenders of Wildlife, Jim
  


21   Vaaler, Don Steuter and Jerry Van Gasse.
  


22             I wanted to ask you a couple of questions.  I
  


23   don't have a whole lot, but I wanted to start and just
  


24   clarify some of the answers that you gave to John and
  


25   make sure I understand them.
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 1             So, first of all, with respect to incidents
  


 2   of people navigating the river, it's -- if I'm
  


 3   understanding your testimony correctly, it's your
  


 4   position that if the purpose for the trip was
  


 5   recreation, that that has absolutely no evidentiary
  


 6   value in terms of determining navigability?
  


 7       A.    I believe that's correct.
  


 8       Q.    Okay.  So even if the river was in virgin
  


 9   condition, it's in its natural condition, if somebody
  


10   boated the river, but did it for recreation, that your
  


11   position is the Commission should not consider that
  


12   evidence?
  


13       A.    That's my position.
  


14       Q.    And what is the legal authority upon which
  


15   you base that position?
  


16       A.    When they say highway of commerce.
  


17       Q.    Is there a particular case that you believe
  


18   supports that position?
  


19       A.    I can't point to it, no.  There might be, but
  


20   I don't know of it.
  


21       Q.    And just to be clear, your opinion regarding
  


22   the navigability of the Salt River is based upon that
  


23   understanding of The Daniel Ball test?
  


24       A.    Well, my opinion of the navigability is
  


25   primarily based on the 3 foot requirement from Utah.
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 1       Q.    And your contention is the 3 foot requirement
  


 2   is found where in the Utah case?
  


 3       A.    Well, I think it was towards the end.  That
  


 4   was one of his key findings; that you had to have a
  


 5   mean annual flow that produced a -- or a 3 foot mean --
  


 6   let me try that again.
  


 7             He looked at the gage sites and said that
  


 8   when the mean flow was 3 feet, mean depth was 3 feet or
  


 9   greater, it was navigable on those days.
  


10       Q.    So when you say "he," you're referring to the
  


11   Special Master in the U.S. v. Utah case?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    So have you actually read the Special
  


14   Master's report in the Utah case?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    And the Special Master actually considered
  


17   boating events that were for recreation purposes,
  


18   correct?
  


19       A.    I think he put it in the lines of evidence
  


20   that were presented.  I don't know how much he
  


21   considered it.
  


22       Q.    In your PowerPoint presentation, in Slides
  


23   168 and 169.  Give me a minute to get there.
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    As I thumb through this, sorry, it blurs, and
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 1   it takes a minute to come into focus.
  


 2             Sorry.  Getting there.  Yea.  Okay.  Here.
  


 3             You talk about the modern recreational
  


 4   criteria being based on trying to be thrilling.
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    What is your basis for that statement?
  


 7       A.    Primarily, listening to Mr. Fuller,
  


 8   Mr. Dimock.  Oh, well, not those two primarily, but
  


 9   listening to them, and I can't remember the name of the
  


10   other two gentlemen who testified; the one who ran a
  


11   recreation boating company, in particular, who
  


12   testified in October.  He was talking about how he
  


13   looked at running a rapid differently than somebody
  


14   who's trying to move goods, because he was trying to
  


15   give the customers a thrill.
  


16       Q.    Right, a whitewater experience --
  


17       A.    Right.
  


18       Q.    -- as I recall is how he phrased it.
  


19       A.    Which is kind of like a roller coaster, to
  


20   me.
  


21       Q.    So he was actually targeting months where the
  


22   flows would be high, correct?
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    And yet the modern recreational criteria that
  


25   have been used in this case have been focused on
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 1   minimal flows necessary, correct?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    Okay.  So how are those minimal flows that
  


 4   are necessary to boat dependent upon giving a thrilling
  


 5   ride?
  


 6       A.    Well, there's a bunch of criteria.  They want
  


 7   velocity.  They even have -- in at least one of them,
  


 8   they have one for tranquil boating and one for
  


 9   recreational boating.
  


10             The 6 inches, per se, that part of the
  


11   criteria I believe is to make sure that they don't have
  


12   to, basically, stop, get out, and so forth.
  


13             Then they also add maximum criteria and so
  


14   forth.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  But there's nothing in the reporting
  


16   of those criteria where there's any discussion of this
  


17   goal of making a thrilling ride, correct?
  


18       A.    I think they do talk about making it a
  


19   thrilling ride, but that is not the purpose of the
  


20   6 inches.
  


21       Q.    And when you say they do talk about it, what
  


22   source are you referring to, source or sources?
  


23       A.    I can't remember.  I think it was either
  


24   Cortell or Hyra, possibly even both mentioned it; but
  


25   it's just talking about this is what whitewater boating
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 1   is trying to do.
  


 2       Q.    Is that something that you would be willing
  


 3   to track down between now and when we come back in
  


 4   January and be able to point us to that in the
  


 5   materials?
  


 6                  MR. MURPHY:  We've submitted those.
  


 7                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Yeah, but I want
  


 8   him -- do you want him to look for it right now?
  


 9                  MR. MURPHY:  It's your time.
  


10                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Are you saying
  


11   he's -- you're not willing to have him, over the break,
  


12   identify that portion of the report that he's relying
  


13   on?  Because we'll pull it out.  Do you have that, the
  


14   Hyra?
  


15                  THE WITNESS:  I have it on a bug I could
  


16   set up and upload it and start looking, or we could go
  


17   home right now, whichever you prefer.
  


18                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Mr. Chairman?
  


19                  THE WITNESS:  It's up to Mr. Murphy.
  


20   He's my counsel.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is that your final
  


22   question?
  


23                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  No, it's not my
  


24   final question.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's move on to
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 1   something else.
  


 2                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Am I going to get
  


 3   the information?
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.  We'll have him
  


 5   send it to you during the break.
  


 6                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Okay.
  


 7   BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
  


 8       Q.    Is it your position -- I'll let you make your
  


 9   note.
  


10             Okay?
  


11       A.    Got it.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  Is it your position that recreational
  


13   use of the river can never be commercial?
  


14       A.    I heard there are some cases below the
  


15   Supreme Court level that talked about commercial
  


16   recreational boating, saying that did qualify; but I
  


17   haven't seen any evidence of recreational commercial --
  


18   or commercialized recreational boating from the
  


19   statehood accounts.  And I believe the modern
  


20   recreational boating concept is governed by PPL.
  


21       Q.    The modern recreational boating concept being
  


22   governed by PPL, can you clarify what you mean by that?
  


23       A.    The U.S. Supreme Court decision in PPL
  


24   Montana talked quite a bit about what you had to do to,
  


25   at a minimum, determine if the commercial boating,
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 1   modern recreational boating, was applicable for
  


 2   consideration.
  


 3       Q.    Right, and that was in terms of establishing
  


 4   an evidentiary foundation for modern boating being
  


 5   evidence of navigability, correct?
  


 6       A.    Right.
  


 7       Q.    But there's nothing in PPL Montana that
  


 8   discusses whether recreational boating can qualify as a
  


 9   commercial use of a river, correct?
  


10       A.    I guess it just addresses all rec -- whether
  


11   recreational boating can qualify as evidence for
  


12   navigability, of any kind.
  


13       Q.    But I think the focus on PPL is that it's
  


14   modern boating?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  Do you recall reading in the Special
  


17   Master's report discussion of recreational boating as
  


18   being a potential commercial use?
  


19       A.    I don't remember.  I read it back before the
  


20   Santa Cruz hearing.
  


21       Q.    Slide 52 of your PowerPoint.  I should have
  


22   put these in order, because now I'm having my same out
  


23   of focus problem.
  


24             Okay.  You cite to Winkleman in that case, or
  


25   on that slide, where it says, "[E]vidence of the
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 1   River's condition after obstructions cause a reduction
  


 2   in its flow is likely of less significance than
  


 3   evidence of the River in its more natural condition and
  


 4   may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    Do you recognize that?
  


 7             Now, the context of that statement that the
  


 8   Court made in that opinion, do you remember the
  


 9   context?
  


10       A.    You mean the appeal?
  


11       Q.    Yes, in the opinion.
  


12       A.    Yeah.
  


13       Q.    Yes.
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And what was the context?
  


16       A.    That the examples and considering the boating
  


17   that occurred in the unnatural condition did not
  


18   disprove navigability or prove navigability.  What
  


19   they're saying here is it really doesn't relate to
  


20   navigability.
  


21       Q.    Actually, this paragraph or phrase from the
  


22   opinion in Winkleman is actually referring to an
  


23   argument that Defenders made with respect to expert
  


24   opinion that was based on the river in its actual
  


25   condition, as opposed to its natural condition.
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 1             And we had argued in the Winkleman case that
  


 2   it was error for the Commission to consider expert
  


 3   opinion, and included in that expert opinion was your
  


 4   opinion, because if you recall, when you opined on the
  


 5   Salt River the last time around, you did not attempt to
  


 6   determine what it would be like in its natural
  


 7   condition.  Do you recall that?
  


 8       A.    That is correct.
  


 9       Q.    Okay.  So if you could just maybe find this
  


10   excerpt from Winkleman.  I might be able to help you
  


11   here.  It's Paragraph 31.
  


12       A.    That's right, on page 29.
  


13       Q.    Paragraph 31.
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And if you would just read the beginning of
  


16   that paragraph?
  


17       A.    "Appellants also contend that ANSAC erred in
  


18   reviewing and considering expert opinions and other
  


19   evidence that evaluated the River in its depleted
  


20   condition -- after dams, canals, and other man-made
  


21   diversions -- rather than when it was free of
  


22   artificial obstructions.  Although evidence of the
  


23   River's condition after obstructions caused a reduction
  


24   in its flow is likely of less significance than
  


25   evidence of the River in its more natural condition and
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 1   may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"
  


 2       Q.    And then going on, the next sentence.
  


 3       A.    "Appellants' contention generally goes more
  


 4   to the weight to be afforded the evidence than its
  


 5   admissibility."
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  So modern evidence or evidence when
  


 7   the river is not in its ordinary and natural condition,
  


 8   what the Court was saying there is it may be less
  


 9   probative, but that goes to weight, not admissibility,
  


10   correct?
  


11       A.    I wasn't arguing admissibility.
  


12       Q.    In your presentation you talk about, I think
  


13   you referred to it as, the PPL Montana test with
  


14   respect to dragging boats.
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    Do you recall that statement?
  


17             And, in fact, PPL Montana, the facts of PPL
  


18   Montana, didn't involve any dragging of boats, correct?
  


19       A.    I know it involved some trappers, but I don't
  


20   know if they dragged the boats.  But I think that came
  


21   from a case that the Supreme Court cited to.
  


22       Q.    That's exactly right.  That's my point.  It
  


23   was just citing to an Oregon, U.S. v. Oregon, case and
  


24   just basically reviewing the law; that this wasn't
  


25   enough if it's just dragging boats, and citing to the
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 1   U.S. v. Oregon case, correct?
  


 2       A.    If the U.S. Supreme Court says this is the
  


 3   law as established -- or this Court set the law and
  


 4   here it is, I figure it's the law, yeah.
  


 5       Q.    Right.  But it wasn't a new test, I guess my
  


 6   point is, is this is not some new ground that PPL
  


 7   Montana established; this was well-settled law?
  


 8       A.    That, I wouldn't know, because I mean when
  


 9   the U.S. Supreme Court says it, it's done.  When the
  


10   Appellate Courts say it, you attorneys have a lot of
  


11   fun.  So they really put it into concrete, I feel.
  


12       Q.    I guess my issue that I'm taking with you is
  


13   your characterization that this was some sort of test
  


14   announced by PPL Montana, and what I'm saying is this
  


15   was really just a recitation of existing law by that
  


16   Court.
  


17       A.    If you want to change it to well-established
  


18   principles, I'm fine with that.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  See, we lawyers are wordsmiths.  We
  


20   care a lot about how you phrase it.
  


21       A.    I totally get that.
  


22       Q.    Sort of along the same lines, Slide 129 of
  


23   your presentation.
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    This is where you take what you present as a
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 1   quote from Winkleman, page 30, which I'm not sure what
  


 2   page 30 you're referencing there.
  


 3       A.    The copy I have has page numbers on it,
  


 4   but --
  


 5       Q.    So that's not the official reporter copy, but
  


 6   maybe the opinion, loose-leaf opinion?
  


 7       A.    I think it's the loose-leaf opinion.
  


 8       Q.    Okay.  At any rate, you state that there's
  


 9   two steps in demonstrating susceptibility, and you
  


10   include this quote.  But, in fact, Winkleman, in that
  


11   opinion, is simply quoting the U.S. v. Utah case,
  


12   correct?
  


13       A.    Was that Utah?  Was Murray Hawkins -- well,
  


14   the footnote that it goes to, 18, refers to a lot of
  


15   cases.
  


16       Q.    Actually, if you look at Paragraph 31 of
  


17   Winkleman --
  


18       A.    Right.  And the quote --
  


19       Q.    -- that language you're quoting on your slide
  


20   is actually in a parenthetical that follows a quote --
  


21   or a citation to the United States v. Utah.
  


22       A.    But it also has a Footnote 18 that cites to
  


23   other cases.
  


24       Q.    That is correct, but --
  


25       A.    So it's from a series of cases.
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 1       Q.    -- according to citation --
  


 2             No.  According to legal citation, the
  


 3   parenthetical is from the case that it follows.
  


 4       A.    Okay.
  


 5                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Could we agree that as
  


 6   far as the legal issues are concerned that you're
  


 7   debating with Mr. Gookin, we can determine those upon
  


 8   reference to our attorney?
  


 9                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Right, I realize
  


10   that; but he is present -- he's including these in his
  


11   slides, and he's presenting this as language from
  


12   Winkleman, when, in fact, it's a quote within a quote,
  


13   and I think that it's important to establish.
  


14                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I think the Commission
  


15   can make that decision.
  


16                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I'm going to make my
  


17   record, Mr. Chairman.
  


18   BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
  


19       Q.    So this two-step requirement, there's nothing
  


20   in Winkleman that establishes this two-step
  


21   requirement.  This is something you've actually added
  


22   the numbers to that, correct?  The quote itself doesn't
  


23   break it out as a two-step process?
  


24       A.    Oh, yes, I added those 1 and 2.  I just broke
  


25   the clauses apart.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  And there is nothing in the holding of
  


 2   Winkleman that actually addresses and says that in
  


 3   order to establish navigability under the
  


 4   susceptibility test, that you have to first establish
  


 5   some sort of lack of settlement?  That's something that
  


 6   you have inferred from that opinion, correct?
  


 7       A.    That's what I -- how I read it, but I'm an
  


 8   engineer.
  


 9       Q.    Okay.  And there's nothing in the Arizona
  


10   statute that defines navigability that conditions the
  


11   susceptibility of use to the fact that it hasn't been
  


12   developed or the area hasn't been settled?
  


13       A.    Not that I'm aware of.
  


14       Q.    Now, when Mr. Helm was questioning you, he
  


15   asked you about some of the cases that you had read,
  


16   and you mentioned that you had read a case out of
  


17   Oregon involving the Rogue River?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    And is that the Hardy versus State Land Board
  


20   case?
  


21       A.    I'm sorry, I don't remember the name.  It
  


22   just came out very recently.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  October 2015?
  


24       A.    Probably.
  


25                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Do you want this as
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 1   evidence?
  


 2                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Yeah.
  


 3                  MR. SLADE:  Mr. Chair, I'm not sure we
  


 4   usually put cases in evidence, just for Mr. Mehnert's
  


 5   information, and this is a case.
  


 6                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Well, she said she
  


 7   wanted it as evidence.
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And we understand that.
  


 9   Thank you, Mr. Slade.  It's a little loose.
  


10   BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
  


11       Q.    Do you recall in this case that the Court
  


12   addressed this issue of whether there was some
  


13   precondition to using the susceptibility test?
  


14       A.    No, I don't.  I focused more on the modern --
  


15       Q.    Okay.
  


16       A.    -- portions, the modern recreational
  


17   portions.  But no.
  


18       Q.    If you could turn to page 9, on the left-hand
  


19   column, the bottom paragraph that starts "We also
  


20   reject"?
  


21       A.    Okay.
  


22       Q.    And if you could just read that.
  


23       A.    "We also reject petitioners' suggestion (at
  


24   oral argument) that the 'susceptibility of use'
  


25   standard is applicable only where the area in question


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 1845


  


 1   was essentially uninhabited or only sparsely settled at
  


 2   the time of statehood.  Although those may have been
  


 3   the extant circumstances in United States v. Utah, the
  


 4   Supreme Court did not then, and has not since, held
  


 5   that the susceptibility-of-use standard is so limited.
  


 6   Indeed, the Court, in PPL Montana, cited United
  


 7   States v. Utah for the proposition that a river's
  


 8   'potential' for commercial use at the time of statehood
  


 9   is the 'crucial' question."
  


10       Q.    That's good.  Okay.
  


11                  MR. MURPHY:  Is that a question?
  


12                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I just wanted to --
  


13   I'm going to follow up with a question.
  


14                  MR. MURPHY:  Okay.
  


15   BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:
  


16       Q.    So does that change your understanding of
  


17   whether there has to be some demonstration that an area
  


18   was sparsely settled before the Commission or a Court
  


19   considers the susceptibility to navigation?
  


20       A.    I never thought that sparsely settled was the
  


21   only way you could demonstrate that the navigation
  


22   wasn't needed and, therefore, didn't occur.
  


23             If you can come up with a different way to
  


24   say this navigation, while it was needed, couldn't have
  


25   occurred because, fill in the reasons, and it was
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 1   persuasive, then you've met the first part of the test.
  


 2       Q.    So your contention is that susceptibility of
  


 3   use is only to be considered if, what?
  


 4       A.    If you can establish that there was some
  


 5   reason other than a lack of navigability that caused
  


 6   the people not to navigate.
  


 7       Q.    And your legal authority for articulating the
  


 8   test this way?
  


 9       A.    That's my reading of Winkleman, right or
  


10   wrong.
  


11       Q.    Your reading of Winkleman, which was
  


12   citing/quoting U.S. v. Utah?
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    Which U.S. v. Utah was interpreted just
  


15   recently by this Oregon Appellate Court?
  


16       A.    But only as far as settlement.  It didn't say
  


17   for any reason.
  


18       Q.    Okay.
  


19       A.    If I might expand, the second part was that
  


20   Mr. Fuller said the sparse settlement was a reason it
  


21   didn't occur, and I was explaining why it would have
  


22   occurred even so.
  


23       Q.    Just to be clear, what is the authority upon
  


24   which you base your contention that a trip has to be on
  


25   a river that is in its virgin condition?
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 1       A.    That would be the -- I think I said nearly
  


 2   virgin, but that would be the Winkleman case that kept
  


 3   talking about it has to be in its natural condition.
  


 4       Q.    So from the fact that the river has to be
  


 5   evaluated in its natural condition, you've extrapolated
  


 6   that only navigation that occurs on a river in its
  


 7   natural condition is evidence of navigability?
  


 8       A.    I believe that's the case, yes.
  


 9       Q.    And yet you're aware that Courts have based
  


10   findings of navigability on navigation of rivers that
  


11   are not in their ordinary and natural condition?
  


12       A.    Well, I thought that was normally how it was
  


13   done until Winkleman.
  


14       Q.    You also contended in your testimony with
  


15   Mr. Helm that a boat had to be reasonably either
  


16   economically disposed of -- can't read my own writing,
  


17   sorry. -- or the trip has to be a two-way trip?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    What is your legal authority for that
  


20   contention?
  


21       A.    In the Defenders case, they said that there
  


22   can be no legal presumption that it has to be two ways.
  


23   Now, the fact it's not a legal principle means to me
  


24   it's a factual principle.  And you're talking about a
  


25   highway of commerce.  Therefore, you've got to have


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 1848


  


 1   some sort of demonstration that it's, I think,
  


 2   reasonably practicable.  And that's my interpretation
  


 3   of what would constitute reasonably practicable.
  


 4       Q.    Are you aware of any Court case where the
  


 5   Court has held that a trip that only goes downriver is
  


 6   not evidence of navigability by virtue of the fact that
  


 7   it only goes downriver?
  


 8       A.    Well, the Defenders said that just -- if it
  


 9   goes -- if it just goes downriver, it didn't say it was
  


10   wrong.  It said there's no presumption, which to me
  


11   means legally it hasn't been defined.  So I'm bringing
  


12   up the factual aspects relating to what's it take to be
  


13   a highway of commerce.
  


14       Q.    Other than Defenders, are you aware of any
  


15   case where a Court has held that travel has to be
  


16   two-way?
  


17       A.    Well, I would say Daniel Ball, because it
  


18   said highway of commerce.  That's what that phrase
  


19   means to me.
  


20       Q.    Highway just means two-way traffic?
  


21       A.    Well, it's got to be -- it's highway of
  


22   commerce, which means there has to be -- it has to be
  


23   feasible; and to be feasible, you're either going to
  


24   have to take the boat both ways or you've got to have
  


25   something you can tear apart when you get down there,
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 1   otherwise it's just a fictional highway.
  


 2       Q.    Is it your contention -- you've read a
  


 3   portion of PPL Montana.  I think it was the first
  


 4   sentence under Subpart B.  Do you recall reading that,
  


 5   where the Court held as a matter of law?
  


 6       A.    Oh, yes.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.  Do you want to refer back to that?
  


 8             I thought I had it here.
  


 9       A.    It should be on page 21, Section B, the first
  


10   sentence.
  


11       Q.    I found it.  Yeah, thank you.
  


12             So if you would reread that sentence, but
  


13   then continue reading.
  


14       A.    Okay.
  


15             "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a
  


16   matter of law in its reliance upon the evidence of
  


17   present-day, primarily recreational use of the Madison
  


18   River.  Error is not inherent in a court's
  


19   consideration of such evidence, but the evidence must
  


20   be confined to that which shows the river could sustain
  


21   the kinds of [commerce,] commercial [commerce,] use
  


22   that, as a realistic matter, might have occurred at the
  


23   time of statehood."
  


24       Q.    Okay.  That's --
  


25       A.    And, by the way, that "realistic" puts me
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 1   back to the two-way travel.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  So the opinion goes on to discuss
  


 3   under what circumstances the Court can consider modern
  


 4   use, correct?
  


 5       A.    That's correct.
  


 6       Q.    So it's not -- the PPL Montana case did not
  


 7   say, as a matter of law, that you should not or could
  


 8   not ever consider modern day use?
  


 9       A.    I have read that paragraph a dozen times, and
  


10   when it keeps -- it keeps going and it leads into the
  


11   other statements that the minimal proof necessary, at a
  


12   minimum they need to, and meaningfully similar and the
  


13   rivers have to be similar.
  


14             And I can't figure out, in the English, if
  


15   they're saying, okay, you have to do those two tests,
  


16   and which I considered; and then once you've done that,
  


17   you may or may not be allowed to use it.
  


18             On the face of it, I would say, well, it's
  


19   just wrong as a matter of law, so you can't use it, but
  


20   you can do these two tests if you're bored.
  


21       Q.    But, now, going back to the Hardy case, the
  


22   recent case out of the Oregon Court of Appeals.
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    In fact, in that case the Court did rely upon
  


25   evidence of modern day use?
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 1       A.    Yes, they did.
  


 2       Q.    And they addressed the PPL Montana
  


 3   requirements and said that those requirements had been
  


 4   met, correct?
  


 5       A.    Well, they said they had been met.  I would
  


 6   disagree they addressed the requirements.
  


 7                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  That's all I have.
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  Also, the factual basis of
  


 9   that case was different as to what happened at
  


10   statehood.
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, I always love to
  


12   say this.  Mr. Gookin, there's no question before you.
  


13                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.
  


14                  There's one question before you.  Can we
  


15   go?
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Do you think you can
  


17   get done in four minutes?
  


18                  MR. SLADE:  If I ask one question and
  


19   get the right answer, I could; but it would take a lot.
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We would expect you to
  


21   have some pretty significant questioning.
  


22                  MR. SLADE:  Yes.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So we'll put it off
  


24   until the next meeting.  Is that all right?
  


25                  MR. SLADE:  That's all right.
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 1                  MR. SPARKS:  Is Joy done?
  


 2                  MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I'm done.
  


 3                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  We're going to
  


 4   adjourn for Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year's.
  


 5                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Do you want to
  


 6   announce, Mr. Chairman, where the next meeting is going
  


 7   to be?
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
  


 9                  We are going to meet on December 15 to
  


10   argue the Verde River.  That starts at 9:00 a.m. where,
  


11   George; here?
  


12                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Yes.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Here in this
  


14   room, on Tuesday, December 15, we will argue the Verde
  


15   River case.
  


16                  And then on Tuesday, January 26th, in
  


17   the tower with the balcony overlooking Central and the
  


18   stadiums, we will begin again on the Salt River, and,
  


19   Mr. Gookin, you will be on the stand.  And we hope you
  


20   enjoy Thanksgiving and Christmas and New Year's.
  


21                  And then is there anyone other than
  


22   Mr. Slade who intends to examine Mr. Gookin further?
  


23                  (No response.)
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then following
  


25   Mr. Gookin, is our next witness going to be


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015 1853


  


 1   Dr. Littlefield?
  


 2                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Dr. Littlefield after
  


 3   the --
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
  


 5                  MR. MCGINNIS:  We're still working
  


 6   through some schedules.  Some other people have people
  


 7   that aren't available in February that we might slip in
  


 8   ahead of him, but right now it's Dr. Littlefield.
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
  


10                  MR. MCGINNIS:  And we'll let people know
  


11   if it's changed.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then we're in recess.
  


13                  (The hearing adjourned at 3:29 p.m.)
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11
  


12
           _______________________________________


13                  JODY L. LENSCHOW, RMR, CRR
                      Certified Reporter


14                     Arizona CR No. 50192
  


15
             I CERTIFY that Coash & Coash, Inc., has


16   complied with the ethical obligations set forth in
   ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).


17
  


18
  


19
  


20
  


21
  


22
  


23
           _______________________________________


24                    COASH & COASH, INC.
                    Registered Reporting Firm


25                    Arizona RRF No. R1036


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ










                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1684





            1                         BEFORE THE



            2      ARIZONA NAVIGABLE STREAM ADJUDICATION COMMISSION



            3



            4  IN THE MATTER OF THE        ) Nos. 03-005-NAV

                                           )      04-008-NAV

            5  NAVIGABILITY OF THE         )      (Consolidated)

                                           )

            6  SALT RIVER                  ) ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING

               ____________________________)

            7



            8



            9

               At:       Phoenix, Arizona

           10

               Date:     November 20, 2015

           11  

               Filed:    December 10, 2015

           12



           13

                        REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

           14

                                        VOLUME 8

           15

                            Pages 1684 through 1854, Inclusive

           16



           17



           18



           19



           20

                                        COASH & COASH, INC.

           21               Court Reporting, Video & Videoconferencing

                              1802 N. 7th Street, Phoenix, AZ  85006

           22                 602-258-1440   staff@coashandcoash.com



           23                         Prepared by:

                                      Jody L. Lenschow, RMR, CRR

           24                         Certificate No. 50192



           25





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1685





            1                   INDEX TO EXAMINATIONS



            2  WITNESS                                         PAGE



            3

               THOMAS ALLEN JAUDON GOOKIN, P.E., RLS, PH

            4

                   CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED) BY MR. HELM   1692

            5      EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN           1720

                   CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED) BY MR. HELM   1723

            6      EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN           1787

                   CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED) BY MR. HELM   1788

            7      CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO      1829



            8



            9



           10



           11



           12



           13



           14



           15



           16



           17



           18



           19



           20



           21



           22



           23



           24



           25





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1686





            1                 BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled



            2  and numbered matter came on regularly to be heard



            3  before the Arizona Navigable Stream Adjudication



            4  Commission, at State Senate Building, Hearing Room 1,



            5  1700 West Washington Street, Phoenix, Arizona,



            6  commencing at 9:06 a.m. on the 20th day of November,



            7  2015.



            8

               BEFORE:   WADE NOBLE, Chairman

            9            JIM HENNESS, Vice Chairman

                         JIM HORTON, Commissioner

           10            BILL ALLEN, Commissioner



           11

               COMMISSION STAFF:

           12

                    Mr. George Mehnert, Director,

           13       Legal Assistant, Research Analyst



           14



           15  APPEARANCES:



           16

               For the Arizona Navigable Stream Adjudication

           17  Commission:



           18       SQUIRE PATTON BOGGS (US) LLP

                    By Mr. Fred E. Breedlove, III, Esq.

           19       1 East Washington Street

                    Suite 2700

           20       Phoenix, Arizona 85004

                    (602) 528-4000

           21       fred.breedlove@squirepb.com



           22



           23



           24



           25





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1687





            1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:



            2  For Freeport Minerals Corporation:



            3       FENNEMORE CRAIG, PC

                    By Mr. Sean T. Hood, Esq.

            4       2394 East Camelback Road

                    Suite 600

            5       Phoenix, Arizona 85016

                    (602) 916-5475

            6       shood@fclaw.com



            7



            8  For the Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and

               Power District and Salt River Valley Water Users'

            9  Association:



           10       SALMON LEWIS & WELDON, PLC

                    By Mr. Mark A. McGinnis, Esq.

           11       By Mr. R. Jeffrey Heilman

                    2850 East Camelback Road

           12       Suite 200

                    Phoenix, Arizona 85016

           13       (602) 801-9066

                    mam@slwplc.com

           14       rjh@slwplc.com



           15



           16  For Arizona State Land Department:



           17       ARIZONA ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE

                    By Mr. Edwin W. Slade, III

           18       By Ms. Laurie Hachtel

                    Assistant Attorneys General

           19       1275 West Washington

                    Phoenix, Arizona  85007

           20       (602) 542-7785

                    NaturalResources@azag.gov

           21



           22



           23



           24



           25





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1688





            1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:



            2

               For Maricopa County:

            3

                    HELM, LIVESAY & WORTHINGTON, LTD

            4       By Mr. John Helm, Esq.

                    1619 East Guadalupe Road

            5       Suite 1

                    Tempe, Arizona  85283

            6       (480) 345-9500

                    helm.john@hlwaz.com

            7



            8

               For Yavapai-Apache Nation:

            9

                    MONTGOMERY & INTERPRETER, PLC

           10       By Ms. Susan B. Montgomery

                    4835 East Cactus Road

           11       Suite 210

                    Scottsdale, Arizona 85254

           12       (480) 513-6825

                    smontgomery@milawaz.com

           13       rinterpreter@milawaz.com



           14



           15  For Defenders of Wildlife, et al.:



           16       ARIZONA CENTER FOR LAW IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST

                    By Ms. Joy E. Herr-Cardillo

           17       2205 East Speedway Boulevard

                    Tucson, Arizona  85719

           18       520-529-1798

                    jherrcardillo@aclpi.org

           19



           20

               For the City of Phoenix:

           21

                    CITY OF PHOENIX LAW DEPARTMENT

           22       By Ms. Cynthia S. Campbell

                    200 West Washington Street

           23       Suite 1300

                    Phoenix, Arizona  85003-1611

           24       602-262-6761

                    cynthia.campbell@phoenix.gov

           25





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1689





            1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:



            2



            3  For San Carlos Apache Tribe:



            4       THE SPARKS LAW FIRM, PC

                    By Mr. Joe P. Sparks, Esq.

            5       By Ms. Julia Kolsrud

                    7503 East First Street

            6       Scottsdale, Arizona 85251

                    (480) 949-1339

            7       JoeSparks@sparkslawaz.com

                    julia@sparkslawaz.com

            8



            9

               For Cemex:

           10

                    LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER, L.L.P.

           11       By Ms. Carla A Consoli

                    201 East Washington Street

           12       Suite 1200

                    Phoenix, AZ 85004-2595

           13       (602) 262-5311

                    cconsoli@lrrlaw.com

           14



           15

               For Gila River Indian Community:

           16

                    By Thomas L. Murphy, Esq.

           17       Deputy General Counsel

                    By Ms. Rebecca Hall

           18       Senior Assistant General Counsel

                    525 West Gu u Ki

           19       Post Office Box 97

                    Sacaton, Arizona  85147

           20       (602) 562-9760

                    thomas.murphy@gric.nsn.us

           21       rebecca.hall@gric.nsn.us



           22



           23



           24



           25





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1690





            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Good morning.  We



            2  welcome you to the hearing on the Salt River before the



            3  Navigable Stream Adjudication Commission.  We are in



            4  our fourth day this week, and we'll begin by having a



            5  roll call.



            6                 Mr. Mehnert.



            7                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen?



            8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.



            9                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Henness?



           10                 COMMISSIONER HENNESS:  Present.



           11                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton?



           12                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.



           13                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.



           15                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  We have a quorum, all



           16  four Commissioners are here.  And our attorney, Fred



           17  Breedlove, is at the donut table.



           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Those of you who may



           19  not be aware, you're invited to get donuts.  It might



           20  be a little bit difficult, John, for you to eat the



           21  donut and ask the questions, but I'm sure you can



           22  manage.



           23                 MR. HELM:  I'm just getting coffee to



           24  stay awake.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We do note that Dunkin
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            1  Donuts, unlike Starbucks, is celebrating Christmas this



            2  year, and we do appreciate that.  We have to have a



            3  verbal pause here until Mr. Helm gets back and begins



            4  his -- I mean begins his questioning.



            5                 Could we have your name, the attorney



            6  who arrived?



            7                 REBECCA HALL:  Rebecca Hall, H-A-L-L.



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rebecca Hall.  Thank



            9  you very much.



           10                 Mr. Gookin, are you ready?



           11                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, Mr. Helm?



           13                 MR. HELM:  I'm getting there real quick.



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Whenever you're



           15  ready, just go ahead and start.



           16                 MR. HELM:  Very good.  Thank you.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So while Mr. Helm does



           18  one more thing, if you'll look over near the donut



           19  table, you'll see an amazing new invention.  Can you



           20  figure out what it is?



           21                 It's a self-standing trash bag.



           22                 MR. SLADE:  Concealing the evidence,



           23  huh?



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, there's some



           25  in the room that hope you hurry.
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            1                 MR. HELM:  I'm kind of enjoying the



            2  running monologue, personally.  I mean, you know, I'm



            3  thinking maybe late-night TV.



            4                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Now we'll see how



            5  many questions you actually cut out.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  How will you know,



            7  George, how will you know?



            8                 MR. HELM:  I was going to say, has he



            9  been tapping into my computer.



           10                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And we remind everyone



           11  again it is our intent today to finish before 4:30 p.m.



           12  So whatever your transportation plans or get-away plans



           13  might be or parking lot plans may be, we hope to be out



           14  of here before 4:30.



           15                 (A brief recess was taken.)



           16



           17              CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



           18  BY MR. HELM:



           19      Q.    Okay.  I'm starting on page 12 of your report



           20  again, okay, where we finished off, but I'm down a



           21  little.  And I particularly want to talk about your



           22  ANSAC 2009 citation that's Footnote 2.



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    That's a citation to the Commission's report



           25  that was the subject of the Winkleman appeal, correct?
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            1      A.    Correct.



            2      Q.    Do you understand the impact of the Court's



            3  reversal in Winkleman on that report?



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    Tell me what you think it is.



            6      A.    I think the Court directed the Commission to



            7  consider the question of navigability with the river



            8  system in its near-virgin condition with ordinary



            9  flows.  But, to me, that doesn't say you have to ignore



           10  the facts that were in the decision.



           11      Q.    Okay.  Well, do you know how lower court



           12  opinions, for example, are treated when they are



           13  reversed by a higher court, in terms of the findings of



           14  fact that are made in the lower court opinion?



           15      A.    It is my understanding, right or wrong, that



           16  the findings of fact remain.  They may no longer be



           17  relevant, because of the change of law; but the



           18  statements of fact are still valid.



           19      Q.    Okay.  And so that's how you treated the



           20  Commission's report; that it's still a valid report



           21  with respect to every fact that it found in its report?



           22      A.    Correct.



           23      Q.    And so when you talk about a citation to the



           24  Commission's report, you believe that to be a citation



           25  to a valid finding of fact that it's appropriate for
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            1  you to make?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    And do you make this conclusion based on any



            4  other legal advice, or this is just your own idea?



            5      A.    This was my own idea.



            6      Q.    Okay, going on to page 14, basically, we have



            7  one paragraph on that page.  And my question to you, is



            8  your citation to footnote 6 the only authority you have



            9  for the statements that are made in that paragraph?



           10      A.    Well, actually, that citation is just for the



           11  sentence "...that by 1699 the Pimas were established in



           12  the region."  The rest of it is from me.



           13      Q.    That's Gookin on Pimas?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    Page 16, above the European Occupancy, you



           16  talk about the Spaniards and things.  Is this also just



           17  Gookin on the Spaniards, or do you have some authority



           18  for your statements in that paragraph?



           19      A.    The footnote is to Stantech 1998, which would



           20  be Mr. Fuller's report of 1998.



           21      Q.    So you're relying on Mr. Fuller's report for



           22  the statements in that paragraph?



           23      A.    That are footnoted, yes.



           24      Q.    If they're not footnoted -- my problem is, if



           25  you look at the paragraph immediately above the bolded
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            1  European Occupancy, I don't see any footnotes.



            2      A.    Oh, you're talking about that paragraph.



            3            That's Gookin on Gookin or on Pima or



            4  whoever.



            5      Q.    The Spaniards?



            6      A.    I mean I've read all the accounts, so . . .



            7      Q.    When you say you've read all the accounts,



            8  you mean accounts of what?



            9      A.    Of the Spaniards visiting the Pimas.



           10      Q.    Okay, so --



           11                 MR. SPARKS:  Pardon me, Counsel, but can



           12  you get the mike a little closer to you?



           13                 MR. HELM:  If I get it any closer, Joe,



           14  I'll be eating it.



           15                 MR. SPARKS:  Okay.  Well, go ahead and



           16  eat that then.



           17                 MR. HELM:  Sorry, ain't gonna happen.



           18                 MR. SPARKS:  Might as well.



           19  BY MR. HELM:



           20      Q.    With respect to the accounts, can you



           21  identify them for me?



           22      A.    Oh, I've read the Kino accounts.  There were



           23  several Jesuits.  I've read Carl Hayden's summary of



           24  those accounts.  I've read Ezell.  I've read Russell.



           25  I've read -- I don't know how many things I've read
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            1  about when the Spaniards visited the Pimas, that



            2  portion of their trips.



            3      Q.    Okay.  So your knowledge on the Spaniards is



            4  limited to accounts of their visit to the Pimas?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    And how long did the visit last?



            7      A.    Oh, it was usually a week or two, I would



            8  say, a moderate.  I mean they did stay over a little,



            9  but it wasn't permanent.



           10      Q.    And do you know how many times they visited



           11  them?



           12      A.    I think about half dozen, but I can't list



           13  them.



           14      Q.    Okay.  Now going on to page 18, again, just



           15  above your Number 1 bolded statement, you state, "I



           16  believe that for a trip to be considered proof of



           17  navigability, it must meet additional standards



           18  established by the Courts."



           19            Do you see that?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    Would you tell me what additional standards



           22  you're referring to?



           23      A.    Well, as I indicated, I made a list of



           24  criteria that I believed applied, and we've gotten as



           25  far as Number 1 and --
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            1      Q.    And diverged?



            2      A.    And diverged, yes.



            3      Q.    So this would be a good time to get them all



            4  in one place.



            5      A.    We can try.



            6      Q.    I'll try and keep my mouth shut until you



            7  tell me you're through the list, okay?



            8      A.    I'm dying to see this.



            9      Q.    So am I, but we've got to try it.



           10      A.    Okay.



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That lasted all of



           12  three seconds.



           13                 MR. HELM:  He hasn't read anything from



           14  the list yet.



           15                 THE WITNESS:  First, I thought that the



           16  trip must not involve portages or portages, as you



           17  pronounce it.  Second, the trip must not involve



           18  pushing, hauling or dragging the boat.  Third, I



           19  thought the navigable reach must not be so brief as to



           20  be -- as to not be a commercial reality.  Can't -- it



           21  has to -- I forget the exact phrase, but it can't be



           22  real short.  Four, I thought the trip had to be on the



           23  river and not the canals, and by that I mean it's okay



           24  if it was on both.  The river portion counts, but the



           25  canal portions don't.
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            1                 Fifth, I thought that the evidence of



            2  the trip should be when the river was in its



            3  substantively undisturbed condition, near virgin.



            4  Sixth, I thought the account should be plausible.



            5  Seventh, I thought the boat either has to be a boat



            6  that could be economically disposed of or the trip



            7  needs to be a two-way trip.



            8                 I'm just waiting for you to catch up on



            9  writing.



           10  BY MR. HELM:



           11      Q.    I appreciate it.



           12      A.    Eighth, the trip must not be a ferry.



           13      Q.    And by that you mean ferry boat?



           14      A.    A ferry boat that just goes across the river.



           15            Ninth, the trip must not be during flood



           16  conditions.  And on that, I know drought conditions



           17  also applies, but I never got to that point, so I left



           18  it off.  Tenth, it must have happened.  It can't just



           19  be an announcement I'm going to go out tomorrow.  And



           20  eleventh, I believe that all goods and/or passengers



           21  should arrive safely.



           22            And that's it.



           23      Q.    I only broke my rule twice.



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We didn't count those.



           25  Those were minor.
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            1  BY MR. HELM:



            2      Q.    Okay.  I think we've talked about portages.



            3  Would you agree?



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    And I think we've established that the



            6  pushing and hauling parameter basically meant you can't



            7  get out of the boat to move it?



            8      A.    Correct.



            9      Q.    And I think you've established that the reach



           10  had to be 10 miles?



           11      A.    Approximately, yeah.  That was my --



           12      Q.    Give or take?



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    9 to 11, somewhere in that ballpark?



           15      A.    Or more, I mean.



           16      Q.    Could be longer?



           17      A.    It could be longer, yes.



           18      Q.    That would be the minimum.



           19            And on that question, do you have any



           20  authority for the 10 mile or its equivalent, that you



           21  know of?



           22      A.    In the Montana case they talk about the



           23  19-mile stretch, but I didn't think that it came out



           24  and fully said that's their criteria; but it did



           25  influence my thinking.  But then I wanted to err on the
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            1  side of caution, and that's why I ended up about half



            2  of it.



            3      Q.    So the 10 standard is Gookin on distance?



            4      A.    Yeah.



            5      Q.    I'm a little confused by your one that



            6  required the river to be virgin or near virgin.



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    Can you explain that a little more to me?  In



            9  other words, any trip would not qualify as a trip that



           10  you could use to determine navigability unless the



           11  river was in a virgin state?



           12      A.    Or near virgin.



           13      Q.    Okay.  I mean what's near virgin?



           14      A.    Well, the Winkleman court talked about using



           15  the 1800, 1860, 1830 period, acknowledging that humans



           16  had been there, but they had left, and they thought it



           17  had gotten back to near virgin conditions.



           18            So with that intent, I thought the evidence



           19  should relate to before the evidence at -- or it should



           20  be before the development by the Euro-Americans.



           21      Q.    And you would agree that the river or the



           22  Salt River, as we're talking about in this case, was



           23  substantially changed by the date of statehood?



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    So all of the trips that were before -- or at
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            1  least that you found that were before statehood, but



            2  after 1860 or thereabouts, would not qualify because



            3  the river was getting less and less virgin?



            4      A.    Yes, and as to exactly whether it was 1860, I



            5  think it had to be 1867, '8, '9, '70.  I'm --



            6      Q.    I won't argue with you on that --



            7      A.    Right in that area.



            8      Q.    -- on that time frame.



            9            I'm just saying that from whenever that was



           10  to the date of statehood, every trip that was down



           11  there, made by anybody, you have ruled out as evidence



           12  of navigability --



           13      A.    I don't think it --



           14      Q.    -- because it wasn't a virgin river?



           15      A.    It wasn't in the natural condition, yes.



           16      Q.    And the next item I believe was account



           17  plausible?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    Tell me what that means.  I mean, to me,



           20  plausibility is what I call a weasel word.



           21      A.    Thank you.



           22      Q.    It's in the eyes of the beholder.



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    And is that what that means?



           25      A.    That's basically what it does mean.  When I
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            1  read the article, the facts should be consistent



            2  internally.  For example, one of the accounts they



            3  talked about the river was going 15 miles per hour or



            4  22 feet a second.  And yet the flow on the date they



            5  say the trip occurred was the 9th and the flow was



            6  2,000 cfs, which is about 3 feet per second.



            7            And that makes me question the validity of



            8  the report.  And my guess would be that the 9th is an



            9  incorrect statement and, therefore, it was a big flood.



           10  In other words, you have to try to look at these things



           11  to get as good a picture as you can.



           12      Q.    So if I understand what you're saying, is



           13  that you looked at a claimed trip and tried to make it



           14  work one way or another, if you could; i.e., they've



           15  said it's an fcs [sic] that is too big for that date,



           16  so it must have occurred on another date in a flood



           17  condition, or, conversely, they've got the cfs wrong



           18  and the right date, that kind of analysis?



           19      A.    Yes.



           20      Q.    And did you have any facts that you were



           21  relying on when you, for example, concluded that the



           22  cfs is wrong for that date and so, therefore, it must



           23  have been a flood, and the closest flood was, and pick



           24  a date?



           25      A.    Yes, and I would -- when I put that in my
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            1  report, I footnoted there were reports that had flow



            2  numbers from the USGS for a scattering of dates.  In



            3  other words, they would gage it for a couple years and



            4  then they would stop, and then they would gage here for



            5  a couple years.  And I tried to use those flow data as



            6  I could find them.



            7      Q.    You couldn't always find them, is what you're



            8  saying --



            9      A.    Sometimes there was nothing.



           10      Q.    -- because they didn't have --



           11            You have this get rid of the boat or bring it



           12  back upstream.



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    And when you say bring it back upstream, I



           15  assume that you're requiring that it be rode upstream



           16  or motorized and driven upstream or what have you?



           17      A.    Yes, because from all I've read of other



           18  navigability that was one way, that's how it was done.



           19  It never became an issue because nobody ever tried.



           20      Q.    Okay.  But for a long time you've told us, I



           21  think, that there was a wagon road or some kind of road



           22  that approximated the Salt River as it came north?



           23      A.    That is true.



           24      Q.    Okay.  If I could put my canoe on a wagon,



           25  would that count?
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            1      A.    Yes, but then you need to factor the cost of



            2  the wagon trip.  And it kind of becomes silly, because



            3  it would be cheaper to take the wagon down with the



            4  goods, and then you could take goods back rather than



            5  the canoe.



            6      Q.    What if I wanted a nice smooth river ride,



            7  you know, to make my passengers happy?



            8      A.    If that happened, that would be probably



            9  okay.



           10      Q.    We don't know, do we, one way or another?



           11      A.    Well, it never came up in any of the reports.



           12      Q.    You say the trip couldn't be a ferry, and I



           13  don't mean the wing kind.



           14            Does that mean that you did not use the



           15  information that was available about ferries for any



           16  purpose?



           17      A.    That's correct.  And when I say "ferries," I



           18  made a mistake.  You said a ferry boat.  I would count



           19  a ferry boat.  One of them they tried to float a ferry



           20  boat down.  It had originally been a ferry and then



           21  they used it for transport down the river.  To me,



           22  that's no longer a ferry, even though it was originally



           23  a ferry boat.  I'm talking about crossing the rivers



           24  perpendicular.



           25      Q.    Sure, I got that.
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            1      A.    Roughly perpendicular.



            2      Q.    I'm not even asking you about the one that



            3  broke loose and how far did it go.



            4      A.    Right.



            5      Q.    Because that would be evidence that a boat



            6  could go downriver.



            7      A.    Yeah.



            8      Q.    Alls I want to know is, in terms of -- I take



            9  it that would have qualified for a determination on it



           10  wasn't a ferry any longer; it was a boat going



           11  downriver?



           12      A.    With regard to that one aspect, yes.  The



           13  fact there was no crew, no goods, it was too short



           14  would probably knock it out.



           15      Q.    With respect to the ferries, though, you did



           16  not use any of the information that they made available



           17  by their existence in determining whether the river was



           18  navigable?



           19      A.    That's correct.



           20      Q.    For example, those ferries, at least in the



           21  area where they were used, established some kind of



           22  depth for the river, right?



           23      A.    But we have no idea at what flow.  If we did



           24  know the flow and the ferry was operating that day,



           25  then you could have gotten a depth; but I did not go to
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            1  that level of research.



            2      Q.    Okay.  That information in terms of flows was



            3  available, wasn't it, at least for certain periods of



            4  time when ferries were active?



            5      A.    I think so, yes.



            6      Q.    Just when you're talking about flood



            7  conditions and that being one of your criteria, are you



            8  referring to the 10 percent?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    So you didn't count anything above the



           11  10 percent?



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    Is the all goods must arrive an absolute?



           14  For example, if I was canoeing down the river and



           15  forgot to put my stove in the boat and I stayed



           16  overnight on the shore, would that qualify or



           17  disqualify my trip?



           18      A.    That might -- well, probably if you -- if the



           19  leaving the stove was just because you were --



           20      Q.    Senility.



           21      A.    -- yeah, you were still asleep, that probably



           22  would not disqualify the trip.



           23      Q.    Okay.  So there is some level of not



           24  everything arrives just in the normal course of



           25  human --
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            1      A.    Events.



            2      Q.    -- events, and you would not use those kind



            3  of, oh, geez, I lost a box over the side or something



            4  like that to disqualify navigation?



            5      A.    Right.  I'm talking about when the boat



            6  flipped and they lost their gear and so forth.



            7      Q.    I take it that if a boat flipped, if a canoe



            8  turned over, that would disqualify that trip?



            9      A.    I think it does.



           10      Q.    I'm moving on to page 19 now.



           11      A.    Okay.



           12      Q.    And right above the bolded Burch citation --



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    -- you end with the word "normal."  That's a



           15  scary word to me.



           16      A.    It means the 80 percent range.



           17      Q.    Okay.  So when you use "normal" in your



           18  report, you're referring to what would be the ordinary



           19  condition of the river as you see it?



           20      A.    Right, and in particular, I have been using



           21  the 80 percent range.



           22      Q.    Referring you to page 26, there you talk



           23  about the short trip with the grain?



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    And, first of all, I assume that that boat
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            1  wasn't abandoned at that dock where they dumped the



            2  grain.  Did you assume that?



            3      A.    I didn't worry about that, because it was so



            4  short I figured they could push it upstream.



            5      Q.    They took it home with them afterwards, so



            6  the up and back component would have been --



            7      A.    Well, I don't know they took it back, because



            8  it didn't say.  It's just --



            9      Q.    But you assume they did?



           10      A.    I didn't worry about it.



           11      Q.    Okay.  If 2 to 3.5 miles, depending on how



           12  you measure it, I believe you've testified that's the



           13  distance that they traveled --



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    -- qualifies as a sufficient distance to



           16  determine an area of the river to be navigable, would



           17  this trip then demonstrate that portion of the river



           18  was navigable?



           19      A.    We would still have a question as to what



           20  were the flows, was it in the 80 percent range; and we



           21  just don't know from the account.



           22      Q.    If it turns out that it was, it would



           23  qualify?



           24      A.    I think so.



           25      Q.    Going on to page 27 and another mystery word,
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            1  "swollen."  What do you mean when you say the river is



            2  swollen?



            3      A.    Actually, I was quoting to Mr. Littlefield's



            4  report, which he found an article that said the river



            5  was swollen.  The way I interpret it was that it was in



            6  flood stage of some sort.



            7      Q.    So it would have been in the upper



            8  10 percent?



            9      A.    That would be my guess, yes.  It's not



           10  certain, but that would be a probability.



           11      Q.    If it wasn't in flood stage, would this trip



           12  be a valid trip?



           13      A.    No, because it had no goods and it didn't



           14  convey any person and it was a solo kind of a



           15  half-recreational, half-experimental trip.



           16      Q.    Referring you now to page 29 and the famous



           17  Yuma or Bust trip.



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    And if I understand what you're saying there,



           20  is that they were pushing the boat; and my recollection



           21  of where they were seen pushing the boat, they were on



           22  the Gila River.  Is that your understanding?



           23      A.    No, my recollection is it was on the Salt.



           24      Q.    Okay.  So if it was on the Gila, you wouldn't



           25  hold this against them in terms of navigating the Salt?





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1710





            1      A.    No.



            2      Q.    That's, no, you wouldn't hold it against



            3  them?



            4      A.    I wouldn't hold the pushing against them for



            5  the Salt.



            6      Q.    Page 31.



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    It carries over from page 30.  You're talking



            9  about three choices that people had at the end of that



           10  page and the start of the next page?



           11      A.    Yes.



           12      Q.    And you say Choice 3 seems to have been the



           13  favorite?



           14      A.    That was my impression from the articles as a



           15  whole.



           16      Q.    Okay.  You don't have any specific statements



           17  that you can point us to where people of the time said



           18  we used the canals all the time or something like that?



           19      A.    No, but there was the one statement on, I



           20  think, the Burch trip that they went down the Tempe



           21  Canal, although a different report said they went to



           22  the Joint Head and went down the Swilling Ditch or one



           23  of the ditches that fed out of Joint Head and so forth.



           24      Q.    Moving on to page 32, do you know if the



           25  beaver that you talk about in this portion of your





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1711





            1  report were bank-dwelling or river-dwelling,



            2  river-dwelling being beaver that lived in dams?



            3      A.    In this section I was just comparing the



            4  impact of a brush dam, which I said was similar to a



            5  beaver dam, on whether or not a boat from that era had



            6  to portage.  I didn't specify a beaver dam.  They



            7  didn't talk about a beaver dam.



            8      Q.    Page 33, you used the terminology "in excess



            9  of normal flow."  I take it, based on what you've said



           10  here earlier today, that would mean a flood flow, when



           11  you use that kind of terminology?



           12      A.    Yes, the upper 10 percent.



           13      Q.    On page 34 you're talking about the Day trip,



           14  I believe?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    And you said they had a large quantity of



           17  beaver and otter in a small boat?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    How big was the boat?  Do you know?



           20      A.    Small.



           21      Q.    You don't know how big?



           22      A.    All it said was small.



           23      Q.    Sufficiently big enough to carry a large load



           24  of beaver and otter?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    Plus whatever supplies they ended up carrying



            2  when they arrived in Yuma?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    Do you have any reason to believe that they



            5  did not carry the kinds of supplies that a normal



            6  couple of trappers setting out to go trapping and



            7  ultimately end up somewhere to sell their hides would



            8  have carried?



            9      A.    I thought they probably did carry the typical



           10  supplies.



           11      Q.    Do you have any estimate about how long of a



           12  canoe one would have to use to carry the typical



           13  supplies, assuming it was a successful economic trip in



           14  terms of beaver and otter, carry whatever that amount



           15  of beaver and otter would have been and get to Yuma?



           16      A.    No.  And I don't think it was a canoe,



           17  because they said boat, and technically a canoe is a



           18  boat, but people usually distinguish.  So we don't



           19  know.



           20      Q.    You don't know whether they had some kind of



           21  flat-bottom boat that would have been sufficient to, at



           22  least in their view, navigate the Verde, the Salt and



           23  the Gila or it was a canoe sufficient to do that?



           24      A.    It could have been either.  Well, and as I



           25  indicate, they may have navigated canals.
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            1      Q.    Well, there aren't a lot of canals on -- when



            2  you take a look at that trip at its total, that would



            3  keep motivating them down the river the way they wanted



            4  to go, are there?



            5      A.    Well, there aren't many on the Verde.  There



            6  are on the Salt, Lower Salt.  And there aren't many on



            7  the Lower Gila.



            8      Q.    So they spent, under any set of



            9  circumstances, a large amount of time going on the



           10  Verde River, the Salt River, and the Gila River?



           11      A.    I would agree for the Verde and the Gila.  I



           12  don't know, particularly on the last trip, that they



           13  would have gone down the Salt River, because the river



           14  was pretty well dried up.



           15      Q.    So how do you think they got their boat from



           16  the confluence with the Verde to the confluence with



           17  the Gila without using the Salt River?  You think they



           18  put it on my hypothetical wagon?



           19      A.    That is a possibility, but I would think,



           20  based on the condition of the river, I would think they



           21  had -- and the dams there, I think they would have



           22  taken off at the Arizona Dam and floated down the



           23  Arizona Canal until they found a farmer with a wagon or



           24  something and then carted it away until they got back



           25  to the river.
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            1      Q.    When you say "got back to the river," got



            2  back to the Salt River?



            3      A.    It depends on where they decided to reenter.



            4  I would have thought they'd probably reenter after the



            5  confluence with the Gila, because that's where you



            6  would find more water.



            7      Q.    Do you have any evidence of any kind that



            8  supports your hypothetical methodology that they



            9  adopted to avoid the Salt River?



           10      A.    The only evidence I have are the flows and



           11  the diversion capacities of the dams and the amount of



           12  water that would probably be diverted, as estimated by



           13  the USGS.



           14      Q.    Assuming that they did do it the five times



           15  that they said they did it --



           16      A.    Yeah, I'm only talking about the last trip



           17  right here.



           18      Q.    So if it's truthful that they did it five



           19  times, you would give them at least four of those as



           20  having used the Salt River?



           21      A.    I'd give three of them that they probably



           22  did, because the Salt River was flowing so very high



           23  and was clearly in -- above 90 percent -- or above



           24  10 percent stage.  And the one other time, I have no



           25  clue when they did it.
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            1      Q.    Can you trap for beaver in a flood?



            2      A.    I would think so, depending on how scary it



            3  was to get near the river.



            4      Q.    When you have a bank-dwelling beaver, for



            5  example, do they build their home on the distant



            6  extremes of the floodplain, or do they build it at



            7  where they think there's going to be that mythical



            8  3 foot of water?



            9      A.    Excluding mythical, the 3 feet.



           10      Q.    So you wouldn't find very many beaver if you



           11  were trapping beaver out on the extreme edges of the



           12  floodplain?



           13      A.    They may have washed down; but more what I



           14  was thinking, they may have -- the trappers could have



           15  set a trap around where the lodge or the dam or the



           16  whatever it was, the flood hit, they walked away and



           17  waited and came back and found there was a beaver



           18  there.



           19      Q.    On that same page, you concluded that at some



           20  point, that the Days dragged and waded the river?



           21      A.    Yes, that's what we were discussing.



           22      Q.    Do you have any evidence that they dragged or



           23  waded the river specifically, that you can refer me to?



           24      A.    It would be the hydrologic information I've



           25  discussed.
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            1      Q.    That you just discussed, right?



            2            On the next page, at the very top you're



            3  talking about the maximum flow is 800 and 500 cfs is



            4  the minimum.  Do you see those?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    Do you think the 500 cfs would have been



            7  enough of a flow for the Days to have floated their



            8  boat?



            9      A.    I don't think -- you mean if there were no



           10  diversions?



           11      Q.    Sure.



           12      A.    I have no clue.



           13      Q.    You don't know how much cfs it takes in a



           14  channel to float a flat-bottom boat?



           15      A.    Oh, I see where you're going.  I was thinking



           16  if you're look -- sorry.  I thought you were asking



           17  about specific research to it.



           18            I think the 3 foot is the requirement, and I



           19  don't think 500 cfs would give you 3 feet through the



           20  reach.



           21      Q.    How wide would the channel have to be to get



           22  3 feet of depth if you had 500 cfs flowing down the



           23  channel?



           24      A.    Somewhere between 1 inch and really, really



           25  wide.  You'd have to know the velocity to come up with
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            1  an answer.  I don't think it was 1 inch, but --



            2      Q.    I don't think it would be either.



            3            Pick a reasonable velocity that would not be



            4  in a flood range.



            5      A.    Okay.  I would probably guess about 1 and a



            6  half feet per second.



            7            I'm calling up my calculator.



            8      Q.    I have no problem.



            9      A.    111 feet, assuming 1.5 foot velocity and a



           10  mean depth of 3 feet.



           11      Q.    So I take it you don't think there were any



           12  channels of those dimensions in the lower part of the



           13  Salt when the Days passed through?



           14      A.    I don't think there was 500 cfs in the Lower



           15  Salt when the Days passed through on the last trip.  I



           16  think there was a lot more than that on the previous



           17  three, if they occurred those years.



           18      Q.    How much do you think was there when the Days



           19  passed through the last time?



           20      A.    Probably on the order of a hundred or so, but



           21  that's a wild guess.  I just don't know.



           22      Q.    You didn't do anything to check it out?



           23      A.    No.



           24      Q.    Did you do anything to check out -- strike



           25  that.
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            1            You talk about the Days getting to the



            2  Arizona Dam and the Arizona Canal on that page?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    And you tell me that it's flowing at



            5  1,000 cfs?



            6      A.    I don't see 1,000 cfs on that page.  Page 36?



            7      Q.    I'm on a different page.



            8      A.    Oh, that may be the problem.



            9      Q.    Let me check.



           10            Page 35.



           11      A.    The 1,000 cfs is what the Arizona Canal could



           12  divert.



           13      Q.    Okay.  Did you check what they were drawing



           14  at the time that the Days passed through?



           15      A.    They would have been drawing all that they



           16  could, and I went through the explanation of how a



           17  diversion dam works.  You build the structure across,



           18  and it pushes all the water up to the canal's capacity



           19  into the canal.  2 miles later, if the Arizona Dam



           20  people wanted to return some of it, or the Arizona



           21  Canal people, they could have.  They had a return flow



           22  place located, or they could have kept it going.



           23      Q.    And so if I understand what you're saying to



           24  me, is that all year long or at least all during the



           25  time frame that the Day brothers were passing down the
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            1  Salt, the Arizona Canal was taking its full allotment



            2  of 1,000 cfs and running it through that canal and



            3  either putting it back 2 miles down or just using it



            4  up?



            5      A.    Or dumping it out at the far end.



            6            Now, one thing, when you say their allotment,



            7  the Kent decree had a very surprising paragraph to me



            8  that said the Kibbey decree was never enforced.  So I



            9  would think the Arizona Dam would have been taking all



           10  it could whenever it could, and I said that's at least



           11  1,000.  I know it increased over time, but I don't know



           12  what it was in that year.



           13      Q.    Did you check what the flows were when the



           14  Day brothers passed through for the time frame of their



           15  last trip?



           16      A.    On --



           17      Q.    At the Arizona Canal or thereabouts.



           18      A.    Yes, and I presented a slide on that in my



           19  PowerPoint, Slide No. 77.  All I had in the way of data



           20  was the maximum, the mean and the minimum for each



           21  month, and I presented those data.



           22      Q.    And what was it?



           23            I don't have Slide 77 with me.  I'm trying to



           24  avoid going down a whole bunch of pages.



           25      A.    Oh.  Well, the mean flow was --
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            1  unfortunately, it's a graph, so I have to kind of



            2  reconstruct. -- about 1,200.  The mean was about 1,200



            3  in September.  October was down to about 9.  November



            4  was about 9.  December was about 12.  January was about



            5  12.



            6      Q.    So, in essence, from that, do we conclude



            7  that when we got to the Arizona Canal, that canal



            8  operation dried up the river?



            9      A.    I would think on many of the days it would



           10  have dried it up.  There probably were some days



           11  where -- well, I don't know for a fact how much bigger



           12  than 1,000 cfs it was at that time.  I know that the



           13  rights that were later decreed would exceed the 1,200



           14  as of that priority date, but that assumes the Kent



           15  decree got everything right, so I don't know that for a



           16  fact.



           17            I think the Arizona Dam probably dried it up.



           18  If it didn't, very little went over; and what went over



           19  got snatched up by the next canal downstream.



           20      Q.    You may have said this.  Do you know when the



           21  Arizona Canal went into operation?



           22      A.    1885.



           23



           24            EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN



           25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  I have a question
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            1  about that.



            2                 You look at the picture on Plate 67.



            3  Apparently that was taken from below the dam,



            4  downriver?



            5                 THE WITNESS:  The top picture is.



            6                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  The bottom one, the



            7  bottom.



            8                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, the bottom picture is



            9  the gate into the Arizona Canal.  They could shut it



           10  off if they wanted to, say during a dry-up.



           11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But there's water



           12  in the channel right below the dam.  I'm assuming that



           13  we're downstream from the dam when we're looking at



           14  this.



           15                 THE WITNESS:  The description in the



           16  USGS document that had the picture was that was the



           17  gate that would release water into the canal, and I'm



           18  not sure if that's from --



           19                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Upstream.



           20                 THE WITNESS:  -- upstream or downstream.



           21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  If you look at the



           22  upper picture, the river is flowing.  Is that above or



           23  below the dam?



           24                 THE WITNESS:  The water is spilling over



           25  the dam.
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            1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And into the river?



            2                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.



            3                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And what is the



            4  date that you're assuming that that occurred?



            5                 THE WITNESS:  To my recollection, they



            6  didn't have a date in the picture.



            7                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  So there's really



            8  no way of knowing, number one, when the Day brothers



            9  actually moved through this particular area or if the



           10  dam was actually functioning at that particular point



           11  in time.  I mean we can only assume that it took them



           12  so long to get here.



           13                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah, they -- I don't



           14  know.  Yes, you're right.  Picking which day they went



           15  through, I just don't know.



           16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  If they went



           17  through in January --



           18                 THE WITNESS:  There is a possibility



           19  they were down for dry-up, but that would be about --



           20                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But not -- there's



           21  very little agriculture going on in January; is that



           22  not correct?



           23                 THE WITNESS:  There was a lot more in



           24  those days.  You had grains, you had leaching, you had



           25  alfalfa.  It wasn't so cotton-oriented like it is
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            1  today.  And, also, one thing that farmers did back then



            2  that was significantly different is they would divert



            3  in the winter months and put it on the fields whether



            4  or not they needed it, to store it in the ground for



            5  the plants to use later.



            6                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  But all of this



            7  that we're talking about is pretty much hypothetical,



            8  is it not?



            9                 THE WITNESS:  It's the best speculation



           10  I could come up with.



           11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Thank you.



           12



           13              CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



           14  BY MR. HELM:



           15      Q.    And something that's close and near and dear



           16  to my heart.  As I understand it, since about -- 1887,



           17  was that when you said it went into operation?



           18      A.    '85.



           19      Q.    '85.  At least at some parts of the year, you



           20  would say that the Arizona Canal and Dam dried up the



           21  Salt River?



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    Can you tell me whether, after 1885, there



           24  were any fish in the Salt River below the Arizona Dam?



           25      A.    I don't know.  And when I say "dried up,"
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            1  there still would have been pools standing, depending



            2  on how long the flow wasn't going; but there would be



            3  dry spots.



            4      Q.    So you would say that the fish that were



            5  below the Arizona Dam would all get together and get in



            6  whatever pools that were still remaining?



            7      A.    I think they would retreat to the pools as it



            8  shrank, yes.



            9      Q.    Would those pools, over some period of time,



           10  become stagnant?



           11      A.    Yes.



           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, are you going



           13  to ask a fish question?



           14                 MR. HELM:  No, I was just trying to find



           15  out whether all the fish died down there.  Apparently



           16  they didn't.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, because we're



           18  going to take a break.  I didn't want to interrupt your



           19  line of thought.



           20                 MR. HELM:  No, no, I'm not going to ask



           21  him whether, you know, a spear bait would have been the



           22  appropriate thing to use in the pools.



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Hopefully he would have



           24  understood that question.



           25                 We're going to take a ten-minute break
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            1  now.



            2                 (A recess was taken from 10:06 a.m. to



            3  10:18 a.m.)



            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?



            5                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Rebecca?  And, John,



            7  you're up.



            8                 MR. HELM:  Here we go.



            9  BY MR. HELM:



           10      Q.    Referring you now to page 40, and here you're



           11  talking about several rivers; the Salt, the Roosevelt,



           12  the Verde at Fort McDowell, the Gila at Dome, right?



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    And you're giving us cfs flows for those



           15  rivers at the time period that's relevant to it, right?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    Okay.  And what I get out of this is that



           18  you're saying that every one of those rivers was at



           19  flood stage at that point?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    Could you give me what the ordinary flow



           22  range would have been for those rivers at the time



           23  you're talking about, under the ordinary condition, in



           24  other words, the 80 percent?



           25      A.    Oh.  Well, if you're taking the Salt River at
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            1  Roosevelt and the Verde at Fort McDowell, those pretty



            2  much -- they were close to ordinary.  Or, excuse me,



            3  you said ordinary or natural?



            4      Q.    Well, ordinary and natural.  I shortened it.



            5  I tend to shorten it to ordinary, is my speech, but --



            6      A.    Okay.



            7      Q.    -- I want the 80 percent, is what I'm looking



            8  for.



            9      A.    Oh.  Then, well, Mr. Fuller computed the



           10  90 -- or the top 10 percent level at just under 3,000.



           11  I just used 3,000 cfs, for the Salt and Verde combined.



           12      Q.    Okay.  And that's what you're doing here,



           13  you're giving me those numbers to add them together?



           14      A.    Yeah, I would add the Salt and the Verde



           15  together to make an estimate of what it was at the



           16  confluence.



           17      Q.    Okay.  So just above the Verde, what would



           18  the Salt's ordinary flow have been, the middle



           19  80 percent?



           20      A.    I don't know off the top of my head.



           21      Q.    The same question for the Verde, and your



           22  answer would be "I don't know"?



           23      A.    Correct.  I would have to look it up.



           24      Q.    Did you look it up at the time you were doing



           25  this?
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            1      A.    No, I was looking at the -- thinking about



            2  the flow in Segment 6, below the confluence.



            3      Q.    And what would the ordinary and natural flow



            4  be at Gila at Dome?



            5      A.    The upper -- oh, at Dome?  I know we've put



            6  it in.  I don't know what it is off the top of my head,



            7  but I know it's less than 9,500.



            8      Q.    Do you have an estimate?  What would the top



            9  be?



           10      A.    5-, 6,000, I think.



           11      Q.    And the bottom, somewhere around 3- or 400?



           12      A.    That sounds about right, but I -- I know I



           13  have numbers.  I just don't have them in my brain.



           14      Q.    You just don't have them with you?



           15      A.    Yeah.



           16      Q.    We could find those from your Gila report?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18            No.



           19      Q.    Maybe?



           20      A.    I didn't do virgin flow estimates at Dome, to



           21  my recollection.



           22      Q.    Page 43.



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    You confused me a little here, and I want you



           25  to unconfuse me, if you would.  You start out there and
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            1  you say, "There are two components to the navigability



            2  doctrine."



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    And since I've been here, you've told me



            5  there's three.  Which is it?



            6      A.    Well, okay, there's 1, 2a and 2b.



            7      Q.    Okay.  So have you changed your viewpoint of



            8  it since you wrote this report; is that --



            9      A.    No.  The first phrase says, basically, in



           10  fact or susceptible, so that's two points.  But then



           11  when you get to susceptibility, Winkleman and



           12  implicitly, I think, Utah put two steps in that.



           13      Q.    So there's really four steps?



           14      A.    No, there's 1, navigable in fact; 2,



           15  susceptible to navigation.  Under susceptible to



           16  navigation, you have 2a, did they need the navigation;



           17  and 2b, would it have worked.  Sorry for the confusion.



           18      Q.    And you get all of that out of the Utah



           19  decision?



           20      A.    Well, I get 1 from all the decisions.  2a, as



           21  I say, Utah implicit, but primarily I thought the



           22  Winkleman decision laid it out clearest; and the same



           23  with 2b.



           24      Q.    Going down to page 43, at the bottom you're



           25  talking about Mr. Fuller's reasons?
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            1      A.    Yes.



            2      Q.    And the four categories that you give us,



            3  those are your categories, right?



            4      A.    Yes.  I took --



            5      Q.    That's Gookin on Fuller?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    Going on over to A. on the next page, 44,



            8  Navigation Was Not Needed.



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    One question on that.  Why don't trains enter



           11  into discussion, from your perspective?  I mean they



           12  arrived before statehood, long before statehood, didn't



           13  they?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And they were in Phoenix, Arizona or



           16  thereabouts, Maricopa, long before statehood?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    Okay.  So why don't trains become part of the



           19  mix of why people didn't use the Salt River for



           20  navigation?



           21      A.    As I understand the doctrine, the Courts have



           22  said you cannot use trains to disqualify navigability;



           23  that when the trains came, they were so much cheaper,



           24  there was just no point to navigate the rivers.  Even



           25  the Mississippi lost a lot of traffic because of the
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            1  trains and the relative costs.



            2            Now, if I'm interpreting your question



            3  correctly, you're saying why can't I boat down the Gila



            4  River or Salt and Gila and put it on a train and take



            5  it back up.



            6      Q.    Well, that would be one, but I hadn't really



            7  thought of it in that context; but that certainly



            8  enters the play, doesn't it?



            9      A.    Well, I'm not sure, and that is a legal



           10  question.  To me, if you're going to use the cheapness



           11  of the train travel to justify floating downstream,



           12  then I would think you have to go the next step and



           13  say, well, then I can use the cheapness of the travel



           14  to say it's not feasible.



           15            Picking and choosing your facts and saying,



           16  well, I'm going to use this fact and say, yes, this is



           17  legally permissible for purpose A, but not purpose B, I



           18  don't think is appropriate; but that's a lawyer



           19  fighting question.



           20      Q.    Sure.  From your perspective, though, you did



           21  not consider trains as part of the mix, even though



           22  they were, because you understand that there is some



           23  case out there that says you can't do that?



           24      A.    I understand you can't use the trains for



           25  nixing navigability.  I don't think there's any case
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            1  about whether you can use the trains to permit you to



            2  navigate part of the river that you couldn't normally



            3  do or pretrain do.



            4      Q.    Okay.  Well, here's where I'm going.



            5      A.    And -- sorry.



            6      Q.    Go ahead.  No, finish.  I'm sorry.  I didn't



            7  mean to interrupt.



            8      A.    I have thought about this issue quite a bit,



            9  and the other thing that came to me was that on the



           10  estimate of canoe cost, for example, almost half the



           11  cost was the shipping cost because the canoe was made



           12  out of -- to get it to Phoenix from Chicago, because



           13  the canoe's made out of cedar, which is very weak.



           14            Up in the Grand Canyon, on one of the trips



           15  somebody was trying to get boats down so they could use



           16  them to do the exploration, and they couldn't get a



           17  cedar canoe to survive the trip.  They lost several



           18  before they finally got it.



           19            The Sears catalog talks about you have to pay



           20  four times shipping charges to get the canoe there,



           21  which tells me they figured they've got to do a lot of



           22  reinforcement and crating.



           23            The point of all this rambling is that if you



           24  took it from Yuma and ran it up on the railroad back to



           25  Phoenix, it's still going to be very expensive, because
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            1  the canoes of that era were so fragile that you would



            2  have to do a lot of packaging and reinforcing and so



            3  forth.  That was expensive.



            4      Q.    Part of the assumption, I take it, though,



            5  would be, or you would agree, that the canoe got --



            6  wasn't so fragile that it didn't get to Yuma?



            7      A.    Well, in this scenario I'm saying let's say



            8  it got to Yuma, but by hook, crook, miracle, divine



            9  intervention, whatever you want to pick.  I'll take



           10  divine intervention.  But then you're faced with



           11  getting it back up to Phoenix.



           12      Q.    I was thinking more of your economic



           13  approach, to be truthful to you.  And where I was going



           14  was, say 1875, there's not an awful lot of people



           15  living in the Salt River Valley.  I don't remember



           16  what -- do you know what the 1880 census said there



           17  was?  I think we've seen it, and it was chump change.



           18      A.    Well, there are a lot more people living



           19  there than they've said, because in the 1870s the



           20  settlers in the Salt River area were enticing and



           21  asking the Pimas to move up into the eastern reaches of



           22  the Salt River Valley to provide a buffer against the



           23  Apache raids.  That's basically what started the Salt



           24  River -- the location of the Pimas that eventually



           25  caused the Salt River Pima-Maricopa.  So they weren't
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            1  counted, so we don't know how many people there were.



            2      Q.    All right.  But I guess what I'm saying, from



            3  an economic measurement, would whatever that number of



            4  people living in the Salt River have been -- I'm



            5  excluding the Upper Gila.  I'm just talking about the



            6  Lower Gila. -- create a demand to build a railroad to



            7  the Phoenix area?



            8      A.    It did by 1887.  Actually, before, because



            9  they started it before then.



           10      Q.    Well, either that or there was some nut



           11  running the railroad, right?  If there was no demand --



           12      A.    No.



           13      Q.    If there was no demand, you wouldn't build



           14  the railroad?



           15      A.    Right.



           16      Q.    So they perceived that by 1887 there was a



           17  demand for a railroad to the Phoenix area?



           18      A.    Yeah, that it was -- there was enough demand



           19  to make a special trip.



           20      Q.    And there's no question in your mind that the



           21  railroads were a lot cheaper than the waterborne



           22  transportation?



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    And so by nineteen eighty -- or 1887, the



           25  motivation to do anything to get waterborne
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            1  transportation on the Salt River pretty much -- I hate



            2  to say this, but I've got to. -- dried up?



            3      A.    I was afraid you were going to do that.



            4            Yes, I would agree.



            5      Q.    So what we have is a very small window when



            6  commercial transportation might have been a viable



            7  option on the Salt River, from your perspective, being



            8  from --



            9      A.    Not true.  You've got from the Winkleman



           10  Court all the way back to 1800.  We know there were



           11  Indians on the Lower Salt near the Gila that nobody



           12  brought goods up the river to trade with.  We know



           13  there were Forts that needed supplies, and those went



           14  by wagon.  We know there were trappers who were



           15  trapping the river and no indication they used canoes.



           16            So you've got a good period of about 80 or



           17  90 years when they should have boated.



           18      Q.    When you do your analysis on what it cost to



           19  build the railroad, if I understand what you're saying,



           20  is the trappers, there would have been enough of them



           21  at the time trapping was going on to convince one of



           22  the mega-millionaires on the East Coast to build a



           23  railroad out here?



           24      A.    Well, the railroad was nowhere near out here



           25  in that time.  In fact, the railroad had not been
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            1  invented yet.  Well, I'm not sure exactly when it was



            2  invented, but it hadn't -- the process of railroading



            3  America had not started.



            4      Q.    What I'm trying to find out is, is what the



            5  economic demand was that convinces you that there was



            6  this demand in the Salt River Valley that would have



            7  generated river use, if it had been available to use?



            8      A.    Oh.  We know for a fact that the



            9  Quartermaster's Station at Yuma used a navigable river



           10  to supply the Forts up the Colorado.  We know for a



           11  fact that they didn't use the river to supply the Forts



           12  up the Gila and Salt.  We know that they wrote that



           13  they wish they could have, but they had to do it by



           14  wagon, which was much more expensive and so forth.



           15      Q.    I just guess we're going to talk at



           16  cross-purposes, but thank you very much.



           17      A.    I'm sorry.



           18      Q.    At any rate, back at the trains.  You think



           19  that there's a case that says you can't use it?



           20      A.    I think there's a case that says you can't



           21  use trains to exclude navigability.  In other words,



           22  say, well, by 1912 we had a train.  They were boating



           23  up and down in, say, 1850, but in 1887, when it came,



           24  they gave it up.  That doesn't prevent navigability.



           25            It said once navigability is established, it
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            1  remains a navigable river.



            2      Q.    Does that case limit itself to trains, or



            3  does it say you can't use transportation next to a



            4  river to exclude the river from being navigable?



            5      A.    The synopsis I read when I was just trying to



            6  study up on this talked about railroads.



            7      Q.    Do you know whether there's a case out there



            8  that says you can't use land transportation of any ilk



            9  to exclude a river from being susceptible to



           10  navigability?



           11      A.    Yes.  I know there's one out there that says



           12  you can't use railroads to exclude navigability.



           13      Q.    And I'm saying do you know if there's one out



           14  there that says you can't use wagons?



           15      A.    I don't know that there's any case concerning



           16  that.



           17      Q.    Okay.  Going to page 45, and you're talking



           18  about in the 1800s, the only practical way -- you've



           19  got a quote there, I believe.  Do you see that?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    And the question that I have for you, keeping



           22  that time in context, when the river was, I think at



           23  least for our purposes, in its ordinary and natural



           24  condition, what items in the Salt River Valley were in



           25  existence that would merit large-scale water
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            1  transportation?



            2      A.    There were crops for the people who were



            3  there, and there was a market to receive goods, in



            4  particular the Army.



            5      Q.    I didn't ask you what the market.  I wanted



            6  to know what up there would merit a downriver form of



            7  large-scale water transportation, the kind that you



            8  talk about?



            9      A.    It would have been crops in -- in, what, the



           10  1860s?



           11      Q.    No, no, I'm talking about the eighteen --



           12  when we're back to the natural and ordinary condition



           13  of the river.



           14      A.    Oh.  Well, that would be before the canals



           15  then.  All there would be would be demand for goods in



           16  return for money.  There wouldn't -- I don't know of



           17  anything that would be shipped downstream.



           18      Q.    Nothing up there that motivated me to want to



           19  make the river better to ship downstream?



           20      A.    Not -- yeah, not until they started farming.



           21  I don't think there were many people there before



           22  Swilling.



           23      Q.    Excluding the -- I mean we can get in an



           24  argument over the Native American farming --



           25      A.    Right.
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            1      Q.    -- and whether that counted or not under



            2  Winkleman; but excluding that for purposes of this



            3  discussion --



            4      A.    Okay.



            5      Q.    -- Swilling was the farmer, wasn't he, so to



            6  speak?



            7      A.    Excluding the Native Americans, yes, on the



            8  Salt.



            9      Q.    Right.  And when did he start farming?



           10      A.    I believe it was '68 or '69.  He started



           11  digging in '67.



           12      Q.    Okay.  And why did he do that; what was his



           13  motivation?  He just didn't start farming out in the



           14  middle of nowhere because he was a natural born farmer.



           15            Let me make it easy on you.  He started



           16  farming down there to supply the Forts up on the Verde,



           17  didn't he?



           18      A.    I suspect that was where his primary market



           19  was, yes.



           20      Q.    And he did it down there in the first years



           21  because there were grass and things that were naturally



           22  existing down there that he could harvest and sell to



           23  the Forts for forage for their horses and stuff,



           24  correct?



           25      A.    I believe that's correct, yes.





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1739





            1      Q.    So he was farming to ship stuff upstream,



            2  right?



            3      A.    I think he would have been happy to ship it



            4  downstream, if he could have, because -- or upstream,



            5  because -- but he didn't do either.  He wagoned it.



            6      Q.    All right.  But his motivation was to supply



            7  a demand that was upstream from the Salt River?



            8      A.    Probably.  But if you could have gone



            9  downstream, that would have been a better demand, a



           10  better marketplace.



           11      Q.    How far would it have been downstream to



           12  Yuma?



           13      A.    From Phoenix -- and let's pretend Swilling



           14  Canal is wherever Phoenix was then, because it didn't



           15  exist; but it's 195 miles.



           16      Q.    How far is it to the first Fort up the Verde?



           17      A.    That I'm not sure of.  I'm going to guess 25.



           18      Q.    I take it in your discussion on the Erie



           19  Canal and the large loads that it was designed to



           20  carry, the large loads that you would equate that to in



           21  Arizona would be some form of agriculture product?



           22      A.    Probably agricultural.  It might be mining



           23  equipment going upstream and ores or refined ores going



           24  downstream.



           25      Q.    Let me tell you where I am.  I've moved
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            1  along.



            2            Page 52.  Do you agree that a river could be



            3  navigable for title purposes and yet not be suitable



            4  for carrying large amounts of freight?



            5      A.    The word "large" is vague.



            6      Q.    Okay.



            7      A.    It has to be enough to be -- make the



            8  operation economically viable, whatever that is.



            9      Q.    All right.  Do you have -- what would be the



           10  amount of an agricultural good that would be large



           11  enough to make it economically viable in the Salt River



           12  Valley?



           13      A.    I didn't compute that.  The only two



           14  computations I did was for a 500-pound canoe and the



           15  Edith.



           16      Q.    I take it your answer to mean, in terms of



           17  canoes and the smaller flat-bottom boats, would be that



           18  a river that was suitable for those to use could not be



           19  navigable in fact for purposes of title?



           20      A.    It depends on how you're using them.  You



           21  need to transport something.



           22      Q.    Well, but you told me that you eliminated



           23  canoes and small flat-bottom boats from your research



           24  to determine navigability; that you just said they



           25  weren't suitable.  I'm talking about the canoes that
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            1  you eliminated.



            2      A.    Okay.  You've kind of wandered in the



            3  question.



            4      Q.    I'm sorry if I did.



            5      A.    Canoes, I say, were not the customary modes



            6  of travel at the time of statehood or before it in



            7  Arizona.  There's no evidence that they used them for



            8  that purpose.



            9            Boats, yes.



           10      Q.    Let me see if I understand you.



           11            Because the indigenous population of Arizona



           12  before the European culture arrived didn't use canoes,



           13  it's your understanding that in the navigability



           14  context, they cannot be used to determine whether the



           15  Salt River is navigable?



           16      A.    No.



           17      Q.    Where am I wrong in my understanding?



           18      A.    I also looked at the Utah case, which



           19  indicated that the boats that were used for commercial



           20  transport did not include -- he didn't list a canoe as



           21  one of the many types of boats that he considered as



           22  for commercial transport.



           23            I looked at the historic evidence of the



           24  incidence of canoe use on the Salt and the Gila, the



           25  whole drainage area, and I couldn't find any evidence
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            1  of people using the canoes to transmit commercial goods



            2  up and down either river.



            3      Q.    Those kinds of canoes that you're talking



            4  about were, in fact, used in lots of places in the



            5  United States to transport beaver pelts, or what have



            6  you, on rivers that were held to be navigable because



            7  that was what they were used for; is that fair --



            8      A.    Yes.



            9      Q.    -- up in the Northeast?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    Okay.  So what I would like you to do for me



           12  is to put together your rationalization how the State



           13  of Arizona came into the union on an equal footing with



           14  the other 47, I guess at that point, if they were held



           15  to a different standard for the boats that determined



           16  what rivers were navigable or not?



           17      A.    They are not held to a different standard.



           18  The phraseology is the customary means of trade and



           19  travel as of statehood.  It's different as to what the



           20  customary means of trade and travel were in different



           21  states.



           22      Q.    So it's your understanding that Equal Footing



           23  Doctrine doesn't mean that we measure the use of a



           24  river by the same boat, no matter whether that river



           25  happens to be somewhere in New England or somewhere in
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            1  the Southwest?



            2      A.    Right.  I think it means the ones that were



            3  used for that purpose in that region.



            4      Q.    So it's not really equal, is it?



            5      A.    I think it is.  We don't get to use ice



            6  riggers.



            7      Q.    Does that mean that if Puerto Rico gets into



            8  the Union, we're going to have to look at hovercraft?



            9      A.    That's my understanding.



           10            If you notice, in Alaska they're allowing



           11  inflatable rubber rafts, from what I've been hearing.



           12  And yet I wouldn't consider an inflatable modern raft



           13  made out of synthetic rubber to be a boat customarily



           14  used in Arizona as of 1912.



           15      Q.    Okay.  So what your understanding of the



           16  Equal Footing Doctrine is, is that distinction is an



           17  acceptable distinction.  In other words, we get to



           18  suffer discrimination, because if our rivers could have



           19  handled canoes, we can't use that as evidence that it's



           20  navigable; whereas the rivers in the Northeast did use



           21  those boats to determine navigability?



           22      A.    You're missing the point that I'm trying to



           23  get at.  It's not that I'm saying you can't use the



           24  canoe to prove the navigability.  I'm saying nobody did



           25  use the canoe to prove the navigability.
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            1      Q.    I must have misread Mr. Fuller's report.  I



            2  thought he was indicating that, one, canoes were used



            3  in 1912 in Arizona; and, two, that they did navigate?



            4      A.    Well, I did go through that, and I found -- I



            5  went through the evidence that's been disclosed,



            6  including Mr. Fuller's report, and I may have missed



            7  something.  I found the Pattie canoe on the San Pedro,



            8  which was used on the San Pedro, but in extraordinary



            9  conditions.  So that didn't prove navigability.



           10      Q.    How about the eight canoes, I think it was



           11  eight, on the Colorado from Pattie also?



           12      A.    Yes, and they did use --



           13      Q.    Is the Colorado in Arizona?



           14      A.    Yeah.  But they were used as ferries, if I



           15  remember, and they were not considered by Utah as being



           16  a commercial boat.  I think the problem with the canoe



           17  is it's too small, normally.



           18      Q.    But my point is, is that canoes were in use



           19  in Arizona on the Colorado River?



           20      A.    You are correct.



           21      Q.    All right.  And so what you're telling me now



           22  is that since canoes weren't used on the Salt River,



           23  that doesn't qualify as the kind of boat that was in



           24  general use in Arizona for measuring navigability?



           25      A.    That is an interesting question, and I don't
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            1  have a good answer.



            2      Q.    And it would be really problematic in terms



            3  of the susceptibility issue, wouldn't it?



            4      A.    Yes, I think, but -- well, that is a legal



            5  question as to whether boats from the Colorado count on



            6  the Salt, Gila, Verde, et cetera.



            7      Q.    Going now to 53 and towards the bottom,



            8  you're talking about the Colorado River and the fact



            9  that a small population shows that navigation can



           10  occur.



           11      A.    Shows that there was a need for navigation,



           12  yes.



           13      Q.    Just define for me what you mean by "small."



           14      A.    I would say the size of Yuma when it first



           15  started.



           16      Q.    And that would have been how many people,



           17  roughly?



           18      A.    I'm guessing a couple hundred.



           19      Q.    And what we're talking about here is



           20  problems, right, your three or four problems that you



           21  identified?



           22      A.    They're my responses, yeah.



           23      Q.    Right.



           24            And you identify Yuma as one of the problems?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    And I didn't quite understand that.



            2      A.    Oh.



            3      Q.    And while there are a lot of people who might



            4  think Yuma is a problem, I don't get it in the context



            5  of navigability.  So please explain it to me.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I resemble that remark.



            7                 MR. HELM:  Some things I just can't



            8  resist, even if they're not good for me, you know.



            9                 THE WITNESS:  First, can I take the



           10  Fifth?



           11  BY MR. HELM:



           12      Q.    If you'll take me with it.



           13      A.    Okay.



           14            What I was meaning was Mr. Fuller had



           15  indicated that there were too few people, and that



           16  meant there weren't enough people that you would expect



           17  to find people who knew how to boat or people who knew



           18  how to make boats or people who wanted goods that could



           19  be transported by boats, but primarily the first two.



           20            And my point is you've got a river and



           21  there's two ends to it, and you know that Yuma had



           22  river pilots and they had river boats.  So Phoenix



           23  didn't need to build them, and they didn't need to have



           24  a native river pilot.  Yuma could have supplied them.



           25      Q.    The next problem I have is, or your problem
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            1  that confused me, was right after the existence of



            2  Yuma, you indicate that lots of people in the Salt



            3  River Valley had boats.



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    But then the existence of those boats, in



            6  your mind, doesn't count toward determining whether the



            7  river is navigable or not because they only used them



            8  in floods?



            9      A.    No.



           10      Q.    Explain to me what you mean there.



           11      A.    There were several uses for boats, and as



           12  Mr. Fuller documented, there were lakes that the people



           13  would take these boats, like we do today, and they



           14  would go up to the lakes -- they were different



           15  lakes. -- and recreate on the lakes.



           16            So the fact you had a boat that you were



           17  planning to take up in the summer to Flagstaff doesn't



           18  prove that you're going to boat the Salt River.



           19      Q.    What lakes were in existence in 1875?



           20      A.    I know I listed them in my PowerPoint.  But



           21  with regard to 1875, I have to say I don't know which



           22  ones existed at that particular year.



           23      Q.    How about 1900?



           24      A.    Well, 1900, we know that the dam on the



           25  Hassayampa, the Walnut Grove, I think, had come and
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            1  gone, especially gone.



            2      Q.    So the gone portion wouldn't provide any



            3  motivation for me having a boat?



            4      A.    Not once that happened, correct.



            5            We know that there was Granite Dells near



            6  Prescott, and I don't know when it was built.  And



            7  there were two near Flag, and I don't know when they



            8  were built.



            9      Q.    So what you're telling me, if I get it, is



           10  that all these people that owned boats in the Salt



           11  River Valley were going to get their wagons out and go



           12  to the Granite Dells to use them in 1875?



           13      A.    I'm telling you that Mr. Fuller indicated



           14  that that was a source of use for boats before



           15  statehood.



           16      Q.    Granite Dells?



           17      A.    The Granite Dells, the Flagstaff; when



           18  Roosevelt started, Roosevelt.



           19      Q.    We're talking at cross-purposes.



           20      A.    I have to be --



           21      Q.    I'm talking about that I understood the



           22  premise to be, that lots of people in the Salt River



           23  Valley had boats before statehood.



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    Okay.  And so I'm starting kind of at the
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            1  beginning of the lots of people, 1875, and starting to



            2  work my way up.  And my understanding was you told me



            3  that, yeah, they had boats.  And I had said, and you're



            4  saying they only used them in floods.  And you say, no,



            5  they took them to the lakes to use.



            6            And then obviously my question was, I don't



            7  recall any lakes that are particularly close to the



            8  Phoenix Salt River area that were in existence prior to



            9  Saguaro, maybe, where I would have carted a boat to and



           10  launched it and gone fishing, for example, as a



           11  recreation?



           12      A.    Okay, first, I didn't deny they used them in



           13  floods, because they did.  But I'm saying there were



           14  motivations other than boating on the Salt River that



           15  existed as a motivation to buy a boat, and that was



           16  based on Mr. Fuller's report.



           17      Q.    Well, if they had these boats, wouldn't they



           18  have used them on the Salt, too, in non-flood times?



           19      A.    If they could have, yeah.



           20      Q.    Would 1,000 cfs float your boat?



           21      A.    For commercial purposes, I don't think so.



           22      Q.    Okay.  We can agree that there was 1,000 cfs



           23  going into the Arizona Canal, right?



           24      A.    No, I said it could divert up to 1,000.  It



           25  didn't get 1,000 all the time, by a long shot.
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            1      Q.    It did at some point?



            2      A.    It did at some point.



            3      Q.    Or the guy who built it goofed up on his



            4  sizing?



            5      A.    Right.  Well, and they did keep enlarging it



            6  so they could do more.



            7      Q.    My point is, there were significant periods



            8  of time in the course of any year when the Salt River



            9  had water in it, correct, and the water would have been



           10  sufficient to float a boat, deeper than 3 feet?



           11      A.    No, not deeper than 3 feet.



           12      Q.    2 feet?



           13      A.    I put a table that indicated for the various



           14  flows; and, basically, 1 to 2 feet was the range for



           15  most things.



           16      Q.    Do you accept Mr. Fuller's depth disclosures,



           17  or did you disagree with any of them?



           18      A.    I disagreed with them.



           19      Q.    In terms of that a canoe floats in 6 inches?



           20      A.    That was one of many disagreements.



           21      Q.    Okay.



           22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, I believe



           23  we'll take another break right now.



           24                 MR. HELM:  Okay.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.  Let's try
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            1  10 minutes.



            2                 (A recess was taken from 10:59 a.m. to



            3  11:15 a.m.)



            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?



            5                 THE WITNESS:  Ready.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm?



            7                 MR. HELM:  Yes.  I think somebody just



            8  destroyed the --



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, at least they



           10  pulled it onto the floor.



           11                 MR. SPARKS:  He has a name, and it's



           12  called clumsy.



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Just before you start,



           14  Mr. Helm, I misremembered what time we were going to



           15  end today.  It will be 3:30, not 4:30.



           16                 MR. HELM:  Works for me.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Proceed, Mr. Helm.



           18                 MR. HELM:  I'll try and get done in that



           19  period.



           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Oh, Mr. Helm, you've



           21  destroyed Thanksgiving.



           22                 MR. HELM:  I've got to go home and pack



           23  to leave town, I mean, you know.



           24  BY MR. HELM:



           25      Q.    I think when we broke, Mr. Gookin, we were
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            1  talking about the disagreements that you had with



            2  Mr. Fuller over boats, canoes, what have you, and we



            3  had just started on the canoe and floating in 6 inches?



            4      A.    It got mentioned.  I don't know we were



            5  there.



            6      Q.    Yeah.  Well, my understanding --



            7      A.    Oh, okay.



            8      Q.    -- was that you were telling me that you



            9  disagreed with --



           10      A.    Oh.



           11      Q.    The original question I had, did you agree in



           12  a general nature with Mr. Fuller's depth allocations



           13  amongst the various kinds of boats.



           14      A.    Right.



           15      Q.    And you said no.



           16      A.    And I said no.



           17      Q.    And so now we were getting specific, and we



           18  had started with canoe.



           19            What's wrong with Mr. Fuller's canoe depth?



           20      A.    Well, first, he was counting all of the



           21  vehicles based on their draw, rather than a required



           22  depth, and they are different.  You need a safety



           23  margin.



           24            He doesn't consider the 3 foot --



           25      Q.    Let me just stop you right there so that I
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            1  don't remain --



            2                 MR. MURPHY:  Can we let him answer the



            3  question?



            4                 MR. HELM:  Yeah, if I could understand



            5  what he was answering.  So if you'd let me --



            6                 MR. MURPHY:  Well, I think he should get



            7  a chance to answer the question first, before you



            8  continually interrupt him.



            9                 MR. HELM:  Do we want to play court?



           10  Because I'd be delighted to play court with you.  I



           11  think I can handle it.



           12                 MR. MURPHY:  I want to play civilized.



           13  BY MR. HELM:



           14      Q.    What I want to know is the distinction



           15  between draw and depth, so that I understand your



           16  testimony.



           17      A.    As I understand it, when you measure from the



           18  waterline down to the bottom of the keel, bottom,



           19  whatever the lowest bottom is, that's the draw of the



           20  boat, and it varies on how loaded it is.  The depth of



           21  water has to be greater than the draw, because you're



           22  not in a flat, nicely sculptured, clean canal.  You're



           23  in a river.



           24            So if you say that a river is 2 feet in one



           25  point, that doesn't mean you have 2 feet for the whole
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            1  river.  And so you need to leave a safety margin.



            2      Q.    So when -- if I understand what you're



            3  saying, when Mr. Fuller made the determinations -- and



            4  I'm going to stick with a canoe at this point, because



            5  that's the thing we've been talking about, and he came



            6  up with 6 inches, what you're telling me is that



            7  6 inches does not take in to consider whatever safety



            8  margin would be appropriate for the canoe?



            9      A.    Okay.  The 6 inches was the minimum depth



           10  requirement for canoes for recreational purposes,



           11  modern boats.



           12            Number one is, Mr. Fuller did not consider



           13  the minimum depths.  He applied those minimum depth



           14  criteria to depths that were greater than minimum.



           15  That's improper.



           16            Number two, he didn't consider the fact that



           17  a boat or a canoe that's being used for trade and



           18  travel will probably or should be carrying more than



           19  just the one individual.  And so that will cause it to



           20  be deeper.



           21            Going back to the minimum depth, as I said,



           22  it's the 6 inches.  If you're going to use the 6 inches



           23  and you do go out there and find the minimum depth,



           24  then that's probably okay.  But if you're not going to



           25  do that, then -- that's okay for recreational travel
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            1  with modern boats.  If you're not going to do that,



            2  then you need to come up with a standard that tells you



            3  whether or not you're going to be able to make it



            4  through the river based on, say, the gage depths.  And



            5  that's where the Utah case comes in, because the



            6  Special Master listened to all that testimony, talked



            7  to the people who actually did the boating for



            8  commercial purposes, and determined a mean average



            9  depth of 3 feet was what it took.



           10      Q.    I am totally confused.  Let's see if I can



           11  unconfuse myself.



           12            What you're saying is that Mr. Fuller got the



           13  weight wrong, in that he did not include enough load in



           14  the boat when determining the depth of flow it needed.



           15  That's one problem, right?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    Okay.  Then the next problem is he did not



           18  consider that a proper -- if he had a properly loaded



           19  boat, whether there would be enough water to get that



           20  boat down the river?



           21      A.    He considered whether there would be enough



           22  water, but he did it wrong.



           23      Q.    Okay.  How did he do it wrong?



           24      A.    He found the depths at cross sections that



           25  were not the minimum depth cross section, and he took
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            1  the criteria for the minimum depth cross section and



            2  applied it to the depth.



            3            The second thing he did wrong was he didn't



            4  model the river correctly in the lower reaches, in some



            5  of the reaches, to find the depth that really would



            6  have been there.  Even though he had two channels that



            7  would both be carrying low flows, he assumed it all



            8  went into one channel and ignored the second one.



            9            I also have a problem with his Manning's n,



           10  but I don't think that's going to decide this case.



           11  And probably something I forgot, but I'll bring it up



           12  if I need to.



           13      Q.    The two-channel issue, can there be two



           14  channels where one of them doesn't have water in it?



           15      A.    If the second channel is higher, yes; but



           16  we've got channels with the same bottoms.



           17      Q.    Okay.  So your assumption for your complaint



           18  against Mr. Fuller's work to that extent is that the



           19  two channels had identical bottom elevations?



           20      A.    Substantively.  I mean it could have been an



           21  inch or two one way or another.  That's not my



           22  assumption.  That's based on the cross sections he



           23  produced.



           24      Q.    I flat don't understand your discussion about



           25  the minimum depth cross section.  Are you telling me
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            1  that what we have to do is find the minimum depth on a



            2  river and use that cross section to determine whether



            3  the entire river is navigable?



            4      A.    I'm telling you that if you use the two



            5  sources he used, Cortell and Hyra, who established



            6  criteria for modern recreational boating, and if that's



            7  acceptable, then you have to use the entire set of



            8  criteria.  You can't say, oh, well, they decided it



            9  required a minimum depth of 6 inches, so I'm going to



           10  take that, and then I'm going to go find the deepest



           11  cross section that I can use and compare the 6 inches



           12  to that.  That's just engineering mistake.



           13      Q.    So if I get what you're telling me now, is



           14  you go to the Salt River, you find the minimum depth



           15  cross section.



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    All right.  And you use that minimum depth



           18  cross section to measure whether the stream, the river,



           19  is navigable?



           20      A.    No.  I'm saying if you're going to use Hyra



           21  and Cortell as your source to develop the



           22  methodology --



           23      Q.    Then that's what you do?



           24      A.    -- you've got to use the whole methodology.



           25  You can't just pick one number and then apply it
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            1  differently.  That's wrong.



            2      Q.    But am I right in what my understanding is;



            3  that using the Hyra and Cortell, you pick the minimum



            4  cross section, and that's what controls the



            5  determination?



            6      A.    They had some other things, but, yes, that



            7  was the primary thing that he looked to, was the



            8  minimum depth.  So that's the standard he picked, and



            9  it should be used consistently.



           10      Q.    Okay.  Now, with respect to that specific



           11  standard, the assumption that makes is that cross



           12  section that shows the minimum depth is going to



           13  require you to get out of the boat; you can't go any



           14  further?



           15      A.    No.



           16      Q.    Ground to a halt; there's not enough water?



           17      A.    What they're saying is that for recreational



           18  purposes, and I keep emphasizing, it's modern



           19  recreation; not the customary, normal travel at the



           20  time of statehood.



           21            But assuming that's relevant, the modern



           22  recreation, they're saying a person who -- if the



           23  minimum depth is below 6 inches, people aren't going to



           24  use it for recreation and, therefore, they're not going



           25  to consider the boat -- or the river to be useable
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            1  for --



            2      Q.    Recreationally navigable.



            3      A.    Yeah.



            4      Q.    I've invented a new term.



            5      A.    I like it.



            6      Q.    And what I'm driving at, the reason they



            7  consider it not recreationally navigable is because



            8  there's not enough water to float my boat, right?



            9      A.    I think your word about --



           10      Q.    I can't go down it.



           11      A.    Well, you may be able to go down it, but



           12  you're going to scrape things up or you're pushing it



           13  with a paddle.  It's -- they don't think people will do



           14  it because, you know, recreation has the criteria of



           15  fun.  Work doesn't have to be fun.  I mean I know this



           16  is, but it's not always this good, you understand.



           17      Q.    Thank you.



           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You done?



           19                 MR. HELM:  That's a voice crying in the



           20  night, if I've ever heard one.



           21  BY MR. HELM:



           22      Q.    So what other problems -- does that fully



           23  discuss the minimum depth problem you have with



           24  Mr. Fuller?  Have we got everything --



           25      A.    I also had --
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            1      Q.    -- that you hate canoes about?



            2      A.    What?



            3      Q.    We've got everything you hate his analysis of



            4  a canoe out on the table?



            5      A.    The other was we had disagreements about his



            6  flows and how he developed them, particularly the



            7  median.  So that would influence the answer.



            8      Q.    That's your discussion about 990 and 12,



            9  whatever it was?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11            I mentioned Manning's n.  And, of course, the



           12  other question is, is a standard for modern



           13  recreational boating the appropriate standard to use



           14  for a test of navigability for title purposes.



           15      Q.    And your opinion is?



           16      A.    No.



           17      Q.    What do you think the appropriate test?  It's



           18  just that 3 feet?



           19      A.    Mean average depth of 3 foot at the gage.



           20      Q.    Now we got it all on the table?



           21      A.    Probably not, but --



           22      Q.    Good enough for government work.



           23      A.    I think it's close to date.



           24      Q.    All right.  What about -- that's canoes.



           25  What about flat-bottom boats; same basic gripes?
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            1      A.    Yeah, and the criteria is different.  It's



            2  not 6 inches.  I think it's 1 foot.  But --



            3      Q.    Whatever it is --



            4      A.    -- the same arguments would apply on how he's



            5  applied it to flat-bottom boats.



            6      Q.    Okay.  What other kind of boats did you --



            7  rafts, I guess?



            8      A.    Well, the Special Master, in coming up with



            9  his criteria, said that rafts were used for short



           10  reaches only.  So he did consider them, kind of.



           11      Q.    So did he mess up his calculations for rafts?



           12      A.    No, he still came up with mean average depth.



           13            Oh, who "he"?



           14      Q.    "He" be Mr. Fuller.



           15      A.    Okay.



           16      Q.    That's who I'm talking about anyway.



           17      A.    I was talking about the Special Master.



           18      Q.    Oh, okay.



           19      A.    He did just fine.



           20      Q.    What I'm trying to find out is, is it just



           21  that you completely disagree with Mr. Fuller because of



           22  the methodology he chose?  He did not adopt the Special



           23  Master's 3 foot determination for the Salt River, and



           24  so his determination is no good?



           25      A.    Plus, he didn't model the depths or get the
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            1  correct depths for given flows, and he didn't use the



            2  correct flows.



            3      Q.    And that applies across the spectrum of



            4  boats?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    58.  With respect to modern boating, is it



            7  your impression that the evidence of modern boating



            8  that's being presented by Mr. Fuller, for example, is



            9  being presented to prove that actual boating took



           10  place, as opposed to the river could have been



           11  susceptible for navigation?



           12      A.    I think he's trying to use it for both.



           13      Q.    Okay.  And I take it you would find it



           14  objectionable for both categories?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    And for the same basic reasons that you have



           17  enunciated here and just gotten through, that's why



           18  it's objectionable?



           19      A.    What I got through was the depth discussions.



           20      Q.    Okay.



           21      A.    We have all the durability discussions and



           22  the fact that the boats can take a lot more abuse now



           23  than they could at statehood.



           24      Q.    Okay.  So you got -- other than durability,



           25  anything else?
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            1      A.    In the case of inflatable rafts, the fact



            2  that they just weren't available at statehood, so they



            3  can't be meaningfully similar.



            4            And the argument for canoes -- I know we've



            5  talked about canoes. -- I don't think they were used



            6  before statehood.  One more instance where it was used



            7  that I had missed.  Mr. Burtell pointed it out.  The



            8  Hayden trip used a dugout canoe, but that tends to



            9  indicate they really don't work, because the whole trip



           10  failed.



           11      Q.    But maybe Mr. Hayden had seen other people



           12  using dugout canoes on the Lower Salt River, or do you



           13  think he just built himself a dugout canoe and went



           14  off, so to speak?



           15      A.    I think he went up there, and then when he



           16  got up there, that was how you were going to build a



           17  boat.  So they built a dugout canoe.  But we're



           18  speculating all of that out of a very short article or



           19  couple articles.



           20      Q.    On that page you talk about Montana PPL?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    And I would like you to give me the specific



           23  reference, if you can, in PPL where they say using



           24  modern boating is wrong as a matter of law.



           25      A.    Oh, wait a minute.  Sorry, I was in the wrong
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            1  decision.



            2            On page 21 of the Montana decision,



            3  immediately after the heading B, as in boy -- that's a



            4  capital B. -- they state, the Supreme Court states,



            5  "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a matter of



            6  law in its reliance upon the evidence of present-day,



            7  primarily recreational use of the Madison River,"



            8  period, closed quote.



            9      Q.    And that's what you're relying on, and that's



           10  all you're relying on?



           11      A.    I'm relying on that for saying a matter of



           12  law.



           13      Q.    Yeah.



           14      A.    I'm relying on other things for the matter of



           15  fact.



           16      Q.    Okay.  Moving right along, page 61.



           17      A.    I'm there.



           18      Q.    At the bottom of the page you're talking



           19  about beaver dams again, and you're telling me that



           20  wood rafts would have a major problem with a beaver



           21  dam.



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    And Mr. Fuller has testified that at least in



           24  a number of instances, the way boaters handle beaver



           25  dams is they simply slide over the top of them in their
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            1  boat?



            2      A.    First, I haven't heard him say that with



            3  regard to wood rafts, which are a different type of



            4  vehicle.



            5      Q.    Okay.  You don't dispute that concept,



            6  though?



            7      A.    I do, because the canoes and the boats they



            8  use today are -- well, the canoes that he's talking



            9  about are made out of Royalex, which is so much



           10  stronger and so much more durable than wood.  You can



           11  throw it off a rooftop five stories high and it's fine.



           12  Wood won't do that.



           13      Q.    Are you telling me that all the trappers and



           14  people who traversed all of the Eastern states, in the



           15  days when all they had was a good old birch bark canoe,



           16  did not slide over the top of beaver dams in that



           17  canoe?



           18      A.    I see no evidence that they did.  I would



           19  doubt -- if the water was deep enough going over the



           20  dam, you probably could do it.  It's going to depend a



           21  lot on how big the dam is and how deep the water is.



           22      Q.    Okay.  So you just basically don't know?



           23      A.    I don't think so, but I don't have any



           24  documentation.



           25      Q.    So that's Gookin on beaver dams?
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            1      A.    Gookin on canoeing.



            2      Q.    Beaver dams and canoeing?



            3      A.    Yeah.



            4      Q.    So now tell me why, if I had my trusty wood



            5  raft, I couldn't do the same thing?



            6      A.    A wood raft is going to be a lot wider and



            7  heavier, because it's made out of solid wood; whereas



            8  the canoes have ribbing and so forth, rather than what



            9  I'm thinking of is like some wood logs or planks stuck



           10  together.



           11            The wood raft is structurally much more



           12  inferior, and it would be harder to carry, because a



           13  canoe you can turn upside down, and if you're stronger



           14  than me and it's a small enough canoe, you can just



           15  carry it over; but with a raft, you're going to need at



           16  least two people, because it's just a flat piece.



           17      Q.    I think we went astray, because I'm not



           18  talking --



           19      A.    Okay.



           20      Q.    I'm asking you why I couldn't paddle up to



           21  the beaver dam in my wood raft and slide over the top



           22  of it --



           23      A.    Oh.



           24      Q.    -- assuming water's flowing over it,



           25  obviously, or even though it's going to be shallower
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            1  than the wood raft?



            2      A.    If the water was flowing deep enough over it,



            3  then you might be able to do it; but the wood raft, due



            4  to its structural inferiority, would have problems with



            5  a vertical drop.



            6      Q.    Would a wood raft be structurally inferior,



            7  in terms of strength, to a birch bark canoe?



            8      A.    I think so.



            9      Q.    Solid wood?



           10      A.    Solid wood in one direction, but only a few



           11  supports in the other, and it's not designed.  It's



           12  just thrown together.



           13      Q.    And what you're talking about is shape then?



           14      A.    In large part, yeah.



           15      Q.    Same set of questions with respect to a



           16  flat-bottom boat.  You say they can't go over beaver



           17  dams either.



           18      A.    I think it would be harder.  For example, the



           19  Edith is a flat-bottom boat, and if you're going to



           20  take the Edith with 850 pounds of load, that's a lot of



           21  weight to have -- to take over the dam and hit the dam



           22  with.  So you've got a lot of force.  You're pretty



           23  much going to need to empty it, get somebody to come



           24  with you, even though it's a one-person boat, lift it



           25  over, and refill it.
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            1      Q.    Assuming you're going downstream.



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    We have a beaver dam.



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    Does that slow the water down?



            6      A.    Upstream of the beaver dam, yes.



            7      Q.    So why am I going to hit this beaver dam with



            8  a tremendous amount of force, assuming I've got a



            9  paddle or two paddles in my hand and/or a board and I'm



           10  paying attention and have at least eyesight as good as



           11  mine?



           12      A.    I have no idea how good your eyesight is,



           13  but --



           14      Q.    It's very poor.



           15      A.    -- if you're going at the dam and you go up



           16  to it very slowly, you're just going to stop.



           17      Q.    Okay.  But so what you're saying is, if



           18  you're going over this lake that's created by the



           19  beaver dam that's at least 3 feet deep --



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    -- and I'm going too slow, I'm grinding to a



           22  halt?



           23      A.    Right.



           24      Q.    If I'm going too fast, I'm going to destroy



           25  the boat?
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            1      A.    Right.



            2      Q.    Okay.  Is there a middle ground, when I'm



            3  going the right speed, because I'm a trapper and I've



            4  been doing this all my life and I get to the beaver dam



            5  and I hit it at the right point because I know where



            6  the low spot is and I can slide across the dam?



            7      A.    I think that's pretty much a speculation that



            8  that could be done, because you've got to realize, the



            9  beaver dam is probably stronger than your boat.



           10      Q.    Do you have any specific evidence of this, or



           11  is this just Gookin on early navigation by settlers of



           12  the United States in birch bark canoes and flat-bottom



           13  boats?



           14      A.    I've presented my evidence concerning wood



           15  strength and the fact it's a very weak structural



           16  material.  And so if you're trying to say is there a



           17  speed where you could go over the dam, which has pointy



           18  sticks sticking out of it in various directions, break



           19  through that and go over, but not break the dam -- or



           20  break the boat?  I think it's unlikely that you could



           21  do that consistently and get through.



           22      Q.    So what you're saying, all those fellows who



           23  came over and went beaver hunting back in the 1700s or



           24  the 1600s, or whenever those top hats were popular,



           25  would have come up on the beaver dam, stopped, carried
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            1  their boat around it or over it, and put it back in the



            2  water and gone on; they would not have navigated the



            3  beaver dam within their boat?



            4      A.    Okay, first, they didn't do that in Arizona.



            5  They didn't use boats.



            6      Q.    No, I understand that.  I said -- I'm talking



            7  about before anybody got here.  You know, we're back in



            8  New England.



            9      A.    Oh, not here.



           10      Q.    It's 1600.  I'm out on the Tioughnioga River



           11  and I'm beaver trapping, all right.  I'm familiar with



           12  that.  I even did it a little.



           13      A.    Okay.



           14      Q.    And would I stop the boat, get out and carry



           15  it over; or would I just paddle over that?



           16      A.    Probably you would stop the boat, get out,



           17  set a trap, and then carry it over.



           18      Q.    Okay.  And then sooner or later I'm going to



           19  come back to it, right?



           20      A.    Yeah.



           21      Q.    And if I've got a beaver, I've got to take



           22  the trap and pick it up, and then I'm going on



           23  downstream, and so I'm going to lift it over it twice,



           24  is what you're saying?  Three times; once coming up,



           25  twice going down?
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            1      A.    No, because probably when you went to get the



            2  beaver, you would just leave that on the downstream end



            3  and take the beaver and throw it over the dam.



            4            But if you're going to keep going, yeah, then



            5  you have to lift it up.



            6      Q.    And that's your perception of how the



            7  trappers won the West, so to speak?



            8      A.    Yes, on the Eastern rivers, which are



            9  significantly different.



           10      Q.    Right.  But those fellows came West, didn't



           11  they, as times expanded?



           12      A.    Yes, they did, but they didn't even try to



           13  use boats here, except on the San Pedro and Colorado.



           14      Q.    While we're there, that question I would have



           15  come to at some point, but I might as well get it right



           16  now.  I was confused about Mr. Pattie.  There's no



           17  question in your mind that Mr. Pattie used a boat on



           18  the San Pedro, right?



           19      A.    Right.



           20      Q.    And there's no question in your mind that he



           21  used them on the Colorado?



           22      A.    Right.



           23      Q.    And the thing that was confusing to me, that



           24  why would a guy who was trapping beaver and using a



           25  boat to do it on those two rivers then not have done it
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            1  when he was trapping beaver on the Salt?  Doesn't he



            2  still need to get across the stream and move up and



            3  down that stream to set his traps and then go check his



            4  traps, what have you?



            5      A.    He still needs to do that, but from his



            6  accounts, he normally did it on foot or on horseback



            7  going up and down the river and across.  And he talks



            8  about he built the canoe because they were in a flood



            9  condition and one guy had gotten killed trying to go



           10  across on horseback.  That's when they built the canoe.



           11  And I'm sure they didn't keep using it, because when



           12  they got to the Colorado River, he had to build another



           13  one.



           14      Q.    I'm now on inflatables, which is on the next



           15  page, I believe.



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    And you talk about inflatables not being



           18  practicable at statehood in the first -- do you see



           19  that?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    Is that Gookin on inflatables, or do you have



           22  some authority for that?



           23      A.    I have a fair amount of authority.  I've got



           24  the fact that when you look at their literature about



           25  the history of inflatables, they talk about them being
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            1  used as pontoon bridges and as, like, on lakes or as a



            2  short-term lifeboat on the ocean.  They don't talk



            3  about them going up and down rivers.



            4            The second point is I know that the rubber



            5  characteristics changed dramatically with the invention



            6  of carbon -- or the discovery of carbon black.



            7      Q.    But why do those -- how are those two things



            8  impracticable?  I mean assuming I had a boat, assuming



            9  it was an inflatable, and assuming I'm in the Salt



           10  River Valley, what's impracticable about me throwing



           11  that thing on the river and using it, assuming there's



           12  enough water there?



           13      A.    Historically, people didn't use the rubber



           14  boats because they weren't strong enough.  The seams



           15  popped open.  They couldn't handle any collisions to



           16  speak of.  That's why they used them for I'm going to



           17  put a pontoon boat in and that's going to be stagnant,



           18  standing in one place.  I'm going to go on a lake.



           19      Q.    You put a pontoon boat in presumably to



           20  support something?



           21      A.    To create a crossing.



           22      Q.    Yes.  And when you put wood on top of it and



           23  you --



           24      A.    Probably.



           25      Q.    -- you run horses or wagons across it --
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            1      A.    Right.



            2      Q.    -- does that vibrate the pontoon boat --



            3      A.    I -- go ahead.



            4      Q.    -- and create issues with the boat in terms



            5  of its ability to stay afloat?



            6      A.    It would impact the logs, which would, yes,



            7  vibrate the boats; but it wouldn't create tensile



            8  stresses by hitting the boats and pulling on the



            9  rubber.  Plus, I think they did just have problems,



           10  that sometimes they sprung a leak and they had to go



           11  build another one.



           12            Oh, the other aspect is there's evidence that



           13  the construction techniques used to build them didn't



           14  hold the boat together.



           15      Q.    Why did they keep building them then?



           16      A.    Well, they did --



           17      Q.    Sucker born every minute, was that the



           18  theory?



           19                 MR. MURPHY:  Can we let him answer



           20  again, Mr. Helm?



           21                 THE WITNESS:  I don't think they built a



           22  lot of them.  They built, as I say, some for pontoons.



           23  You could take it on the lake, because that's a nice



           24  still body.  You're not running into things, hopefully.



           25  So they had other purposes.
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            1                 But when you're talking about going down



            2  a river, you need something a little stronger, and they



            3  didn't have the rubber.  Rubber was very weak until



            4  carbon black and until they figured out how to do the



            5  seams better.



            6  BY MR. HELM:



            7      Q.    Now, my understanding is you're not a



            8  historian, don't claim to be?



            9      A.    And I thought I said I was on the Gila --



           10      Q.    No, I understand specifically.



           11      A.    -- and Salt and the Pima.



           12      Q.    But what I want to know is, did you have --



           13  you've talked about history and things way beyond the



           14  Pimas, haven't you?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    You're talking about the history of rubber



           17  boats right now, as far as I get?



           18      A.    Right.



           19      Q.    Okay.  And so my curiosity pops up at that



           20  point.  Did you have a historian working with you that



           21  helped you on this?



           22      A.    No.  I went and found the evidence.  When I



           23  heard rubber boats, my immediate reaction was why



           24  weren't they more prevalent, because there was no real



           25  discussion of them.  And so I went searching and I went
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            1  and found the advances in technology, and I looked at



            2  them with an engineering eye.  And carbon black was a



            3  major step forward.  Plus, I had the Rubber Division's



            4  articles on the history of rubber boats, and they say



            5  around 1900 the advances of rubber manufacturing made



            6  it possible to build more durable rubber inflated



            7  boats, but these crude craft had inherent defects, and



            8  they tended to split at the seams and folds due to the



            9  less-than-optimal manufacturing of the rubber.



           10            So I'm looking at a qualified source that



           11  tells me this.



           12      Q.    Okay.  So to kind of sum that out, what it



           13  is, is it's Gookin on the history of rubber boats in



           14  his capacity as a nonhistorian, without any help from a



           15  historian, assessing the history of a rubber boat?



           16      A.    Well, to me, it's more of an engineering



           17  question, because I'm looking at manufacturing



           18  techniques and tensile strengths.



           19      Q.    Have you ever seen -- well, I think you have.



           20  You said you've seen these folks who are kind of the



           21  replica freaks, who go out and build replicas of old



           22  boats and then use them today?



           23      A.    The only one I've ever seen was Mr. Dimock or



           24  Dimock, when he testified here.  I've heard of them.



           25      Q.    You acknowledge that those kind of folks were
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            1  around and they were around in modern times, and that



            2  they build boats that at least they think are exact



            3  replicas of boats that existed historically, and then



            4  they go out and use them on rivers?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    Okay.  And you, in fact, know about



            7  Mr. Dimock and the Edith?



            8      A.    Yes.



            9      Q.    And he used that on the Lower Salt River?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    And I guess my question is, if I take a boat



           12  that is historically correct for the time frame of



           13  statehood in Arizona and I use it in a commercial



           14  fashion in modern day time, have I solved the issue of



           15  modern boating?  That's modern boating, and I'm doing



           16  it today, but it's in an old boat.



           17      A.    If the river is in the same condition it was



           18  in the century and a half ago condition, yes.



           19      Q.    Okay.  How does that work in the situation



           20  we've got?  And let me just give you kind of a



           21  hypothetical.



           22            We have a river that is wholly diverted.



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    That is dammed up.



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    But there's still some water in it, all



            2  right.  I mean it's clearly not in the condition it



            3  would have been had we not had the dams, if we had not



            4  had the diversions, if we had not had the interruption



            5  in the type of river it is.  So it's got less water in



            6  it.  It's got a different bottom, may have different



            7  shapes.  But you can still navigate it in an old boat.



            8            Is that good enough to establish navigation?



            9      A.    I don't think so.



           10      Q.    Why not?



           11      A.    Because it's not in its ordinary and natural



           12  condition.  If it was in its ordinary and natural



           13  condition, it might have been easier; it might have



           14  been harder.  We don't know.



           15      Q.    But it's a hard-and-fast rule, is what you're



           16  telling me; that even though I have a lesser quality



           17  river at this point in time that I am using that boat



           18  on, that's not evidence to show that if I could use it



           19  on the lesser quality river, I could use it on the



           20  better quality river, when there was lots of water in



           21  it?



           22      A.    You have absolutely no idea if it's a better



           23  or lesser quality river that you're on.



           24      Q.    Well, but suppose I do.  Let's just assume



           25  that I know that there's less water going down this





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1779





            1  river than there was when it was in its natural and



            2  ordinary condition.



            3      A.    Then you don't need to worry about



            4  navigability, because you're God, and you could've put



            5  the water in and done it back then.



            6      Q.    Okay.



            7            Page 70.  And there you're talking about



            8  canvas canoes --



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    -- fair enough?



           11      A.    Yes.



           12      Q.    And simple question.  Are these your



           13  conclusions, this is Gookin on canvas canoes, or do you



           14  have some specific items that you can identify that



           15  tell us how you got to these conclusions?



           16      A.    Well, I put quotes in and I cited to them, so



           17  I think that kind of tells you.  I've done that



           18  throughout the report.



           19      Q.    So your whole basis for your assessment on



           20  canvas canoes is a footnote to something called Miller?



           21      A.    Actually, my basis for canoes, there are two,



           22  several bases.  One, I looked at Mr. Fuller's pictures.



           23  I'm enough of a hydrologist to know that the lines



           24  shown in Figure IV-3 aren't very conducive to



           25  maneuverability.  That's my technical expertise
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            1  speaking.



            2            Second, I did look at authorities, who talked



            3  about how filler changes in canvas have changed and are



            4  stronger than they used to be.  And, again, stronger



            5  means more durable, which means, as Mr. Fuller has told



            6  us, that you can boat rivers that are shallower and



            7  more rocky than you could with the old boat.  That's my



            8  argument.



            9      Q.    So you've got one authority that you cite,



           10  Miller, and two pictures of canvas canoes; is that



           11  fair?



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    And with respect to the Kolb brothers



           14  picture --



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    -- that's on the Colorado River, right?



           17      A.    I would assume so, but I don't know.



           18      Q.    Okay.  Not unreasonable assumption?



           19      A.    Probably.  I mean I know Kolb was big on the



           20  Colorado River.



           21      Q.    My question would be, does that mean canoes



           22  were used on the Colorado River?



           23      A.    Well, at least to sit there once, yes.



           24      Q.    Okay.  The guy was just holding the ores up



           25  in the air, huh?
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            1      A.    Yeah, and assuming that's the Colorado River.



            2      Q.    Sure.



            3      A.    Probably is.



            4      Q.    I accept that.



            5            Referring you to page 73, at the bottom of



            6  the page you give us a quote that goes over onto the



            7  next page?



            8      A.    Yes.



            9      Q.    And my only question there is, this quote is



           10  applicable to the Upper Salt, correct?



           11      A.    Yes.  It's from the Forest Service, for their



           12  reach area of governance.



           13      Q.    Going on to the next page, you talk about the



           14  price of boats or canoes, and you've got a $1,282



           15  number out there?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    Is this Gookin on economics, or do you have



           18  an actual citation that tells us that that's the



           19  number?



           20      A.    Yes.  I used the CPI.



           21      Q.    CPI from --



           22      A.    The Consumer.



           23      Q.    You went and found the price of a canoe back



           24  whenever that price was, and you adjusted it every year



           25  for the CPI and came up with a price at some date in
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            1  current times?



            2      A.    Yes.  The State presented the prices for the



            3  boats in the Sears catalog at the time.  I know how to



            4  read a number, I know how to do a CPI calculation, and



            5  I got a price.



            6      Q.    Okay.  So this is Gookin on economics, right?



            7      A.    Just means I went through high school, maybe



            8  grade school even.



            9      Q.    Page 79, you're talking about the Special



           10  Master and his list of boats and things?



           11      A.    Yes.



           12      Q.    And you indicate canoes are not mentioned on



           13  any of the Master's lists?



           14      A.    Correct, the list that they presented as



           15  to -- well, actually, I relied on Fuller, who had



           16  reviewed the lists of the Special Master, and he had



           17  printed those, and I relied on that.



           18      Q.    And from that, you came to the hard-and-fast



           19  conclusion that canoes were not appropriate to judge



           20  navigability on the Salt River by?



           21      A.    That's one of many reasons, yes.



           22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, could we



           23  break for lunch at this time?



           24                 MR. HELM:  Boy, I was having so much fun



           25  I wasn't even hungry, but I would be happy to.





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1783





            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We were too.



            2                 Let's come back at 1:15.  Thank you.



            3                 (A lunch recess was taken from



            4  12:02 p.m. to 1:22 p.m.)



            5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, Mr. Helm,



            6  ready?



            7                 You have two hours.



            8                 MR. HELM:  Oh, that's troublesome.  I'll



            9  try, though.



           10  BY MR. HELM:



           11      Q.    Okay, Mr. Gookin, we've got to go quickly, so



           12  I'm on page 84 and it's just a simple question.  You



           13  give a citation to Arizona Appellate Decision, 28-29,



           14  and I don't know how, as a lawyer, I find that decision



           15  identified that way.  So if you could tell me the name



           16  of the case, I would appreciate it.



           17      A.    Okay.  I have to confess, I should have put



           18  it in the bibliography, and I did not.



           19            Wait, let me check the -- what did it say?



           20  Page 28.  That would be the Winkleman decision.



           21      Q.    Okay.  Thank you.



           22            Next reference is to page 86, and there in



           23  the first two lines you talk about the Salt River being



           24  totally compromised by nonIndian development by 1939.



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    Wasn't it really at least totally compromised



            2  when they opened up Roosevelt Dam?



            3      A.    It was badly compromised by 1885, and it got



            4  a lot worse when Roosevelt.  All I was trying to get



            5  across is the last source of water for the river, the



            6  Verde, had been dammed up then.



            7      Q.    Page 87, you're talking about "...we are



            8  interested in the natural conditions as of statehood,



            9  we need to consider the channel data that occurred



           10  between 1906 and 1915."



           11            Is that the time frame under which you looked



           12  at the channel to determine whether it was in its



           13  natural and ordinary condition?



           14      A.    For the channel, yes.



           15      Q.    So you looked at the flows for pre1860 to



           16  1800, as Winkleman directed; but the channel you



           17  restricted yourself to 1906 to 1915, have I got that



           18  right?



           19      A.    Yeah, for the one channel of cross section I



           20  did.  It was based on that.



           21      Q.    This is page 91.  You tell us that in



           22  accordance with directions from the Supreme Court and



           23  the Appellate Court, I have broken the river



           24  configuration into three periods; predevelopment,



           25  statehood, and current.
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            1      A.    Yes.



            2      Q.    Specifically, what citation directs you to do



            3  that from either the Supreme Court or Appellate Courts?



            4      A.    Well, the Appellate Court talked about using



            5  the 1800 to the 1860s or '70 period, which they



            6  considered predevelopment.  The statehood is The Daniel



            7  Ball language, which is cited in both cases.  And the



            8  Montana dealt with whether or not you used the current



            9  period and what it takes to use the current period and



           10  so forth.  So I looked at all three.



           11      Q.    Page 92, you have a picture of the Mojave



           12  River in California?



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    Can you tell me the flow that that is



           15  handling at that time the picture was taken?



           16      A.    No clue.



           17      Q.    Got an estimate?



           18      A.    I gave up trying to estimate flows a long



           19  time ago.



           20      Q.    It's not much water, is it?



           21      A.    No.  It's very little.



           22      Q.    Would it be, at least at this point,



           23  something that you would consider to be in a drought



           24  condition?



           25      A.    The Mojave River?
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            1      Q.    Yeah.



            2      A.    I think that's almost flood stage.



            3      Q.    Baseflow?



            4      A.    No, I doubt it.



            5      Q.    So you think this is about baseflow for the



            6  Mojave River?



            7      A.    I think, if it's the one I'm thinking of.



            8  The Mojave River is ephemeral.  I could be on the wrong



            9  river.



           10                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  No, you're not.



           11                 THE WITNESS:  I'm not on the wrong



           12  river?



           13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  (Shook head.)



           14                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I trust



           15  Commissioner Allen on that.



           16  BY MR. HELM:



           17      Q.    Page 93, you're saying that in the -- prior



           18  to European occupation, that the river, the Lower Salt,



           19  was, if I understand it, braided approximately



           20  80 percent of the time?



           21      A.    I'm sorry, I missed the year.



           22      Q.    Pre-Anglo showing up.  I think that's what



           23  this is in reference to.



           24      A.    Oh, yes.  By the 1860s, yes.



           25      Q.    And what is your authority that it was a
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            1  braided river at that point 80 percent of the time?



            2      A.    The survey plats by the GLO.



            3      Q.    And is that a reference to the -- what I'm



            4  going to call the floodplain extent of the river?



            5      A.    Well, they show the channels on it.



            6      Q.    I understand.  But those plats are showing



            7  more than just the low flow channel?



            8      A.    Usually they just show the channel as it was



            9  when they were out there, be it low flow, high flow,



           10  whatever.  And I took all the survey plats and



           11  estimated the lengths and came up with roughly



           12  80 percent.



           13                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Pardon me.



           14



           15             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN



           16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  You said this is



           17  pre1860?



           18                 THE WITNESS:  I should say it was



           19  surveyed in the 1860s.  It was like '67, '68.



           20                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And that was by --



           21                 THE WITNESS:  Ingalls.



           22                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Ingalls?



           23                 THE WITNESS:  And if you want to look,



           24  they're in my appendix.



           25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah, I know.
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            1              CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



            2  BY MR. HELM:



            3      Q.    Page 94, just a quick one.  What do you mean



            4  by the terminology "live river"?



            5      A.    A live river is a flowing river.



            6      Q.    So did the Salt River become a dead river at



            7  some point?



            8      A.    Pretty much once Bartlett Dam was built, the



            9  Lower Salt River became a dead river.



           10      Q.    Page 99 you set out a mean, a median and a



           11  low.  And as I understand that, that would basically be



           12  the flows at the confluence of the Verde and the Salt;



           13  is that correct?



           14      A.    Yeah, immediately below.



           15            And you asked me to bring it up, but these



           16  were the figures that I developed in the Gila report



           17  and brought forward to this report.



           18      Q.    Thank you.  And that's the figures that are



           19  on page 99?



           20      A.    Well, 98, 99.  98, 99 and -- oh, and -- yeah,



           21  just 98 and 99.



           22      Q.    I'm on page 103 now, and I am a little



           23  confused by your Footnote 15.  You say "the natural



           24  mean average flow" -- I'm not sure what that means. --



           25  is only exceeded 20 to 25 percent of the time, and so
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            1  that is not enough to meet the test for ordinary.



            2      A.    Okay.  The mean average flow is simply what



            3  most people call the average.  And before that I said



            4  the natural, I think --



            5      Q.    You did.



            6      A.    -- which means I'm looking at the pre --



            7      Q.    Which you defined that earlier, so I didn't



            8  go back to it again.



            9      A.    Okay.  It means the predevelopment average



           10  flow.



           11      Q.    80 percent?



           12      A.    No, it means the average flow, the



           13  predevelopment average flow.



           14      Q.    Is what the word natural alludes to?



           15      A.    In terms of when I say natural mean annual.



           16      Q.    Oh, okay.



           17      A.    The phrase means that.



           18            That flow occurs or it's exceeded about 75 --



           19  excuse me, 20 to 25 percent of the time.  10 percent of



           20  that 20 to 25 percent is above the 90 percent -- or



           21  10 percent high flow.  So you're down to a very small



           22  percentage of time that you're considering.



           23            Now, I've never read clear direction.  I know



           24  that you can lay out for certain seasons, but I would



           25  question whether or not the legal standard would permit
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            1  you to just only do the boating 10 or 15 percent of the



            2  time.



            3      Q.    Okay.  Page 106, you've got a diagram



            4  there --



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    -- on which you show the mean, the median and



            7  the minimum.



            8      A.    Yes.



            9      Q.    Would you tell me where the 90 percent line



           10  or the 10 percent high line would be?



           11      A.    I did not put them on, and I didn't calculate



           12  them.  The minimum would be the same as the 10 percent,



           13  the bottom 10 percent.



           14      Q.    Sure, I assumed that was right.  You're



           15  missing the high 10 percent?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    And we don't have any idea where that falls



           18  in terms of feet, other than it's at least a tad below



           19  4.5 feet?



           20      A.    I would think so.



           21      Q.    Would it be above 3 feet there, do you think?



           22      A.    Just a second.



           23            I think it would be right around 3 feet.



           24      Q.    You've got the median at about 2?



           25      A.    Yeah.  No, the mean.
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            1      Q.    I'm sorry, yes, the mean.



            2      A.    But I don't know.  I didn't calculate it, is



            3  the correct answer.



            4      Q.    Page 108.  On the top of the page you're



            5  talking about extra-ordinary flows.  Are those flood



            6  flows that you're talking about?  Third line down.



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    Would those -- when you use that term



            9  "extra-ordinary flows," are we always referring to a



           10  flood event?



           11      A.    It would be possible that I could have been



           12  talking about the drought, but I don't remember ever



           13  doing that.



           14      Q.    Page 111, you say that here Mr. Fuller should



           15  be showing the worst case/shallowest cross section.



           16  That's a reference to our earlier discussion using,



           17  what was it, Colbert or whatever, Colbert and -- [sic]



           18      A.    Colbert and Hyra minimum depth discussion.



           19      Q.    Yeah, right.  That's what that's in reference



           20  to?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    Page 115.  Does the means that the rivers the



           23  Special Master in the Utah case was considering -- were



           24  they different than what the Salt would have been?



           25      A.    The means?
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            1      Q.    Yeah.



            2      A.    I'm sorry, I'm not seeing it on page 115.



            3      Q.    Well, where I have it marked on mine is with



            4  the statement, "However, the floods that the Utah



            5  Special Master considered had slower rises and slower



            6  falls than the Gila...due in part to the large areas



            7  that they drain," and that kicked into me that



            8  question.



            9            And so I just want to know if the Salt mean



           10  is different than the means on the rivers considered by



           11  the Special Master in Utah?



           12      A.    I'm almost certain that -- the mean flow, you



           13  mean?



           14      Q.    Uh-huh.



           15      A.    Was lower on the Salt.



           16      Q.    So it was different?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    On 115, you start at the bottom talking about



           19  marshland?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    And can you give me any places on the Lower



           22  Salt where marshes invaded the low flow channel of the



           23  Salt River?



           24      A.    I just don't know.  I know the USGS said it



           25  was marshy there on the -- just to the north of the





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1793





            1  Indian Reservation or on the -- on the northwest



            2  boundary of the Indian Reservation, the Gila River



            3  Indians.



            4      Q.    You don't know what they were talking about



            5  when they said -- what marshy was a reference to, other



            6  than soggy ground somewhere down there?



            7      A.    They said marshy, boggy, slime.  They kind of



            8  just made a general written description that was not



            9  too pleasant.



           10      Q.    Sure.  And from that you drew the implication



           11  that there would be some marshlands in the channels of



           12  the Salt?



           13      A.    I think it's a good chance.



           14      Q.    Okay.  But you don't have any evidence that



           15  says, "Look at this, John.  There's a picture of a



           16  marsh in the middle of the Salt River"?



           17      A.    No, I do not.



           18      Q.    You've heard the testimony here regarding



           19  sand bars; that they don't really present much of an



           20  obstacle to a boater because they can either boat



           21  around them or they just drag their boat across them,



           22  or I think Jon even talked about pushing it across,



           23  without getting out, with his paddle.



           24      A.    Yes, and I also read the Special Master's



           25  reports talking about other ways they got around sand
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            1  bars.



            2      Q.    Okay.  Do you have any actual evidence that



            3  you can point to and show me a sand bar in the Salt



            4  River that actually acted as an impediment to



            5  navigation, assuming navigation would have occurred on



            6  the Salt?



            7      A.    I never indicated they were.



            8            I was just giving context for the quote that



            9  followed that sentence.



           10      Q.    I'm sometimes too literal.



           11            On page 126, you're talking about an Oregon



           12  Appellate Court Decision.  And is that the Haselton



           13  decision that you're talking about or some other



           14  decision?



           15      A.    Yeah, the John Day River was the Haselton



           16  decision.  It's in the footnote.



           17      Q.    Okay.  Well, I'm saying that's the -- when



           18  you say "The Oregon Appellate Court Decision does talk



           19  about," and so I'm looking for -- as opposed to saying



           20  "Haselton talks about."



           21      A.    Oh.



           22      Q.    That is the Haselton reference?



           23      A.    Yes, and check the footnote.  It gives you



           24  all those numbers lawyers like.



           25      Q.    Yeah, I know it, but that's all I'm trying to
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            1  get.



            2            Is Exhibit B to this report your complete



            3  list of authorities you rely on?



            4      A.    As of the time of the report, yes.  There



            5  will be a supplemental one for the PowerPoint that



            6  lists a few extras, a few more, but not many.



            7      Q.    Okay.  We're now done with your report, which



            8  means we're making progress, but we're not done yet.



            9  We have your PowerPoint to talk a little bit about,



           10  because some of the things in your PowerPoint, at least



           11  I didn't see them show up in your report, but we're



           12  narrowing it down.  And, regrettably, I have to wait



           13  while this stupid thing goes through the turnoff



           14  process on this thing so I can get to the next.



           15            So if you want to get your PowerPoint out,



           16  I'll start zipping through that, if I can.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, how would you



           18  like to do the PowerPoint?  Would you like the slides



           19  displayed or --



           20                 MR. HELM:  There's maybe only one where



           21  I just can't read it.  I mean I've enlarged it as much



           22  as I can get it on this thing, and it just fuzzes out,



           23  and I want to know what the language is.  But for the



           24  most part, I'm happy here, if everybody else is happy.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  We do have the
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            1  PowerPoint in paper form, so we could be able to



            2  reference it.



            3  BY MR. HELM:



            4      Q.    The first one that I have a reference to is



            5  your Slide 9.



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    And as I understand Slide 9, what you're



            8  showing me is, with the exception of a brief period in



            9  July, maybe, and June, maybe, maybe where they meet,



           10  the flow in the Salt River near Chrysotile always



           11  exceeds 50 percent of the ordinary condition; is that



           12  correct?



           13      A.    It shows that the average flows exceed the



           14  50 percent daily condition, yes; or the average monthly



           15  flows, I should say.



           16      Q.    And would your answer be the same for



           17  Number 10, Slide 10, for Segments 3, 4 and 5?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    And, again, it would be the same for



           20  Slide 11?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    So, for the most part, the river is always in



           23  the upper half of the ordinary condition?



           24      A.    No.



           25      Q.    No.  Which one of those slides shows the
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            1  river for any significant period of time below the



            2  median?



            3      A.    Western rivers in particular have large flood



            4  flows, large, high flows, spring flows, snowmelt flows.



            5  Those numbers distort the averages.  So that as you can



            6  see in chart number, say, 9, 10 and 11 or Mr. Fuller's



            7  charts on 12 and 13, the average is always higher.



            8  That doesn't mean the river is always higher, because



            9  the median is 50 percent of the days are above it and



           10  50 percent of the days are below it.



           11      Q.    Maybe that's why I'm confused.  I look at



           12  your median on those three charts that we were just



           13  talking about, and as you show the median, with some



           14  very short periods of time in the mid summer, the flows



           15  are always above it.



           16      A.    Yes, the average monthly flows, which is --



           17      Q.    Well, I take that to be the median.  I'm



           18  sorry.  Because that's what he's got it identified as.



           19  If it's not --



           20      A.    Right, the blue, the dark blue --



           21      Q.    The red line is the median, right?



           22      A.    Yes, and you're talking about the monthly



           23  mean being above the median, and that is true.



           24            Mostly, I was just trying to re-create



           25  Mr. Fuller's slides on these.
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            1      Q.    Okay, looking at Number 12.



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    Based on that, is it fair to say that



            4  12 months of the year the river was boatable?



            5      A.    I don't think you can tell.



            6      Q.    Okay.  It shows that the red line there is



            7  what?



            8      A.    The 90 percent line.



            9      Q.    Okay.  So in the ordinary course of events,



           10  on average, because that's all we're dealing with, is



           11  averages -- I get that. -- the river has enough water



           12  in it to allow those kinds of boats to float that are



           13  hung onto the vertical middle line?



           14      A.    Are you talking about the line that goes down



           15  to the top of the blue shaded area?



           16      Q.    Yeah.



           17      A.    Okay.  Those are Mr. Fuller's calculations,



           18  which I do not adopt or agree with.



           19      Q.    Okay.



           20      A.    This gaging station was near Roosevelt, and



           21  it measures one of the pools of water.  And he used the



           22  criteria for the minimum cross section against the



           23  depth data for the pools of water, and that's improper.



           24      Q.    Okay.  But that's not what I asked you.  I



           25  asked you based on this chart, it's boatable all year
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            1  long, right?



            2      A.    It doesn't say that, and it's --



            3      Q.    Well, that's my understanding of it, and I'm



            4  asking you to tell me if I'm misunderstanding.  The



            5  boats that you're showing there are all below the



            6  80 percent ordinary condition, right?



            7                 MR. MURPHY:  Mr. Chairman, I don't



            8  understand.  He's saying the boats that you're showing,



            9  but this is Mr. Fuller's slide.  And is Mr. Helm asking



           10  Mr. Gookin what Mr. Fuller is showing?



           11                 MR. HELM:  Yes.



           12                 MR. MURPHY:  He could have asked



           13  Mr. Fuller.  I don't know why, but --



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So as we understand the



           15  question, John, you're asking Mr. --



           16                 THE WITNESS:  Gookin.



           17                 MR. HELM:  Mr. Gookin, if what



           18  Mr. Fuller is showing is --



           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- Gookin to interpret



           20  what Mr. Fuller put on his slide because Mr. Gookin



           21  included it in his slides?



           22                 MR. HELM:  That's correct.



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Got it?



           24                 THE WITNESS:  Got it.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Give it.
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            1                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  The arrow and the



            2  three dashed lines apply to the annual condition.  So,



            3  for example, assuming Mr. Fuller had done it all



            4  correctly, you would say annually you could boat



            5  slightly over 40 percent of the time with a canoe,



            6  kayak, raft or driftboat.



            7                 And the way I get that is the top of the



            8  blue shaded area is immediately below the median line,



            9  okay.  So that is 50 percent.  It's a little below



           10  50 percent.  And we're looking for between the



           11  10 percent line, the high line, and the blue line.  So



           12  there's 40 percent between the 10 percent high line and



           13  the 50 percent median line.  50 minus 10 is 40, plus a



           14  smidge, because the blue shaded is a little below the



           15  median, and you get a little over 40.



           16  BY MR. HELM:



           17      Q.    And if I asked you that question for the next



           18  two slides, that I assume are Mr. Fuller's also, your



           19  answer would be similar?



           20      A.    No, and that's part of the problem, because,



           21  for example, on Segment 5, Slide 13, you see the median



           22  has jumped all the way up in the chart.  And so now the



           23  boats, it's very hard to tell, because you've got the



           24  50 percent line at about 1,000, and you have the



           25  10 percent low line that's somewhat below the arrow,
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            1  the top of the blue.  I don't know what the percentage



            2  in that little gap is.  But it's probably on the order



            3  of 40 percent between the 90, the red line, and the



            4  green; and making a guess, 35 percent below.  So now



            5  we're at 75 percent or so, 80 percent.  75, I would



            6  say.



            7      Q.    Going down now to Slide 16, which is the



            8  Thomsen and Porcello mean annual flow slide.



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    And the first thing I'm curious to know is



           11  why does all this matter?  Because what we're concerned



           12  about is the ordinary and natural flow condition, which



           13  is 80 percent of the flow, right?



           14      A.    Well, that's not all we're concerned about,



           15  but we're concerned about that.



           16      Q.    All right, but I mean principally.  And



           17  that's what we seem to be focusing.  We just seem to be



           18  focusing on the median or the mean, as opposed to what



           19  I call the spread, the water column between 10 percent



           20  low and 10 percent high.



           21      A.    It --



           22                 MR. MURPHY:  Is that a question?  I



           23  didn't hear a question there, Mr. Chairman.



           24                 MR. HELM:  Why don't you go out in the



           25  other room.  If we want to play this, I'm going to do
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            1  it to him, and I want him to know it.



            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John.  John.  Okay.



            3                 Did you understand the question,



            4  Mr. Gookin?



            5                 THE WITNESS:  At this point, no.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Can you rephrase



            7  the question?



            8                 THE WITNESS:  I thought I did for a



            9  second, and I'm sorry.



           10  BY MR. HELM:



           11      Q.    Sure.  I just want you to tell me why we're



           12  not focused on the -- instead of being at the mean or



           13  the median and whether that's an average and how it



           14  gets put out of whack by the floods, why we're not



           15  focusing on the spread?



           16      A.    Because the median -- the determination of



           17  the median affects how much time in the spread it was



           18  boatable.  What per --



           19      Q.    So what --



           20      A.    It --



           21      Q.    What -- go ahead.



           22      A.    Do you want me to try again?



           23      Q.    Yeah, I wish you would.



           24      A.    Okay.  He has a chart and he shows a range of



           25  flows that's 80 percent of the time.  Now, he doesn't
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            1  indicate that, say, a raft can be boated any of those



            2  days that fall in the 80 percent.  He says some of



            3  those days, but not all of those days.



            4            That leads to the question how many days can



            5  it be, what percentage are we talking about?  Because,



            6  to me, if you can boat it, say, 70 percent of the time



            7  out of 80, it's a much stronger case for navigability



            8  than if you can only boat it, say, 1 percent of the



            9  time.  And that's why it matters.



           10      Q.    Okay.  Do you have any charts set out where



           11  you determine how much of the time it can be boated?



           12      A.    I showed the depths for the minimum, median



           13  and mean, which gets me up to about the 75, 80 percent



           14  level, and showed none of those were boatable under the



           15  Utah criteria.



           16      Q.    Well, nothing's boatable -- or, well, and I



           17  don't recall any that are over 3 feet that you've



           18  shown.  But, basically, it's not a calculation, whether



           19  it was the mean, the median or whatever.  As long as it



           20  doesn't go above 3 feet, you would say it's not



           21  boatable?



           22      A.    As long as it's below the mean average of



           23  3 feet, yes, it's not boatable.  It's not navigable for



           24  title purposes, more accurately.



           25      Q.    Okay.  And I guess what I'm driving at, or
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            1  maybe I can ask it a different way, is did you do any



            2  analysis on what -- within the ordinary and natural



            3  portion of the river, the 80 percent, without the 10



            4  and the 10, was -- whether the river at any point was



            5  navigable?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    Okay.  Where would I find that?



            8      A.    Jump to Slide 195.



            9      Q.    Can you do it without me having to jump?



           10  Because this is way in the back of this turkey.  I'm



           11  not tuned in by number of slides.



           12      A.    Well, it's the slide that shows the results



           13  of the Manning's equation.  It's Figure 6-3 in my



           14  report, and I compute, for various assumed n-values,



           15  the depth of water for mean, which is 75 to 80 percent;



           16  median, which is 50 percent; and minimum, which is the



           17  10 percent.



           18            And given that the mean depth under the most



           19  optimistic conditions comes only to 1.3 feet, I'm



           20  pretty safe in saying it's not navigable.  It's not



           21  going to get to 3 feet before you get to 90 percent; or



           22  if it does -- well, I don't think it will, but it's



           23  only going to be a day or two.



           24      Q.    On Slide 17, does that slide tell me the --



           25  or is there any way that I can pick out the ordinary
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            1  condition of the river from there?



            2      A.    This is just talking about how you --



            3  Mr. Fuller converted mean annual flow into -- or median



            4  annual flow into his answer which he used as median



            5  daily flow and trying to explain -- starting the



            6  explanation of why it was incorrect mathematically.



            7      Q.    It doesn't demonstrate the spread in any



            8  fashion, is what you're driving at?



            9      A.    No.



           10      Q.    And neither does the next slide, Slide 18?



           11      A.    Correct.



           12      Q.    Could you explain for me again what the



           13  purpose of Slide 19 is?



           14      A.    Yes.  Mr. Fuller took the median annual flow



           15  out of the Thomsen and Porcello report.  If you take



           16  the median flow, which means you rank all the years in



           17  descending order of flow, and you go down halfway and



           18  you pick that year, the median annual flow occurred in



           19  1948.  And I was using water years, which starts



           20  October 1st and ends September 30.



           21            The question then became do you just take the



           22  median annual flow and directly convert it to cfs by



           23  using the number of seconds in the year and the cubic



           24  feet and so forth.  And that's the green line.  That's



           25  what that answer is if you do it by just converting
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            1  units.



            2            If you do it by going to that year and taking



            3  all the daily flows, listing them in order, and going



            4  halfway down, you get the value that's depicted by the



            5  red line.



            6            And the point is there is a significant



            7  difference between computing the green line, which was



            8  basically computing the mean average daily flow for the



            9  water year 1948, than calculating the median daily



           10  water flow for water year 1948.



           11      Q.    And in any event, on that Slide 19, we don't



           12  have any way to determine what would be the ordinary



           13  spread, do we?



           14      A.    No.  I'm not talking about that here.



           15      Q.    I understand that.  I just want to make it



           16  clear --



           17      A.    Okay.



           18      Q.    -- that we can't get that number off of



           19  Slide 19?



           20      A.    Right.



           21      Q.    Going on to 19a, you're talking about the



           22  Edith trip at 653 cfs?



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    That wasn't a flood stage on that segment of



           25  the river, was it?
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            1      A.    No, but it was a much less frequent



            2  percentage occurrence than was suggested by saying it's



            3  well below the median.  If that flow is well above the



            4  median, then you're talking about a much less frequent



            5  time.



            6      Q.    It was within the ordinary condition?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    And at least if you use the Edith as a



            9  standard, it was navigable for the Edith?



           10      A.    The Edith did not demonstrate navigability of



           11  the Salt below Stewart, Segment 5, for a bunch of



           12  reasons that I discussed in the --



           13      Q.    I'm just talking about the area it traversed.



           14      A.    No, I'm talking about all the issues of was



           15  it ordinary and natural.  It only went one way, and you



           16  can't afford to do that.



           17      Q.    I picked a bad term.



           18      A.    Okay.



           19      Q.    What do you want to use when I don't want to



           20  talk about navigability for title purpose, but simply



           21  that the Edith navigated, went from a Point A on the



           22  Salt River to Point B on the Salt River?



           23      A.    And it did do that.



           24      Q.    It did do that.



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    And it did that at that flow?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    And that flow was within the ordinary



            4  condition of the Salt River?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6            Oh, and, by the way, you got it.



            7            Sorry.



            8      Q.    Okay.  Slide 20, tell me what the purpose,



            9  again, of that slide is.



           10      A.    Slide 20?



           11      Q.    Uh-huh.



           12      A.    To summarize the calculations and the various



           13  values that were presented.



           14      Q.    Can you take Slide 20 and show me the



           15  ordinary and natural condition of the river for the



           16  time it's representing?



           17      A.    No.



           18      Q.    Okay.  This is Slide 22, and this was the one



           19  that I tried to blow up as far as I could blow it up on



           20  my computer, and I could not read the boxes that are at



           21  the bottom of that slide.



           22      A.    Okay.



           23      Q.    So could you tell me what they say?



           24      A.    Are you talking about the bottom row?



           25      Q.    Well, they're white.  You see 22?  I come
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            1  across, it looks like there's a little white spot



            2  there.  Then I come across to a bigger box and then I



            3  come across to one that's longer, but shorter, and then



            4  I come across to a bigger box again.



            5      A.    May I come look?



            6      Q.    Certainly, or I'll bring it to you.



            7            The white boxes.



            8      A.    Here?



            9      Q.    Yeah, on that slide.



           10      A.    Oh, I see.



           11            Okay, it's Slide 22.  I was on the wrong



           12  slide.



           13            Those white boxes were put on the map by



           14  Mr. Fuller.  I just used this as a convenient base map



           15  and superimposed the red arrow on it.  That's all I



           16  did.



           17      Q.    Okay.  And can --



           18      A.    To show the very generalized direction of



           19  underflow.



           20      Q.    I still haven't been able to read it,



           21  so . . .



           22      A.    Oh, I can't either.



           23      Q.    So we don't know what those white boxes are



           24  down there.  You were just using this map that



           25  Mr. Fuller made to show the arrow, the red arrow?
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            1      A.    Yes.



            2      Q.    Which, as I understand it, was an arrow that



            3  shows the ancient flow of the river?



            4      A.    Yes, and crudely so.



            5      Q.    On Slide 29 you're talking about European



            6  occupation, and you're talking about the



            7  Spaniards/Mexicans, and you indicate that they have no



            8  evidence that they used boats.



            9            And the thing that I find curious or I don't



           10  understand is, when the Spanish were exploring Arizona,



           11  they were coming out of Mexico, correct?



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    Okay.  So they're going north?



           14      A.    For part of the time, yes.



           15      Q.    And they didn't bring any boats with them



           16  when they left Mexico, right?



           17      A.    Sometimes.



           18      Q.    And if I get what you're saying here, is, for



           19  example, when the Spanish got to the Salt River, they



           20  didn't know where it was going.  Maybe they talked to



           21  some minions that told them, but they did not know, as



           22  a matter of fact, where they would end up if they got



           23  in a boat and set off down the Salt River; is that



           24  fair?



           25      A.    Yes.  But I think you're misconstruing what
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            1  I'm trying to say.



            2      Q.    Well, you don't know where I'm going yet, so



            3  be patient.



            4      A.    Okay.  I will.



            5      Q.    So the problem that I'm having is that, in



            6  the exploration phase at least, you're assuming that an



            7  explorer would abandon his horse for a boat when he



            8  didn't know whether that boat would get him back home



            9  or not?



           10      A.    No, I am not assuming that.



           11      Q.    Okay.



           12      A.    What I'm trying to say is the Spaniards who



           13  went there did not see the Indians using boats on the



           14  Salt and Gila, but they did see them using boats on the



           15  Colorado River.  That's the significance of the point.



           16      Q.    Okay.  You say, "They did record when they



           17  used boats."



           18      A.    And I have --



           19      Q.    And what that means is the Spaniards didn't



           20  record when they used boats; they recorded when Indians



           21  used boats?



           22      A.    And I should have written it that way.  That



           23  is quite right.



           24      Q.    I'm easily confused.



           25      A.    Well, I have problems with pronouns.  I can
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            1  use it to define different people in the same sentence.



            2      Q.    Have you ever run a log drive on any river?



            3      A.    No, sir.



            4      Q.    You have no experience in that?



            5      A.    No experience and don't want to.



            6      Q.    Slide 45, you indicate that the Thorpe and



            7  Crawford trip fails the Montana test.  And is that



            8  simply because your perception is that in Montana it



            9  says you can't drag a boat?



           10      A.    The quote, yes, is at the bottom of the slide



           11  that I'm referring to.



           12      Q.    Okay.  So this goes back to your if you drag



           13  a boat across a sand bar, you've just disqualified the



           14  river from being ever navigable?



           15      A.    Well, I wouldn't think sand bars, because



           16  Utah specifically included sand bars as being okay.



           17      Q.    How long did you have to drag it before it



           18  disqualifies you?



           19      A.    I think you would have to ask the U.S.



           20  Supreme Court for more specific directions.



           21      Q.    Well, how far did you allow it to be dragged



           22  before you disqualified it in your mind?



           23      A.    To me, if they're talking about, in these --



           24  the news reports are very vague, but when they talk



           25  about they drag the boat and they're giving a
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            1  significant frequency or implying it, then I say it



            2  fails the test.



            3            The fact that you hit a sand bar in



            4  particular, got out and pushed, that wouldn't do it.



            5      Q.    So what you're referring to dragging the boat



            6  as disqualifying, it's somebody who maybe drags the



            7  boat 50 percent of the time as he travels down a



            8  stretch of the river?



            9      A.    That would be a good hypothetical.



           10      Q.    Okay.  Referring you to 58 and 59, which is



           11  the Hamilton, Jordan and Halesworth trip.



           12      A.    I'm there.



           13      Q.    Yeah, what was the purpose of that trip?



           14            Was it to assess whether the river was



           15  navigable?



           16      A.    I'm trying to remember it.



           17            Oh, that one.  Okay.  It wasn't really clear



           18  what the purpose was; but given his interview, I think



           19  he was trying to determine if you could navigate it or



           20  that was a purpose.  He may have been going for other



           21  reasons.  We don't know from the article.



           22      Q.    Okay.  If the purpose was to assess the



           23  navigability of the river --



           24      A.    Right.



           25      Q.    -- wouldn't that qualify as a commercial
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            1  trip?



            2      A.    If he had then started commercial activities,



            3  I would agree; but he didn't.



            4      Q.    Okay.  So because he did not start up a river



            5  boat company after he got back from the trip, it



            6  disqualifies the trip, even though he assessed it?



            7      A.    Yes, because I guess the phrase is actions



            8  speak louder than words.  He or somebody else.  If



            9  somebody else had followed up, that would be --



           10      Q.    You sound like the IRS now.



           11      A.    Well, now, you don't have to get downright



           12  nasty.



           13      Q.    They'd disallow that deduction, wouldn't



           14  they?



           15            Going to the Wilcox and Andrews trip, 66, I



           16  think it is, how far did they travel on the river to



           17  get to the Joint Head Dam?



           18      A.    I know I computed the distance at one point



           19  to Joint Head.



           20      Q.    Was it over 10 miles?



           21      A.    I don't believe so, but I could be wrong.  As



           22  I say, I thought I did compute it.



           23      Q.    As you sit here, you don't recall?



           24      A.    I can't remember the number, no.



           25      Q.    Going on to page 78 or Slide 78, do I
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            1  understand that slide correctly that the orange line



            2  represents the upward end of the ordinary and natural



            3  condition?



            4      A.    As computed by Mr. Fuller, yes.



            5      Q.    But you put it in a different format, but



            6  that's what that orange line represents?



            7      A.    Yeah.  I was just trying to find a fourth



            8  color.



            9      Q.    Okay.  Did Mr. Fuller calculate exact numbers



           10  for that orange line, or are those -- is it your



           11  interpretation?



           12      A.    I took the number that was on his chart and



           13  put it in this graph to draw the line.  I think it was



           14  2,990-something, I think.



           15      Q.    So everything above that is the 10 percent?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    On Slide 82, you give us a maximum cfs of



           18  79,806.  I assume that's somewhat in a flood stage?



           19      A.    I would think so, yes.



           20      Q.    And do you have a date when that occurred?



           21      A.    No.  They only published three numbers for



           22  each month.  This is a USGS report.  They published the



           23  maximum, the mean average, and the minimum.



           24      Q.    Once a month?



           25      A.    For each month for a couple of years, two,
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            1  three years.



            2      Q.    What I'm confused about, did they publish the



            3  numbers three times a month or give us numbers for



            4  three times in a month?



            5      A.    No, they gave us three numbers for the whole



            6  month, the maximum --



            7      Q.    One time, three numbers?



            8      A.    Yeah, for January you got what the maximum



            9  day in January was, what the average for January was,



           10  and what the smallest day in January was.



           11      Q.    Do you know the day in January they publish



           12  that or the day in February they publish that?



           13      A.    No.  It was a compendium in one of the USGS



           14  papers.



           15      Q.    Okay.  Referring you to Slide 86, are the cf



           16  numbers that you set out in that slide all flood



           17  numbers?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19            Let me qualify it.  I don't know for Dome.  I



           20  don't remember calculating it, but they sure look like



           21  it.



           22      Q.    To the best of your knowledge, they are, you



           23  would say?



           24      A.    Yeah, I would think so.



           25      Q.    Going to Slide 90, are those numbers flood
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            1  stage?



            2      A.    On the Verde, I'm not sure if it was, because



            3  I don't remember.  I didn't play in the Verde hearing,



            4  so to speak.  But if you add those two together, which



            5  is the point, you're over the 3,000 cfs in Segment 6.



            6      Q.    And that would then be a flood number?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    So while the Verde number may not be a flood



            9  number, there's no doubt in your mind that the Salt



           10  number is?



           11      A.    Yeah.



           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, we're going



           13  to take a break now, so we can build a fire.



           14                 (A recess was taken from 2:21 p.m. to



           15  2:35 p.m.)



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?



           17                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.



           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, please start.



           19  BY MR. HELM:



           20      Q.    Ready to roll.



           21            Mr. Gookin, page 107 or plate 107 or



           22  Slide 107.  There you're talking about various kinds of



           23  canoes and the kind of psi they can withstand, and I



           24  take that to mean is that in a direct head-on crash?



           25      A.    With fiberglass and aluminum it doesn't
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            1  matter if it's head-on or from the side.  The cedar is



            2  from the side, perpendicular to the grain.



            3      Q.    Would the cedar be higher in a head-on?



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    How about -- I notice one thing that was used



            6  a lot around statehood and before, that isn't in there,



            7  is a dugout canoe; basically, a big log with a hole in



            8  it.



            9      A.    Yeah.  Well, I think it was only used twice,



           10  Hayden and Pattie.



           11      Q.    Well, that's the only accounts we may have.



           12  Although, I didn't go looking, so I don't know.  But my



           13  point being, you didn't test for a log with a hole in



           14  it?



           15      A.    No, because that is so different than a



           16  regular canoe, I don't think they're even really in the



           17  same class.



           18      Q.    You do degree that at least to the extent



           19  there are two accounts of them, they were used in



           20  Arizona pres-statehood?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    Down on Slide 131 and your faulty logic



           23  discussion.  And do you have any statistics that would



           24  classify how much faster travel by boat would be than



           25  travel by horse, wagon, motorized vehicle and train?





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1819





            1      A.    Yes.



            2      Q.    Where would I find those?



            3      A.    It was in my report.  It's not really a



            4  statistic, but data, and it was about the Erie Canal.



            5  At least I think I put it in.



            6      Q.    Yeah, I remember you putting something in



            7  about the Erie Canal.  I didn't remember it dealt with



            8  the speed of a motorized vehicle or --



            9      A.    The transit time -- I'm on page 45 of my



           10  report.  The transit time to traverse the route of the



           11  Erie Canal went from 45 days before the canal was



           12  started to 5 days after it was done.



           13      Q.    Okay.  And that -- having come from that neck



           14  of the woods, and, in fact, I think I have a relative



           15  or two who might have participated in its construction,



           16  those boats were pulled by horses, weren't they?



           17      A.    Horses, mule, oxen, et cetera, yes.



           18      Q.    Somebody was towing those boats up that



           19  river, weren't they, or that canal?



           20      A.    That canal, yes.



           21      Q.    So could we use, to measure navigability on



           22  the Salt River, a boat being pulled by a horse?



           23      A.    I don't know what the law is on that one.



           24      Q.    I'm referring you to Slide 162.



           25      A.    I'm there.
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            1      Q.    I take it the blue line is the low flow



            2  channel?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    Do you have an estimate for the depth of the



            5  low flow channel on this portion of the Salt?



            6      A.    No idea.



            7      Q.    The same for the lower half of the picture?



            8      A.    Correct.



            9      Q.    Okay.  The braiding that you talk about on



           10  those pictures, that's for more than the low flow



           11  channel, correct?



           12      A.    More than, yeah, the lowest flow channel, I



           13  think would be the best way to put it.



           14      Q.    However you want to put it.



           15      A.    Yeah.



           16      Q.    The braiding that you're using in these



           17  pictures to illustrate is not just braiding of the



           18  lowest flow channel?



           19      A.    Correct.



           20      Q.    It's braiding that you would have to have



           21  more water than is in the lowest flow channel --



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    -- to get those braids to function?



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    We probably answered this, but I'm down on
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            1  171 with the Special Master, and he had no information



            2  of any kind available to him on the Salt River; is that



            3  fair?



            4      A.    I have no idea.  I would doubt it, but . . .



            5      Q.    In your review of his record, you didn't see



            6  any?



            7      A.    No.



            8      Q.    Slide 203.  I think you stated this.



            9  Tamarisk is not a native plant to Arizona, right?



           10      A.    Correct.



           11      Q.    And when was it brought here, to the best of



           12  your knowledge?



           13      A.    I know the answer to that from very good



           14  authority, authorities, and they're all different.



           15      Q.    What's your best guess?



           16      A.    I think it came in with the Spaniards, who



           17  brought it in to plant as shade trees at the missions.



           18      Q.    And what would be the --



           19      A.    That's one story I've heard.



           20      Q.    Sure.  I've heard it too.



           21            What other stories have you heard?



           22      A.    I've heard it was brought into nurseries on



           23  the East Coast.  I know I've heard a couple others, and



           24  I finally just kind of let it all go.  I don't know



           25  that we'll ever know.
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            1      Q.    At any rate, they're not natural?



            2      A.    They're not natural here, and they're not



            3  nice.



            4      Q.    They use a lot of water, don't they?



            5      A.    Yes, they do.



            6      Q.    And they seem to be able to survive droughts



            7  fairly well?



            8      A.    They'll be here growing in the middle of an



            9  atomic explosion someday.



           10      Q.    I think you're right.



           11            In any event, they would not have been



           12  considered part of the --



           13      A.    Natural --



           14      Q.    -- ordinary and natural condition of the Salt



           15  River as we're told to portray it by Winkleman?



           16      A.    Right.  Well, not the natural, certainly, and



           17  wouldn't impact the ordinary particularly.



           18      Q.    Slide, actually, 211, 212, 213 and 214.  Or



           19  skip 211.  12, 13 and 14 you have little insets --



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    -- that you're using to illustrate that while



           22  it might look like a single channel, when you've got



           23  the big aerial in front of you, when you get down and



           24  look at the finer points, you see that it may or may



           25  not be single channel?
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            1      A.    Not so much that point, although that's also



            2  true; but my point was, while the two maps on Slide 211



            3  may look very, very similar at a quick glance, when you



            4  blow it up and look more closely, you can see there are



            5  some very significant differences.



            6      Q.    What I want to know is, for example, on 212,



            7  the two blowups you have, how much of the river bottom



            8  do they cover?  Is that 1,000 yards, 2 feet?



            9      A.    I didn't go back to the original maps, so I



           10  don't know if they're 7 and a half minute, 15-minute



           11  quads.  I just took those, and I was trying to blow up



           12  the little segments for comparison.  So I really don't



           13  know.



           14      Q.    Okay.  Here's where I get to my finale, I



           15  think, other than -- and I'm going off on my own frolic



           16  and detour and playing hydrologist.



           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is that microphone



           18  working, Joe?



           19                 MR. SPARKS:  Yeah, I think so.  Sounded



           20  pretty scary to me.



           21  BY MR. HELM:



           22      Q.    It may get scary.



           23            Throughout your report and in your



           24  PowerPoint, there's been lots of calculations done with



           25  means and medians.  You've done your fair share of
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            1  them, and you've set forth the ones that Mr. Fuller has



            2  done.  So we've all had an opportunity to look at lots



            3  of calculation of means and medians; is that fair?



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    Now, the means and medians that you



            6  calculated or that you displayed were means and medians



            7  of the entire river, correct, the entire time frame?



            8      A.    There are so many in there, I can't answer



            9  that.



           10      Q.    Okay.  Let me put it a different way.



           11            Did you attempt to segregate the flood



           12  channel and the drought, channel is the wrong word, but



           13  those portions of the ordinary condition and then do a



           14  median and means study of just the ordinary and natural



           15  channel, the 80 percent?



           16      A.    I took one cross section on the Lower Salt



           17  River that I thought was fairly representative of that



           18  township, and I did compute the 10 percent low, the



           19  median and the mean for those channels and compute the



           20  depths that would occur.



           21      Q.    Okay.  But you didn't do the flood



           22  10 percent?



           23      A.    No, I didn't.



           24      Q.    So even in that calculation, the flood



           25  10 percent is included in the averaging that you did?
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            1      A.    Yes.



            2      Q.    In other words, if you're doing the median,



            3  you started counting down from the top?



            4      A.    Right.



            5      Q.    And there is some portion of that count that



            6  had flood in it?



            7      A.    That's correct.



            8      Q.    And while those may have excluded drought, it



            9  still had flood in it.  And in the rest of the



           10  calculations that were done, they had both flood and



           11  drought in it?



           12      A.    In the median I still had drought in it.



           13      Q.    Right.  That's what --



           14      A.    And flood.



           15            And in the average I had both in it.



           16      Q.    Okay.  And that was the way for every



           17  calculation where mean and median was done?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    So, basically, it's fair to say that we have



           20  no calculation from you of what the ordinary and



           21  natural median would look like?



           22      A.    No.



           23      Q.    Well, I thought you just told me that your



           24  calculations to determine those included the flood



           25  portion?
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            1      A.    And the drought portion.  I included all the



            2  data.



            3      Q.    I understand that.



            4            But now I'm just trying to find out how that



            5  applies to the calculations as they apply to the



            6  80 percent.  The 80 percent includes a flood component.



            7      A.    80 percent does not include the flood



            8  component.



            9      Q.    You counted down from one, two, three, four,



           10  five, and the first three were flood, weren't they?



           11      A.    You said the 80 percent included the flood



           12  component.  That's not a true statement.



           13            The median includes the flood component.



           14  That is a true statement.



           15      Q.    Okay.



           16      A.    And it includes the drought.



           17      Q.    Sure.  And my point being that those are not



           18  representative of the 80 percent?



           19      A.    Actually, the median would be equally



           20  representative of the median of the 80 percent because



           21  I've knocked the 10 percent highest flows off that --



           22  say I have 1,000 events or days.  I have deleted 100



           23  off the top, 100 off the bottom, and gone halfway in



           24  between, to do it the way you wanted, and found the



           25  50 percent.  That's the same number I would get if I
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            1  did it with all 1,000.



            2      Q.    What happened if there were 15 floods in the



            3  flood portion and only 5 droughts?



            4      A.    That can't happen, because we're talking



            5  about the upper 10 percent, which means if you have



            6  1,000 days, there's 100 that are being excluded as



            7  floods and 100 that are being excluded as drought



            8  because it's 10 percent of the number of days.



            9      Q.    So it doesn't matter whether it's a flood or



           10  a drought; it just relates to a percentage figure?



           11      A.    The median is a percentage figure, and that's



           12  one of the advantages, because a mean has those huge



           13  floods, and you use the number, not the number of



           14  times, and that distorts the whole thing.



           15      Q.    That 10 percent is an arbitrary number,



           16  correct?



           17      A.    That's one, yes, that came up -- as I say,



           18  Mr. Hjalmarson came up with it in the San Pedro, and



           19  I've accepted it and adopted it, and Mr. Fuller started



           20  using it.  And so maybe we want to change and go to



           21  something else, if you want; but that's kind of -- it's



           22  grown to have a life of its own.



           23      Q.    Okay.  But it's a life that is based on some



           24  work that Mr. Hjalmarson did on the San Pedro, correct?



           25      A.    He brought up the first con -- he first
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            1  brought up that concept, yes.



            2      Q.    He hasn't been here during the Salt hearings,



            3  has he?



            4      A.    No, but I didn't want to backtrack.  I



            5  thought it was a good solution.



            6      Q.    So what you're telling me is the median of



            7  the 80 percent will be the median of the 100 percent;



            8  they're the same number?



            9      A.    They're definitionally equal.



           10      Q.    If you wanted, you could calculate a mean and



           11  a median for the 80 percent?



           12      A.    You could.



           13      Q.    You didn't?



           14      A.    I didn't.



           15      Q.    I don't have any further --



           16      A.    Well, I --



           17                 MR. HELM:  I don't have any further



           18  questions.



           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I think he meant it.



           20                 THE WITNESS:  No.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you, John.



           22                 MR. HELM:  Thank you.



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is there anyone else



           24  who would like to ask Mr. Gookin some questions?



           25                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I will.
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Let's begin



            2  then.



            3                 MR. HELM:  You've got to give me a



            4  couple minutes to close this up.



            5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Sure.



            6                 MR. HELM:  I don't mind her sitting next



            7  to me, if she wants.  Uh-oh, she's bringing her own



            8  computer.



            9                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  That's okay.  I've



           10  got to set up some stuff, too.



           11



           12                    CROSS-EXAMINATION



           13  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:



           14      Q.    Good afternoon, Mr. Gookin.



           15      A.    Almost.



           16      Q.    My name is Joy Herr-Cardillo.



           17      A.    Hello.



           18      Q.    We've met before.



           19      A.    Yes.



           20      Q.    I represent Defenders of Wildlife, Jim



           21  Vaaler, Don Steuter and Jerry Van Gasse.



           22            I wanted to ask you a couple of questions.  I



           23  don't have a whole lot, but I wanted to start and just



           24  clarify some of the answers that you gave to John and



           25  make sure I understand them.
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            1            So, first of all, with respect to incidents



            2  of people navigating the river, it's -- if I'm



            3  understanding your testimony correctly, it's your



            4  position that if the purpose for the trip was



            5  recreation, that that has absolutely no evidentiary



            6  value in terms of determining navigability?



            7      A.    I believe that's correct.



            8      Q.    Okay.  So even if the river was in virgin



            9  condition, it's in its natural condition, if somebody



           10  boated the river, but did it for recreation, that your



           11  position is the Commission should not consider that



           12  evidence?



           13      A.    That's my position.



           14      Q.    And what is the legal authority upon which



           15  you base that position?



           16      A.    When they say highway of commerce.



           17      Q.    Is there a particular case that you believe



           18  supports that position?



           19      A.    I can't point to it, no.  There might be, but



           20  I don't know of it.



           21      Q.    And just to be clear, your opinion regarding



           22  the navigability of the Salt River is based upon that



           23  understanding of The Daniel Ball test?



           24      A.    Well, my opinion of the navigability is



           25  primarily based on the 3 foot requirement from Utah.
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            1      Q.    And your contention is the 3 foot requirement



            2  is found where in the Utah case?



            3      A.    Well, I think it was towards the end.  That



            4  was one of his key findings; that you had to have a



            5  mean annual flow that produced a -- or a 3 foot mean --



            6  let me try that again.



            7            He looked at the gage sites and said that



            8  when the mean flow was 3 feet, mean depth was 3 feet or



            9  greater, it was navigable on those days.



           10      Q.    So when you say "he," you're referring to the



           11  Special Master in the U.S. v. Utah case?



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    So have you actually read the Special



           14  Master's report in the Utah case?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    And the Special Master actually considered



           17  boating events that were for recreation purposes,



           18  correct?



           19      A.    I think he put it in the lines of evidence



           20  that were presented.  I don't know how much he



           21  considered it.



           22      Q.    In your PowerPoint presentation, in Slides



           23  168 and 169.  Give me a minute to get there.



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    As I thumb through this, sorry, it blurs, and
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            1  it takes a minute to come into focus.



            2            Sorry.  Getting there.  Yea.  Okay.  Here.



            3            You talk about the modern recreational



            4  criteria being based on trying to be thrilling.



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    What is your basis for that statement?



            7      A.    Primarily, listening to Mr. Fuller,



            8  Mr. Dimock.  Oh, well, not those two primarily, but



            9  listening to them, and I can't remember the name of the



           10  other two gentlemen who testified; the one who ran a



           11  recreation boating company, in particular, who



           12  testified in October.  He was talking about how he



           13  looked at running a rapid differently than somebody



           14  who's trying to move goods, because he was trying to



           15  give the customers a thrill.



           16      Q.    Right, a whitewater experience --



           17      A.    Right.



           18      Q.    -- as I recall is how he phrased it.



           19      A.    Which is kind of like a roller coaster, to



           20  me.



           21      Q.    So he was actually targeting months where the



           22  flows would be high, correct?



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    And yet the modern recreational criteria that



           25  have been used in this case have been focused on
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            1  minimal flows necessary, correct?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3      Q.    Okay.  So how are those minimal flows that



            4  are necessary to boat dependent upon giving a thrilling



            5  ride?



            6      A.    Well, there's a bunch of criteria.  They want



            7  velocity.  They even have -- in at least one of them,



            8  they have one for tranquil boating and one for



            9  recreational boating.



           10            The 6 inches, per se, that part of the



           11  criteria I believe is to make sure that they don't have



           12  to, basically, stop, get out, and so forth.



           13            Then they also add maximum criteria and so



           14  forth.



           15      Q.    Okay.  But there's nothing in the reporting



           16  of those criteria where there's any discussion of this



           17  goal of making a thrilling ride, correct?



           18      A.    I think they do talk about making it a



           19  thrilling ride, but that is not the purpose of the



           20  6 inches.



           21      Q.    And when you say they do talk about it, what



           22  source are you referring to, source or sources?



           23      A.    I can't remember.  I think it was either



           24  Cortell or Hyra, possibly even both mentioned it; but



           25  it's just talking about this is what whitewater boating
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            1  is trying to do.



            2      Q.    Is that something that you would be willing



            3  to track down between now and when we come back in



            4  January and be able to point us to that in the



            5  materials?



            6                 MR. MURPHY:  We've submitted those.



            7                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Yeah, but I want



            8  him -- do you want him to look for it right now?



            9                 MR. MURPHY:  It's your time.



           10                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Are you saying



           11  he's -- you're not willing to have him, over the break,



           12  identify that portion of the report that he's relying



           13  on?  Because we'll pull it out.  Do you have that, the



           14  Hyra?



           15                 THE WITNESS:  I have it on a bug I could



           16  set up and upload it and start looking, or we could go



           17  home right now, whichever you prefer.



           18                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Mr. Chairman?



           19                 THE WITNESS:  It's up to Mr. Murphy.



           20  He's my counsel.



           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Is that your final



           22  question?



           23                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  No, it's not my



           24  final question.



           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's move on to
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            1  something else.



            2                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Am I going to get



            3  the information?



            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.  We'll have him



            5  send it to you during the break.



            6                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Okay.



            7  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:



            8      Q.    Is it your position -- I'll let you make your



            9  note.



           10            Okay?



           11      A.    Got it.



           12      Q.    Okay.  Is it your position that recreational



           13  use of the river can never be commercial?



           14      A.    I heard there are some cases below the



           15  Supreme Court level that talked about commercial



           16  recreational boating, saying that did qualify; but I



           17  haven't seen any evidence of recreational commercial --



           18  or commercialized recreational boating from the



           19  statehood accounts.  And I believe the modern



           20  recreational boating concept is governed by PPL.



           21      Q.    The modern recreational boating concept being



           22  governed by PPL, can you clarify what you mean by that?



           23      A.    The U.S. Supreme Court decision in PPL



           24  Montana talked quite a bit about what you had to do to,



           25  at a minimum, determine if the commercial boating,
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            1  modern recreational boating, was applicable for



            2  consideration.



            3      Q.    Right, and that was in terms of establishing



            4  an evidentiary foundation for modern boating being



            5  evidence of navigability, correct?



            6      A.    Right.



            7      Q.    But there's nothing in PPL Montana that



            8  discusses whether recreational boating can qualify as a



            9  commercial use of a river, correct?



           10      A.    I guess it just addresses all rec -- whether



           11  recreational boating can qualify as evidence for



           12  navigability, of any kind.



           13      Q.    But I think the focus on PPL is that it's



           14  modern boating?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    Okay.  Do you recall reading in the Special



           17  Master's report discussion of recreational boating as



           18  being a potential commercial use?



           19      A.    I don't remember.  I read it back before the



           20  Santa Cruz hearing.



           21      Q.    Slide 52 of your PowerPoint.  I should have



           22  put these in order, because now I'm having my same out



           23  of focus problem.



           24            Okay.  You cite to Winkleman in that case, or



           25  on that slide, where it says, "[E]vidence of the
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            1  River's condition after obstructions cause a reduction



            2  in its flow is likely of less significance than



            3  evidence of the River in its more natural condition and



            4  may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    Do you recognize that?



            7            Now, the context of that statement that the



            8  Court made in that opinion, do you remember the



            9  context?



           10      A.    You mean the appeal?



           11      Q.    Yes, in the opinion.



           12      A.    Yeah.



           13      Q.    Yes.



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And what was the context?



           16      A.    That the examples and considering the boating



           17  that occurred in the unnatural condition did not



           18  disprove navigability or prove navigability.  What



           19  they're saying here is it really doesn't relate to



           20  navigability.



           21      Q.    Actually, this paragraph or phrase from the



           22  opinion in Winkleman is actually referring to an



           23  argument that Defenders made with respect to expert



           24  opinion that was based on the river in its actual



           25  condition, as opposed to its natural condition.
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            1            And we had argued in the Winkleman case that



            2  it was error for the Commission to consider expert



            3  opinion, and included in that expert opinion was your



            4  opinion, because if you recall, when you opined on the



            5  Salt River the last time around, you did not attempt to



            6  determine what it would be like in its natural



            7  condition.  Do you recall that?



            8      A.    That is correct.



            9      Q.    Okay.  So if you could just maybe find this



           10  excerpt from Winkleman.  I might be able to help you



           11  here.  It's Paragraph 31.



           12      A.    That's right, on page 29.



           13      Q.    Paragraph 31.



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And if you would just read the beginning of



           16  that paragraph?



           17      A.    "Appellants also contend that ANSAC erred in



           18  reviewing and considering expert opinions and other



           19  evidence that evaluated the River in its depleted



           20  condition -- after dams, canals, and other man-made



           21  diversions -- rather than when it was free of



           22  artificial obstructions.  Although evidence of the



           23  River's condition after obstructions caused a reduction



           24  in its flow is likely of less significance than



           25  evidence of the River in its more natural condition and
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            1  may in fact have 'minimal probative value.'"



            2      Q.    And then going on, the next sentence.



            3      A.    "Appellants' contention generally goes more



            4  to the weight to be afforded the evidence than its



            5  admissibility."



            6      Q.    Okay.  So modern evidence or evidence when



            7  the river is not in its ordinary and natural condition,



            8  what the Court was saying there is it may be less



            9  probative, but that goes to weight, not admissibility,



           10  correct?



           11      A.    I wasn't arguing admissibility.



           12      Q.    In your presentation you talk about, I think



           13  you referred to it as, the PPL Montana test with



           14  respect to dragging boats.



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    Do you recall that statement?



           17            And, in fact, PPL Montana, the facts of PPL



           18  Montana, didn't involve any dragging of boats, correct?



           19      A.    I know it involved some trappers, but I don't



           20  know if they dragged the boats.  But I think that came



           21  from a case that the Supreme Court cited to.



           22      Q.    That's exactly right.  That's my point.  It



           23  was just citing to an Oregon, U.S. v. Oregon, case and



           24  just basically reviewing the law; that this wasn't



           25  enough if it's just dragging boats, and citing to the
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            1  U.S. v. Oregon case, correct?



            2      A.    If the U.S. Supreme Court says this is the



            3  law as established -- or this Court set the law and



            4  here it is, I figure it's the law, yeah.



            5      Q.    Right.  But it wasn't a new test, I guess my



            6  point is, is this is not some new ground that PPL



            7  Montana established; this was well-settled law?



            8      A.    That, I wouldn't know, because I mean when



            9  the U.S. Supreme Court says it, it's done.  When the



           10  Appellate Courts say it, you attorneys have a lot of



           11  fun.  So they really put it into concrete, I feel.



           12      Q.    I guess my issue that I'm taking with you is



           13  your characterization that this was some sort of test



           14  announced by PPL Montana, and what I'm saying is this



           15  was really just a recitation of existing law by that



           16  Court.



           17      A.    If you want to change it to well-established



           18  principles, I'm fine with that.



           19      Q.    Okay.  See, we lawyers are wordsmiths.  We



           20  care a lot about how you phrase it.



           21      A.    I totally get that.



           22      Q.    Sort of along the same lines, Slide 129 of



           23  your presentation.



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    This is where you take what you present as a
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            1  quote from Winkleman, page 30, which I'm not sure what



            2  page 30 you're referencing there.



            3      A.    The copy I have has page numbers on it,



            4  but --



            5      Q.    So that's not the official reporter copy, but



            6  maybe the opinion, loose-leaf opinion?



            7      A.    I think it's the loose-leaf opinion.



            8      Q.    Okay.  At any rate, you state that there's



            9  two steps in demonstrating susceptibility, and you



           10  include this quote.  But, in fact, Winkleman, in that



           11  opinion, is simply quoting the U.S. v. Utah case,



           12  correct?



           13      A.    Was that Utah?  Was Murray Hawkins -- well,



           14  the footnote that it goes to, 18, refers to a lot of



           15  cases.



           16      Q.    Actually, if you look at Paragraph 31 of



           17  Winkleman --



           18      A.    Right.  And the quote --



           19      Q.    -- that language you're quoting on your slide



           20  is actually in a parenthetical that follows a quote --



           21  or a citation to the United States v. Utah.



           22      A.    But it also has a Footnote 18 that cites to



           23  other cases.



           24      Q.    That is correct, but --



           25      A.    So it's from a series of cases.
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            1      Q.    -- according to citation --



            2            No.  According to legal citation, the



            3  parenthetical is from the case that it follows.



            4      A.    Okay.



            5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Could we agree that as



            6  far as the legal issues are concerned that you're



            7  debating with Mr. Gookin, we can determine those upon



            8  reference to our attorney?



            9                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Right, I realize



           10  that; but he is present -- he's including these in his



           11  slides, and he's presenting this as language from



           12  Winkleman, when, in fact, it's a quote within a quote,



           13  and I think that it's important to establish.



           14                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I think the Commission



           15  can make that decision.



           16                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I'm going to make my



           17  record, Mr. Chairman.



           18  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:



           19      Q.    So this two-step requirement, there's nothing



           20  in Winkleman that establishes this two-step



           21  requirement.  This is something you've actually added



           22  the numbers to that, correct?  The quote itself doesn't



           23  break it out as a two-step process?



           24      A.    Oh, yes, I added those 1 and 2.  I just broke



           25  the clauses apart.
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            1      Q.    Okay.  And there is nothing in the holding of



            2  Winkleman that actually addresses and says that in



            3  order to establish navigability under the



            4  susceptibility test, that you have to first establish



            5  some sort of lack of settlement?  That's something that



            6  you have inferred from that opinion, correct?



            7      A.    That's what I -- how I read it, but I'm an



            8  engineer.



            9      Q.    Okay.  And there's nothing in the Arizona



           10  statute that defines navigability that conditions the



           11  susceptibility of use to the fact that it hasn't been



           12  developed or the area hasn't been settled?



           13      A.    Not that I'm aware of.



           14      Q.    Now, when Mr. Helm was questioning you, he



           15  asked you about some of the cases that you had read,



           16  and you mentioned that you had read a case out of



           17  Oregon involving the Rogue River?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    And is that the Hardy versus State Land Board



           20  case?



           21      A.    I'm sorry, I don't remember the name.  It



           22  just came out very recently.



           23      Q.    Okay.  October 2015?



           24      A.    Probably.



           25                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Do you want this as
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            1  evidence?



            2                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  Yeah.



            3                 MR. SLADE:  Mr. Chair, I'm not sure we



            4  usually put cases in evidence, just for Mr. Mehnert's



            5  information, and this is a case.



            6                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Well, she said she



            7  wanted it as evidence.



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And we understand that.



            9  Thank you, Mr. Slade.  It's a little loose.



           10  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:



           11      Q.    Do you recall in this case that the Court



           12  addressed this issue of whether there was some



           13  precondition to using the susceptibility test?



           14      A.    No, I don't.  I focused more on the modern --



           15      Q.    Okay.



           16      A.    -- portions, the modern recreational



           17  portions.  But no.



           18      Q.    If you could turn to page 9, on the left-hand



           19  column, the bottom paragraph that starts "We also



           20  reject"?



           21      A.    Okay.



           22      Q.    And if you could just read that.



           23      A.    "We also reject petitioners' suggestion (at



           24  oral argument) that the 'susceptibility of use'



           25  standard is applicable only where the area in question
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            1  was essentially uninhabited or only sparsely settled at



            2  the time of statehood.  Although those may have been



            3  the extant circumstances in United States v. Utah, the



            4  Supreme Court did not then, and has not since, held



            5  that the susceptibility-of-use standard is so limited.



            6  Indeed, the Court, in PPL Montana, cited United



            7  States v. Utah for the proposition that a river's



            8  'potential' for commercial use at the time of statehood



            9  is the 'crucial' question."



           10      Q.    That's good.  Okay.



           11                 MR. MURPHY:  Is that a question?



           12                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I just wanted to --



           13  I'm going to follow up with a question.



           14                 MR. MURPHY:  Okay.



           15  BY MS. HERR-CARDILLO:



           16      Q.    So does that change your understanding of



           17  whether there has to be some demonstration that an area



           18  was sparsely settled before the Commission or a Court



           19  considers the susceptibility to navigation?



           20      A.    I never thought that sparsely settled was the



           21  only way you could demonstrate that the navigation



           22  wasn't needed and, therefore, didn't occur.



           23            If you can come up with a different way to



           24  say this navigation, while it was needed, couldn't have



           25  occurred because, fill in the reasons, and it was
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            1  persuasive, then you've met the first part of the test.



            2      Q.    So your contention is that susceptibility of



            3  use is only to be considered if, what?



            4      A.    If you can establish that there was some



            5  reason other than a lack of navigability that caused



            6  the people not to navigate.



            7      Q.    And your legal authority for articulating the



            8  test this way?



            9      A.    That's my reading of Winkleman, right or



           10  wrong.



           11      Q.    Your reading of Winkleman, which was



           12  citing/quoting U.S. v. Utah?



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    Which U.S. v. Utah was interpreted just



           15  recently by this Oregon Appellate Court?



           16      A.    But only as far as settlement.  It didn't say



           17  for any reason.



           18      Q.    Okay.



           19      A.    If I might expand, the second part was that



           20  Mr. Fuller said the sparse settlement was a reason it



           21  didn't occur, and I was explaining why it would have



           22  occurred even so.



           23      Q.    Just to be clear, what is the authority upon



           24  which you base your contention that a trip has to be on



           25  a river that is in its virgin condition?
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            1      A.    That would be the -- I think I said nearly



            2  virgin, but that would be the Winkleman case that kept



            3  talking about it has to be in its natural condition.



            4      Q.    So from the fact that the river has to be



            5  evaluated in its natural condition, you've extrapolated



            6  that only navigation that occurs on a river in its



            7  natural condition is evidence of navigability?



            8      A.    I believe that's the case, yes.



            9      Q.    And yet you're aware that Courts have based



           10  findings of navigability on navigation of rivers that



           11  are not in their ordinary and natural condition?



           12      A.    Well, I thought that was normally how it was



           13  done until Winkleman.



           14      Q.    You also contended in your testimony with



           15  Mr. Helm that a boat had to be reasonably either



           16  economically disposed of -- can't read my own writing,



           17  sorry. -- or the trip has to be a two-way trip?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    What is your legal authority for that



           20  contention?



           21      A.    In the Defenders case, they said that there



           22  can be no legal presumption that it has to be two ways.



           23  Now, the fact it's not a legal principle means to me



           24  it's a factual principle.  And you're talking about a



           25  highway of commerce.  Therefore, you've got to have
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            1  some sort of demonstration that it's, I think,



            2  reasonably practicable.  And that's my interpretation



            3  of what would constitute reasonably practicable.



            4      Q.    Are you aware of any Court case where the



            5  Court has held that a trip that only goes downriver is



            6  not evidence of navigability by virtue of the fact that



            7  it only goes downriver?



            8      A.    Well, the Defenders said that just -- if it



            9  goes -- if it just goes downriver, it didn't say it was



           10  wrong.  It said there's no presumption, which to me



           11  means legally it hasn't been defined.  So I'm bringing



           12  up the factual aspects relating to what's it take to be



           13  a highway of commerce.



           14      Q.    Other than Defenders, are you aware of any



           15  case where a Court has held that travel has to be



           16  two-way?



           17      A.    Well, I would say Daniel Ball, because it



           18  said highway of commerce.  That's what that phrase



           19  means to me.



           20      Q.    Highway just means two-way traffic?



           21      A.    Well, it's got to be -- it's highway of



           22  commerce, which means there has to be -- it has to be



           23  feasible; and to be feasible, you're either going to



           24  have to take the boat both ways or you've got to have



           25  something you can tear apart when you get down there,
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            1  otherwise it's just a fictional highway.



            2      Q.    Is it your contention -- you've read a



            3  portion of PPL Montana.  I think it was the first



            4  sentence under Subpart B.  Do you recall reading that,



            5  where the Court held as a matter of law?



            6      A.    Oh, yes.



            7      Q.    Okay.  Do you want to refer back to that?



            8            I thought I had it here.



            9      A.    It should be on page 21, Section B, the first



           10  sentence.



           11      Q.    I found it.  Yeah, thank you.



           12            So if you would reread that sentence, but



           13  then continue reading.



           14      A.    Okay.



           15            "The Montana Supreme Court further erred as a



           16  matter of law in its reliance upon the evidence of



           17  present-day, primarily recreational use of the Madison



           18  River.  Error is not inherent in a court's



           19  consideration of such evidence, but the evidence must



           20  be confined to that which shows the river could sustain



           21  the kinds of [commerce,] commercial [commerce,] use



           22  that, as a realistic matter, might have occurred at the



           23  time of statehood."



           24      Q.    Okay.  That's --



           25      A.    And, by the way, that "realistic" puts me
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            1  back to the two-way travel.



            2      Q.    Okay.  So the opinion goes on to discuss



            3  under what circumstances the Court can consider modern



            4  use, correct?



            5      A.    That's correct.



            6      Q.    So it's not -- the PPL Montana case did not



            7  say, as a matter of law, that you should not or could



            8  not ever consider modern day use?



            9      A.    I have read that paragraph a dozen times, and



           10  when it keeps -- it keeps going and it leads into the



           11  other statements that the minimal proof necessary, at a



           12  minimum they need to, and meaningfully similar and the



           13  rivers have to be similar.



           14            And I can't figure out, in the English, if



           15  they're saying, okay, you have to do those two tests,



           16  and which I considered; and then once you've done that,



           17  you may or may not be allowed to use it.



           18            On the face of it, I would say, well, it's



           19  just wrong as a matter of law, so you can't use it, but



           20  you can do these two tests if you're bored.



           21      Q.    But, now, going back to the Hardy case, the



           22  recent case out of the Oregon Court of Appeals.



           23      A.    Yes.



           24      Q.    In fact, in that case the Court did rely upon



           25  evidence of modern day use?





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                          SALT RIVER     VOLUME 8    11/20/2015

                                                                      1851





            1      A.    Yes, they did.



            2      Q.    And they addressed the PPL Montana



            3  requirements and said that those requirements had been



            4  met, correct?



            5      A.    Well, they said they had been met.  I would



            6  disagree they addressed the requirements.



            7                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  That's all I have.



            8                 THE WITNESS:  Also, the factual basis of



            9  that case was different as to what happened at



           10  statehood.



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, I always love to



           12  say this.  Mr. Gookin, there's no question before you.



           13                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.



           14                 There's one question before you.  Can we



           15  go?



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Do you think you can



           17  get done in four minutes?



           18                 MR. SLADE:  If I ask one question and



           19  get the right answer, I could; but it would take a lot.



           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We would expect you to



           21  have some pretty significant questioning.



           22                 MR. SLADE:  Yes.



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  So we'll put it off



           24  until the next meeting.  Is that all right?



           25                 MR. SLADE:  That's all right.
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            1                 MR. SPARKS:  Is Joy done?



            2                 MS. HERR-CARDILLO:  I'm done.



            3                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  We're going to



            4  adjourn for Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year's.



            5                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Do you want to



            6  announce, Mr. Chairman, where the next meeting is going



            7  to be?



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.



            9                 We are going to meet on December 15 to



           10  argue the Verde River.  That starts at 9:00 a.m. where,



           11  George; here?



           12                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Yes.



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Here in this



           14  room, on Tuesday, December 15, we will argue the Verde



           15  River case.



           16                 And then on Tuesday, January 26th, in



           17  the tower with the balcony overlooking Central and the



           18  stadiums, we will begin again on the Salt River, and,



           19  Mr. Gookin, you will be on the stand.  And we hope you



           20  enjoy Thanksgiving and Christmas and New Year's.



           21                 And then is there anyone other than



           22  Mr. Slade who intends to examine Mr. Gookin further?



           23                 (No response.)



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then following



           25  Mr. Gookin, is our next witness going to be
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            1  Dr. Littlefield?



            2                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Dr. Littlefield after



            3  the --



            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.



            5                 MR. MCGINNIS:  We're still working



            6  through some schedules.  Some other people have people



            7  that aren't available in February that we might slip in



            8  ahead of him, but right now it's Dr. Littlefield.



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.



           10                 MR. MCGINNIS:  And we'll let people know



           11  if it's changed.



           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Then we're in recess.



           13                 (The hearing adjourned at 3:29 p.m.)



           14
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